AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series

Pavan Muttil Nitesh K. Kunda *Editors* 

# Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles





# AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series

Volume 41

#### **Series Editor**

Yvonne Perrie, Strathclyde Institute of Pharmacy and Biomedical Sciences, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, UK The AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series, published in partnership with the American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists, is designed to deliver volumes authored by opinion leaders and authorities from around the globe, addressing innovations in drug research and development, and best practice for scientists and industry professionals in the pharma and biotech industries.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/8825

Pavan Muttil • Nitesh K. Kunda Editors

# Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles





*Editors* Pavan Muttil Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences College Pharmacy University of New Mexico Albuquerque, NM, USA

Nitesh K. Kunda Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences St. John's University Jamaica, NY, USA

 ISSN 2210-7371
 ISSN 2210-738X
 (electronic)

 AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series
 ISBN 978-3-030-35909-6
 ISBN 978-3-030-35910-2
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2

© American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020

AAPS holds the copyrightDual imprint AAPS/Springer.

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Preface

The last two decades have seen a significant increase in nanotechnology research for drug and vaccine delivery for various diseases. However, the promise of nanotechnology as a tool for delivering therapeutic agents and their clinical translation has been slow. The delivery of nanoparticles by the mucosal route of administration further complicates their safety and efficacy due to mucosal barriers and variable clearance rates. Their complex nature and the requirement of novel characterization techniques have made the regulatory approval of products containing nanoparticles difficult. We have arranged this book into three parts with each section discussing various aspects of nanotechnology.

*Part I* of the book encompasses chapters that will provide the reader with a basic understanding of nanomedicine in drug delivery and the different characterization methods used for nanomedicine, which is often challenging in order to ensure their purity, safety, and effectiveness when administered by mucosal routes.

*Part II* of the book describes the various mucosal routes used for nanoparticle administration, their advantages and disadvantages, and the progress made in delivering nanoparticles using different mucosal routes. Individual chapters then focus on the buccal, respiratory, and oral routes of administration. The final chapter in this section discusses the role of nanoparticles in delivering vaccines and biologics and products that are currently undergoing human trials in the United States.

*Part III* of the book is devoted to the host-cell interaction with nanoparticles. A chapter discusses how these particles interact with epithelial and immune cells after mucosal delivery. Another chapter discusses the toxicity of nanoparticles to the host and the environment, while the final chapter discusses the biodistribution of nanoparticles after mucosal delivery.

We owe immensely to all the authors in this book who agreed to give their time and effort to write a chapter based on their experience in the nanotechnology field. We would not have successfully completed this book without their insight and enthusiasm. Lastly, it was a pleasure working with various staff members at Springer Nature for the past 3 years on the preparation of this book. We are particularly grateful to Carolyn Spence, Sanjana Meenakshi Sundaram, and Cathrine Selvaraj for their contributions. We would also like to thank Dr. Yvonne Perrie, series editor of AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Science Series, for giving us the opportunity to work on this volume. Although it was a long and sometimes challenging undertaking, it has also been an immensely rewarding experience. We thank them for helping us along the way and for their patience and understanding throughout this lengthy process.

University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA
St. John's University, Albuquerque, NM, USA

Pavan Muttil Nitesh K. Kunda

# Contents

#### Part I Background

Introduction to Nanomedicine in Drug Delivery Tejashri Chavan, Pavan Muttil, and Nitesh K. Kunda	3
Methods to Characterize Nanoparticles for Mucosal Drug Delivery Kalpesh Vaghasiya, Ankur Sharma, Eupa Ray, Suneera Adlakha, and Rahul Kumar Verma	27
Part II Nanoparticle-Based Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics	
Overview of the Advantages and Disadvantages of Different Mucosal Sites for the Delivery of Nanoparticles	61
Current Status and Perspectives in Mucosal Drug Delivery of Nanotherapeutic Systems. Vineela Parvathaneni, Nishant S. Kulkarni, and Vivek Gupta	83
Buccal Delivery of Nanoparticles	107
<b>Respiratory Drug/Vaccine Delivery Using Nanoparticles</b> Joanne M. Ramsey, Alice McCloskey, Rachel Gaul, Elena Fernandez Fernandez, Louise Sweeney, Catherine M. Greene, Ronan Macloughlin, and Sally-Ann Cryan	125
Oral Vaccine Delivery: The Coming Age of Particulate Vaccines to Elicit Mucosal Immunity Rikhav P. Gala, Lotika Bajaj, Amit Bansal, Keegan Braz Gomes, Devyani Joshi, Ipshita Menon, Rokon Uz Zaman, Susu M. Zughaier, Marissa D'Souza, Carmen Popescu, Nigel D'Souza, Gregory T. Knipp, and Martin J. D'Souza	155

Nanoparticle Vaccines for Immunotherapy: From Design to Clinical Trials Achraf Noureddine, Jonas G. Croissant, Harrison O. Davis, Lorenza I. Friedrich, and Rita E. Serda	177
Part III Host Interactions with Nanoparticles	
Engineered Nanomaterial Interaction with Epithelial and Immune Cells upon Mucosal Drug Delivery Valerie C. Minarchick and Jared M. Brown	207
Toxicity of Nanomaterials to the Host and the Environment Celine A. Beamer	233
Pharmacokinetic Modelling to Study the Biodistribution         of Nanoparticles         Rajith K. R. Rajoli	247
Index	269

# Part I Background

# Introduction to Nanomedicine in Drug Delivery



Tejashri Chavan, Pavan Muttil, and Nitesh K. Kunda

**Abstract** Recent advances in the field of nanotechnology have given a boost to the academic researchers, the pharmaceutical and biomedical industry, allowing its use in drug delivery and medical diagnosis. Nanotechnology allows the formulation of drug delivery carriers in the nanometer range that helps in overcoming disadvantages associated with conventional drug delivery systems by being small, targetspecific, improved drug encapsulation, stable and less toxic at the same time. With nanotechnology, many drugs especially oncogenic molecules that are toxic or are difficult to deliver have been formulated and delivered successfully and are currently in the market, for example, Myocet® (2000) (Doxorubicin) and Margibo® (2012) (Vincristine). Nanoparticle-based drug delivery carriers can be classified into two types; organic and inorganic. Organic nanoparticles are mostly used for drug delivery, while inorganic nanoparticles are majorly involved in diagnosis. Organic nanoparticles generally involve but are not limited to liposomes, dendrimers, polymeric micelles, polymeric nanoparticles, and solid lipid nanoparticles. Inorganic nanoparticles involve metals such as gold, silver, and iron oxide. In this chapter, we will discuss the advantages and disadvantages of nanoparticles and various materials that are used for making different types of nanoparticles with relevant examples. Further, we will discuss the recent developments in this field with some examples pertaining to each type of nanoparticles.

Keywords Nanomedicine  $\cdot$  Drug delivery  $\cdot$  Mucosal  $\cdot$  Liposomes  $\cdot$  Lipids Polymer  $\cdot$  Metallic  $\cdot$  Nanoparticles

T. Chavan · N. K. Kunda (🖂)

P. Muttil

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA

© American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020

P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics

in Nanoparticles, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_1

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences, St. John's University, Jamaica, NY, USA e-mail: kundan@stjohns.edu

#### 1 Introduction

Nanotechnology is the technology conducted in the nanoscale, typically between 1 and 100 nm, and could potentially transform the pharmaceutical and biomedical industry. Nanomedicine is a branch of science wherein nanotechnology is applied in the medical field to diagnose, prevent and treat diseases, repair tissue, relieve pain, and improve overall human health. For the new generation as well as existing drugs, conventional drug delivery systems provide limited biodistribution, undesirable side effects, and limited efficacy. With the advent of nanotechnology, novel drug delivery systems using this approach offer enhanced bioavailability, tissue selectivity, reduced toxicity, enhanced formulation stability both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and the ability to overcome physiological barriers to reach target tissues.

Nanoparticles are colloidal particles consisting of macromolecular substances in the size range of 1–500 nm. These particles are carriers wherein the active substance is either uniformly dissolved, encapsulated, or adsorbed onto the matrix. Nanoparticles can be broadly classified into two categories: (i) inorganic nanoparticles and (ii) organic nanoparticles. Inorganic nanoparticles (gold, silica, iron oxide etc.) have applications mainly in biomedical imaging and thermal ablation of tumors; whereas, organic nanoparticles (polymeric, micelles, liposomes etc.) have applications in drug delivery systems for prevention and treatment of various diseases. Nanomaterials studied for drug delivery include; quantum dots, carbon nanotubes, graphene derivatives, polymeric nanoparticles, dendrimers, metal and metal oxide nanoparticles, liposomes, nanoporous materials and many others [1–8]. This chapter will introduce different types of organic and inorganic nanoparticles, their preparation and examples in drug delivery. Figure 1 shows Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval timeline of various nanoparticles since their first approval in 1957 [9–11].

#### 2 Organic Nanoparticles

#### 2.1 Polymeric Micelles

Polymeric micelles are nanoscopic core-shell structures formed by the self-assembly of amphiphilic copolymers in an aqueous environment [12, 13]. Polymeric micelles are formed when the hydrophobic segments of the amphiphilic copolymer self-associates to minimize contact with water molecules [14]. The hydrophobic core of the polymeric micelle allows entrapment of poorly water soluble drugs, while the hydrophilic shell offers colloidal stability to the formulation and intrinsic stealth effect [15]. Polymeric micelles can be used for the delivery of various drugs (e.g. anti-cancer), proteins, peptides, and genetic material such as DNA and siRNA [16].

Micelles can be composed of di-block, tri-block, amphiphilic graft polymers, and ionic polymers with ionic and hydrophilic segments. Physical and biological



Fig. 1 Timeline of Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved nanopharmaceuticals

properties of micelles depend on the block polymer selected for preparation [16]. Poly (ethylene glycol) (PEG) with a molecular weight of 2–15 kDa is the most commonly employed polymer for forming the hydrophilic shell and offers the stealth effect to the micelle [12, 16]. Other polymers studied for preparing polymeric micelles are poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA), poly(ethylenimine) (PEI), poly(2-ethyl-2-oxazoline) (PEOz), poly(N-vinyl-2-pyrrolidone) (PVP), dextran, poly(acrylic acid), poly(aspartic acid), poly(D,L- lactic acid) (PLA), poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) poly-N-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide (HPMA), and poly(ε-caprolactone) (PCL) [12, 16].

Polymeric micelles offer several advantages such as small size (20–100 nm), exhibit greater stability, are biocompatible, improved drug loading, prolonged circulation, and their amphiphilic nature allows increased solubility of poorly water soluble drugs [15]. Table 1 lists some of the methods that have been used for micellar preparation including dialysis, sonication [13], and thin film hydration technique [17]. Wang et al. 2018 have reported soluplus and solutol®HS15 based self-assembled micelles for delivery of curcumin [18]. Curcumin is poorly soluble in aqueous media and has limited oral bioavailability [18]. Soluplus and solutol®HS15 based self-assembled micelles were made using ethanol solvent evaporation method [18], and curcumin encapsulated in soluplus and solutol®HS15 based micelles had improved solubility (4200 fold), Caco-2 membrane permeability, and oral bioavailability in rats compared to free curcumin [18].

Thin-film hydration technique	Dialysis technique	Sonication	
1. Drug(s) and polymer(s) are dissolved in chloroform.	1. Drug & polymer or drug polymer complex is dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and is added drop wise to water/	1. Drug and amphiphilic polymer or drug polymer complex is dissolved in	
2. Chloroform is evaporated by rotary evaporation to obtain thin film.	is added drop wise to water/ buffer under continuous stirring.	ed is added drop wise to water/ buffer under continuous stirring. 2.	2. The solution is ultrasonicated for a
3. The thin film is hydrated in water/ buffer to achieve micelles.	2. This solution is allowed to stir for a predetermined time to form micelles.	predetermined time to achieve desired sized micelles [13].	
4. The obtained micelles can be further sonicated to reduce the particle size [17].	3. Micelles are then dialyzed against water to remove DMSO and un-entrapped drug [13].		

Table 1 Commonly used methods for the preparation of polymeric micelles

Self-assembled micelles generally suffer from poor in vivo stability below the critical micellar concentration (CMC), leading to dissociation and early drug release following administration, ultimately producing drug-related toxicity [19]. To improve micellar stability in extracellular environment and to achieve targeted drug delivery, stimuli-responsive cross-linked micelles (SCMs) have been designed [12, 20]. Covalent cross-linking is considered an effective way of imparting stability to polymeric micelles [12]. In addition, cross-linking of core prolongs circulation time and maintains the sturdiness of the shell [12]. Further, covalent cross-linking can be employed to the hydrophilic shell or hydrophobic core [12]; however cross-linking of corona can lead to inter-micellar cross linking, loss of shell fluidity and polar affinity leading to decreased stealth effect [12, 21]. Ling et al. 2018 have reported the design of redox-responsive camptothecin (CPT)-conjugated disulfide corecross-linked micelles based on the poly (ethylene glycol)-dihydrolipoic acid (MeO-PEG 2 k-DHLA) conjugate [12]. Covalent linking of CPT to the core of dihydrolipoic acid prevented unwanted leaking of the drug or burst release and improved the stability under the mimics of physiological conditions [12].

#### 2.2 Dendrimers

Dendrimers are well-defined, spherical, compartmentalized polymers consisting of hyper-branched structures with layered architecture. They form tree-like structures from monomers *via* convergent or divergent step growth polymerization. The size and shape of dendrimers can be precisely controlled by controlling the number of branching. A dendrimer consists of three domains: (i) the core, (ii) the branches, and (iii) the terminal functional groups. The branches originate from the core and progress geometrically to form concentric layers (referred to as generations). Generation

of the dendrimer is decided on the basis of how many repeating units it has and that are accountable for its spherical structure [22-25]. The core of the dendrimer is labeled as generation zero (G0) with successive layers as G1, G2, etc. The cavities or hollow spaces in the dendrimer are used to encapsulate the drug. Example of a dendrimer structure is depicted in Fig. 2.

There are two approaches for dendrimer synthesis; divergent and convergent. In the former approach, there is a radial expansion by chronological addition of monomers, with each addition constituting a new generation in dendrimer synthesis. In order to achieve stable and flawless dendrimers, it is essential to complete each reaction (individual monomer addition) prior to incorporation of new generations [25]. This approach of synthesis offers the advantage of surface modification for functionalities in the terminal step. Disadvantages include time-consuming purification process and increased risk of defect as next generation of monomers are added. Despite the disadvantages, this is the most commonly employed method of dendrimer synthesis [25]. The convergent method is the opposite of divergent method wherein the synthesis is initiated from the surface. By integrating various branching points, chains that are responsible for dendrimer formation are prepared and later attached to the common center point. This method overcomes the disadvantages associated with divergent approach, and offers easier purification, high monodispersity, and fewer branch defects. However, this method has drawbacks such as lower yield and the possibility of steric hindrance while attaching the branches to the core [25, 27].

Dendrimers have been made from a variety of polymers such as polyamidoamine (PAMAM), glycogen, poly(propylene imine) (PPI), poly-L-lysine (PLL), poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), and the copolymers N-(2-hydroxypropyl)



**Fig. 2** Chemical structures of a second-generation polyphenylene [1], poly(propylene imine) [2], and polyamidoamine [3] dendrimers (Adopted from [26]). The shaded area represents the core of the dendrimers

methacrylamide (pHPMA), poly(2-oxazolines) and polyphenylene [25–29]. PAMAM dendrimers are most commonly employed therapeutically [25] and the dendrimer core is mostly made of ethylenediamine but can also be made of more lipophilic moieties such as diaminododecane, diaminohexane, and diaminobutane [25, 30–32]. Examples of dendrimer based carrier systems that have been investigated for various indications are listed in Table 2. Recent development in the area include targeting triple negative breast cancer with a bifunctional poly(amidoamine) dendrimer [33]. Liu et al. 2019 have reported doxorubicin (DOX) encapsulating delivery system consisting of EGFR-binding peptide 1 and the cell penetrating peptide obtained from trans-activating transcriptional activator conjugated to PAMAM dendrimer. It is a dual-functional dendrimer delivery system with enhanced efficacy compared to free DOX in cell lines and nude mice [33]. However, dendrimers as drug delivery systems are still in its infancy with only one product currently in the market, VivaGel® by Starpharma.

#### 2.3 Liposomes

Liposomes are lipid-based vesicles that are synthesized by the hydration of dry phospholipids and are the most advanced nanoformulations with few approved products in the market and those undergoing clinical trials. Liposomes contain a hydrophilic core and hydrophobic corona made up of phospholipids [40–43]. Phospholipids can be made of phosphatidyl-choline (PC), phosphatidyl ethanolamine (PE), or 1,2-dioleoyl-3-trimethylammonium-propane [44]. Liposomes can be classified as unilamellar or multilamellar depending on the number of lipid bilayers. Figure 3 shows the schematic representation of liposome self-assembly. Unilamellar vesicles consist of a single lipid bilayer with an aqueous core, while multilamellar vesicles consist of several lipid bilayers separated by aqueous spaces between them. Hydrophilic drugs are entrapped in the aqueous core/spaces and hydrophobic drugs are entrapped in the lipid bilayer. The lipid bilayer can further be decorated with ligands for targeted drug delivery.

Liposomes can also be classified based on their functionality; such as conventional, stealth ligand-targeted, long-release, triggered-release, and multi-functional liposomes [40]. Shorter circulation time and formulation instability are common

Polymer	Generation	Payload	Application	Reference
PAMAM	G2	Doxorubicin + siBCL-2	B-cell lymphoma	34
	G2	Paclitaxel + siTR3	Pancreatic cancer	35
	G3	Doxorubicin + shMMP-9	Breast cancer	36
	G4	Doxorubicin + siGFP	-	37
	G5	Doxorubicin + siMVP	Breast cancer	38
PPI	G5	Paclitaxel + siCD44	Ovarian cancer	39

Table 2 Examples of dendrimer based carrier systems for various indications



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of liposome self-assembly (Adapted from [40])

drawbacks associated with liposomes; several efforts have been made to increase the circulation time of liposomes and has led to the development of surface modified liposomes [42], such as long-circulation stealth liposomes, immuno liposomes, magneto liposomes, cationic liposomes, pH sensitive lipososmes [42, 44]. Parenterally administered liposomes are readily cleared by liver and spleen through the reticuloendothelial system (RES) [45]. Surface modification with hydrophilic polymer such as PEG has been extensively evaluated and is effective in avoiding clearance by the RES [45]. An example of surface modified liposomes is the PEGylated liposomes of Doxorubicin (Doxil®), which has shown potent beneficial pharmacological effect with minimal side effects [45]. Yang et al., 2007, has reported PEGylated freeze-dried liposomes of paclitaxel (PTX) containing tween 80 (3% (v/v)) and sucrose as a cryoprotectant [46]. The resulting formulation showed an increase in solubility from 1.6 µg/mL to 3.39 mg/mL [46]. Further, PEGylation of the liposomes increased the blood circulation half-life and thereby made it a more potent tumor growth suppressor [46]. Similarly, use of cationic liposomes for targeted tumor delivery of anti-angiogenic agent has gathered significant attention and can be attributed to distribution of angiogenic blood vessels [47]. Monpara et al. 2018 has reported PTX encapsulated cationic liposomes based on a derivative of cholesterol, Cholesteryl Arginine Ethylester (CAE) [47]. Molecular dynamic simulation and in vitro testing was used for understanding the interaction between PTX and CAE [47]. PTX encapsulated CAE liposomes showed improved membrane stability and drug loading, compared to PTX encapsulated cholesterol-based liposomes [47]. The improved stability could be attributed to hydrogen binding between CAE and PTX [47]. Further, in comparison to cholesterol-based liposomes, the



**Fig. 4** Different types and modifications of liposomes; (**A**): Conventional phospholipid liposome with water-soluble drug entrapped in the hydrophilic center, (**B**): Conventional phospholipid liposome with hydrophobic drug entrapped in the lipid bilayer, (**C**): Long-circulating/ Stealth liposomes (PEGylated), and (**D**): Long-circulating immunoliposomes with grafted antibody. (Adapted from [42])

CAE-based liposomes showed lower cytotoxicity profile and improved endothelial cell migration inhibition [47].

Figure 4 shows liposomes with different modifications. Liposomes can vary from nanometers to micrometers in size depending on the intended use; generally liposomes with ~100 nm size are utilized in medical applications [41]. Clinical uses and advantage of liposomes are well known; biocompatibility, amphiphilic nature, protecting the drug molecule from degradation, lower side effects, targeted drug delivery, easy modification of particle size and surface potential makes them a suitable candidate for drug delivery [42, 43].

Several methods have been used for liposome preparation and can be classified broadly into two types; bulk methods, involving movement of lipids from non-polar to polar phase and film methods, involving forming a thin film onto a substrate and its subsequent hydration [40]. Some of the methods used for the preparation of uniand multi-lamellar vesicles include; thin film hydration, solvent spherule method, hydration of pro-liposomes (pre-made granules of phospholipids and drug), reverse phase evaporation, injection method, surfactant dialysis, size reduction techniques, supercritical fluids, freeze drying of double emulsion, and microfluidic methods [40]. Each method has its own advantages and disadvantages and are discussed in Chap. 2. Table 3 lists liposomal formulations approved for the treatment of various ailments or are currently undergoing clinical trials.

#### 2.4 Solid Lipid Nanoparticles

Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) are colloidal particles made of lipids, which can be solid at both ambient and physiological temperatures [8, 49]. SLNs were proposed to overcome the limitations and disadvantages associated with liposomes and other nanocarrier-based systems such as stability and shorter circulation time [49, 50]. Diameter of SLNs can vary from 40 to 1000 nm [8, 51]. Therefore, SLNs offer

IS IS IS	ngredient Doxorubicin Doxorubicin Mifamurtide	Lipid (Lipid: Drug molar ratio) HSPC:Cholesterol:PEG 2000-DSPE (56:39:5 molar ratio) EPC:Cholesterol (55:45 molar ratio) DPS:POPC (3:7 molar ratio)	Indication Ovarian, breast cancer, Kaposi's sarcoma Combination therapy with cyclophosphamide in metastatic breast cancer High-grade, resectable,	Company Sequus pharmaceuticals Elan pharmaceuticals Takeda
	Vincristine	SM:Cholesterol (60:40 molar ratio)	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	pharmaceutical limited. Talon therapeutics, Inc
	Irinotecan Ambhotericin B	DSPC:MPEG-2000:DSPE (3:2:0.015 molar ratio) HSPC:DSPG:Cholesterol:Amnhotericin	Combination therapy with fluorouracil and leucovorin in metastatic adenocarcinoma of the pancreas Presumed fungal infections	Merrimack pharmaceuticals Inc. Astellas Pharma
	Verteporphin	B (2:0.8:1:0.4 molar ratio) Verteporphin:DMPC and EPG (1:8 molar ratio)	Choroidal neovascularisation	Novartis
	Morphine sulfate	DOPC, DPPG, Cholesterol and Triolein	Pain management	SkyPharma Inc.
	Bupivacaine	DEPC, DPPG, Cholesterol and Tricaprylin	Pain management	Pacıra pharmaceuticals, Inc.
	Amikacin	DPPC and cholesterol	Lung infections	Transave Inc.
	Tecemotide	Cholesterol, DMPG, DPPC	Non-small cell lung cancer	Oncothyreon Inc.

Table 3Nanoliposomal formulations approved for treatment or undergoing clinical trials [48]

Table 3 (continued)					
Product name	Route of	Active			
(Approval year)	administration	ingredient	Lipid (Lipid: Drug molar ratio)	Indication	Company
T4 N5 liposomal	Topical	T4	Egg lecithin	Xeroderma pigmentosum	AGI Dermatics Inc.
lotion		endonuclease V			
Liprostin	Intravenous	Prostaglandin E-1 (PGE-1)	Unknown	Restenosis after angioplasty	Endovasc Inc.
ThermoDox	Intravenous	Doxorubicin	DPPC, Myristoyl stearyl	Hepatocellular carcinoma and	Celsion
			phosphatidylcholine and DSPE-N-	also recurring chest wall breast	
			[amino(potyetnytene giycoi)-2000]	cancer	
Lipoplatin	Intravenous	Cisplatin	DPPG, soy phosphatidyl choline, mPEG-distearoyl	Non-small cell lung cancer	Regulon Inc.
			phosphatidylethanolamine lipid		
			conjugate and cholesterol		

 Table 3 (continued)

advantages such as; stability, protection of encapsulated material from degradation, reduced toxicity (depending on the material of construction), controlled release, and easy scale-up [8, 49, 51, 52]. However, SLNs have a few disadvantages including reduced loading capacity, drug discharge after polymorphic transition upon storage and requiring to disperse in high water content (70–99.9%) [49, 51]. Variety of solid lipids can be employed for preparation of SLNs such as mono-, di- and tri-glycerides, fatty acids, waxes, steroids, surfactants providing stability, phospholipids, poloxamers, and polysorbates [8]. In case of SLNs, drug can be loaded either in the core, shell, or dispersed in the lipid matrix (Fig. 5) [8, 52–56]. Shell of SLNs can be modified with various compounds for improved targeting such as; proteins, oligo-saccharides, ligands for receptors or antibodies [8, 57–60].

Numerous techniques have been developed for preparing SLNs such as; high pressure homogenization, microemulsification, solvent emulsification-evaporation



Fig. 5 Different loading patterns of SLNs (Adapted from [8])



Fig. 6 Schematic representation of solid lipid nanoparticle (SLN) preparation techniques [8]

or diffusion, and double emulsion technique [8, 49, 52]. Figure 6 shows the schematic representation of these techniques.

The SLNs have been used for targeting vast variety of human malignancies, such as cancer and ocular drug delivery [61–63]. SLNs are taken up by endocytosis pathway followed by subcellular distribution which is essential for the biological effect of the biomolecule [63]. Arana et al. 2019 have reported enhanced antitumor activity of all-trans retinoic acid after encapsulation in phosphatidylethanolamine polyethylene glycol (PE-PEG) containing SLNs of stearic acid, Epikuron 200, and sodium taurodeoxycholate. In an oral adenocarcinoma cell line, these SLNs had improved active cell internalization and reduced non-specific internalization mechanisms [63]. Encapsulation of model drug all-trans retinoic acid into PE-PEG coated SLNs showed superior chemotoxicity compared to non-coated SLNs [63]. In another study by Eid et al. 2019, SLNs with stearic acid were formulated with ofloxacin for the treatment of local eye infections [61]. These SLNs were coated with chitosan (CTS) and polyethylene glycol (PEG) to improve corneal retention time and transcorneal bioavailability. Results showed that, compared to Oflox® drops (ofloxacin solution), CTS-PEG coated SLN encapsulated ofloxacin, prepared by modified emulsion/solvent evaporation technique, displayed better tolerability and two-to-three fold higher concentration at the site of action i.e. the eyes of rabbits [61]. Another example of coated SLNs is polysorbate 80 coated SLNs for the treatment of brain cancer [62]. Jain et al. 2019, have reported novel drug carrier system for delivery of doxorubicin (DOX) by encapsulating it into polysorbate 80 coated SLNs [62]. The polysorbate 80 coated DOX-loaded SLNs showed higher cytotoxicity and uptake in U87MG cell line (brain cancer cell line) compared to plain DOX. The coated SLNs could protect the incorporated DOX from RES uptake and P-gp efflux [62]. From the above studies, it can be inferred that surface coating of SLNs has the potential to improve its efficiency as a drug delivery vehicle [61-63].

#### 2.5 Polymeric Nanoparticles

Polymeric nanoparticles (PNPs) are solid, colloidal particles with a size range of 10–1000 nm [64]. PNP is a communal term attributed to polymeric nanoparticles, but explicitly for nanospheres and nanocapsules [64, 65]. Nanospheres are matrix particles, which are completely solid and are generally spherical in shape and the drug can be either encapsulated or dispersed within the polymer matrix [64–66]. Nanocapsules are vesicular reservoir system, which acts as reservoir and wherein the drug is dispersed or dissolved in a liquid core (oil/water) that is enclosed by a polymer [64, 65, 67] (Fig. 7). Polymeric nanoparticles have many advantages including protection of the active substance by encapsulation, localization to specific tissues, controlled drug release, enhanced stability, and ease of surface modification.

Intended use of PNPs decides it's properties and the appropriate method of formulation [64]. Ideal PNP properties include desired targeting and controlled drug



Fig. 7 Types of polymer nanoparticles, (A) Nanospheres, wherein the drug is distributed within the polymer matrix, and (B) Nanocapsules wherein the drug is dispersed or dissolved in the liquid core

release, and can be obtained by regulating features of PNPs such as size, solubility, improved flexibility, or/ and controlled release [65, 68]. Major component for PNP formulation is the polymer, there are two major types of polymers utilized for PNP preparation based on their origin; natural and synthetic [65]. Natural polymers commonly employed include; sodium alginate, albumin, chitosan, and gelatin [69-72]. Synthetic polymers utilized are; PLA [73–75], PLGA [76, 77], polyglycolides [78], polyanhydrides [79], polyorthoesters [80], polycyanoacrylates [81], PCL [82], poly (malic acid) [83], polyglutamic acid [83], poly (methyl methacrylate) [84, 85], poly (N-vinyl pyrrolidone) (PVP) [86], PVA [87], polyacrylamide [88], polyethylene glycol (PEG) [89, 90], polyacrylic acid (PAA or Carbomer) [91, 92], and poly (methacrylic acid) [93]. PNPs loaded with the drug are commonly prepared by solubilizing the drug and polymer into water immiscible solvent to produce a nanoemulsion and probe sonicated to generate the appropriate particle size range [68]. Rotary evaporation may be used for removing solvent followed by washing of nanoparticles to remove any residual solvent and particle collection by centrifugation [68]. However, nanoparticles can be prepared in various ways; an overview of different preparation techniques are presented in Chap. 2.

PNPs have been employed in delivering small molecules and macromolecules (e.g. proteins, genetic material, and antibodies). Al-Nemrawi et al. 2018 developed tobramycin encapsulated PLGA NPs for the treatment of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections for cystic fibrosis [94]. Further, to increase the mucoadhesive properties of the PLGA-NPs, they coated the NPs with low molecular weight chitosan (LMWC). The LMWC coated tobramycin PLGA-NPs delayed the release of tobramycin over two days and displayed antimicrobial activity that increased with higher LMWC concentration [94]. In another study, Deacon et al. 2015 prepared tobramycin alginate/chitosan NPs; a lethal inoculum of P. aeruginosa in an animal model was cleared by the tobramycin NPs in a dose dependent manner. Further, to improve the NP penetration of CF sputum they functionalized the tobramycin NPs with dornase afla that exhibited anti-pseudomonal effects [95]. Polymeric nanoparticles have also proven to be effective in vaccine drug delivery. Muttil et al. 2010 successfully prepared dry powder formulation of recombinant hepatitis B surface antigen (rHBsAg) encapsulated PLGA/PEG NPs and demonstrated that high IgA titers can be achieved after immunizing guinea pigs by administering the dry powder to the lungs [96]. Pulmonary route has also proven to be effective in diphtheria immunization; studies conducted by Muttil et al., 2010 demonstrated improved local and systemic immune response in guinea pigs with diphtheria CRM-197 antigen delivered via pulmonary route as dry powder [97].

Khademi et al. 2019 formulated cationic lipid-modified PLGA NPs for Mycobacterium tuberculosis HspX/EsxS fusion protein delivery with encapsulation rate up to 90% [98]. In another study, Kunda et al. 2015 reported the preparation of bovine serum albumin (BSA) adsorbed poly(glycerol adipate-co-ωpentadecalactone), PGA-co-PDL polymeric NPs for pulmonary vaccine delivery [99]. The BSA adsorbed NPs were spray-dried using L-leucine and displayed excellent aerosolization properties with the NPs facilitating enhanced uptake by dendritic cells to initiate a robust immune response [99]. Polymeric nanoparticles have also been used for the delivery of genetic material. For example, PLGA and PGA-co-PDL based nanoparticles have been reported for the delivery of miRNA [100]. The use of miRNA for targeting inflammatory lung diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is restricted due to the inability of neat negatively charged miRNA to cross anionic cell membranes and potential degradation by nucleases [100]. Mohamed et al. 2019 reported the preparation of positively charged PNPs using cationic lipid dioleoyltrimethylammonium propane (DOTAP). The authors adsorbed the negatively charged miRNA onto the positively charged PGAco-PDL polymeric NPs. The positively charged PNPs increased miRNA adsorption compared to neutral and negatively charged PNPs; this led to an increased cellular uptake of PNPs by A549 cells, and also reduced the target gene IRAK1 expression. This data suggests that miRNA retained its biological activity after formulation and that PNPs can be a potential treatment option for COPD [100]. With these recent studies, it can be concluded that polymeric nanoparticles are an effective delivery tool for drugs, vaccines and genetic materials and should be pursued for early human trials.

#### **3** Inorganic Nanoparticles

Inorganic nanoparticle-based drug delivery systems are finding greater application in simultaneous diagnosis and therapy for various diseases due to their easy modification and detection, high drug loading capacity, and stability. Modification of the particles is usually performed to enhance the interaction with the biological membranes [101]. Inorganic nanoparticles find use in molecular imaging techniques such as optical imaging, positron emission tomography, computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, and ultrasound [102]. In particular, gold and silver nanoparticles are used in the biomedical field owing to their inertness and high electron conductivity [103]; this chapter will briefly discuss these two types of inorganic nanoparticles and their use in drug delivery.

#### 3.1 Gold Nanoparticles

Gold nanoparticles (Au-NPs) are inert, biocompatible, have high surface-to-volume ratio, can be functionalized with several molecules, and are the most stable metal nanoparticles. In addition, Au-NPs can be synthesized in various shapes including spheres, rod-like, core-shell and others. They are also capable of penetrating blood vessels and tissue barriers including the blood-brain barrier and can be targeted to specific cells using targeting ligands [104–107].

Gold has a high atomic number which allows high absorption and enhancement of ionizing radiation and is an excellent photon absorber for imaging applications. Gold radioisotope (Au198) has found great use in cancer radiotherapy. Further, Au NPs small size enables wide biodistribution and preferential accumulation at the tumor sites due to enhanced permeation and retention effect [105]. For example, Au-NPs functionalized with cetuximab, an immunotherapeutic agent, compared to cetuximab alone, had higher endocytosis, suppressed tumor cell proliferation and migration in the A549 lung cancer cell line [108]. Ramalingam et al. developed a delivery system by conjugating doxorubicin (dox) on the surface of AuNPs with polyvinylpyrrolidone (Dox@PVP-AuNPs). Dox@PVP-AuNPs increased ROS generation, sensitized mitochondrial membrane potential, upregulated the expression of tumor suppressor genes, and induced both early and late apoptosis in lung cancer cells (A549 human adenocarcinoma lung cancer cells, H460 human largecell lung carcinoma cells, and H520 human squamous cell carcinoma cells). These results suggest that Dox@PVP-AuNPs showed enhanced inhibition of lung cancer cells growth compared to free doxorubicin and PVP-AuNPs [109].

Au-NPs are increasingly finding greater application in the field of vaccines with the shape determining the type of immune response generated [110]. Research by Niikura et al. showed that gold nanospheres induced enhanced secretion of proinflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), IL-6, IL-12, and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) whereas gold nanorods induced higher secretion of inflammasome-related cytokines, such as IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 [110].

Most Au-NPs synthesis strategies utilize Faraday's reaction wherein a solvated gold salt is chemically or electrochemically reduced in the presence of surface capping ligands. All Au-NPs synthesis require a reducing and stabilizing agent, and the major differences between methods are the types of chemicals used and the ratio between them. The most popular methods are the reduction of chloroauric acid and seeding growth procedure. Other physical methods include photochemistry, sono-chemistry, radiolysis, and thermolysis [101, 105]. Table 4 discusses different physical, chemical, and biological methods used for the preparation of gold and silver nanoparticles. A more detailed description of these methods is available in a recent review by De Matteis et al. (2018) [111].

Methods	Description	Advantages	Disadvantages
Physical methods	Types include evaporation- condensation, spark discharging, ultrasonic spray pyrolysis, thermal decomposition, and laser ablation	Speed, no hazardous chemicals used, radiation as reducing agent	Lack of uniform distribution, high energy consumption, low yield, solvent contamination
Chemical methods	Uses water or organic solvents to prepare the Ag-NPs. Mainly involves three components: (1) metal precursors, (2) reducing agents, and (3) stabilizing agents. Types include microemulsion, sol-gel, chemical reduction, sonochemical, and electrochemical synthetic method	Ease of production, low cost, high yield	Low purity, presence of toxic and hazardous chemicals used in the process
Biologic methods	Synthesis involves three main factors: (1) the solvent, (2) reducing agent, and (3) non-toxic material. Use of bacterial proteins and plant extracts to control the size, shape, and monodispersity	Simple, cost- effective, environment friendly, high yield, well defined size, solubility in water	Length of production

 Table 4 Types of methods for synthesis of gold and silver nanoparticles [111, 113, 118]

#### 3.2 Silver Nanoparticles

Silver nanoparticles (Ag-NPs) are the most commonly used metallic nanoparticles in the biomedical field. They find applications in food and cosmetics, health care, medical, and industrial purposes due to their optical, electrical, thermal, and biological properties. Ag-NPs are used as antibacterial agents and anticancer agents [112, 113]. Ag-NPs upon exposure to water and oxygen release silver ions that are cytotoxic to microorganisms. In addition, factors such as surface chemistry, size, size distribution, shape, surface morphology, particle composition, coating, agglomeration, dissolution rate, particle reactivity in solution, and cell type that the Ag NPs interact with, all could determine the biological activity of Ag NPs [113, 114]. Therefore, development of Ag-NPs with defined properties are essential for demonstrating consistent results and their wider use in the biomedical field.

Ag-NPs are prepared by biological, physical, or chemical methods. The physical and chemical methods are hazardous and very expensive whereas the biological method is simple, rapid, non-toxic, and dependable with Ag-NPs that have high stability [113, 115]. He et al. demonstrated the cytotoxicity of green-synthesized Ag-NPs to human lung cancer H1299 cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The effects of Ag-NPs on H1299 cells were correlated with the inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B activity, a decrease in bcl-2, and an increase in caspase-3 and survivin (apoptosis inhibitor) expression. Further, the H1299 tumor growth in a xenograft severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mouse model was significantly suppressed after treatment with Ag-NPs [116]. In another study, Yang et al. prepared uniform and stable curcumin modified Ag-NPs (cAgNPs), where the source of curcumin, *Curcuma longa*, acted as a reducing and capping agent. The cAgNPs showed a higher inhibition effect of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection with two orders of magnitude decrease in viral titers at a concentration that was non-toxic to host cells [117].

#### 4 Conclusion

The application of nanotechnology for medical diagnosis and treatment in the biomedical and pharmaceutical industry has significantly increased over the last few years; this is reflected by the increasing number of clinical trials being conducted on nanopharmaceutical products, and their subsequent approval for human use. As discussed in this chapter, as well as in subsequent chapters in the book, extensive research in the field of nano-sized particles has led to the development of novel drug delivery systems based on polymeric nanoparticles, liposomes, dendrimers, solid lipid nanoparticles, silver and gold nanoparticles; these delivery systems are finding important applications in human diagnostics and therapeutics. However, with the advancements in complex nano-delivery systems that are capable of being multifunctional, there are new challenges that need to be addressed before nanoparticles can be widely accepted by the medical community. Some of these challenges include particle toxicity, uncontrolled drug release, unconventional distribution and behavior inside the body, to name a few. In the near future, we will hopefully see the tremendous potential of nanomedicine based therapeutic and diagnostic agents in the clinic as these challenges are addressed by the research community.

#### References

- Geszke-Moritz M, Moritz M. Quantum dots as versatile probes in medical sciences: synthesis, modification and properties. Mater Sci Eng C. 2013;33(3):1008–21. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.msec.2013.01.003.
- Mehra NK, Jain K, Jain NK. Pharmaceutical and biomedical applications of surface engineered carbon nanotubes. Drug Discov Today. 2015;20(6):750–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. drudis.2015.01.006.
- Nanda SS, Papaefthymiou GC, Yi DK. Functionalization of graphene oxide and its biomedical applications. Crit Rev Solid State Mater Sci. 2015;40(5):291–315. https://doi.org/10.108 0/10408436.2014.1002604.
- Moritz M, Geszke-Moritz M. Recent Developments in application of polymeric nanoparticles as drug carriers. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2015;24(5):749–58. https://doi.org/10.17219/ acem/31802.
- Moritz M, Geszke-Moritz M. The newest achievements in synthesis, immobilization and practical applications of antibacterial nanoparticles. Chem Eng J. 2013;228:596–613. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2013.05.046.
- Labieniec-Watala M, Watala C. PAMAM dendrimers: destined for success or doomed to fail? Plain and modified PAMAM dendrimers in the context of biomedical applications. J Pharm Sci. 2015;104(1):2–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.24222.

- Moritz M, Geszke-Moritz M. Mesoporous materials as multifunctional tools in biosciences: principles and applications. Mater Sci Eng C. 2015;49:114–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msec.2014.12.079.
- Geszke-Moritz M, Moritz M. Solid lipid nanoparticles as attractive drug vehicles: composition, properties and therapeutic strategies. Mater Sci Eng C. 2016;68:982–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.05.119.
- Bobo D, Robinson KJ, Islam J, Thurecht KJ, Corrie SR, Corrie SR. Nanoparticle-based medicines : a review of FDA-approved materials and clinical trials to date. Pharm Res. 2016;33:2373–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-016-1958-5.
- Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S. Nanoparticles in the clinic. Bioeng Transl Med. 2016;(February):10–29. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/btm2.10003
- Weissig V, Pettinger TK, Murdock N. Nanopharmaceuticals (part 1): products on the market. Int J Nanomedicine. 2014:4357–73.
- Ling L, Ismail M, Du Y, et al. High drug loading, reversible Disulfide Core-cross-linked multifunctional micelles for triggered release of Camptothecin. Mol Pharm. 2018;15:5479–92. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.8b00585.
- Liu Z, Chen M, Guo Y, et al. Self-assembly of cationic amphiphilic cellulose-g-poly (p-dioxanone) copolymers. Carbohydr Polym. 2019;204(October 2018):214–22. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.10.020.
- Zhang Y, Huang Y, Li S. Polymeric micelles: nanocarriers for cancer-targeted drug delivery. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2014;15(4):862–71. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-014-0113-z.
- Deng C, Jiang Y, Cheng R, Meng F, Zhong Z. Biodegradable polymeric micelles for targeted and controlled anticancer drug delivery: promises, progress and prospects. Nano Today. 2012;7(5):467–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2012.08.005.
- Deshmukh AS, Chauhan PN, Noolvi MN, et al. Polymeric micelles: basic research to clinical practice. Int J Pharm. 2017;532(1):249–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.09.005.
- Jin X, Yang Q, Cai N. Preparation of ginsenoside compound-k mixed micelles with improved retention and antitumor efficacy. Int J Nanomedicine. 2018;13:3827–38. https://doi. org/10.2147/IJN.S167529.
- Wang L-L, He D-D, Wang S-X, Dai Y-H, Ju J-M, Zhao C-L. Preparation and evaluation of curcumin-loaded self-assembled micelles. Drug Dev Ind Pharm. 2018;44(4):563–9. https:// doi.org/10.1080/03639045.2017.1405431.
- Peer D, Karp JM, Hong S, Farokhzad OC, Margalit R, Langer R. Nanocarriers as an emerging platform for cancer therapy. Nat Nanotechnol. 2007;2:751–60.
- Li Y, Xiao K, Zhu W, Deng W, Lam KS. Stimuli-responsive cross-linked micelles for ondemand drug delivery against cancers. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2014;66:58–73. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.addr.2013.09.008.
- Wang H, Tang L, Tu C, et al. Redox-responsive, core-cross-linked micelles capable of on-demand, concurrent drug release and structure disassembly. Biomacromolecules. 2013;14(10):3706–12. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm401086d.
- Lee CC, MacKay JA, Fréchet JMJ, Szoka FC. Designing dendrimers for biological applications. Nat Biotechnol. 2005;23:1517–26.
- Svenson S, Tomalia DA. Dendrimers in biomedical applications—reflections on the field. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2012;64:102–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.030.
- 24. Liu M, Fréchet JMJ. Designing dendrimers for drug delivery. Pharm Sci Technolo Today. 1999;2(10):393–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1461-5347(99)00203-5.
- Mendes LP, Pan J, Torchilin VP. Dendrimers as nanocarriers for nucleic acid and drug delivery in cancer therapy. Molecules. 2017;22(9):1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22091401.
- Hammer BAG, Müllen K. Expanding the limits of synthetic macromolecular chemistry through Polyphenylene Dendrimers. J Nanoparticle Res. 2018;20(10) https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11051-018-4364-6.

- Kageyama A, Yanase M, Yuguchi Y. Structural characterization of enzymatically synthesized glucan dendrimers. Carbohydr Polym. 2019;204(September 2018):104–10. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.09.053.
- Kotrchová L, Kostka L, Etrych T. Drug carriers with star polymer structures. Physiol Res. 2018;67(Suppl. 2):S293–303.
- Jędrzak A, Grześkowiak BF, Coy E, et al. Dendrimer based theranostic nanostructures for combined chemo- and photothermal therapy of liver cancer cells in vitro. Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces. 2019;173(June 2018):698–708. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. colsurfb.2018.10.045.
- Esfand R, Tomalia DA. Poly(amidoamine) (PAMAM) dendrimers: from biomimicry to drug delivery and biomedical applications. Drug Discov Today. 2001;6(8):427–36. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1359-6446(01)01757-3.
- 31. Chang H, Wang H, Shao N, Wang M, Wang X, Cheng Y. Surface-engineered dendrimers with a Diaminododecane core achieve efficient gene transfection and low cytotoxicity. Bioconjug Chem. 2014;25(2):342–50. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc400496u.
- Watkins DM, Sayed-Sweet Y, Klimash JW, Turro NJ, Tomalia DA. Dendrimers with hydrophobic cores and the formation of supramolecular dendrimer–surfactant assemblies. Langmuir. 1997;13(12):3136–41. https://doi.org/10.1021/la9620263.
- 33. Liu C, Gao H, Zhao Z, et al. Improved tumor targeting and penetrating by dual-functional poly(amidoamine) dendrimer for the therapy of triple-negative breast cancer. J Mater Chem B. 2019;7:3724–36. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9TB00433E.
- 34. Wang K, Hu Q, Zhu W, Zhao M, Ping Y, Tang G. Structure-invertible nanoparticles for triggered co-delivery of nucleic acids and hydrophobic drugs for combination cancer therapy. Adv Funct Mater. 2015;25(22):3380–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201403921.
- 35. Li Y, Wang H, Wang K, et al. Targeted co-delivery of PTX and TR3 siRNA by PTP peptide modified dendrimer for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. Small. 2017;13(2):1602697. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201602697.
- Gu Y, Guo Y, Wang C, et al. A polyamidoamne dendrimer functionalized graphene oxide for DOX and MMP-9 shRNA plasmid co-delivery. Mater Sci Eng C. 2017;70:572–85. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.09.035.
- Biswas S, Deshpande PP, Navarro G, Dodwadkar NS, Torchilin VP. Lipid modified triblock PAMAM-based nanocarriers for siRNA drug co-delivery. Biomaterials. 2013;34(4):1289– 301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.10.024.
- Han M, Lv Q, Tang X-J, et al. Overcoming drug resistance of MCF-7/ADR cells by altering intracellular distribution of doxorubicin via MVP knockdown with a novel siRNA polyamidoamine-hyaluronic acid complex. J Control Release. 2012;163(2):136–44. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.08.020.
- Shah V, Taratula O, Garbuzenko OB, Taratula OR, Rodriguez-Rodriguez L, Minko T. Targeted nanomedicine for suppression of CD44 and simultaneous cell death induction in ovarian cancer: an optimal delivery of siRNA and anticancer drug. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(22):6193 LP–6204. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1536.
- Patil YP, Jadhav S. Novel methods for liposome preparation. Chem Phys Lipids. 2014;177:8– 18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2013.10.011.
- Carugo D, Bottaro E, Owen J, Stride E, Nastruzzi C. Liposome production by microfluidics: potential and limiting factors. Sci Rep. 2016;6:1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep25876.
- Torchilin VP. Recent advances with liposomes as pharmaceutical carriers. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2005;4(2):145–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1632.
- 43. Peng S, Zou L, Liu W, et al. Hybrid liposomes composed of amphiphilic chitosan and phospholipid: preparation, stability and bioavailability as a carrier for curcumin. Carbohydr Polym. 2017;156:322–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.09.060.
- 44. Rahman M, Beg S, Anwar F, et al. Liposome-based nanomedicine therapeutics for rheumatoid arthritis. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst. 2017;34(4):283–316. https://doi.org/10.1615/ CritRevTherDrugCarrierSyst.2017016067.

- 45. Nunes SS, Luis A, De Barros B. Journla of molecular pharmaceutics & organic process research the use of coating agents to enhance liposomes blood circulation time. J Mol Pharm Org Process Res. 2015;3(1):1–2. https://doi.org/10.4172/2329-9053.1000e120.
- 46. Yang T, Cui F, Choi M, Cho J. Enhanced solubility and stability of PEGylated liposomal paclitaxel : In vitro and in vivo evaluation. Int J Pharm. 2007;338:317–26. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2007.02.011.
- 47. Monpara J, Kanthou C, Tozer GM, Vavia PR. Rational design of cholesterol derivative for improved stability of paclitaxel cationic liposomes. Pharm Res. 2018:1–17.
- Bulbake U, Doppalapudi S, Kommineni N, Khan W. Liposomal formulations in clinical use: an updated review. Pharmaceutics. 2017;9(2):1–33. https://doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics9020012.
- 49. Wissing SA, Kayser O, Müller RH. Solid lipid nanoparticles for parenteral drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2004;56(9):1257–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2003.12.002.
- 50. Mukherjee S, Ray S, Thakur RS. Solid lipid nanoparticles: a modern formulation approach in drug delivery system. Indian J Pharm Sci. 2009;71(4):349–58. https://doi.org/10.4103/0250-474X.57282.
- 51. Weber S, Zimmer A, Pardeike J. Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) and Nanostructured Lipid Carriers (NLC) for pulmonary application: a review of the state of the art. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2014;86(1):7–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.08.013.
- Müller RH, Radtke M, Wissing SA. Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) and nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) in cosmetic and dermatological preparations. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2002;54(SUPPL.):131–155. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(02)00118-7
- 53. Rostami E, Kashanian S, Azandaryani AH. Preparation of solid lipid nanoparticles as drug carriers for levothyroxine sodium with in vitro drug delivery kinetic characterization. Mol Biol Rep. 2014;41(5):3521–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-014-3216-4.
- 54. Soares S, Fonte P, Costa A, et al. Effect of freeze-drying, cryoprotectants and storage conditions on the stability of secondary structure of insulin-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles. Int J Pharm. 2013;456(2):370–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.08.076.
- 55. Dhawan S, Kapil R, Singh B. Formulation development and systematic optimization of solid lipid nanoparticles of quercetin for improved brain delivery. J Pharm Pharmacol. 2011;63(3):342–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-7158.2010.01225.x.
- Shi S, Han L, Deng L, et al. Dual drugs (microRNA-34a and paclitaxel)-loaded functional solid lipid nanoparticles for synergistic cancer cell suppression. J Control Release. 2014;194:228–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.09.005.
- Ying X-Y, Cui D, Yu L, Du Y-Z. Solid lipid nanoparticles modified with chitosan oligosaccharides for the controlled release of doxorubicin. Carbohydr Polym. 2011;84(4):1357–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2011.01.037.
- Kuo Y-C, Chung J-F. Physicochemical properties of nevirapine-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles and nanostructured lipid carriers. Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces. 2011;83(2):299– 306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2010.11.037.
- 59. Kuo Y-C, Liang C-T. Inhibition of human brain malignant glioblastoma cells using carmustine-loaded catanionic solid lipid nanoparticles with surface anti-epithelial growth factor receptor. Biomaterials. 2011;32(12):3340–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2011.01.048.
- Venishetty VK, Komuravelli R, Kuncha M, Sistla R, Diwan PV. Increased brain uptake of docetaxel and ketoconazole loaded folate-grafted solid lipid nanoparticles. Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol Med. 2013;9(1):111–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2012.03.003.
- 61. Eid HM, Elkomy MH, El Menshawe SF, Salem HF. Development, optimization, and In Vitro/ In Vivo characterization of enhanced lipid nanoparticles for ocular delivery of Ofloxacin: the influence of pegylation and chitosan coating. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2019;20(183):1–14. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-019-1371-6.
- Jain P, Pandey V, Soni V. Surface modified solid lipid nanoparticles for brain cancer treatment. Asian J Pharm. 2019;13(2):119–24.

- 63. Arana L, Bay L, Sarasola LI, Berasategi M, Ruiz S, Alkorta I. Solid lipid nanoparticles surface modification modulates cell internalization and improves Chemotoxic treatment in an Oral carcinoma cell line. Nano. 2019;9(3):1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano9030464.
- Rao JP, Geckeler KE. Polymer nanoparticles: preparation techniques and sizecontrol parameters. Prog Polym Sci. 2011;36(7):887–913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. progpolymsci.2011.01.001.
- El-Say KM, El-Sawy HS. Polymeric nanoparticles: promising platform for drug delivery. Int J Pharm. 2017;528(1–2):675–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.06.052.
- 66. Vauthier CCP. Development of nanoparticles made of polysaccharides as novel drug carrier systems. Handb Pharm Control Release Technol. 2000:13–429.
- 67. Couvreur P, Dubernet C, Puisieux F. Controlled drug delivery with nanoparticles : current possibilities and future trends. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 1995;41(1):2–13.
- 68. Jeanmonod DJ, Rebecca, Suzuki K, et al. We are IntechOpen, the world 's leading publisher of Open Access books Built by scientists, for scientists TOP 1% Control of a Proportional Hydraulic System. Intech open. 2018;2(64) https://doi.org/10.5772/32009.
- Ahmed TA, El-Say KM. Development of alginate-reinforced chitosan nanoparticles utilizing W/O nanoemulsification/internal crosslinking technique for transdermal delivery of rabeprazole. Life Sci. 2014;110(1):35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2014.06.019.
- Fernández-Urrusuno R, Calvo P, Remuñán-López C, Vila-Jato JL, José AM. Enhancement of nasal absorption of insulin using chitosan nanoparticles. Pharm Res. 1999;16(10):1576–81. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018908705446.
- Kaul G, Amiji M. Biodistribution and targeting potential of poly(ethylene glycol)-modified Gelatin nanoparticles in subcutaneous murine tumor model. J Drug Target. 2004;12(9– 10):585–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/10611860400013451.
- Luppi B, Bigucci F, Corace G, et al. Albumin nanoparticles carrying cyclodextrins for nasal delivery of the anti-Alzheimer drug tacrine. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2011;44(4):559–65. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejps.2011.10.002.
- Edlund U, Albertsson A-C. Degradable polymer microspheres for controlled drug delivery BT – degradable aliphatic polyesters. In: Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2002:67–112. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-45734-8\_3
- Musumeci T, Ventura CA, Giannone I, et al. PLA/PLGA nanoparticles for sustained release of docetaxel. Int J Pharm. 2006;325(1):172–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2006.06.023.
- Zambaux MF, Bonneaux F, Gref R, et al. Influence of experimental parameters on the characteristics of poly(lactic acid) nanoparticles prepared by a double emulsion method. J Control Release. 1998;50(1):31–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(97)00106-5.
- Danhier F, Ansorena E, Silva JM, Coco R, Le Breton A, Préat V. PLGA-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications. J Control Release. 2012;161(2):505–22. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.01.043.
- 77. Grabrucker AM, Garner CC, Boeckers TM, et al. Development of novel Zn2+ loaded Nanoparticles designed for cell-type targeted drug release in CNS neurons: in vitro evidences. PLoS One. 2011;6(3) https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017851.
- Nagavarma BVN, Yadav HKS, Ayaz A, Vasudha LS, Shivakumar HG. Different techniques for preparation of polymeric nanoparticles- A review. Asian J Pharm Clin Res. 2012:16–23. doi:ISSN-0974-2441.
- Saroja C, Lakshmi P, Bhaskaran S. Recent trends in vaccine delivery systems: a review. Int J Pharm Investig. 2011;1(2):64–74. https://doi.org/10.4103/2230973X.82384.
- Leong KW, Brott BC, Langer R. Bioerodible polyanhydrides as drug-carrier matrices. I: characterization, degradation, and release characteristics. J Biomed Mater Res. 1985;19(8):941– 55. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.820190806.
- González-Martín G, Figueroa C, Merino I, Osuna A. Allopurinol encapsulated in polycyanoacrylate nanoparticles as potential lysosomatropic carrier: preparation and trypanocidal activity. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2000;49(2):137–142. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0939-6411(99)00076-4.

- Wilczewska AZ, Niemirowicz K, Markiewicz KH, Car H. Nanoparticles as drug delivery systems. Pharmacol Reports. 2012;64(5):1020–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/ \$1734-1140(12)70901-5.
- Kamaly N, Xiao Z, Valencia PM, Radovic-Moreno AF, Farokhzad OC. Targeted polymeric therapeutic nanoparticles: design, development and clinical translation. Chem Soc Rev. 2012;41(7):2971–3010. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2CS15344K.
- Pinto Reis C, Neufeld RJ, Ribeiro AJ, Veiga F. Nanoencapsulation I. Methods for preparation of drug-loaded polymeric nanoparticles. Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol Med. 2006;2(1):8–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2005.12.003.
- Thickett SC, Gilbert RG. Emulsion polymerization: state of the art in kinetics and mechanisms. Polymer (Guildf). 2007;48(24):6965–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2007.09.031.
- Bhavsar MD, Amiji MM. Polymeric nano- and microparticle technologies for oral gene delivery. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2007;4(3):197–213. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.4.3.197.
- Kalaria DR, Sharma G, Beniwal V, Ravi Kumar MNV. Design of Biodegradable Nanoparticles for Oral delivery of doxorubicin: in vivo pharmacokinetics and toxicity studies in rats. Pharm Res. 2009;26(3):492–501. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9763-4.
- Brannon-Peppas L, Blanchette JO. Nanoparticle and targeted systems for cancer therapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2004;56(11):1649–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2004.02.014.
- Kaul G, Amiji M. Long-circulating poly(ethylene glycol)-modified Gelatin nanoparticles for intracellular delivery. Pharm Res. 2002;19(7):1061–7. https://doi.org/10.102 3/A:1016486910719.
- Shah M, Naseer MI, Choi MH, Kim MO, Yoon SC. Amphiphilic PHA–mPEG copolymeric nanocontainers for drug delivery: preparation, characterization and in vitro evaluation. Int J Pharm. 2010;400(1):165–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.08.008.
- Asua JM. Emulsion polymerization: from fundamental mechanisms to process developments. J Polym Sci Part A Polym Chem. 2004;42(5):1025–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.11096.
- Wang J-W, Kuo Y-M. Preparation and adsorption properties of chitosan–poly(acrylic acid) nanoparticles for the removal of nickel ions. J Appl Polym Sci. 2008;107(4):2333–42. https:// doi.org/10.1002/app.27247.
- Lohmeyer JHGM, Tan YY, Challa G. Polymerization of Methacrylic acid in the presence of isotactic poly(methyl methacrylate) as possible template. J Macromol Sci Part A – Chem. 1980;14(6):945–57. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222338008068122.
- Al-Nemrawi KN, Alshraiedeh HN, Zayed LA, Altaani MB. Low molecular weight chitosancoated PLGA nanoparticles for pulmonary delivery of tobramycin for cystic fibrosis. Pharm. 2018;11(1) https://doi.org/10.3390/ph11010028.
- Deacon J, Abdelghany SM, Quinn DJ, et al. Antimicrobial efficacy of tobramycin polymeric nanoparticles for Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections in cystic fibrosis: formulation, characterisation and functionalisation with dornase alfa (DNase). J Control Release. 2015;198:55– 61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.11.022.
- Muttil P, Prego C, Garcia-Contreras L, et al. Immunization of Guinea pigs with novel hepatitis B antigen as nanoparticle aggregate powders administered by the pulmonary route. AAPS J. 2010;12(3):330–7. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-010-9192-2.
- Muttil P, Pulliam B, Garcia-Contreras L, et al. Pulmonary immunization of Guinea pigs with diphtheria CRM-197 antigen as nanoparticle aggregate dry powders enhance local and systemic immune responses. AAPS J. 2010;12(4):699–707. https://doi.org/10.1208/ s12248-010-9229-6.
- Khademi F, Yousefi-Avarvand A, Derakhshan M, Abbaspour MR, Sadri K, Tafaghodi M. Formulation and optimization of a new cationic lipid-modified PLGA nanoparticle as delivery system for Mycobacterium tuberculosis HspX/EsxS fusion protein: an experimental design. Iran J Pharm Res IJPR. 2019;18(1):446–58.
- Kunda NK, Alfagih IM, Dennison SR, et al. Bovine serum albumin adsorbed PGA-CO-PDL nanocarriers for vaccine delivery via dry powder inhalation. Pharm Res. 2015;32(4):1341– 53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-014-1538-5.

- 100. Mohamed A, Kunda NK, Ross K, Hutcheon GA, Saleem IY. Polymeric nanoparticles for the delivery of miRNA to treat chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2019;136(July 2018):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2019.01.002.
- 101. Alaqad K, Saleh T. Gold and silver nanoparticles: synthesis methods, characterization routes and applications towards drugs. J Environ Anal Toxicol. 2016;6(4):1–10. https://doi. org/10.4172/2161-0525.1000384.
- 102. Etame AB, Smith CA, Chan WCW, Rutka JT. Design and potential application of PEGylated gold nanoparticles with size-dependent permeation through brain microvasculature. Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol Med. 2011;7(6):992–1000. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nano.2011.04.004.
- 103. Tedesco S, Doyle H, Blasco J, Redmond G, Sheehan D. Oxidative stress and toxicity of gold nanoparticles in Mytilus edulis. Aquat Toxicol. 2010;100(2):178–86. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.03.001.
- Carabineiro AS. Applications of gold nanoparticles in nanomedicine: recent advances in vaccines. Mol. 2017;22(5) https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22050857.
- 105. Versiani AF, Andrade LM, Martins EMN, et al. Gold nanoparticles and their applications in biomedicine. Future Virol. 2016;11(4):293–309. https://doi.org/10.2217/fyl-2015-0010.
- 106. Jain S, Hirst DG, O'Sullivan JM. Gold nanoparticles as novel agents for cancer therapy. Br J Radiol. 2012;85(1010):101–13. https://doi.org/10.1259/bjr/59448833.
- 107. Mandal NPP and TK. Engineered Nanoparticles in Cancer Therapy. Recent Pat Drug Deliv Formul. 2007;1(1):37–51. doi:https://doi.org/10.2174/187221107779814104
- Qian Y, Qiu M, Wu Q, et al. Enhanced cytotoxic activity of cetuximab in EGFR-positive lung cancer by conjugating with gold nanoparticles. Sci Rep. 2014;4:7490. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep07490.
- 109. Ramalingam V, Varunkumar K, Ravikumar V, Rajaram R. Target delivery of doxorubicin tethered with PVP stabilized gold nanoparticles for effective treatment of lung cancer. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):3815. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-22172-5.
- 110. Niikura K, Matsunaga T, Suzuki T, et al. Gold nanoparticles as a vaccine platform: influence of size and shape on immunological responses in vitro and in vivo. ACS Nano. 2013;7(5):3926–38. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn3057005.
- 111. De Matteis V, Cascione M, Toma CC, Leporatti S. Silver nanoparticles: synthetic routes, In Vitro toxicity and theranostic applications for cancer disease. Nanomater (Basel, Switzerland). 2018;8(5):319. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano8050319.
- 112. Li W-R, Xie X-B, Shi Q-S, Zeng H-Y, OU-Yang Y-S, Chen Y-B. Antibacterial activity and mechanism of silver nanoparticles on Escherichia coli. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2010;85(4):1115–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-009-2159-5.
- 113. Zhang X-F, Liu Z-G, Shen W, Gurunathan S. Silver nanoparticles: synthesis, characterization, properties, applications, and therapeutic approaches. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(9):1534. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17091534.
- 114. Carlson C, Hussain SM, Schrand AM, et al. Unique cellular interaction of silver nanoparticles: size-dependent generation of reactive oxygen species. J Phys Chem B. 2008;112(43):13608– 19. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp712087m.
- 115. Gurunathan S, Park JH, Han JW, Kim J-H. Comparative assessment of the apoptotic potential of silver nanoparticles synthesized by Bacillus tequilensis and Calocybe indica in MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells: targeting p53 for anticancer therapy. Int J Nanomedicine. 2015;10:4203–22. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S83953.
- 116. He Y, Du Z, Ma S, et al. Effects of green-synthesized silver nanoparticles on lung cancer cells in vitro and grown as xenograft tumors in vivo. Int J Nanomedicine. 2016;11:1879–87. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S103695.
- 117. Yang XX, Li CM, Huang CZ. Curcumin modified silver nanoparticles for highly efficient inhibition of respiratory syncytial virus infection. Nanoscale. 2016;8(5):3040–8. https://doi. org/10.1039/C5NR07918G.
- 118. Shedbalkar U, Singh R, Wadhwani S, Gaidhani S, Chopade BA. Microbial synthesis of gold nanoparticles: current status and future prospects. Adv Colloid Interf Sci. 2014;209:40–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2013.12.011.

## Methods to Characterize Nanoparticles for Mucosal Drug Delivery



Kalpesh Vaghasiya, Ankur Sharma, Eupa Ray, Suneera Adlakha, and Rahul Kumar Verma

Abstract Physicochemical properties of the nanoparticles are associated to their in-vivo behavior including pharmacokinetic, bio-distribution, efficacy, and toxicity profiles. It is imperative to gain a comprehensive understanding of the nanoparticle properties through their characterization. Characterization of nanomaterials depends upon their unique physical and chemical properties with different level of complexity at molecular levels. Distinct properties of nanoparticles often hinder when standard methods of characterization of particles are used, which compromise the reliability and reproducibility of the outcome. Nano-therapeutics characterization depends on various aspects, including the encapsulated drug, delivery vehicles, disease, route of administration, dosing amount and its application. The precise control over nanoparticle properties need robust and advanced characterization techniques. Generally, characterization of nanoparticles is based on the composition, size- distribution, morphology, surface charge, purity and stability, using sophisticated techniques such as dynamic light scattering (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), atomic force microscopy (AFM) etc. Mean particle size, morphology and surface charge of nanoparticles affect their physical stability, re-dispersibility and *in-vivo* biodistribution. This chapter summarizes the basic principles, associated challenges and practical concerns in standard and promising physicochemical techniques used for characterization of nanoparticles.

Keywords Nano particles  $\cdot$  Mucosal delivery  $\cdot$  Characterization  $\cdot$  Composition  $\cdot$  Morphology  $\cdot$  Size  $\cdot$  Charge  $\cdot$  Interaction  $\cdot$  Stability

K. Vaghasiya · A. Sharma · E. Ray · S. Adlakha · R. K. Verma ( $\boxtimes$ ) Institute of Nano Science and Technology (INST), Mohali, Punjab, India e-mail: rahulverma@inst.ac.in

<sup>©</sup> American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020

P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), *Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles*, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_2

#### 1 Introduction

Nanotechnology has several conceivable benefits to pharmaceutical research by making medicines more effective and minimizing their side effects. Nanoparticles have wide ranging implications in diverse field of science and technology including medicine, biotechnology, material science, etc. [1]. Designing precise drug delivery systems has long been a major challenge for pharmaceutical researchers. Further, drug delivery via mucosal sites offers several advantages over the traditional parenteral administration. However, it is challenging for several nanoparticulate formulations to cross the mucosal barrier and reach their target site in the deeper tissues or after subsequent absorption to the systemic circulation. Thus, evolving nanoformulation technologies explore several strategies that would enhance interaction with the mucus surface and the epithelial cell layer in order to achieve high drug levels at the target site [2]. Therefore, comprehensive knowledge about nanoparticle characterization is essential in order to improve current approaches and to develop new delivery systems to lower the barrier for improving mucosal delivery. In order to overcome these barriers, nanoformulations need to have several features like mucoadhesive properties, membrane permeation, cellular uptake augmenting, and drug release governing properties.

In order to gain a comprehensive understanding of the composition and nature of the nanoparticles, researchers first need to have enough information on the available nanoparticles characterization techniques. Characterization of nanoparticle proposed for therapeutic or diagnostic applications is complicated due to the wide variability of materials used for their preparation. Further, the multi-functionality and distinctive surface properties of nanoparticles makes characterization even more difficult by standardized methods. Several nanoparticles like colloidal goldparticles, silver-particles, quantum-dots etc. have optical properties which interferes with calorimetric assays and potentially give false positive results [3]. Some nanoparticles like dendrimers, silicon, cadmium selenide, titanium dioxide etc. can have catalytic properties that interfere with enzymatic testing of nanoparticles. Polymeric nano-formulations may contain variable concentrations of surfactants to improve stability and dispersibility in liquid. The surfactant alters the surface tension of the medium and hence interferes in their characterization. Nanoparticles readily absorbs impurities from the medium due to their large surface area and surface charge, which gives inconsistent analytical results. Selectively delivering drugs to targeted disease site using nanoparticles can help to enhance the therapeutic effectiveness and reducing adverse effects in normal tissues. Several advanced nanoparticles are functionalized by specific targeting moieties that facilitate their precise recognition and effective delivery to target cells. These targeting moieties includes proteins, antibodies, peptides (arginine-glycine-aspartate; RGD), aptamers, polysaccharides, glycoproteins, folate etc. which are broadly used in developing multifunctional nanoparticles. However, the complexation of nanoparticles with targeting moieties further increase the complexity of delivery system and make their
Parameters	Techniques
Particle size distribution	Dynamic light scattering (DLS), photon correlation spectroscopy (PCS), scanning electron microscopy, transmission electron microscopy, atomic force microscopy
Surface charge (zeta potential)	Laser doppler anemometry, Zeta potentiometer
Shape	Scanning electron microscopy, transmission electron microscopy, Atomic force microscopy, Coulter counter
Surface hydrophobicity	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy, water contact angle measurement Hydrophobic interaction chromatography
Surface properties	Static secondary-ion mass spectrometry
Surface area	Brunauer-Emmett-teller (BET) Analyzer
Crystallinity	X-ray diffraction, Small angle X-ray scattering (SAXS), differential scanning calorimetry thermal analysis (DSC-TGA)
Density	Helium compression pycnometry
Drug loading and release	Dialysis membrane <i>in-vitro</i> drug release assay using analytical techniques, such as HPLC, UV, <i>etc</i>

Table 1 Different methods to characterize nanoparticles

characterization more challenging. These complications therefore tend to impede the development of standard characterization methods for nanoparticles.

For nanomaterials, unfortunately there is a lack of known regulatory protocol and standardized set of detection and characterization methods [4]. Nanoparticle researchers usually establish their own characterization and quality control methods for their nanoparticles. Regulatory authorities therefore face various issues in interpreting and evaluation of characterization data without any substantial reference to published literature. These issues further complicate the approval process for nanoformulation for diagnostics and therapeutics.

Physicochemical characterization of nanoparticles such as shape, size, surface area, chemical composition, aggregation, surface functionality, stability etc. can provide better understanding of structure–activity relationships and biological activity *in vivo*. In this chapter, we will provide a comprehensive description of various nanoparticle characterization technique and are out lined in Table 1 [2, 5, 6].

# 2 Nanoparticle Characterization Parameters

The basic of nanotechnology lies in the fact that properties of materials change significantly when particle size is reduced to nanoscale range. The behavior of nanoparticles is fundamentally different from their bulk counterparts due to the change in surface-to-volume ratio and enhancement of quantum properties. However, measuring this aspect is difficult and pose challenges to researchers. Physicochemical properties, like particle size, surface zeta potential, shape, surface properties, adsorption potential, molecular weight, composition, solubility, stability, purity, identity, aggregation, wettability, porosity, distribution of conjugated moieties, and impurities are critically relevant to physiological interaction in biological systems. It is therefore crucial to understand various nanoparticle properties based on their different features by reliable and robust characterization techniques: as *invivo* physiological interaction behavior of particles may influence the therapeutic efficacy and diagnostic accuracy in medical applications.

# 2.1 Particle Size Distribution

Most of the unique properties of nanoparticles are size-dependent which do not exist unless the size of the particle is decreased to nano-dimensions. The surface-tovolume ratio along with quantum effects of nanomaterials exhibits several sizedependent phenomena like optical, electronic, magnetic and mechanical properties. The particle size plays an important role in inherent nanoparticle properties and hence it is an essential task in the characterization of nanoparticles. The particle size distribution (PSD) of the nanoparticle governs biological fate that could affect physiological processes including deposition, distribution, targeting, metabolism and toxicity. For the development of drug delivery systems, the size of nanoparticles plays a major role as particle has to navigate from the administration site to the targeted site via various biological barriers. Subsequently, after administration of the nanoparticle formulation, it undergoes a biodistribution step and reaches the different organs or target site according to their size. To achieve better biodistribution of drug encapsulated in nanoparticles via crossing epithelial barriers to the target site, nanoparticles <1 µm are preferred. Depending upon their size, nanoparticles could escape from the systemic circulation through openings of endothelial barrier called as fenestrations. It has also been demonstrated that nanoparticles 200 nm or larger could activate the lymphatic system and are cleared from circulation faster. Micron sized particles (1-5 µm) are majorly cleared through mononuclear phagocytic system cells, whereas 150-300 nm sized particles could be found in liver and spleen. Nanoparticles of 30-150 nm may also accumulate in the heart, kidney, and bone marrow. Smaller nanoparticles (5-10 nm) are rapidly cleared from systemic circulation while 10-70 nm diameter nanoparticles may penetrate capillary walls throughout the body [7]. In order to cross the endothelial barrier, nanoparticles should have size smaller than 150 nm. Desai et al. 1997 reported that nanoparticles of size 100 nm demonstrated a 2.5-fold more cellular uptake as compared to a 1 µm particle, and 6-times greater uptake than a 10 µm particles [8]. In various pathological conditions, vasculature structure undergoes several modifications, as in tumor grows where neo-vascularisation occurs and endothelium structure becomes discontinuous resulting in passage of larger nanoparticles (200-780 nm) accross the barrier [9, 10]. Therefore the nanoparticles need to have an optimum size which can deliver sufficient drug and further evade the immediate clearance by the lymphatic system.



Fig. 1 Translocation permeability of nanoparticulate drug delivery systems across mucosal barriers

For mucosal delivery, particulate delivery systems could be trapped in mucus layers (lung airways, gastrointestinal tract, vagina, eye etc) by steric barrier or adhesion. The thickness of the mucus layer in humans could vary depending on its site: for instance stomach has 50–600  $\mu$ m and 15–450  $\mu$ m in intestine [11]. These particles are normally removed quickly from the mucosal tissue and hence prevent delivery of drugs in these areas. Mucus is a dense porous structure composed of cross linked mucin fibers by hydrophobic interactions. Mucus show diverse pore size ranging from ~10 to 1800 nm depending on its site in the body, for example, the mean mesh pore size of human intestinal mucus pore size ~200 nm, human vaginal mucus ~350 nm, cystic fibrosis lung mucus ~140 nm, bovine vitreous ~500 nm. Hence, in order to penetrate and infiltrate mucus, particles need to have an optimum size to evade any obstruction [5, 12] (Fig. 1).

# 2.2 Surface Area

Surface area is another important parameter for therapeutic nanoparticles as it affects reactivity and surface interactions with ligands. A decrease in particle-size leads to an exponential increase in surface area, and an increase in the availability of reactive surface. The high surface area of drug delivery systems can be achieved either by making small particles where the surface-to-volume ratio of particle is high or by developing materials with large number of voids compared to bulk material. Nanoparticles having high surface-to-volume ratio results in augmented surface reactivity, enhanced rate of dissolution, improved bioavailability and altered pharmacokinetic and toxicity profile. The interactions of nanoparticles with cells or microorganisms generally take place at the particle's surface, so the surface area is a major factor for possible therapeutic effects of nanoparticles. The larger surface area of nanoparticles dramatically enhances the equilibrium solubility, the rate of dissolution and generation of reactive oxygen species [13]. Further, the large surface

area allows for outer surface functionalization and can be done specifically for a particular receptor.

# 2.3 Shape

The shape of the nanoparticles is also an important design parameter that affects various biological phenomenon like movement of particles in systemic circulation, internalization by cells, physiological efficacy and degradation. Furthermore, the *in-vivo* circulation of nanomedicine can be altered by modifying the shape of drug loaded nanoparticles. Most of the nanoformulations are prepared in spherical shapes but advanced fabrication approaches have permitted the manufacture of wideranging shapes of nanocarriers with high precision. These shapes include rods, cubes, disks, ellipsoids, cylinders, hemispheres, cones, chains, biconcave discoids, dendrites etc. Irregular shapes show noteworthy influence on their transport through systemic circulation, their half-lives, cellular uptake and following intracellular targeting. Recent literature demonstrates the significance of shape of nanocarrier on many biological processes. Though, spherical structure is the most common shape in use, asymmetrical shapes could also be favorable in several occasion to enhance circulation time of the particles in vessels with decreased collisions against the vessel walls [14]. Asymmetric nanoparticles show different hydrodynamic behavior compared to spherical particles and are less susceptible to phagocytic clearance by the macrophages, which ease better sustained delivery of drugs [14].

Non-spherical systems demostrated varied biodistribution profiles compared to their spherical counterpart, providing a different approach for targeting specific sites. Yu et al. 2016 demonstrated that the nanoparticle shape can have significant role in the mucus-penetrating abilities. They showed nanorods penetrates faster in GIT mucus of rat as compared to spherical nanoparticles of equivalent size. This phenomenon was attributed to rotational movement enabled by the flow and the mesh size of mucus [15].

## 2.4 Zeta Potential

Dispersed nanoparticles in solution are located at different locations in the diffuse layer of liquid due to the electric potential difference, so the movement of particles in this layer of liquid is called slipping and shear plane. The measurement of potential at this plane is called zeta potential [16]. The zeta potential of the nanoparticles is an important factor as it affects the particle dispersion characteristics and influences the adsorption of ions and biomolecules. The surface charge of nanoparticles is approximated by zeta potential measurements which is the function of surface charge of nanoparticle, adsorbed molecules on its surface, and the ionic strength and composition of the surrounding solutions. Therefore, the storage stability of

colloidal nanoparticles dispersion is mainly dependent on its zeta potential. Electrostatic interaction of nanocarriers is controlled by modification in their surface charges, that is analyzed by measuring the zeta potential of nanoparticles [17]. To achieve higher stability and to avoid aggregation of nanoparticles, higher value of zeta potential (either negative or positive) is preferred. The measured value of zeta potential indicates the surface hydrophobicity, the nature of the material encapsulated in nanoparticles and coating properties of the surface [13, 18]. Surface of nanocarrier is an important concern in targeting drug delivery systems. Un-functionalized nanoparticles having neutral or negative charge are swiftly opsonized and cleared by macrophages. Surface functionalization of nano-formulations is a common practice to evade the opsonization phenomenon and to maintain sustained drug delivery in systemic circulation. Appropriate zeta potential can enhance the drug targeting, its release profiles and stability of the nano-particulate formulations. It is demonstrated that nanoparticle with high surface charge and large particle size are engulfed more efficiently by macrophage. Small difference in surface charge and size has significant effect on cellular uptake. Nanoparticles with adequate hydrophilicity and uncharged surface can efficiently diminish the positive interactions between mucus and particles by decreasing electrostatic interactions.

# 2.5 Surface Properties

The surface properties of nanoparticles are functions of molecular or atomic compositions, charge and functional groups present on the surface which are responsible for the interaction with the surrounding environment. The surface properties of nanoparticles are intrinsically relevant to the superficial layer, but not to the overall bulk material. Surface properties of nanoparticles have potential effects on physiological barrier penetration, receptor binding, dispersion stability and aggregation. The manipulation of surface properties of nanoparticles is another prospect to design superior nanocarrier systems. To design an ideal nanocarrier system, the functionalization of particle surface with suitable targeting moieties, modification of surface hydrophobicity and reactivity can be useful to address aggregation, stability, and receptor binding. In multifunctional nanoparticles, functional moieties are conjugated with the surface to bind to target receptor in specific tissues/organs. The selection of materials and their surface properties like hydrophobicity or crosslinking density can be important factors for the designing of a mucus penetrating particles. Pharmaceutical scientists have developed several surface engineering strategies to generate hydrophilic coating and lessen the particle adhesion with mucus. Despite having negative charge on ther surface, hydrophobic nanoparticles like polystyrene particles diffuse into mucin hydrogel by hydrophobic interactions. Researchers have proposed various active targeting strategies to increase nanoparticle penetration through mucus, mucoadhesion and cellular uptake by covalently functionalizing specific targeting moieties on the surface of the nanocarriers [2, 12]. Lectins are commonly used ligands for enhanced mucoadhesion and cell internalization via specific cell interactions [19]. Another promising strategy to increase nanoparticle penetration through mucus is the incorporation of mucolyticenzymes on the surface of the particles [20]. The characteristic ability of multifunctional nanoparticles to combine therapeutic, targeting and imaging modalities is a key aspect of their versatility and anticipated specific clinical impact [15].

# 2.6 Composition and Purity

A vast variety of nanomaterials are being used to design and develop nanoformulations for therapeutic purpose. These nanomaterials includes polymers, lipids, proteins, DNA, metal and metal oxides, inorganic minerals or other organic compounds. The composition and purity of nanoparticles majorly influences the transport, delivery, pharmacokinetics and biodistribution. In therapeutic applications of nanoparticles, it is common to combine two or more types of materials to form a complex or conjugant. Each ingredient exhibits their own inherent physicochemical properties including solubility, size, shape, surface charge, hydrophobicity and aggregation tendencies which are designed for different therapeutic response. The potential interaction of these materials with biological systems like cell and tissues is relatively different from each other depending upon the nature of material. Hence efficacy and toxicity significantly depends on the actual composition of the nanoparticle formulation. The measurement of chemical composition of multifunctional nanocarriers is more complicated compared to single entities. The occurrence of impurities in nanoformulations may considerably affect efficacy or introduce adverse effects. In accordance, the purity analysis of nanoparticles through their chemical composition is necessary. Prior to nanoparticle formulation synthesis, proper purification processes must be performed to remove side products, residual manufacturing components and endotoxin contamination. The purity analysis of nanoparticles must be carried out to check the presence of solvents, chelates and free metals, precursors, dimers, unconjugated therapeutics or other agents. Appropriate methods and techniques to detect the presence of such unwanted entities are required to ensure the quality and purity of the nanoparticle preparations [4, 10].

# 2.7 Stability

Pharmaceutical stability refers to the retaining of the bio-physico-chemical properties for a stated period of time after its manufacturing. Various factors affecting the conventional single molecule pharmaceuticals stability are similar for the conventional nanoparticles, including moisture, temperature, particle/molecular size, pH, solvents, enzymatic degradation, exposure to different types of ionizing and nonionizing radiation, and presence of other excipients and impurities [4]. The multifunctional nanoparticles have complex compositions, so the stability of all the components included in nanoparticles is essential to achieve its potential biological function. If any of the components of the complex will prematurely release, then it will compromise the efficiency of the nanoparticles activity. Therefore, it is necessary to evaluate the *in vitro* stability of functional components in various physiological conditions including pH, temperature and ionic strength. Further, stability evaluation in non-physiological conditions is also important to check the effects of short term and long term storage, ultrafiltration, lyophilization, freeze-thawing, pH variation, thermal and light exposure [10].

# 2.8 Drug Release

Drug loading is the amount of drug bound or encapsulated per total mass of polymer. Drug loading capacity of nanoparticles and its release influences the dose of the drug. The drug release from the nano-formulation depends upon several aspects of the material including matrix, porosity, matrix degradation, pH, temperature etc. Further, drug release rate from nano-formulations depends on the solubility of drug, desorption of the adsorbed drug, diffusion via matrix, degradation and diffusion process. Determination of extent of drug release from nanoparticles and subsequent biodegradation of the matrix is very essential for development of successful nanoformulations. The amount of drug is quantified by the use of UV-Vis spectroscopy, high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), or liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC-MS) [18]. The in vitro drug release from nanoparticles is determined by various methods like dialysis bag diffusion technique, side-by-side diffusion cells with biological or artificial membranes, reverse dialysis sac technique, ultrafiltration, ultracentrifugation, and centrifugal ultrafiltration. The release profile of drugs from nanoparticles depends upon the nature and type of the drug delivery system [21, 22]. When the drug is uniformly dissolved or distributed in the polymer matrix (e.g nano-spheres), the release majorly occurs by erosion or diffusion of the matrix. The adsorbed or weakly bound drugs on the large surface area of nanoparticles are rapidly released (burst released) compared to the incorporated drug. In heterogeneous systems (e.g nanocapsules), the release of drug is mainly governed by diffusion over the polymeric degradation mechanism. The rate of diffusion of drug is faster as compared to matrix degradation, and is less dependent on the type of polymer.

# 3 Methods of Characterization of Nanoparticles

The characterization of nanoparticles is mainly performed for the measurement of their size distribution, shape, morphology, average particle diameter, charge affects, surface and elemental analysis, thermal stability and optical properties. Size and surface morphology are determined by techniques such as transmission electron microscopy (TEM), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), atomic force microscopy (AFM) and dynamic light scattering (DLS). Stability and shelf-life of nanomedicine depends upon surface properties, surface charge, composition and storage conditions. Other techniques like ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy (UV-Vis), X-ray diffraction (XRD), small angle X-ray scattering (SAXS), fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), mass spectrometry (MS), differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), thermo-gravimetric analysis (TGA), etc. will also be discussed. On the basis of characterization techniques and instrumentation, nanoparticle analysis can be categorized as described in the below sections.

### 3.1 Particle Size and Morphology Analysis

#### 3.1.1 Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) or Photon-Correlation Spectroscopy (PCS)

The therapeutic properties of nanoparticles are highly dependent on their size and their tendency to agglomerate. Various techniques like sieve analysis, electro resistance counting methods, optical counting methods, sedimentation techniques, acoustic spectroscopy, dynamic light scattering, laser diffraction methods, etc. are all useful for particle size determination. Amongst them dynamic light scattering (DLS) is most popular and frequently used technique for obtaining size distribution of nanoparticles [23]. DLS can measure particle size distribution of small particles or polymers at the submicron or nanometer scale in suspension, and emulsion form by using a monochromatic light source, e. g. laser. Nanoparticles in the liquid phase experience brownian motion which is inducted by the bombardment of solvent molecules. Monochromatic light exposure hits the moving nanoparticles in solution which leads to a shift in incident light wavelength (at a fixed scattering angle) and the extent of the shifting in wavelength is due to interferences of the scattered light that measures the size of the particle (Fig. 2A). When moving particles are illuminated with laser, the intensity of light fluctuates which depends upon the size of the particle. This random motion of the particle is modeled by the Stokes-Einstein equation which that links diffusion-coefficient measured by dynamic light scattering to particle size. This formula is most often used for particle size analysis.

$$D_h = \frac{k_B T}{3\pi\eta D_t}$$

D<sub>h</sub>: Hydrodynamic diameter
D<sub>t</sub>: Diffusion coefficient.
k<sub>B</sub>: Boltzmann's constant
T: Temperature.
η: Solvent viscosity.

The major advantage of DLS is its short experimental time duration, ability to characterize diluted samples, accuracy in measurement of the hydrodynamic diameter of the monodisperse/polydisperse sample (Fig. 2B), lower apparatus cost and reproducible results and analyzing samples in a wide range of concentrations. However, DLS has limited utility for investigation of heterogeneous size samples and resolving the dimension measurements of a mixed sample population. It is also not suitable for accurately measuring the sizes of non-spherical nanomaterials. Griffiths et al. evaluated the interaction between nanoparticles and mucin, where they demonstrated that negatively charged and hydrophilic nanoparticles did not display any interaction with mucin while positively charged and hydrophobic nanoparticles illustrated a strong interaction. This study showed that the DLS technique is a potential screening tool to nanoparticle-mucin interactions [24].

#### 3.1.2 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

Scanning electron microscopy determines the size, shape, surface morphology of agglomerated/ dispersed nanoparticles, and surface functionalization with direct visualization of the nanoparticles [18]. It shows detailed three-dimensional images



Fig. 2 (A) A schematic diagram of a dynamic light scattering instrument (B) Graph of two nanoparticle batches of a bimodal polydisperse population and a monodisperse population obtained after analysis by light scattering

of high magnification particles (upto 300,000X). The mean particle size obtained by SEM is comparable with the size obtained by dynamic light scattering. In contrast to optical microscopy, that uses a light source and lenses to observe the samples and to generate magnified images, SEM uses beams of accelerated electrons to generate higher magnification images. For SEM analysis, suspension of particles is mounted on a sample holder and dried, followed by coating of conductive metal (e.g. gold) using a sputter coater under vacuum. Nanoparticles are evaluated by scanning with a beam of electrons, and the secondary electrons/backscattered electron/characteristic X-rays generated from the specimen surface reflects the atomic composition and topographical information of the particles [25] (Fig. 3).

X-rays are the second most common imaging mode for SEM analysis, which gives information of element composition of nanoparticles. The specific technique is known as Energy Dispersive X-Rays (EDX) SEM. Back scattered electron generated from samples are also occasionally in SEM analysis for elements. The image that is displayed on the monitor is the distribution map of the intensity of the signals emitted from the scanned part of the sample. The major limitation of SEM is that it requires conductive surface of the sample to scan the surface by an electron beam. Many biological molecules and polymers have nonconductive surfaces that may acquire a static electric charge and insufficiently deflect the electron beam which



Fig. 3 Schematic of Scanning electron Microscope (SEM)

tends to generates artefacts or imaging faults. Therefore, nonconductive samples are coated with an ultrathin layer of electrically conductive material under high vacuum evaporation or low vacuum sputter coating.

Nonconductive samples may also be imaged by specialized "Environmental SEM" (ESEM) or in field emission gun SEM which is operated at high vacuum, low voltage or at high voltage, low vacuum [4]. Sometimes, electron beam can damage the nanoparticles or the biological samples. The process of drying and contrasting of nanoparticles may also cause shrinkage of the sample and therefore change the characteristics of the nanoparticles. More sophisticated instruments such as, field emission SEM uses narrower probing beams at high and low electron energy which gives better spatial resolution while reducing the sample destruction [25, 26]. However, this method is time consuming, expensive and often needs additional information about size distribution.

#### 3.1.3 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) is a frequently used technique for the characterization of nanoparticles. It provides direct images and elemental information of nanoparticles at a spatial resolution down to the level of sub-nanometer/ atomic dimensions. In the conventional TEM mode, an electron beam emitted from a source is accelerated at high voltage potential and transmitted through an ultrathin foil specimen. The incident electrons interact with the sample and transform to either unscattered electrons or elastically/inelastically scattered electrons [27]. The scattered or unscattered electrons are focused through various electromagnetic lenses and then projected on a screen to obtain electron diffraction pattern, which forms a phase contrast image, amplitude contrast image or a shadow image according to the density of unscattered electrons. The image is magnified and focused by adjusting the ratio of the distance between the specimen and objective lens (Fig. 4). Newer TEM are specifically equipped with the specimen holder which allows tilting the specimen at different angles in order to get specific diffraction patterns [28]. A range of analytical techniques can be coupled with TEM for different type of applications, for example (i) electronic structure of the nanoparticles that can be quantitatively investigated by chemical analyses of electron energy loss spectroscopy and (ii) chemical composition of the nanoparticles can be quantitatively investigated by energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy [25, 28]. The TEM is widely applicable in biological sciences, material sciences and metallurgy. However, there are certain drawbacks of TEM, it requires thin layer samples (to transmit sufficient electrons to produce images) and high vacuum conditions which may lead to sample destruction. The preparation of extensive thin specimen enhances the chances of altering the structure and makes analysis a time consuming process.

The nanoparticles dispersion is deposited onto the support grids or films for characterization. TEM is useful in the measurement of particle size, aggregation/ agglomeration, and dispersion, of nanoparticles (Fig. 5).



## 3.1.4 Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM)

In contrast to electron microscopy technique, AFM is a scanning probe technique/ scanning force microscopy, which can divulge a range of information regarding the nanoparticles or biomolecules and its interaction on a single particle basis. The reported resolution of fractions of nanometer that is more than 100 times better than to optical diffraction limit. AFM is ideal for quantitative measurement of surface roughness and visualizing surface nano-texture of nanoparticles. It also helps in the determination of the size, shape, structure, aggregation and dispersion of nanoparticles. Due to its non-destructive analysis and high 3D spatial resolutions, it is a very useful tool in the analysis of conductive/nonconductive, dry/wet, soft/hard, or any other type of material in physiological conditions [25, 29]. AFM consist of a silicon/ silicon nitride micro machined cantilever with a sharp tip (radius ~ 10 nm) attached at one end to detect whether the deflection of the cantilever tip occurred due to vanFig. 5 PLGA nanoparticles observed by TEM: (**A**) stabilizer-free PLGA, (**B**) PLGA/PVA, (**C**) PLGA/Chitosan and (**D**) PLGA/PF68 (bar = 500 nm) (Reprinted with permission from ref. [26])



der Waals repulsion, electrostatic interaction and attraction between atoms at the tip and sample surface. The oscillating cantilever scans peaks and valleys over the sample surface in a vertical position and generates a topographical image of up to around 0.5 nm in vertical resolution [4]. During scanning of sample surface, the tip oscillates vertically and contacts the surface alternatively and lifts off, usually at a frequency of 50,000-5,00,000 cycles/s [1].

AFM has different scanning modes, includes dynamic/tapping (contact and intermittent contact with the sample) and static (noncontact) which provides details of various sample parameters like morphological information (size and shape) and elasticity parameters (Young's modulus, adhesion, and stretching) [29] (Fig. 6). However, the major limitation associated with AFM analysis is that the size of the cantilever tip and its geometry is larger than the dimensions of nanoparticles which leads to the widening of the lateral dimensions, which may leads to overestimation of size. AFM has several advantages over the SEM/TEM, which provides a two-dimensional projection of a sample; the AFM provides a threedimensional surface profile. AFM is capable of producing a three-dimensional topography using just a single scan. In addition, samples viewed by AFM do not require any special treatments (such as metal/carbon coatings) that would damage the nanomaterials. AFM also provides a greater level of detail for particle surfaces, as SEM is not as efficient in resolving the subtle changes on a highly smooth surface. As shown in Fig. 7, Cetin et al. synthesized Eudragit® L100/poly(lactic-coglycolic acid) (PLGA) based nanoparticles and determined its size and morphology by AFM [30].



Fig. 6 Schematc diagram of Atomic Force Microscope (AFM)



**Fig. 7** AFM images of nanoparticles having various polymer ratio of Eudragit and PLGA (**a**) 20:80, (**b**) 30:70, (**c**) 50:50, and (**d**) Pure Eudragit (Reprinted with permission from ref. [30])

# 3.2 Surface Charge Analysis

#### 3.2.1 Zeta Potential Measurement

As we have discussed previously, measurement of zeta potential is essential to know the stability of nanoparticles. It can be measured by various techniques, like electrophoretic light scattering, acoustic and electro-acoustic. Among these techniques, electrophoretic light scattering is frequently used because of its accuracy, sensitivity and versatility. Moreover, it can simultaneously determine the velocities of many charged species in the sample. The classical electrophoretic light scattering transmits light and receives at a small scattering angle (typically 8–30°). It is generally determined by measuring the velocity of the charged molecules towards the electrode in the sample solution due to the presence of an external electric field, which is proportional to the  $\zeta$  potential, and the electrophoretic mobility of nanoparticles is measured by laser Doppler velocimetry (LDV). However, this technique is not suitable for turbid samples because the incident light cannot penetrate the samples. Zeta potential is not only dependent on the surface charge of the nanoparticles but also affected by their surrounding environment like ionic strength, temperature, pH, radiation, nature of the surface ligands and types of ions in the suspension. Therefore, in some cases, when we measure the zeta potential of suspended particles after dilution to produce high resolution and accurate results, it may differ greatly from their original values in that particular environment and may mislead the user [16, 31, 32]. Usually, higher zeta potential value >  $\pm$  30 mV (strongly anionic or cationic) is chosen to infer the particle is stable, whereas a lower value of zeta potential  $< \pm 30$  mV indicates a condition towards aggregation, instability, coagulation or flocculation. Nanoparticles with a zeta potential of - 10 mV to +10 mV are considered as neutral [17, 31]. Ngo et al. synthesized gold nanoparticle using of citrate as reducing and stabilising agent and obtained the higher negative zeta potential value -23.9 mV which shows the higher stability of gold nanoparticles [33] (Fig. 8).



Fig. 8 Zeta potential graph of synthesized gold nanoparticles (Reprinted with permission from ref. [33])

# 3.3 Surface Area and Porosity

#### 3.3.1 Brunauer, Emmett, and Teller (BET) Analysis

Surface area and porosity are two important physical properties that influence the quality of nanomedicine. The specific surface area of the nanoparticles is the summation of the exposed areas per unit mass. Particle size has inverse relationship with surface area. Several unique properties of nanoparticles are due to their large surface-to-volume ratio. Surface area and porosity properties are also relatable to efficacy and toxicity of nanoparticles. It is therefore important to precisely measure surface area for nano-material characterization. The method of Brunauer, Emmett, and Teller (BET) is used to evaluate the total surface area of nanomaterials. The BET theory assesses the gas-adsorption data and creates aspecific-surface area results which are then expressed in units of area per mass of sample  $(m^2/g)$ . The actual surface area including surface pores cannot be estimated from particle size and shape information. Rather, it is determined at the atomic level by the adsorption of an inert gas. Nitrogen adsorption is commonly used to measure the specific surface area of particles. Amount of nitrogen adsorbed not only depends upon exposed surface but also on the temperature, gas pressure and strength of interaction between the gas and solid. Generally, interaction between gas and solid surface is low, the surface need to be cooled using liquid N<sub>2</sub> to have sufficient detectable quantities of adsorption. As adsorption layers are formed, the sample is taken out from the nitrogen atmosphere and heated to release the adsorbed nitrogen from the nanomaterial and quantified. The data is presented in the form of BET isotherms, which plots the quantity of gas adsorbed on material vs relative pressure. These isotherms may be of different shapes depending upon adsorbent, adsorbate and their interaction. Generally, five types of adsorption-isotherms are used. Type I shows monolayer adsorption and easily explained using Langmuir adsorption theory. This type of isotherm is characteristics of microporous material (pore diameters less than 2 nm) having relatively small external surfaces. Materials like charcoal, molecular sieve zeolites, Metallic Organic Framework (MOFs) and some porous oxides exhibits this type of isotherm. Type II isotherm represents unrestricted monolayer-multilayer adsorption which is charactersics of non-porous or macroporous material like Iron (Fe) catalyst and silica gel. The midway flat region of the isotherm represent the monolayer formation. Type III isotherm explains the formation of unrestricted multilayer. Here lateral interactions between gas molecules are strong compared the interactions between the material surface and adsorbate. Such materials including iodine, bromine, etc. Adsorption on mesoporous materials continues with multilayer adsorption followed by capillary condensation. Mesoporous materials with pore size ranging 2-50 nm, gives type-IV of isotherm. It displays the formation of a monolayer after development of multilayers. Type V isotherms are very similar to type IV isotherms but have relatively weak adsorbate-adsorbent interaction [34] (Fig. 9).



**Relative Pressure** 

#### 3.4 Chemical Composition and Crystal Structure Analysis

#### 3.4.1 Mass Spectrometry (MS)

Mass spectrometry (MS) is one of the major analytical method which can analyze the samples based on their mass to charge ratio and provides information like mass, chemical composition and elemental composition of a particle or a molecule. MS has high detection sensitivity  $(10^{-9} \text{ to } 10^{-21} \text{ mol of sample requires})$  with high degree of precision and accuracy in determination of molecular weight. Various physicochemical characteristics of nanoparticles, such as mass, structure and composition can be examined by using different MS procedures and differentiated by their ion sources, separation techniques and detector systems. Among the ionization methods coupled with MS analyzers, electrospray ionization (ESI, usually in conjunction with HPLC/UPLC) and matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI) are most frequently used to ionize and volatilize temperature sensitive biomolecules instead of introducing significant decomposition or fragmentation of the molecules. In ESI mode of MS, ions are formed through electrospray by applying a voltage (positive or negative) to liquid flow, which nebulizes the liquid into fine droplets. The droplets travel in high pressure and temperature through the ion source of MS which desolvate droplets and finally release the ions into the gas phase. MALDIcoupled with time of flight-MS (MALDI-TOF)-MS is a highly sensitive and powerful soft ionization technique which is suitable for analysis of complex molecules, like functionalized nanoparticles and proteins [35]. It is a solid phase ionization technique, in which sample and matrix co-crystallized on a solid support. The irradiation from nitrogen laser at 337 nm sublimates the sample/matrix mixture to gas phase where ionization of the sample occurs and proton transfer takes place. The data can be characterized by relatively simple spectra with a pseudomolecular ion,  $[M + H]^+$  for singly charged ions and  $[2 M + H]^+$  dimer for doubly charged +2 ion (31). Fig. 10 represents the (MALDI-TOF)-MS spectrum with predictabale molecular weight and purity of the synthetic Magainin-I analog peptide (MIAP) [36]. (MALDI-TOF)-MS is useful in the characterization of nanomaterial bioconjugates,



Fig. 10 MALDI-TOF mass spectrum of the synthetic MIAP peptide (Reprinted with permission from ref. [36])

especially in protein based nanoparticles, such as viral nanoparticles, in that mass increases in the viral coat protein because of the addition of biotin or fluorophore species. It is also useful for determination of size/size distributions of nanomaterials, molecular weights of macromolecules, dendrimers and polymers, as well as to illustrate proteins binding to nanoparticles (4, 27). On the other hand, inductively coupled plasma (ICP) ionization MS (ICP- MS) is mainly useful in the analysis of metal containing nanoparticles. It is implemented to validate the conjugation reaction between functionalized nanoparticles and modified contrast agent, where the secondary ion MS provides the molecular and elemental properties of the top layer of nanoparticles, as well as to determine biomaterial surface properties in physiological conditions. However, the application of MS techniques have some limitation in nanomaterials- bioconjugate characterization which may in part because of the relative cost of the instrumentation, the destruction of the sample during measurement, and the required level of expertise needed to run analysis (4, 27).

#### 3.4.2 X-Ray Diffraction (XRD)

X-ray diffraction (XRD) is a common and effective technique for the study of nanomaterials. The wavelength of X-rays is in atomic scale, hence XRD is an important method for investigating structure of nanoparticles. It helps in completely deciding the tertiary structures of crystalline materials at the atomic scale. Crystalline phases are identified by comparing the interplanar distance values obtained from data. X-rays are electromagnetic radiation with a very short wavelength (few Angstrom) which is produced when the electrically charged particles with sufficient energy are decelerated. X - rays, generated from cathode ray tube converge as monochromatic collimated radiation and directed towards the sample. The X – rays interfere constructively and destructively producing a diffraction pattern on the detector. Crystalline and semi crystalline materials like polymers, metal, metal oxides nanoparticles have a characteristic atomic structure which diffracts X-rays in a unique diffraction order or pattern. The X-ray diffraction data of polymers or nanomaterials gives information regarding crystallinity, orientation of the crystallites, lattice strain, thermal expansion, grain size, internal stress of small crystalline regions, order-disorder transformation, phase composition in semi crystalline polymers and thickness of thin films.

It is also used to determine nanosized components embedded in biological matrix or nanobioconjugate layered materials like nano-hybrids where the analysis of d-spacing alters upon bioconjugation between layers of the nanoparticles. This technique is also helpful to assess the polymorph stability of solid lipid nanoparticles and PEG content on the self assembly of peptide fibril nanostructures [31, 32]. When the pure drug is incorporated in polymer. matrix, change in its crystal property can be measured by XRD. On the basis of different diffraction pattern of pure drug, pure polymer and drug loaded nanoparticles (Fig. 11), incorporation of drug in polymer matrix can be easily distinguished. The major limitation of XRD is its very low diffraction intensity, especially for low atomic number molecules. A recent XRD study shows a novel approach by use of femtosecond pulses generated from a hard X-ray free electron laser for determination of structure of macromolecules which do not have sufficient crystal size [4].

#### 3.4.3 Small Angle X-Ray Scattering (SAXS)

In comparison to X-ray diffraction, where applications are confined to crystalline materials, small angle X-ray (SAXS) scattering gives minute detail of different characteristics by determining either amorphous or crystalline materials from polymers, protein to nanoparticles [4]. The principles of SAXS is that, a collision between an incident X-ray beam and a surface particle results elastical-scattering from the sample and forms pattern on a 2D flat X-ray detector which is perpendicular to the direction of the incoming X-ray beam. The reflected waves interfere with each other by constructive interferences at a certain angle and form a peak. The incident X-ray beam interacts with the surface of particles electron clouds and forms scattering pattern according to inhomogeneity in the electron density [4, 26]. By examining the intensity of the scattered X-ray obtained within the scattering angle from 0.1 to 3°, SAXS can determine the size/size distribution, orientation, shape, morphology, structure, and characteristic intra-assembly of a various polymers and nanoparticles in solid/solution form [31, 32]. The periodic varions in the intensity profile are inversely proportional to the particle size as well as the intensity profile of monodisperse particles captures the intensity maxima towards the largest



Fig. 11 XRD pattern of pure paracetamol, pure L-polylactic acid (L-PLA), and encapsulated paracetamol inside L-PLA (Reprinted with permission from ref. [33])

extent, whereas the smeared intensity minima indicates a modest polydispersity in SAXS data of particle size distribution of gold nanoparticles [37] (Fig. 12).

The recent advancement in SAXS can achieve higher resolution measurements through using synchrotron as the high energy X-ray source.

#### 3.5 Drug-Polymer Interaction Studies

# 3.5.1 Differential Scanning. Calorimetry (DSC) & Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)

Thermal techniques are mainly important in determination of drug-polymer interaction and biomolecules conjugation with nanomaterials and thier thermal stability. DSC records the heat released by a chemical process (either a conformational alteration or a chemical reaction) from the test and control samples which are placed in separate chamber of a calorimeter. The heat of reaction ( $\Delta$ rH) that defined as the



change in enthalpy associated with a chemical reaction is recorded by DSC. The positive value of  $\Delta$ rH indicates endothermic reaction, whereas the negative value of  $\Delta$ rH indicates an exothermic reaction. DSC is very useful for measurement of various material transitions including crystallization, melting, decomposition and glass. transition. Further analysis can show the state of the nanoparticles-bioconjugate including stability of the biomolecules, underlying crystallinity and interaction of each component with each other. It also helps to elucidate the stability and structure of surface coatings of the nanoparticles-bioconjugate as well as the state of their therapeutic payloads [31]. On the basis of surface area and intensity of endothermal and exothermal peak, the percentage of crystallinity in the drug and polymer can be differentiated. When the drug is incorporated in polymer, it forms molecular dispersion or solid solution in the polymer matrix (Fig. 13). DSC spectra of drug shows broad and weak endotherm that shows transformation of crystalline to amorphous [38].

Thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA) is also useful in characterization of thermal stability of compounds. It measures exothermic and endothermic weight loss upon heating and cooling of the nanoparticles and generates its thermal profile. It uses a high precision balance to measure changes in the weight of a sample relative to change in temperature. It characterizes various nanoparticles functionalized with biomolecules on the basis of its unique sequence from physicochemical reactions happening over particular temperature range. Isothermal titration calorimetry is another thermally based technique which can gives details about the nanoparticles-bioconjugation. It has potential to determine the affinity, enthalpy and stoichiometry of the nanoparticles-biomolecules interaction [31].



Fig. 13 DSC thermogram of (A) carboplatin, (B) carboplatin-loaded PCL nanoparticles and (C) PCL polymer (Reprinted with permission from ref. [38])

#### 3.5.2 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)

FTIR measures the particular absorption of IR radiation, which occurs due to vibrational stretching, and bending of the sample molecules. If the molecules have timevariant dipole moment, their oscillating frequencies are same to the incident light frequency and absorb that frequency of IR radiation. When the molecule absorbs IR radiation, it transfers energy and induces corresponding covalent bond stretching, twisting and bending. Molecules without dipole moments are not absorbing IR radiation, like diatomic molecules of O2 and N2. Normally, vibration in molecules involves a variety of covalent bonds and coupled pairs of atoms and all of them must be considered as a combination of the normal modes, hence, the IR spectra illustrates the absorption or transmission versus incoming IR frequency. It is most frequently used for determination of conjugation between peptide or protein with nanoparticles. In globular proteins, stretching and bending vibrations in the amide region gives secondary structural information which is correspond to the conformational state of the bound protein [31]. The alteration in FTIR spectrum of pure DNA, gold nanoparticles without functionalizations and DNA-gold nanoparticles conjugates indicates the interaction between DNA and gold nanoparticles (Fig. 14). The recently developed attenuated total reflection-FTIR (ATR-FTIR) spectroscopy utilises the total reflection property in conjunction with IR spectroscopy to determine the structural information of adsorbed/deposited molecules at a solid/liquid or solid/ air interface, by averting the drawbacks of spectral irreproducibility and sample preparation complexicity. ATR-FTIR spectroscopy can be implemented for the analysis of surface features of nanoparticles, although at nanometer scale, it is not a very sensitive surface analysis method as the penetration depth is in the same order of magnitude as the incident IR wavelength [4].



Fig. 14 FTIR spectra of pure DNA, gold nanoparticles without functionalization and AuNP-DNA nanocomplexes (Reprinted with permission from ref. [39])

#### 3.5.3 Ultraviolet-Visible Spectroscopy (UV-Vis)

The UV-Vis absorbance of nanoparticles is useful in monitoring its pertinent properties, like size, concentration and aggregation state. Quantum dots have a sizedependent absorption profile which is helpful to characterize its size, composition, and purity. Metal nanoparticles like silver or gold with 40–100 nm size can scatter optical light with remarkable efficiency due to collective resonance of the conduction electrons and shows a strong absorption in the visible region, which is known as the surface plasmon resonance (SPR) band. The adsorption of peptides/protein on the surface of nanoparticles causes some alteration in the absorption spectrum, leading to broadening or shifting of the absorption peak. In case of metal nanoparticles, the alteration in plasmonic peak during peptide/protein adsorption can be monitored [40]. It is affected by various factors, such as size, shape, aggregation state, composition, and refractive index changes within the surface proximity. The wavelength of a light wave and its energy is inversely proportional, so as an increase of nanoparticles size, it absorbs radiation of lower energy.

When the size of gold nanoparticles rises from 10 to 100 nm, the absorption maxima increases from 400 to >560 nm with broadening of the peak. In case of silver nanoparticles, when the silver content increases, the absorption maxima shift towards higher wavelength. It also shows shape dependent peak shift in the spectrum, like pentagon form of particles appear green, the triangular shaped particles appear red, and the spherical particles appear blue. It also shows increase in the

UV-Vis extinction value when the particles size increases from 5–100 nm. Smaller nanospheres primarily absorb light and have peaks near 400 nm, while larger spheres exhibit increased scattering and have peaks that broaden and shift towards longer wavelengths (known as red-shifting). Shape dependent peak shift in the spectrum, like pentagon form of particles appear green, the triangular shaped particles appear red, and the spherical particles appear blue. It also shows increase in the UV-Vis extinction value (Fig. 15) when the particles size increases from 5–100 nm [41]. Smaller nanospheres primarily absorb light and have peaks near 400 nm, while larger spheres exhibit increased scattering and have peaks that broaden and shift towards longer wavelengths (known as red-shifting).

# 3.6 Stability of Drug Nanoparticles

The high surface area to volume ratio of nanoparticles may cause the reactive and colloidal instability as compared to their bulk. In general, nanoformulation stability is categorized in to physical, chemical and pharmaceutical stability. The common physical stability issues with nanoparticle formulations include agglomeration, sed-imentation/ creaming, crystal growth and change of crystallinity state. The selection



**Fig. 15** (a) UV-Vis extinction spectrum and (b) the distinctive color of 5–100 nm sized silver nanoparticles (Reprinted with permission from ref. [41])

of characterization methodology for nanoparticles- stability is dependent on the kind of stability issues and formulations.

#### 3.6.1 Sedimentation/ Creaming

The changes in nanoparticle size is usually used to predict the stability of most of the nanomedicine. The deviations from the average size range is an indication of nanoparticle association or dissociation or instability in that specific environment. Sometimes, nanoparticles can settle down in the medium depending on their density comparative to the medium. Decreasing particle size is the most common strategy used to reduce particle settling. Large particles (microscale or more) precipitate more easily due to gravitational force, whereas nanoscale particles below one micron do not settle due to Brownian motion. Conventional method of evaluation of sedimentation is visual observation over a span of time. The quantitative volume of sedimentation is evaluated by measuring settled volume relative to the total suspension volume in specific time. Using dynamic light scattering we illustrate that cluster size and fractal dimension which should be considered when evaluating the fate of aggregated nanomaterials.

#### 3.6.2 Agglomeration

Aggregation of nanoparticles is serious issue which disrupt various properties of nanoformulations and leading to destabilization of colloidal systems. Aggregation depends on the type of nanomaterial, reagents or method used for nanoparticle synthesis. In this process, nanoparticles dispersed in the aqueous phase stick to each othe to form asymmetrical clusters, flocs, or aggregates. It modifies the physiochemical properties, activity, transport and biological interactions of nanoparticles. The unique properties of nanoparticles due to their size significantly changes due to aggregation. A quantitative measurement of nanoparticles aggregation would deliver a valuable assessment of colloidal stability. DLS is a very powerful characterization technique as it yields absolute values for an ensemble of particles. The variations of the intensity of light scattered by a nanoparticle dispersion are observed over a period of time and the analysis give yields information about the hydrodynamic radius (R) of the sample. Cryogenic transmission electron microscopy (cryo-TEM) is also used for the evaluation agglomeration of nanoparticles. Here sample is investigated under frozen-hydrated conditions which includes plunge freezing of aqueous sample. Another technique which is used to evaluate the agglomeration is Asymmetric flow field-flow fractionation (AF-FFF). This is a separation technique based on the theory of field flow fractionation (FFF) which is usually used for sample separation and size characterization of nanoparticles both in aqueous as well as organic solution. The separation is attained by cross-flow of suspension of nanoparticles in a narrow, ribbon-like channel which is built up by a spacer, between a porous and a nonporous plate. The porous plate is covered by a membrane allows the liquid to pass the membrane, retain the nanoparticles. Extensive characterization of nanoparticles and their aggregates is possible by coupling AF-FFF with online detectors like UV, fluorescence detector etc.

#### 3.6.3 Shelf Life

The self-life of the nano-medicine depends upon their chemistry, morphology and storage conditions. Depending upon the chemistry, polymer absorb moisture on storage which initiate degradation and a change in physicochemical properties, which in turn can alter their in-vivo performance. The presence of residual solvent, residual monomer or catalysts may weaken the storage stability and leading to degradation. The relative strength of water-polymer bonds and the process of crystallization also affects degradation of nanomedicine. The storage of nanomedicine is recommended in an inert environment to maintain physicochemical integrity of nanomedicine. Additionally, drug leakage, degradation and microbiological growth can be other issues that can cause degradation of nano-medicine. HPLC and LC-MS are the most common method used to assess the chemical stability which gives detailed quantitative analysis of degradation impurities. MS usually coupled with LC-MS or HPLC are used to ascertain the molecular structure of impurities. Some other techniques such as Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) and Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) can also be used for chemical stability assessment Table 2.

# 4 Regulatory Requirement

Nano-medicines are complex products which are the result of difficult to control manufacturing processes. Detection and characterization of nanomaterials in complex matrices was considered an important issue by the regulatory community. Credible characterization methods for nanoparticles will significantly affect the uptake of these nanomaterial in commercial applications and allow the industry to comply with regulation. The identification of various critical points of nano-

Parameters	Techniques
Sedimentation/creaming	Visual observation/laser backscattering/near infrared transmission
Agglomeration	DLS/Cryo-TEM/ Asymmetric flow field-flow fractionation
Chemical stability	HPLC/FTIR/NMR/MS
Shape	SEM/AFM/TEM

 Table 2
 A few commonly used stability characterization techniques are listed

material products in existing legal framework to re-evaluate the changing characteristic properties is necessary requirement. There are several challenges in the characterization of nano-materials because of the interdisciplinary nature, the absence of suitable reference materials for the calibration, the difficulties linked to the sample preparation for analysis and the interpretation of the data. To correct for this, we need important standard methods to characterize available nanoscale reference materials (RMs) demonstrating their relevance for the characterization of nanomedicines. The United states-Nanotechnology Characterization Laboratory (US NCL) and the European-Nanotechnology Characterization Laboratory (EU-NCL) have developed and optimized protocols for the physicochemical and biological characterization of candidate nanomedicines. The International Organization for Standardization (ISO) and American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) International also have developed and published several standardized test methods, guidance, and reports dedicated to the physicochemical and biological characterization of engineered nanomaterials. It compiles general informative documents and guidelines offering an overview of existing methods to determine basic physicochemical and toxicological characteristics of nanomaterials. These documents highlight the relevance and the limitations of different techniques and include special considerations for testing of nanomaterials. The guidance covers all aspects of testing including nanomaterial characterization, toxicological sample preparation, evaluation, and risk assessment considerations.

# 5 Conclusion

The physicochemical characteristics at the nanoscale have the potential to influence physiological interactions from the molecular level to the physiological level. The rapid development and manufacture of nanoparticles for the use as drug carrier systems needs appropriate regulations. The measurement and characterization of nanomedicine poses several analytical challenges for scientists, developers, and regulatory agencies. Several practical guidelines for the characterization and quality control of nanoformulations are needed. Appropriate robust techniques for nanoparticles characterization are essential to ensure regulatory guidelines for efficacy and safety of nanomedicines. This chapter describes the important physicochemical properties of nanoparticles, followed by general overview to various methods, which are commonly used for characterizing nanoparticles. The short description of each technique together with their range of applications in nanomaterial characterization is described.

# References

- Joshi, M.; Bhattacharyya, A.; Ali, S. W. Characterization techniques for nanotechnology applications in textiles. 2008.
- Boegh M, Foged C, Müllertz A, Nielsen HM. Mucosal drug delivery: barriers, in vitro models and formulation strategies. Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology. 2013;23(4):383–91.
- Ong KJ, MacCormack TJ, Clark RJ, Ede JD, Ortega VA, Felix LC, Dang MK, Ma G, Fenniri H, Veinot JG, Goss GG. Widespread nanoparticle-assay interference: implications for nanotoxicity testing. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e90650. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090650.
- Lin P-C, Lin S, Wang PC, Sridhar R. Techniques for physicochemical characterization of nanomaterials. Biotechnol Adv. 2014;32(4):711–26.
- Laffleur F, Bernkop-Schnürch A. Strategies for improving mucosal drug delivery. Nanomedicine. 2013;8(12):2061–75.
- 6. Lu, Y.; Park, K. Appendix f: chapter ii. 5.16—drug delivery systems: H, Mucosal drug delivery.
- Hoshyar N, Gray S, Han H, Bao G. The effect of nanoparticle size on in vivo pharmacokinetics and cellular interaction. Nanomedicine. 2016;11(6):673–92. https://doi.org/10.2217/ nnm.16.5.
- Desai MP, Labhasetwar V, Walter E, Levy RJ, Amidon GL. The mechanism of uptake of biodegradable microparticles in Caco-2 cells is size dependent. Pharm Res. 1997;14(11):1568–73. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1012126301290.
- 9. Gaumet M, Vargas A, Gurny R, Delie F. Nanoparticles for drug delivery: the need for precision in reporting particle size parameters. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2008;69(1):1–9.
- Patri A, Dobrovolskaia M, Stern S, McNeil S, Amiji M. Preclinical characterization of engineered nanoparticles intended for cancer therapeutics. Nanotechnology for cancer therapy. 2007:105–38.
- Norris DA, Puri N, Sinko PJ. The effect of physical barriers and properties on the oral absorption of particulates. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 1998;34(2–3):135–54.
- Lai SK, Wang YY, Hanes J. Mucus-penetrating nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to mucosal tissues. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009;61(2):158–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2008.11.002.
- Powers KW, Brown SC, Krishna VB, Wasdo SC, Moudgil BM, Roberts SM. Research strategies for safety evaluation of nanomaterials. Part VI. Characterization of nanoscale particles for toxicological evaluation. Toxicol Sci. 2006;90(2):296–303.
- 14. Toy R, Peiris PM, Ghaghada KB, Karathanasis E. Shaping cancer nanomedicine: the effect of particle shape on the in vivo journey of nanoparticles. Nanomedicine. 2014;9(1):121–34. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.13.191.
- 15. Yu MK, Park J, Jon S. Targeting strategies for multifunctional nanoparticles in cancer imaging and therapy. Theranostics. 2012;2(1):3–44. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.3463.
- 16. Xu R. Progress in nanoparticles characterization: sizing and zeta potential measurement. Particuology. 2008;6(2):112–5.
- Clogston JD, Patri AK. Zeta potential measurement. In: Characterization of nanoparticles intended for drug delivery: Springer; 2011. p. 63–70.
- Bhatia S. Nanoparticles types, classification, characterization, fabrication methods and drug delivery applications. In: Natural polymer drug delivery systems: Springer; 2016. p. 33–93.
- Gabor F, Bogner E, Weissenboeck A, Wirth M. The lectin-cell interaction and its implications to intestinal lectin-mediated drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2004;56(4):459–80. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2003.10.015.
- Menzel C, Bernkop-Schnurch A. Enzyme decorated drug carriers: targeted swords to cleave and overcome the mucus barrier. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2018;124:164–74. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.addr.2017.10.004.
- Soppimath KS, Aminabhavi TM, Kulkarni AR, Rudzinski WE. Biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles as drug delivery devices. J Control Release. 2001;70(1–2):1–20.

- 22. Cho EJ, Holback H, Liu KC, Abouelmagd SA, Park J, Yeo Y. Nanoparticle characterization: state of the art, challenges, and emerging technologies. Mol Pharm. 2013;10(6):2093–110.
- 23. Berne BJ, Pecora R. Dynamic light scattering: with applications to chemistry, biology, and physics: Courier Corporation; 2000.
- 24. Griffiths, P. C.; Cattoz, B.; Ibrahim, M. S.; Anuonye, J. C. Probing the interaction of nanoparticles with mucin for drug delivery applications using dynamic light scattering. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics: official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik e.V 2015, 97 (Pt A), 218–222, doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.05.004.
- Mourdikoudis S, Pallares RM, Thanh NTK. Characterization techniques for nanoparticles: comparison and complementarity upon studying nanoparticle properties. Nanoscale. 2018;10(27):12871–934. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8nr02278j.
- 26. Singh AK. Engineered nanoparticles: structure, properties and mechanisms of toxicity: Academic; 2015.
- Luo Z. A practical guide to transmission Electron microscopy, volume II: advanced microscopy: Momentum Press; 2015.
- Nagashima, K.; Zheng, J.; Parmiter, D.; Patri, A. K. Biological tissue and cell culture specimen preparation for TEM nanoparticle characterization. In Characterization of Nanoparticles Intended for Drug Delivery; Springer: 2011; pp 83–91.
- 29. Scalf J, West P, Part I. Introduction to nanoparticle characterization with AFM. Pacific Nanotechnology: Santa Clara (see www. nanoparticles. org/pdf/Scalf-West. pdf; 2006.
- Cetin M, Atila A, Kadioglu Y. Formulation and in vitro characterization of Eudragit® L100 and Eudragit® L100-PLGA nanoparticles containing diclofenac sodium. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2010;11(3):1250–6.
- Sapsford KE, Tyner KM, Dair BJ, Deschamps JR, Medintz IL. Analyzing nanomaterial bioconjugates: a review of current and emerging purification and characterization techniques. Anal Chem. 2011;83(12):4453–88.
- Ghosh Chaudhuri R, Paria S. Core/shell nanoparticles: classes, properties, synthesis mechanisms, characterization, and applications. Chem Rev. 2011;112(4):2373–433.
- 33. Ngo VKT, Nguyen HPU, Huynh TP, Tran NNP, Lam QV, Huynh TD. Preparation of gold nanoparticles by microwave heating and application of spectroscopy to study conjugate of gold nanoparticles with antibody E. coli O157: H7. Adv Nat Sci Nanosci Nanotechnol. 2015;6(3):035015.
- 34. Naderi M. Chapter Fourteen Surface Area: Brunauer–Emmett–Teller (BET). In: Progress in Filtration and Separation: Academic; 2015. p. 585–608.
- 35. Ramalinga U, Clogston JD, Patri AK, Simpson JT. Characterization of nanoparticles by matrix assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. In: Characterization of nanoparticles intended for drug delivery: Springer; 2011. p. 53–61.
- 36. Sharma A, Vaghasiya K, Gupta P, Gupta UD, Verma RK. Reclaiming hijacked phagosomes: hybrid nano-in-micro encapsulated MIAP peptide ensures host directed therapy by specifically augmenting phagosome-maturation and apoptosis in TB infected macrophage cells. Int J Pharm. 2018;536(1):50–62.
- Wang W, Zhang H, Kuzmenko I, Mallapragada S, Vaknin D. Assembling bare au nanoparticles at positively charged templates. Sci Rep. 2016;6:26462.
- Alex AT, Joseph A, Shavi G, Rao JV, Udupa N. Development and evaluation of carboplatinloaded PCL nanoparticles for intranasal delivery. Drug Deliv. 2016;23(7):2144–53.
- Rolim T1, Cancino J, Zucolotto V. A nanostructured genosensor for the early diagnosis of systemic arterial hypertension. Biomed Microdevices. 2015 Feb;17(1):3.
- 40. Rahman M, Laurent S, Tawil N, Yahia LH, Mahmoudi M. Analytical methods for corona evaluations. In: Protein-Nanoparticle Interactions: Springer; 2013. p. 65–82.
- Agnihotri S, Mukherji S, Mukherji S. Size-controlled silver nanoparticles synthesized over the range 5–100 nm using the same protocol and their antibacterial efficacy. RSC Adv. 2014;4(8):3974–83.

# Part II Nanoparticle-Based Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics

# **Overview of the Advantages and Disadvantages of Different Mucosal Sites for the Delivery of Nanoparticles**



Kan Kaneko, Nashwa Osman, Valeria Carini, Giulia Scagnetti, and Imran Saleem

**Abstract** Nanoparticles (NPs) often improve the efficacy of therapeutic actives, and their delivery to mucosal sites allows for unique and localized effects compared to parenteral delivery. Sites of mucosal surfaces includes the eyes, nasal cavity, lungs, and the entire gastrointestinal tract from mouth to anus, and offers extensive areas for the delivery of therapeutics. However, each mucosal site has unique physiological properties that affect aspects such as stability during the transit to the mucosal surface, release of the active molecules, and absorption of NPs into the body. The required NPs properties also differ based on if the goal is for absorption of intact NPs or release of the active molecules at the mucosal site. Therefore, the interaction of the NPs, with the medium that is in contact with the mucosal surface, the mucus layer, and the epithelial cells, must be considered during the formulation process. This chapter focusses on the advantages and disadvantages of delivering NPs through each major mucosal site and offers indications on NPs properties that may be ideal for each site.

Keywords Mucosal delivery  $\cdot$  Nanoparticles  $\cdot$  Ocular  $\cdot$  Nasal  $\cdot$  Lung  $\cdot$  Oral Vaginal

# Abbreviations

COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
GI	Gastrointestinal
GALT	Gut-Associated Lymphoid Tissue
IN	Intranasal
MALT	Mucosa-Associated Lymphoid Tissue

K. Kaneko · N. Osman · V. Carini · G. Scagnetti · I. Saleem  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Liverpool John Moores University, School of Pharmacy and Biomolecular Sciences, Liverpool, UK e-mail: i.saleem@limu.ac.uk

in Nanoparticles, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_3

<sup>©</sup> American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020

P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics

NPs	Nanoparticles
NALT	Nasal-Associated Lymphoid Tissue
PP	Peyer's Patch

# 1 Introduction

Nanoparticulate delivery systems have garnered much attention in the past few decades and constitutes a large area of interest in current research. Nanoparticles (NPs) exhibit unique properties through size, surface, solubility and other modifications, which can offer advantages relative to the conventional forms of drug molecules [1]. Through these unique characteristics and properties, NPs have been investigated for a range of therapeutic applications, including drug delivery, diagnostics and immunotherapy for various pathologies [2]. In addition, NPs can be delivered through different routes, which can result in unique responses and localization of the effect [1].

The mucosal surface of the body is considerably large and represents an extensive area for therapeutic delivery. Sites of mucosal surfaces includes the eyes, nasal cavity, lungs, and the entire gastrointestinal tract from mouth to anus. The delivery of NPs to these mucosal sites allows for unique localized effects and other advantages compared to parenteral delivery [3]. This chapter focusses on the advantages and disadvantages of delivering NPs through each major mucosal route.

# 1.1 Justification for Mucosal Delivery of Nanoparticles

From a logistical perspective, the mucosal sites are generally more convenient for administration, as it is minimally invasive and may enable greater access to therapeutics without requiring qualified personnel for administration [2]. It also translates to reduced risks for the patient, as, there is less opportunity for body fluid contamination and disease transmission without needles. The implications are also associated with economics, as there is reduced cost associated with administration due to the reduction in logistics which would otherwise be required for parenteral administration. Furthermore, the regulations and requirements for the manufacturing of parenteral formulations are more stringent compared to some of the mucosal routes.

An equally important aspect of the mucosal surface is the therapeutic effects associated with delivering to localized sites for localized ailments. The ability to restrict the exposure of the drug to the intended mucosal site for targeting means that it reduces the potential for adverse effects through reduced drug concentration outside of the target area, and equally increases drug efficacy through increased concentration at the target site. Due to the unique physiology at different mucosal sites such as the proximity to important organs, type of epithelial layer or composition of immune cells, the delivery to different mucosal sites can also lead to unique effects compared to systemic administration [2].

Although NPs formulations such as polymeric NPs and liposomes can be tailored to accommodate for the specific requirements of different mucosal routes [1], each of these routes still present issues that must be overcome or makes it unfavorable for administration. It is important to acknowledge the balance of the advantages and disadvantages for each mucosal route, when considering NPs delivery.

# 1.2 General Physiology of Mucosal Sites

Although mucosal sites in the body differ considerably in many factors in accordance to their functions and location (Table 1), there are a number of general features which can be considered as broadly analogous for drug delivery (Fig. 1). Mucosal surfaces are generally composed of epithelial cells that act as a barrier between the body and the environment. Before any nanoparticulate material can reach this epithelium, it must generally pass through a viscoelastic layer of mucus that lines the epithelium and separates it from the environment [4]. The mucus is a hydrogel composed mainly of proteins known as mucins, and functions not only as a barrier to protect the epithelium from pathogens and pernicious material, but also prevents particle uptake by trapping and clearing them before they can interact with the epithelium [4]. When the NPs manage to reach the epithelium, the tightly connected cells that function to control the movement of material into and out of body generally limit NPs entry into the blood. Overall, the mucosal surfaces can act as barriers for NPs drug delivery through physical and chemical mechanisms.

#### 2 Advantages and Disadvantages of Specific Mucosal Sites

### 2.1 Ocular

The unique anatomical and physiological structure of the eye comprises a myriad of structures that work together to provide the sense of sight, and aims to protect the eye against foreign substances. Despite numerous efforts, efficient ocular drug delivery remains challenging for researchers, and conventional invasive and non-invasive treatments, cannot guarantee high residence time of the drug in the tear film (2–5 min for topical applications of drug in the form of eye drops) [5, 6]. The low absorption represents the major issue yet to be overcome, and it is primarily due to clearance mechanisms that include efflux pumps, aqueous turnover, vitreous flow and ocular drug metabolism [7]. Recently, numerous NP-based formulations intended for both ophthalmologic and systemic diseases, have been developed aim-

Site	Medium in contact with mucosal surface	Mucus	Epithelium	Unique features
Ocular	Air	<ul> <li>Secreted mucins, electrolytes, and water produced by the conjunctival goblet cells</li> <li>Ocular mucosa is slightly basic with pH ~7.8</li> </ul>	• Single layer of basal cells and 4–5 cell layers of nonkeratinized, stratified squamous epithelial cells	• Very low residence time of drug (2–5 mins)
Nasal	Air	<ul> <li>High viscosity and elasticity, rich in mucin containing negatively charged acids, salts, water, hydrolytic enzymes and antibodies</li> </ul>	Vestibule lining:	Mucociliary     clearance
			• Stratified squamous epithelium with hairs	Thick mucus layer
			Turbinate lining:	Bypasses first
			<ul> <li>Pseudo-stratified columnar ciliated epithelium with mucous secreting cells</li> <li>Olfactory epithelium:</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Olfactory epithelium provides potential route for brain drug delivery</li> </ul>
		pH of ~6.5	• Pseudo-stratified non-ciliated columnar epithelium.	
Lung	Air	• Mucus lined with lung surfactant that undergoes thinning toward the respiratory airways (60 µm to 2 µm)	• Pseudo-stratified columnar epithelium ciliated and mucous- secreting in the conducting airways.	• Mucociliary and alveolar macrophage clearance
				Bypasses first     pass metabolism
		• Limited enzymatic activity and rich in immunoglobulins	• Alveolar epithelium is composed of almost flat single cells.	• Large surface area and densely vascularized
		• Same pH as extravasated blood		
Oral cavity	Air but covered with saliva	The saliva has pH of 6–7 and contains electrolytes, proteins, enzymes, mucin and immunoglobulins	• Stratified squamous epithelium	High clearance by saliva
				Bypasses first     pass metabolism

 Table 1
 Summary of the physiology of mucosal sites

(continued)

	Medium in contact with mucosal			
Site	surface	Mucus	Epithelium	Unique features
GI tract	<ul> <li>Gastric fluid:</li> <li>1–3 pH</li> <li>Lipases and</li> </ul>	• Adherent and non-adherent layers of mucus with	<ul><li>Simple columnar epithelium</li><li>Intestinal cells express</li></ul>	• Highly degradative conditions
	proteases	thickness of 50–500 μm • pH of 5.2–6.2	microvilli	• Transit time of 0.5–4 hours in stomach, 1–2 hours in small intestine and 12–24 h in colon
Intestinal flui	Intestinal fluid:			
	• 5.7–7.4 pH			
<ul> <li>Proteol enzyme more abunda</li> <li>Bile sal</li> </ul>	Proteolytic enzymes more			
	Bile salts			• M cells can translocate NPs across intestinal wall at the PP
Vaginal	Air • Menstrual cycle, menopause and pregnancy are responsible for the diverse composition of the mucus	• Nonkeratinized, stratified squamous epithelium.	• Large surface area and rich blood supply	
		responsible for the diverse composition of the mucus	• Highly folded epithelium.	
		• pH 3.5–4.5		

Table 1 (continued)

ing to overcome ocular barriers, target specific ocular tissue and avoiding nonspecific drug tissue accumulation. Several nanocarrier systems including polymeric NPs, liposomes, niosomes and dendrimers, have been widely studied as potential ocular drug delivery systems. The development of nanotechnology-based formulations also contributes to the creation of novel devices including nanoparticlesloaded contact lenses, and innovation in the field of imaging and screening.

The ideal NPs delivery system should enhance the retention, permeation and control the release of the drug, enabling high drug loading efficiency to reduce the instilled volume, and hopefully increase the patient compliance through avoidance of more than two administrations per day [8]. Furthermore, the NPs must protect the drug from metabolic degradation. In particular, liposomes have shown to provide protection of entrapped genetic material and enhance its adsorption [9]. These lipid bilayer vehicles can be considered as a possible strategy to formulate several potent actives, although liposomes still have limitations including limited drug loading efficiency, harsh and aggressive conditions for preparation, and difficulties related to the sterilization of the formulation. The susceptibility of phospholipids to oxidative degradation in air [10] can be easily overcome by using a non-ionic surfactant-based vesicular system called niosomes, which are more chemically stable and can encapsulate both hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs [11].



**Fig. 1** Considerations for the delivery of NPs at mucosal sites. The properties of the medium in contact with the mucosal surface, the mucus, epithelium and lamina propria/submucosa, all contribute to the absorption of NPs and/or the incorporated active molecules. The presence of PP at the epithelial boundary is also a significant avenue for NP translocation across the epitheliums

Much of the published data regarding ocular drug delivery via NPs systems suggest that the particle composition, size and surface properties, play significant roles in the in-situ retention time and cellular uptake of the active. In order to avoid ocular irritation and blurred vision, the NP should have an appropriate particle size and a narrow particle size distribution. The drug time of action is particle size-dependent; smaller particles lead to higher absorption into ocular tissues from the precorneal pocket, larger particles lead to slower drug dissolution [12]. Moreover, surface properties including the particle surface charge, are key factors affecting the particle distribution between the vitreous humor and retinal layers [13]. Positively charged carriers show higher cellular uptake and retention time, and due to the negatively charged surface of the corneal epithelium, it is possible that the initial interaction is electrostatic in nature [14]. The literature also shows that formulations of positively charged liposomes containing a poor water-soluble drug, such as acyclovir, exhibit sustained penetration of the drug across the cornea, increasing the extent of absorption [15], which could potentially be useful for the treatment of herpes keratitis.

Another method for increasing the precorneal residence time of the active, is encapsulating within NPs with mucoadhesive properties. Polyethylen glycol (PEG), chitosan and hyaluronic acid are the most common polymers used to improve the mucoadhesion, because of their ability to contact intimately with corneal and conjunctival surfaces. Chitosan-coated systems compared to non-coated ones, exhibit
unique behaviors, which can potentially be utilized to target different regions of the eye. A comparative *in vivo* study for chitosan coated vs non-coated, indomethacin NPs, were conducted in rabbits and showed that the surface coating helped to increase the half-life of indomethacin relative to non-coated formulation [16]. Such NP formulations that can increase the residence time at the ocular surface could be one avenue for ocular NP formulations with improved efficacy.

To summarize, the ocular mucosa presents with a number of disadvantages; the main ones being the high degree of clearance, and limited systemic applications. Despite these limitations, there is potential for the development of suitable NPs capable of encapsulating a wide range of drugs that can increase the absorption of the active for local pathologies. The retention of NPs at the ocular surface is one of the potential strategies for increasing the absorbance of the active by enabling sustained release.

# 2.2 Nasal

Intranasal (IN) delivery of therapeutics is widely practiced for treating local nasal conditions such as sinusitis, rhinitis, coryza, nasal bleeding, and nasal polyps, using anti-inflammatory steroids, antihistamines, vasoconstrictors, and numerous other drugs. The IN route has also recently garnered attention as a potential alternative route for systemic drug delivery; most importantly, for drug delivery to the brain and for vaccination [17]. The formulation of active therapeutics into NPs for the nasal route is an avenue for improving the efficacy, as it has been shown to enhance the potential effects of active therapeutic molecules, compared to their conventional formulations [18].

The nose is a portal of entry for the respiratory system, and responsible for filtration and humidification of the inspired air. The nasal cavity extends from the nasal vestibule to the pharynx (around 160 cm<sup>2</sup> surface area) and is halved by the nasal septum. The mucus (approximately 5 µm thick) forms a viscous elastic layer, and contains salts and mucin that confers a slightly acidic pH (6.5) and a negative charge. In addition, hydrolytic enzymes such as aminopeptidases that degrade proteins, antibodies plus other molecules are especially abundant. The nasal cavity has three regions that differ in their epithelial and functional characters; the vestibule, turbinate and olfactory regions. The vestibule has the epithelial change from skin to stratified squamous epithelium, with abundant hair representing the first filtering mechanism for inhaled particles (aerodynamic diameter > 10  $\mu$ m). The turbinate forms the main nasal cavity and highly perfused warming chambers. It is lined by pseudo-stratified columnar mucous-secreting epithelium that aids in trapping inspired particles. It has ciliated and non-ciliated cells, with both immotile and motile microvilli, that play a double-edged role by increasing the surface area of absorption of NPs, as well as limiting the drug absorption through mucociliary clearance. The olfactory region, formed from pseudo-stratified non-ciliated columnar epithelium, is a recognized target for brain drug delivery through olfactory

nerves and/or para- or trans-cellular transport. The nasal mucosa is part of nasalassociated lymphoid tissue (NALT) that is rich in M cells and dendritic cells (DCs) and has been investigated as a delivery route for NP vaccine formulations [17, 19–21].

One main advantage of delivery through the nasal route is the highly vascularized absorption area (150 cm<sup>2</sup>), which can lead to fast circulatory drug levels [22]. The nasal environment is also relatively less harsh compared other sites such as the GI tract, and allows the bypass of first-pass hepatic metabolism. It is also a site in contact with the lymphatic system, opening the opportunity for the delivery of vaccine formulations [22]. Another avenue for the utilization of the unique nasal site is the delivery of active therapeutics to the brain, through the olfactory epithelium, thus avoiding the brain barrier. For the patient, the nasal route is easily accessible, allows for self-administration and is well-tolerated. However, there are numerous limitations and challenges for NP delivery at the nasal site. The limited drug absorption and rapid mucociliary clearance, means that designing nano-based formulations which provide drug stability and desired release properties suitable for local nasal delivery is still challenging [19]. To address these hurdles, various mechanisms have been employed to enhance the nasal drug solubility, retention and uptake. The use of the solubility and/or permeation enhancement agents have shown promising results. Solubility enhancers modify the formulation characteristics after delivery, to increase the availability of the drug [19]. Permeation enhancers alter the permeability of the nasal mucosa, temporarily reducing the mucociliary and enzymatic clearance, and improving drug bioavailability [22]. Examples include bile salts, peptidase inhibitors and cyclodextrins among others, which have been widely investigated [23]. Mucoadhesive materials have also been investigated to enhance the mucosal retention and reduce its clearance. Examples include naturally occurring polysaccharides such as chitosan, which exhibits biocompatible, mucoadhesive properties, and is commonly used as part of NP carrier formulations. Chitosan has also been used in a variety of dosage forms from a solution to dry powder [23-25]. In addition, PEGylated NP carriers have exhibited promising absorption profiles compared to non-PEGylated counterparts.

# 2.3 Lung

Administration through the pulmonary route has been successful for delivering therapeutics intended to treat local respiratory problems, such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), lung malignancies and lung infections, as well as systemic diseases through delivery of therapeutic molecules, such as proteins/peptides, genetic material, hormones or vaccines [26, 27]. NPs can be a successful platform for enhancing the efficiency of the pulmonary drug delivery, not only for the local conditions but also for systemic administration [28, 29]. The pulmonary route has very complex structure that is divided into two parts; conducting and respiratory areas. Each area exhibits different physiological and functional properties that present unique challenges for NP delivery.

The conducting area of the lungs extends from the nose, trachea, main bronchi, and branching until the respiratory bronchioles, resulting in a surface area of  $2-3 \text{ m}^2$ . One major immediate limitation for NP delivery into the lungs is the significant influence that the aerodynamic diameter has on the deposition within the different regions of the lungs. Particles in the size range of  $1-5 \mu m$  are generally considered appropriate for lung deposition [30, 31], which means that NPs alone are not suitable for direct inhalation. There are however, solutions such as formulation of NP in microcarriers or inhalation via nebulizers, which can temporarily increase the aerodynamic diameter for appropriate lung deposition [32, 33]. The lining of the conducting airways is also a barrier for NP delivery as it is composed of pseudo stratified columnar epithelium, which secrete mucous, express motile cilia, and is lined with a surfactant layer. Epithelial tight junctions limit the translocation of molecules and NPs across the epithelium, and the strong mucociliary clearance mechanisms that filter the inspired air from any particles or bacteria, present major challenges for NPs delivery [34]. The humid environment represents another challenge for the hygroscopic NPs, which undergo increases in their particle size, and subsequently is favored for mucociliary clearance. The state of the conducting area of the lungs can also be affected by different diseases like asthma, cystic fibrosis and COPD [35], which may consequently increase the resistance for the air flow and limit the delivery of aerosolized NPs formulations.

The respiratory area of the lungs extends from respiratory bronchioles to the terminal bronchioles and alveolar sacs, with a wide surface area of approximately 120–140 m<sup>2</sup>. The epithelium lining is very thin compared to the conducting epithelium (0.2–2 µm and 60 µm thickness. respectively) and is an attractive target for NP delivery. It includes alveolar cells type I (main cells, flat) and type II (irregular shape, secreting lung surfactant) with tight and gap junctions, with a thin layer of lung surfactant [36]. The alveolar epithelium has a plethora of wandering cells, for example, DCs, macrophages, mast cells and lymphocytes. This however represents a double-edged sword, as these cells contribute to the clearance of NPs, but at the same time, could be used as the initiator of immune responses in case of vaccination therapy [37, 38]. In terms of NPs uptake by the epithelium, the alveolar epithelium exhibits high permeability and dense vasculatures for its gas exchange functions, and subsequently makes it an attractive site for NPs delivery. NPs are known to be translocated past the epithelium through transcytosis or paracytosis, and is influenced by particle size and surface charge. Like the conducting area, the respiratory area of the lungs is also affected by different diseases, such as emphysema, pneumonia, lung cancer and tuberculosis [28]. Therefore, it is important to consider the interaction of NPs with the mucosal site in different disease states. Another question that should be addressed for pulmonary delivery is the risk of toxicity through oxidase stress, inflammation, fibrosis and genotoxicity, which could result from NP presence in the lungs. The health impact from particulates found in air pollution is becoming increasingly established, and chronic inflammation induced by presence of NPs in the lungs have been linked to lung diseases such as asthma, COPD and even lung cancer [39].

NPs of various forms have been proposed and investigated for pulmonary administration. Solid lipid nanoparticles and liposomes, which are made from phospholipids naturally present in the lungs, have been popular formulations for lung delivery, in addition to polymeric NPs. One application for NPs in pulmonary administration is for potential induction of immune responses in the lungs, as the pulmonary route is the entry site for pathogens [33, 40, 41]. Polymeric NPs incorporating a protein antigen from S.pneumoniae exhibited induced the production of secretory IgA and plasma IgG antibodies specific for the pathogen [38]. Virus-like particles are also of interest for pulmonary vaccine applications, as the mucosal administration mimics the natural pathogenesis of respiratory infections [42]. In addition to the prevention of infections, NP formulations incorporating antimicrobials have been investigated for potential use in established infections, with liposomal formulations incorporating ciprofloxacin and amikacin currently in phase III trials [43–45]. Treatment of inflammatory lung conditions has also been explored, with the administration of PLGA NPs encapsulating hydroxybenzyl alcohol incorporated polyoxalate showing attenuation of inflammatory processes in the lungs [46].

To summarize, the advantages of the pulmonary delivery are the large surface area for absorption, good vascularization, and relatively high permeability of the epithelium compared to other mucosal administration sites. There are also limited proteolytic enzymes that could degrade NPs and the encapsulated active. The pulmonary route can be used to treat both local and systemic diseases and subsequently absorbed actives do not encounter first pass metabolism. Pulmonary delivery method is non-invasive, uses smaller doses for local lung conditions which can result in less potential side effects to the patient [47]. In terms of the challenges for NPs delivery at the lungs, numerous physical and biological barriers can make NPs delivery difficult. The delivery of NPs, even to the epithelium is a challenge on its own, as airway narrowing and branching play a role in particle impaction away from the alveolar and respiratory regions. The high humidity within the lungs also affects hygroscopic particles, favoring their clearance. The intrinsic clearance mechanisms of the lungs can contribute to the loss of NPs in the forms of mucociliary clearance in the conducting airways, and NPs phagocytosis by alveolar macrophages in the respiratory airways. Lastly, pulmonary diseases can affect the state of the airways and subsequently delivery of the NPs into the lungs and the interaction of NPs with the mucus and surrounding cells. The NPs formulation should have sufficient biocompatibility and biodegradability, as to minimize any potential toxicity and inflammatory response that may elicit adverse effects, and careful exclusion of such materials should be ensured [47, 48].

# 2.4 Oral

The potential sites for oral delivery starts directly in the mouth cavity, and extends all the way to the rectum, forming the largest continuous mucosal surface in the body and functioning as the interface between the body and the environment [49].

Despite the large surface area, the unique environmental conditions in these areas is a challenge for NPs delivery.

However, there are a number of unique effects that can be induced from the oral route of using NPs [50]. The localized delivery, sustained release and potential for targeting are some of the NPs properties that could be utilized to improve efficacy. There are many specialized sites of immune cells found throughout the oral route, which can interact with NPs differently compared to the non-particulate form of the active molecule. The immune system of the oral route makes up a large part of the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT), and has the capacity to dictate how the immune system responds to encountered antigen [2]. All of these unique effects, including drug delivery and immunology, can however vary depending on the region of the oral route; oral cavity, GI tract and rectum.

### 2.4.1 Oral Cavity

The oral cavity is the first region the NPs encounter through oral administration. The area is composed of stratified squamous epithelial lining that covers the highly vascular tissue, and features low proteolytic enzyme activity and a pH of 5.8–7.4. There are numerous delivery forms, such as sublingual, buccal, disintegrating, effervescent, and chewable systems. The oral cavity is subsequently considered as an appropriate area for the treatment of local pathologies, and also a potential portal for systemic delivery, due to the rich blood supply and permeability in the areas of non-keratinised lining [51].

The delivery of NPs to the oral cavity presents with a number of advantages over the regions further down the GI tract. Firstly, the method of administration is relatively convenient for the patient. There is no need to swallow tablets or capsules, which could be advantageous for the elderly or the very young. The conditions in the oral cavity are also less degradative compared to the stomach and intestine that exhibit low pH and degradative enzymes. The oral cavity permits the delivery of sensitive molecules, and also NPs, that could otherwise potentially be degraded [51]. In addition, the pharmacokinetics of the formulations in the oral cavity is less likely to be unaffected in the fed or fasted state, compared to formulations in the GI tract. The absorption at the buccal site also avoids first-pass metabolism, which allows for a favorable pharmacokinetic profile for affected drugs. An example of such drug is the sustained release of imidazopyridines, which has a rapid onset of action but can be limited by short half-life [52]. Another possible benefit is NP internalization by epithelial cells, allowing for the delivery of active molecules to the local cells [53]. Thepotential for uptake and low degradation offered by NPs at the oral mucosa allow for the treatment of numerous conditions, which are local to the oral cavity, enabling active drugs to exert effects without causing unwanted side effects at unaffected regions. Such local pathologies include inflammatory and ulcerative diseases [54], oral cancer [53], dental caries, and oral infections [55]. Owing to the dense population of dendritic cells in the sublingual region and the lymphatic link to regional lymph nodes, the oral mucosa has also been considered as a site for vaccine delivery. A nanofibre-based mucoadhesive film consisting of a mucoadhesive layer, a backing layer, and a reservoir layer that incorporated PLGA-PEG NPs, exhibited penetration into the local tissue and subsequent delivery to local lymph nodes [56]. Such results gives credence towards the versatility of the oral cavity route for numerous applications.

One of the major disadvantages associated with delivery to the oral cavity is the continuous secretion and movement of saliva, which results in high clearance, and compromises the retention of the NPs within the oral cavity [57]. To address this limitation, there have been numerous research into mucoadhesive formulations, which can enhance the residence time of NPs and active molecules. For example, incorporating polymers such as chitosan [58], mucoadhesive films [59, 60], and buccal tablets containing NPs [54], could also allow for prolonged effects for drugs with short half-lives [51] and offers promising results for concepts which could eventually lead to products on the market.

The delivery of drugs through the epithelium presents another significant barrier, as the multiple layers of epithelial cells promotes low translocation through the epithelial layer [51]. However, the permeability across the epithelium depends on the area of the oral cavity and there have been reports of NP translocation across the epithelium at areas such as the sublingual area [56, 61]. Permeation enhancers which can overcome this limitation have also been suggested as a possible means of enhancing NPs or active molecule absorption, and offers a possible avenue for addressing absorption of non-lipophilic active molecules [51]. The further movement of permeation enhancers into the GI tract is not expected to be problematic as the GI membrane is thought to be robust enough to handle the temporary effects of permeation enhancers.

The lack of NPs formulations on the market, for the oral cavity, may be an indication of the difficulties of overcoming these limitations and suggests that there is a need for novel approaches which could enhance retention and permeability of the NPs within the oral cavity.

#### 2.4.2 GI Tract

As with the oral cavity, the administration of NPs through the oral route is arguably the most convenient route for the adult patient due to possibility of self-administration and lack of pain, compared to parenteral routes. Not only do oral formulations promote compliance, but they also enable greater access, as they negate the requirement for qualified personnel for administration [49]. This also translates to reduced safety risks, as there is less opportunity for body fluid contamination and disease transmission without needles. From a regulatory and manufacturing perspective, oral formulations may also be favorable due to the production and preparation without the need for aseptic processes [62].

Physiologically, the intestinal tract is generally an attractive mucosal area for delivery due to the potential of high absorption for smaller molecules and abundant vasculature that exists under the large surface area of the intestinal tract. Despite most of the absorbed material entering into the portal blood due to the relatively higher rate of flow compared to the lymph [63], the lymph is thought to be favorable for colloids or large molecules, as the capillaries of the lymphatic endothelium have greater permeability compared to the blood capillaries. The lymphatic pathway also avoids hepatic first pass metabolism, which can be a source of degradation for some molecules. From a drug delivery perspective, the GI tract is acknowledged as a difficult area for delivery that presents with challenging conditions, but NPs formulations can be useful for overcoming some of these limitations and achieving effective drug delivery [62].

One way that NPs can improve delivery of the active molecule through the GI tract, is through increasing solubility of the active drug. Many new drugs are hydrophobic, which can hinder delivery, absorption and subsequent bioavailability. By formulating the active molecule into a NPs form, saturation solubility and dissolution rate can be increased, enabling sustained release and potentially greater bioavailability [64]. Active molecules can also be encapsulated inside carrier NPs, not only improving the solubility, but also allowing for controlled release. It is also possible to formulate the NPs to initiate release upon changing pH conditions, such as when the formulation gets past the harsh acidic environment in the stomach into the small intestine.

One of the biggest advantages of NPs formulations is the ability to prevent or minimize degradation of the encapsulated actives in the degradative GI environment. The pH of the GI fluid varies along the GI tract, starting with highly acidic conditions in the stomach, to a neutral or slightly alkaline pH in the intestine and colon. The GI fluid also contains phospholipids, surfactants, enzymes and buffering agents, which serve to facilitate the degradation of ingested material. There are numerous approaches to formulating NPs that can maintain sufficient stability within these conditions, including NPs surface coating approaches such as with PEG [65] and chitosan [66], using particle ingredients resistant to disruption or degradation, and increasing the NP stability through covalent links [66].

Another way in which NPs can improve bioavailability is by targeting specified sites of the GI tract. Attachment of specific ligands on the surfaces of NPs can direct the NPs to certain cells and can improve the proximity of the NPs to the desired site and potentially increase the chances for absorption or interaction [2]. This targeting also applies to specific regions of the GI tract for targeting specific conditions such as for gastric ulcers in the stomach and ulcerative colitis in the small intestine. NP targeting can be achieved by pH, adhesion, or time dependent systems [49], which releases the active molecules in the affected area and reduces side effects elsewhere.

In addition to delivery of conventional therapeutic molecules, NPs vaccines through the oral route offers unique benefits in terms of the types of immune responses generated, as they not only induce mucosal immunity locally in the GI tract, but can stimulate other parts of the MALT through activated cells in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) [67, 68]. The main form of lymphoid tissue in the GI tract are the Peyer's patches (PP), which are unique due to the presence of phagocytic M cells that demonstrate the unique ability to transcytose nanoparticulate matter, from the intestine to the underlying immune system through adsorptive

endocytosis, fluid phase endocytosis and phagocytosis [69]. NPs made from various materials, such as inorganic materials like gold and silica, and organic particles such as liposomes and polymeric NPs, have been investigated for oral use, and have exhibited immunostimulatory effects, that could be useful for immunotherapy and vaccine applications.

Despite the many benefits of NP administration through the GI route, it is one of the most complicated delivery routes. The absorption of active therapeutic molecules such as proteins have been challenging, with one of the main hurdles being the potential instability in the GI tract [70], which can degrade the active drug or the particle before sufficient absorption can occur. The gastric pH can range from 1.2 to 2.9, and the presence of degradative enzymes presents a challenge for delivery of active molecules encapsulated in NPs. The NPs must exhibit sufficient capacity to protect the encapsulated material in these conditions, as encapsulated materials can degrade through acid catalysis, and proteins can potentially lose activity through changes in the intra-molecular bonds that disrupt secondary and tertiary structures [71]. This is the reason that oral doses, especially for proteins, are required to be significantly higher compared to doses given by the subcutaneous route for comparable effect [72], as 94–98% of ingested proteins are digested by the GI proteases [71].

Polymeric NPs can be susceptible to surface and bulk erosion, resulting in loss of encapsulated material and loss of the initial particle characteristics [71]. Lipid NPs can be broken down by disruption of the membrane or surface by enzymes and surfactants contained in the GI fluid. Even without full degradation of the NPs, particle properties such as size and surface characteristics may change as a result of the different pH conditions, and presence of components in the GI fluid which may adsorb to the particle surface to change the surface characteristics or promote aggregation. This means that testing of potential GI tract formulations, including NPs, in bio-relevant fluids is required in order to evaluate the state of particle characteristics through the various conditions of the GI tract. An alternative solution is the formulation of NPs in conventional dosage forms such as tablets, which can release the NPs once it reaches the targeted site of the GI tract [73].

Assuming that the NPs and the encapsulated drug survives the degradative conditions, another major limitation of the oral route is the barrier presented by the mucus and epithelial layers. The mucosal surface of the GI tract is covered by a 50–500 µm viscoelastic layer of mucus [74]. The outer loosely adherent mucus layer has a high turnover due to peristalsis, and the firmly adherent mucus layer is unyielding and cannot be removed mechanically without compromising the epithelium. Interaction of NPs with the mucus layer is influenced by certain particle characteristics, as hydrophobic particles with sizes smaller than 500 nm, have faster diffusion and increased penetration through the mucus layer [75]. There are however conflicting opinions on how surface charge might affect uptake. There have been suggestions that positively charged particles have a greater chance for uptake as the overall negative charge of the mucus may potentially result in a greater likelihood for electrostatic interaction and retention [4]. However results using different surface coating polymers have shown negative and uncharged particles to have greater affinity for the underlying PP [75]. Recent literature suggests that particles which penetrate the outer loose mucus layer and adhere to the deeper, firmer layer are optimal for delivery to the underlying epithelium [4].

Despite the large surface area of the intestinal mucosa, there is very little particulate uptake through conventional intestinal epithelia due to the low rate of endocytosis occurring at the enterocytes [62]. There have been uptake of inert particles via transcellular and para-cellular pathways but this generally limits the uptake of NPs to sites such as the PPs, which only makes up 1% of the total intestinal surface and takes up less than 0.01% of the administered dose [76]. Furthermore, NPs aggregation upon exposure to GI fluid could have a large influence on the degree of uptake, as particle size has been correlated to transcytotic uptake by M cells [75]. Therefore, the failure of particles to maintain their size and surface properties could ultimately result in poor *in vivo* responses. Even after absorption, the active molecule travels directly to the liver where hepatic first-pass metabolism occurs, potentially reducing the active molecule concentration further. In addition to the various macroscopic barriers for absorption, the state of the GI tract is also influenced from ingested food [50]. The fed or fasted state can influence the motility of the GI tract and subsequently affect the retention and uptake of NPs.

## 2.5 Vaginal

The vaginal route has been widely investigated as an alternative way of drug administration, mainly for the advantages it presents in terms of avoiding the GI environment and the hepatic first pass effect. Recently, researchers have been focusing on the advantages of using NPs to improve vaginal delivery of drugs or the use of this route for immunization purposes [77].

The encapsulation of drugs in NPs such as liposomes, polymeric particles, inorganic NPs, niosomes and dendrimers offers many advantages compared to the traditional vaginal formulation [78]. The increase in solubility and bioavailability of the drug, together with the possibility of developing formulations that exhibit controlled [79] and prolonged [80] release of the drug, will lead to the decrease in the administered dose and of systemic side effects.

Firstly, although the use of NPs *in vivo* may be limited by their short residence times within the vagina, mucoadhesive polymers have been employed to overcome the poor retention issue that NPs may present, given the tight attraction between the mucus and the polymeric carrier [81]. Chitosan and alginate NPs showed prolonged contact with the mucus, thus being the first step for the delivery of drugs to the underlying tissues [82]. However, it is imperative to mention that mucoadhesive particles can damage the vaginal mucosa facilitating the penetration of pathogens and toxic materials into the mucus, leading to infections of the area [83, 84]. Lai et al. [85], demonstrated that the mucoadhesive properties of NPs can interfere with their capability of delivering drugs across the mucus to reach the epithelium; NPs often remain captured in the shed of the mucus without showing the desired effect [86].

NPs have exhibited promising activity for the delivery of macromolecules, such as proteins and nucleic acids, which are degraded, if administered alone via other routes. As commonly acknowledged, NPs have a protective effect against enzymatic attacks, given that they are too large to gain access to the drug entrapped within the nanocarrier [3]. Recent studies revealed that niosomes containing insulin have enhanced effects, compared to vaginal administration of the free insulin. Vaginal administration of insulin-loaded niosomes also exhibit similar bioavailability to subcutaneous administration [87]. Furthermore, the vaginal administration of molecules such as RNA entrapped in NPs, offers the advantage of avoiding nuclease enzymes that are present in the mucus, thus allowing RNA to reach the underlying epithelium without being degraded [88].

Several studies have been carried out to develop nanopharmaceuticals for the vaginal delivery of antimicrobial, antiviral and antifungal drugs, as useful strategies to prevent infections, or transmission of dangerous pathogens. Ensign et al., demonstrated that acyclovir encapsulated in mucus-penetrating NPs, when administered prior to the virus infection, would protect against the Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV) infection in 53% of the treated mice [89]. Malavia et al., developed liposome formulations that were capable of inhibiting HIV infections, having potential use in the prevention of HIV infection in women [90]. Moreover, it was demonstrated that the encapsulation of octylglycerol in liposomes enhanced its activity against HIV, HSV and *Neisseria Gonorreae* with a prolonged released of the drug compared to the traditional gel formulations [91].

Despite the several advantages associated with the delivery of NPs through the vaginal route, there is need for greater optimization of NPs formulations, as stability-related problems can occur due to short shelf-life [77]. One solution for improving stability is incorporating NPs in adequate micro-carrier systems for delivery. However, micro-carriers present with limitations of their own, such as when in need of achieving specific release profiles. In addition, the mucus layer that covers the vaginal epithelium represents another barrier required to be addressed for achieving a uniform distribution of the drug and its prolonged retention in the vaginal tract [92].

# **3** Considerations for Mucosal NP Delivery

For NPs to gain mainstream adoption as mucosal therapeutic delivery vehicles there are a number of hurdles to overcome. Each mucosal site has unique physiological properties that NPs formulations must cater towards (Table 1), but the ideal properties are mutual; NPs are required to exhibit sufficient stability during the transit to the mucosal surface, must be retained long enough for release, and must deliver or release the active molecule at the desired site and at the appropriate rate. The required NPs properties also differ based on if the goal is for absorption of intact NPs or release of the active molecules at the epithelium. Therefore, the interaction of the particle with the medium that is in contact with the mucosal surface, the mucus layer, and the epithelial cells, must be considered during the formulation process.

The GI tract is arguably the most studied route of administration for systemic delivery of the NPs or active therapeutic, due to the convenience and possibility of absorption, but other routes such as the lungs and nose are also commonly investigated for local pathologies. One of the main advantages for each mucosal site of administration is the localization of treatment, improving the drug concentration at the area, and subsequently reducing the potential for side effects associated with systemic distribution. Another advantage is the lack of needles required for administration, which offers ease of logistics, as well as pain-free administration. There are of course limitations associated with mucosal delivery sites, including the variable bioavailability. The distinctive features of the mucosal sites, and the advantages and disadvantages, have been summarized in Tables 1 and 2, respectively, and gives an indication of how varied the local conditions are.

Site	Advantages	Disadvantages
Ocular	• Treatment of local ocular pathologies without unwanted absorbance elsewhere	<ul> <li>Poor bioavailability due to clearance mechanisms</li> <li>Low patient compliance</li> <li>Low scope for systemic applications</li> </ul>
Nasal	<ul><li>Ease of administration</li><li>Potential for brain drug delivery</li><li>Highly vascularized</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Mucociliary clearance</li> <li>Difficult penetration of mucous layer</li> <li>Enzymatic degradation</li> </ul>
Lung	<ul> <li>Rapid absorption</li> <li>Highly vascularized</li> <li>Large surface area</li> <li>Limited enzymatic degradation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Narrowing and branching of airways may favor particle impaction away from target site</li> <li>Mucus and surfactants may cause NP aggregation</li> <li>Mucociliary and alveolar macrophage clearance</li> <li>Challenges in delivery and low patient compliance</li> </ul>
Oral cavity	<ul><li>Ease of administration</li><li>Avoids first pass metabolism</li></ul>	<ul> <li>High clearance due to secretion and flow of saliva</li> <li>Limited absorption through epithelium</li> </ul>
GI tract	<ul> <li>Ease of administration</li> <li>High surface area</li> <li>Unique immune make up in the GALT</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Hostile environment can degrade NPs and active molecules</li> <li>Limited absorption of NPs through the epithelium</li> </ul>
Vaginal	<ul> <li>Unique immune make up in the MALT</li> <li>High residence time of drugs in the site of administration</li> <li>Potential for prevention of local infections.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Gender-specific</li> <li>Hostile environment can degrade NPs and active molecules</li> <li>Limited absorption of NPs through the epithelium</li> <li>Mucoadhesive polymer can damage the mucus</li> <li>Diverse composition of mucus according to age and menstrual cycle.</li> </ul>

Table 2 Summary of the advantages and disadvantages of NP delivery at different mucosal sites

The immune response is another unique feature at these mucosal delivery sites. There are local differences in the composition of immune cells and tissues, and the resulting immune response can differ, based on the site. This is a point of consideration for the induction of the desired immune response by immunotherapy/vaccine NP formulations at the desired locations. The presence of immune cells also means that the awareness of the immunological consequences, such as inflammation, are also required for formulations even which are not primarily designed to induce immune response.

Future mucosal NPs formulations would therefore ideally address points of interest such as the stability of the particles before they reach the mucus layer, whether retention or penetration at the mucus layer is desired, interaction of the particles with the epithelial or immune cells for uptake, and subsequent release of the active molecules.

To conclude, the delivery of NPs to mucosal sites offer unique advantages and challenges. Each mucosal site differs in physiology and subsequently requires adaptation of the formulation to optimize the NP interaction with the barriers associated with absorption or delivery.

# References

- Petros RA, DeSimone JM. Strategies in the design of nanoparticles for therapeutic applications. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2010;9:615–27.
- des Rieux A, Fievez V, Garinot M, Schneider YJ, Preat V. Nanoparticles as potential oral delivery systems of proteins and vaccines: a mechanistic approach. J Control Release 2006;116(1):1–27.
- Laffleur F, Bernkop-Schnürch A. Strategies for improving mucosal drug delivery. Nanomedicine. 2013;8(12):2061–75.
- Ensign LM, Cone R, Hanes J. Oral drug delivery with polymeric nanoparticles: the gastrointestinal mucus barriers. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2012;64(6):557–70.
- 5. Bourlais CL, Acar L, Zia H, Sado PA, Needham T, Leverge R. Ophthalmic drug delivery systems--recent advances. Prog Retin Eye Res. 1998;17(1):33–58.
- McNamara NA, Polse KA, Brand RJ, Graham AD, Chan JS, McKenney CD. Tear mixing under a soft contact lens: effects of lens diameter. Am J Ophthalmology. 1999;127(6):659–65.
- Cholkar K, Dasari SR, Pal D, Mitra AK. Eye: anatomy, physiology and barriers to drug delivery. In: Mitra AK, editor. Ocular Transporters and Receptors: Woodhead Publishing; 2013. p. 1–36.
- Yasukawa T, Ogura Y, Tabata Y, Kimura H, Wiedemann P, Honda Y. Drug delivery systems for vitreoretinal diseases. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2004;23(3):253–81.
- 9. Li Y, Cheng Q, Jiang Q, Huang Y, Liu H, Zhao Y, et al. Enhanced endosomal/lysosomal escape by distearoyl phosphoethanolamine-polycarboxybetaine lipid for systemic delivery of siRNA. J Control Release. 2014;176:104–14.
- Gower NJD, Barry RJ, Edmunds MR, Titcomb LC, Denniston AK. Drug discovery in ophthalmology: past success, present challenges, and future opportunities. BMC Ophthalmol. 2016;16:11.
- 11. Biswas GR, Majee SB. Niosomes in ocular drug delivery. Eur J Pharm Med Res. 2017;4(7):813–9.
- Lang J, Roehrs R, Remington JR. Ophthalmic preparations. In: Wilkins LW, editor. The Science and Practice of Pharmacy 2009. p. 850–856.

- Bourges J-L, Gautier SE, Delie F, Bejjani RA, Jeanny J-C, Gurny R, et al. Ocular drug delivery targeting the retina and retinal pigment epithelium using Polylactide nanoparticles. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2003;44(8):3562–9.
- Kaur IP, Garg A, Singla AK, Aggarwal D. Vesicular systems in ocular drug delivery: an overview. Int J Pharm. 2004;269(1):1–14.
- Law SL, Huang KJ, Chiang CH. Acyclovir-containing liposomes for potential ocular delivery: corneal penetration and absorption. J Control Release. 2000;63(1):135–40.
- Yamaguchi M, Ueda K, Isowaki A, Ohtori A, Takeuchi H, Ohguro N, et al. Mucoadhesive properties of chitosan-coated ophthalmic lipid emulsion containing indomethacin in tear fluid. Biol Pharm Bull. 2009;32(7):1266–71.
- 17. Sonvico F, Clementino A, Buttini F, Colombo G, Pescina S, Stanisçuaski Guterres S, et al. Surface-modified Nanocarriers for nose-to-brain delivery: from bioadhesion to targeting. Pharmaceutics. 2018;10(1):34.
- Sachan AK, Singh S. Nanoparticles: nasal delivery of drugs. Int J Pharm Res Sch. 2014;3(3):33–44.
- Ghori MU, Mahdi MH, Smith AM, Conway BR. Nasal Drug Delivery Systems: An Overview. Am J Pharmacoll Sci. 2015;3(5):110–9.
- Battaglia L, Panciani PP, Muntoni E, Capucchio MT, Biasibetti E, De Bonis P, et al. Lipid nanoparticles for intranasal administration: application to nose-to-brain delivery. Expert Opinion Drug Delivery. 2018;15(4):369–78.
- Illum L. Nanoparticulate systems for nasal delivery of drugs: a real improvement over simple systems? J Pharm Sci. 2007;96(3):473–83.
- Ozsoy Y, Gungor S, Cevher E. Nasal delivery of high molecular weight drugs. Molecules. (Basel). 2009;14(9):3754–79.
- 23. Comfort C, Garrastazu G, Pozzoli M, Sonvico F. Opportunities and challenges for the nasal administration of nanoemulsions. Curr Top Med Chem. 2015;15(4):356–68.
- Casettari L, Illum L. Chitosan in nasal delivery systems for therapeutic drugs. J Control Release. 2014;190:189–200.
- Samaridou E, Alonso MJ. Nose-to-brain peptide delivery the potential of nanotechnology. Bioorg Med Chem. 2018;26(10):2888–905.
- Shoyele SA, Slowey A. Prospects of formulating proteins/peptides as aerosols for pulmonary drug delivery. Int J Pharm. 2006;314(1):1–8.
- 27. Kunda NK, Somavarapu S, Gordon SB, Hutcheon GA, Saleem IY. Nanocarriers targeting dendritic cells for pulmonary vaccine delivery. Pharm Res. 2013;30(2):325–41.
- 28. Gaul R, Ramsey JM, Heise A, Cryan S-A, Greene CM. Nanotechnology approaches to pulmonary drug delivery: Targeted delivery of small molecule and gene-based therapeutics to the lung. In: Grumezescu AM, editor. Design of Nanostructures for Versatile Therapeutic Applications: William Andrew Publishing; 2018. p. 221–53.
- Osman N, Kaneko K, Carini V, Saleem I. Carriers for the targeted delivery of aerosolized macromolecules for pulmonary pathologies. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2018;15(8):821–34.
- 30. Tawfeek HM, Evans AR, Iftikhar A, Mohammed AR, Shabir A, Somavarapu S, et al. Dry powder inhalation of macromolecules using novel PEG-co-polyester microparticle carriers. Int J Pharm. 2013;441(1–2):611–9.
- Tawfeek H, Khidr S, Samy E, Ahmed S, Murphy M, Mohammed A, et al. Poly(glycerol adipate-co-omega-pentadecalactone) spray-dried microparticles as sustained release carriers for pulmonary delivery. Pharm Res. 2011;28(9):2086–97.
- Alfagih I, Kunda N, Alanazi F, Dennison SR, Somavarapu S, Hutcheon GA, et al. Pulmonary delivery of proteins using nanocomposite microcarriers. J Pharm Sci. 2015;104(12):4386–98.
- 33. Kunda NK, Alfagih IM, Dennison SR, Tawfeek HM, Somavarapu S, Hutcheon GA, et al. Bovine serum albumin adsorbed PGA-co-PDL nanocarriers for vaccine delivery via dry powder inhalation. Pharm Res. 2015;32(4):1341–53.
- 34. Bisgaard H, O'Callaghan C, Smaldone G. Drug delivery to the lung: Boca Raton: CRC Press; 1999.

- Mason GR, Peters AM, Bagdades E, Myers MJ, Snooks D, Hughes J. Evaluation of pulmonary alveolar epithelial integrity by the detection of restriction to diffusion of hydrophilic solutes of different molecular sizes. Clin Sci. 2001;100(3):231–6.
- Nicod LP. Lung defences: an overview. European Respiratory Review: An Official Journal of the European Respiratory Society. 2005;14(95):45–50.
- Gordon S, Read R. Macrophage defences against respiratory tract infections. Br Med Bull. 2006;61:45–61.
- Rodrigues TC, Oliveira MLS, Soares-Schanoski A, Chavez-Rico SL, Figueiredo DB, Goncalves VM, et al. Mucosal immunization with PspA (pneumococcal surface protein a)adsorbed nanoparticles targeting the lungs for protection against pneumococcal infection. PLoS One. 2018;13(1):e0191692.
- Lu X, Zhu T, Chen C, Liu Y. Right or left: the role of nanoparticles in pulmonary diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15(10):17577–600.
- 40. Kunda NK, Alfagih IM, Miyaji EN, Figueiredo DB, Goncalves VM, Ferreira DM, et al. Pulmonary dry powder vaccine of pneumococcal antigen loaded nanoparticles. Int J Pharm. 2015;495(2):903–12.
- 41. Kunda NK, Alfagih IM, Dennison SR, Somavarapu S, Merchant Z, Hutcheon GA, et al. Dry powder pulmonary delivery of cationic PGA-co-PDL nanoparticles with surface adsorbed model protein. Int J Pharm. 2015;492(1–2):213–22.
- 42. Renukaradhya GJ, Narasimhan B, Mallapragada SK. Respiratory nanoparticle-based vaccines and challenges associated with animal models and translation. J Control Release. 2015;219:622–31.
- 43. Petkar KC, Chavhan S, Kunda N, Saleem I, Somavarapu S, Taylor KMG, et al. Development of novel Octanoyl chitosan nanoparticles for improved rifampicin pulmonary delivery: optimization by factorial design. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2018;19(4):1758–72.
- 44. Merchant Z, Buckton G, Taylor KM, Stapleton P, Saleem IY, Zariwala MG, et al. A new era of pulmonary delivery of Nano-antimicrobial therapeutics to treat chronic pulmonary infections. Curr Pharm Des. 2016;22(17):2577–98.
- 45. Merchant Z, Taylor KMG, Stapleton P, Razak SA, Kunda N, Alfagih I, et al. Engineering hydrophobically modified chitosan for enhancing the dispersion of respirable microparticles of levofloxacin. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2014;88(3):816–29.
- Paranjpe M, Müller-Goymann CC. Nanoparticle-mediated pulmonary drug delivery: a review. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15(4):5852–73.
- Kleinstreuer C, Zhang Z, Donohue JF. Targeted drug-aerosol delivery in the human respiratory system. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2008;10:195–220.
- Kuzmov A, Minko T. Nanotechnology approaches for inhalation treatment of lung diseases. J Control Release. 2015;219:500–18.
- 49. Pinto JF. Site-specific drug delivery systems within the gastro-intestinal tract: from the mouth to the colon. Int J Pharm. 2010;395(1):44–52.
- Date AA, Hanes J, Ensign LM. Nanoparticles for oral delivery: design, evaluation and stateof-the-art. J Control Release. 2016;240:504–26.
- Holpuch AS, Hummel GJ, Tong M, Seghi GA, Pei P, Ma P, et al. Nanoparticles for local drug delivery to the Oral mucosa: proof of principle studies. Pharm Res. 2010;27(7):1224–36.
- 52. Al-Dhubiab BE. In vitro and in vivo evaluation of nano-based films for buccal delivery of zolpidem. Braz Oral Res. 2016;30:e126.
- Calixto G, Bernegossi J, Fonseca-Santos B, Chorilli M. Nanotechnology-based drug delivery systems for treatment of oral cancer: a review. Int J Nanomedicine. 2014;9:3719–35.
- 54. Wang K, Liu T, Lin R, Liu B, Yang G, Bu X, et al. Preparation and in vitro release of buccal tablets of naringenin-loaded MPEG-PCL nanoparticles. RSC Adv. 2014;4(64):33672–9.
- 55. Roque L, Castro P, Molpeceres J, Viana AS, Roberto A, Reis C, et al. Bioadhesive polymeric nanoparticles as strategy to improve the treatment of yeast infections in oral cavity: in-vitro and ex-vivo studies. Eur Polym J. 2018;104:19–31.
- 56. Mašek J, Lubasová D, Lukáč R, Turánek-Knotigová P, Kulich P, Plocková J, et al. Multilayered nanofibrous mucoadhesive films for buccal and sublingual administration of drug-delivery

and vaccination nanoparticles - important step towards effective mucosal vaccines. J Control Release. 2017;249:183–95.

- 57. Humphrey SP, Williamson RT. A review of saliva: Normal composition, flow, and function. J Prosthet Dent. 2001;85(2):162–9.
- Suh JW, Lee J-S, Ko S, Lee HG. Preparation and characterization of Mucoadhesive buccal nanoparticles using chitosan and dextran sulfate. J Agric Food Chem. 2016;64(26):5384–8.
- Kraisit P, Limmatvapirat S, Luangtana-Anan M, Sriamornsak P. Buccal administration of mucoadhesive blend films saturated with propranolol loaded nanoparticles. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2018;13(1):34–43.
- Marques AC, Rocha AI, Leal P, Estanqueiro M, Lobo JMS. Development and characterization of mucoadhesive buccal gels containing lipid nanoparticles of ibuprofen. Int J Pharm. 2017;533(2):455–62.
- Fonseca-Santos B, Chorilli M. An overview of polymeric dosage forms in buccal drug delivery: state of art, design of formulations and their in vivo performance evaluation. Mater Sci Eng C. 2018;86:129–43.
- 62. Yun Y, Cho YW, Park K. Nanoparticles for oral delivery: targeted nanoparticles with peptidic ligands for oral protein delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2013;65(6):822–32.
- 63. Zimmer A. Drug Targeting Technology, Physical-Chemical-Biological Methods, Edited by Hans Schreier. ChemBioChem. 2002;3(6):581.
- 64. Jia L. Nanoparticle formulation increases Oral bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs: approaches experimental evidences and theory. Curr Nanosci. 2005;1(3):237–43.
- 65. Suk JS, Xu Q, Kim N, Hanes J, Ensign LM. PEGylation as a strategy for improving nanoparticle-based drug and gene delivery. Adv Drug Deli Rev. 2016;99(Pt A):28–51.
- 66. Kaneko K, McDowell A, Ishii Y, Hook S. Characterization and evaluation of stabilized particulate formulations as therapeutic oral vaccines for allergy. J Liposome Res. 2017:1–9.
- 67. McGhee JR, Mestecky J, Dertzbaugh MT, Eldridge JH, Hirasawa M, Kiyono H. The mucosal immune system: from fundamental concepts to vaccine development. Vaccine. 1992;10(2):75–88.
- Kuolee R, Chen W. M cell-targeted delivery of vaccines and therapeutics. Expert Opinion Drug Delivery. 2008;5(6):693–702.
- 69. Azizi A, Kumar A, Diaz-Mitoma F, Mestecky J. Enhancing Oral vaccine potency by targeting intestinal M cells. PLoS Pathog. 2010;6(11):e1001147.
- 70. Taira MC, Chiaramoni NS, Pecuch KM, Alonso-Romanowski S. Stability of liposomal formulations in physiological conditions for oral drug delivery. Drug Deliv. 2004;11(2):123–8.
- Chen M-C, Sonaje K, Chen K-J, Sung H-W. A review of the prospects for polymeric nanoparticle platforms in oral insulin delivery. Biomaterials. 2011;32(36):9826–38.
- 72. Muheem A, Shakeel F, Jahangir MA, Anwar M, Mallick N, Jain GK, et al. A review on the strategies for oral delivery of proteins and peptides and their clinical perspectives. Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal. 2016;24(4):413–28.
- Tawfeek HM, Abdellatif AAH, Dennison TJ, Mohammed AR, Sadiq Y, Saleem IY. Colonic delivery of indometacin loaded PGA-co-PDL microparticles coated with Eudragit L100-55 from fast disintegrating tablets. Int J Pharm. 2017;531(1):80–9.
- Atuma C, Strugala V, Allen A, Holm L. The adherent gastrointestinal mucus gel layer: thickness and physical state in vivo. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2001;280(5):G922–9.
- 75. Shakweh M, Ponchel G, Fattal E. Particle uptake by Peyer's patches: a pathway for drug and vaccine delivery. Expert Opinion Drug Delivery. 2004;1(1):141–63.
- Brayden DJ, Baird AW. Microparticle vaccine approaches to stimulate mucosal immunisation. Microbes Infect. 2001;3(10):867–76.
- 77. das Neves J, Amaral MH, Bahia MF. Vaginal Drug Delivery. In: Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Handbook2007.
- 78. Vanic Z, Skalko-Basnet N. Nanopharmaceuticals for improved topical vaginal therapy: can they deliver? Eur J Pharm Sci. 2013;50(1):29–41.
- Meng J, Sturgis TF, Youan BB. Engineering tenofovir loaded chitosan nanoparticles to maximize microbicide mucoadhesion. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2011;44(1–2):57–67.

- 80. Patel GM, Patel PV. Novel vaginal anti-HIV drug delivery system of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate. Am J Pharmtech Res. 2011;1:366–83.
- Peppas NA, Huang Y. Nanoscale technology of mucoadhesive interactions. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2004;56(11):1675–87.
- Andrews GP, Donnelly L, Jones DS, Curran RM, Morrow RJ, Woolfson AD, et al. Characterization of the rheological, Mucoadhesive, and drug release properties of highly structured gel platforms for intravaginal drug delivery. Biomacromolecules. 2009;10(9):2427–35.
- 83. McGill SL, Smyth HDC. Disruption of the mucus barrier by topically applied exogenous particles. Mol Pharm. 2010;7(6):2280–8.
- 84. Wang YY, Lai SK, So C, Schneider C, Cone R, Hanes J. Mucoadhesive nanoparticles may disrupt the protective human mucus barrier by altering its microstructure. PLoS One. 2011;6(6):e21547.
- 85. Lai SK, O'Hanlon DE, Harrold S, Man ST, Wang YY, Cone R, et al. Rapid transport of large polymeric nanoparticles in fresh undiluted human mucus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(5):1482–7.
- 86. Cone RA. Barrier properties of mucus. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009;61(2):75-85.
- Ning M, Guo Y, Pan H, Yu H, Gu Z. Niosomes with sorbitan monoester as a carrier for vaginal delivery of insulin: studies in rats. Drug Deliv. 2005;12(6):399–407.
- Wu SY, Chang HI, Burgess M, McMillan NA. Vaginal delivery of siRNA using a novel PEGylated lipoplex-entrapped alginate scaffold system. J Control Release. 2011;155(3):418–26.
- Ensign LM, Tang BC, Wang YY, Tse TA, Hoen T, Cone R, et al. Mucus-penetrating nanoparticles for vaginal drug delivery protect against herpes simplex virus. Sci Transll Med. 2012;4(138):138ra79.
- Malavia NK, Zurakowski D, Schroeder A, Princiotto AM, Laury AR, Barash HE, et al. Liposomes for HIV prophylaxis. Biomaterials. 2011;32(33):8663–8.
- Wang L, Sassi AB, Patton D, Isaacs C, Moncla BJ, Gupta P, et al. Development of a liposome microbicide formulation for vaginal delivery of octylglycerol for HIV prevention. Drug Dev Ind Pharm. 2012;38(8):995–1007.
- Mamo T, Moseman EA, Kolishetti N, Salvador-Morales C, Shi J, Kuritzkes DR, et al. Emerging nanotechnology approaches for HIV/AIDS treatment and prevention. Nanomedicine. (London, England). 2010;5(2):269–85.

# **Current Status and Perspectives** in Mucosal Drug Delivery of Nanotherapeutic Systems



Vineela Parvathaneni, Nishant S. Kulkarni, and Vivek Gupta

Abstract Currently, nanoparticulate therapeutic systems are gaining importance and are capable of being delivered through various routes of administration while facilitating both systemic and local drug delivery. Delivering therapeutics to mucosal surfaces of various regions in the body is of special interest because it provides the ability to treat a wide range of disorders. However, due to the mucosal barriers encountered at respective organs/body cavities, it is challenging to deliver therapeutics to mucosal area. Hence, drugs demand certain carrier systems to overcome the barrier and facilitate drug delivery to the site of action. There are several strategies which enable efficient mucosal delivery of nanoparticles (NPs) and enhance the residence time of those systems at the mucosal site. Even though numerous approaches have been used with nanoparticle delivery systems, currently available strategies require further improvements to accomplish mucosal drug delivery. There is still a large gap in understanding the correlation between mucus clearance rates and NPs' performance. This chapter summarizes various approaches utilized for enhancing mucosal delivery of nanoparticulate systems and strategies to evade mucus clearance.

Keywords Nanoparticles  $\cdot$  Mucoadhesion  $\cdot$  Mucus-penetrating particles  $\cdot$  Surface modification  $\cdot$  Specific-interactions

V. Parvathaneni · N. S. Kulkarni · V. Gupta (🖂)

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences St. John's University, Queens, NY, USA

e-mail: guptav@stjohns.edu

<sup>©</sup> American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020

P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics

in Nanoparticles, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_4

# 1 Introduction

Nanoparticulate delivery systems offer various advantages in delivering drugs through various routes of administration. These systems can be exploited to facilitate local drug delivery and target specific tissues to ensure efficacy and safety [1, 2]. Depending on the application, various modifications have been introduced in organic nanoparticle fabrication [3] as well as inorganic nanoparticle fabrication [4] through application of chemistry, engineering and manufacturing principles [5].

As majority of the bodily organs are either lined or covered by a mucus membrane, delivering therapeutics to mucosal surfaces of the lung airways, gastrointestinal tract, female reproductive tract, nasal cavity and ophthalmic areas, is of prevalent attention. However, the viscoelastic and sticky nature of mucus layer, which lines mucosal tissues, acts as a barrier for efficient delivery of therapeutics [6]. Moreover, limited permeability of delivery systems through the mucus barrier and hydrophobic nature of drugs result in relatively fast clearance from the site of action. This necessitates innovation of carrier systems capable of overcoming this rapid clearance and simultaneously providing prolonged retention time at the site of action. To achieve this, delivery systems like nanoparticles (NPs) should be capable of not only achieving prolonged retention at the site of action but also be able to penetrate through at least the outer mucus layers. While many advances have been made, conventional NPs are unable to overcome this barrier, which necessitates the need for engineering specially designed nanoparticulate systems or utilization of mucoadhesive polymers.

The current nanoparticle-based formulations require drastic improvements to achieve their intended goals of developing a unique delivery system for fulfilling the gap in accomplishing mucosal drug delivery [7]. This chapter describes the various strategies for mucosal delivery of NPs while overcoming its barrier properties; advantages and disadvantages of these different approaches. Readers are directed to earlier chapters of the book for information about physiology and functioning of mucosal barriers. Few of the recent studies implementing these strategies have also been discussed in further sections.

# 2 Available Strategies for Mucosal Delivery of NPs

Exploring nanoparticulate delivery systems for an existing drug molecule is gaining attention in the pharmaceutical research field. However, conventional particles (CPs) without any surface modifications get trapped in the mucus and are cleared rapidly resulting in shorter residence times. Hence, researchers have been exploring ways to deliver NPs for mucosal delivery through novel research efforts [8]. Through the application of wide array of engineering approaches and utilization of polymers with mucoadhesive properties, NPs can be made to bypass/penetrate the mucosal barrier. These NPs with efficient mucus penetrating properties are termed as mucus



**Fig. 1** Schematic illustration of the fate of mucus-penetrating particles (MPP) and conventional mucoadhesive particles (CP) administered to a mucosal surface of gastrointestinal and cervico-vaginal tracts. MPP entering the underlying adherent mucus layer (AML) through travelling readily across the luminal mucus layer (LML) compared to CP. Rapid clearance of LML, only MPP can deliver the dose to AML and underlying epithelia where in CP are cleared along with LML providing longer residence time for MPP at the mucosal surface. Similarly, in the respiratory airways, CP are unable to traverse through luminal stirred mucus gel layer, while MPP penetrate the mucus layer and enter the underlying layer, Adopted from [9]

penetrating particles (MPPs) [9]. Figure 1 summarizes the fate of mucus penetrating particles versus conventional mucoadhesive particles [9]. Other available approaches include the use of a modulating agent or mucolytic enzyme-decorated carrier systems. Summary of available approaches for mucosal delivery of NPs is presented in Table 1. Figure 2 indicates the significance of drug delivery systems such as NPs in oral mucosal delivery [10].

# 2.1 Conventional Strategies for Enhancing Mucosal Residence Time

Conventional approach of mucosal drug delivery refers to the use of mucoadhesive systems. The principle behind this strategy would be enhancing mucosal residence time of dosage forms such as buccal or oral mucoadhesive tablets. Mucoadhesion is

Strategy	Evidence	Pros	Cons	References
Mucoadhesion	Adhere to the mucus layer	Increased residence time	Trapping of particles inside the mucus	[11, 12]
PEG Modification	Reduced NP electrostatic and hydrophobic interaction potential	Increased NP mobility	NP surface modification needed Increased complexity	[13]
Pluronic Modified NP	Amphiphilic polymer masking hydrophobic interaction sites	No NP surface modification	Potential solubility issues related to amphiphilic polymer micelle formation	[13]
		hydrophobic NP's	(dynamic barrier)	
	Increased polystyrene NP mobility		Effect on surface charged NP's unclear	
NP + mucolytic agent	Breaks S_S bonds in multimeric mucin	Apparent increased NP mobility (moving with mucus rather than through)	Increases sol phase viscosity	[13]
			Increased viscous drag	-
			Increased interaction potential	
	Liquefies mucus gels		Corona build-up and increased NP size	
	Increased mucus mobility		Reduced first line of defense due to mucus structure breakdown	
NP + osmotic	Increased cellular	Generally safe	Initial mucus de-swelling	[13]
agent	Increased pore size	Reduced steric		
	Reduced steric barrier	Udifici	Mucus swelling increasing distance for NP diffusion	
		Decreased sol viscosity	Network interactive barrier unchanged	
NP + hydrating solution	Epithelium fluid uptake	Generally safe	Mucus swelling increasing distance for NP diffusion	[13]
	Tidal flow	Flow directed	Network interactive barrier largely unchanged	
	Mucus gel swelling	towards the		
	Increased pore size	Reduced steric barrier		
		Decreased sol viscosity		

 Table 1
 Summary of strategies available for Mucosal Delivery of NPs

(continued)

Strategy	Evidence	Pros	Cons	References
MECS	Crosses the mucus	Exhibits broad	Breaking down the	[14]
	comparatively	cleavage of	bears the risk that	
	efficient manner by	peptide bonds	these hostile	
	cleaving mucus	of basic amino	intruders	
	substructures and	acids, leucine,	(pathogens) could	
	form tiny holes or	or glycine.	come into contact	
	passages through		with the	
	the mucus		epithelium	

Table 1 (continued)



**Fig. 2** Graphical representation illustrating the significance of novel drug delivery systems in oral mucosal drug delivery. Newer drug delivery formulations or nano carrier vectors such as NPs capable of overcoming the challenges encountered in delivering therapeutics. In addition, enabling both systemic delivery and local delivery at mucosal surfaces through non-invasive route of administration, Adopted from [10]

the process of adhesion of molecule to mucus layer and is defined as attractive interaction at the boundary between a pharmaceutical dosage form and mucosal membrane [15]. This interaction can occur through the involvement of various mechanisms including physical and mechanical interactions such as intercalation of polymer chains with mucin chains, involvement of hydrogen bonds, electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions etc.; and a clear understanding of those mechanisms is crucial in developing a mucoadhesive drug delivery system [16]. The idea of mucoadhesion was pioneered in ophthalmic drug delivery systems in the early 1980s and this was succeeded by numerous studies, which exhibited the potential of mucoadhesion for effective drug delivery in the fields of buccal, nasal, ocular and vaginal delivery systems, to name a few [17].

Mucoadhesive drug delivery systems offer numerous advantages through prolonging the dwelling period of delivery system at the site of action thus further enhancing the drug absorption. In addition, application of dosage forms on various mucosal surfaces (buccal, nasal or rectal) avoids first pass metabolism as drug delivery occurs across mucosa while protecting drug from harsh environments like gastrointestinal enzymes, resulting in a faster onset of action [18]. Encapsulation of

Туре	Examples	Pros	Cons	References
Non-specific interactions	Anionic polymers, cationic polymers and non-ionic polymers	Form stronger hydrogen bonds with mucus	Shorter retention times and lack of specificity	[12, 17, 20]
Specific interactions	Lectins, thiolated polymers and Polyox water soluble Resins (WSR)	Not affected due to high mucus turn-over rates	Lack of capability to penetrate across the mucus layer due to strong interaction Immunogenic potential (lectins)	[12, 17, 20]

Table 2 Types of mucoadhesive interactions

drugs inside the polymeric matrix enables their protection from degradation [19]. These delivery systems are fabricated by mucoadhesive polymers which impart the delivery system its mucoadhesive properties. Ideal properties required for mucoadhesion as described in the Sect. 2.1.1. include the ability to interact with mucus layer through adhesion, possessing high molecular weight and swellable properties [18]. These properties facilitate NPs for their site-specific uptake compared to other systems such as microspheres as in case of transport of NPs across intestinal barrier [19].

Mucoadhesion can occur through either specific or non-specific interactions. Based on the type of interaction they can be categorized as first generation, second generation novel polymers, which will be discussed in further Sects. (2.1.2 and 2.1.3). Different types of mucoadhesive interactions possible are listed along with their advantages and disadvantages in Table 2.

#### 2.1.1 Factors Affecting Mucoadhesion

- a) **Molecular weight:** The higher the molecular weight of mucoadhesive polymer (>100,000), higher the mucoadhesive strength of the polymer [21].
- b) Flexibility: Diffusion of the polymer chains in interfacial area is vital so that the polymer chains contain an extensive degree of flexibility and are capable of entangling with the mucus [22]. Higher the flexibility of a polymer, better will be its diffusion into the mucus network [23].
- c) **Cross-linking density:** Increased density of cross-linking lowers water diffusion rate into the polymer network, which in turn causes inadequate swelling of the polymer and diminished rate of interpenetration of the polymer into mucus layer [23].
- d) **Hydrogen bonding capacity:** Polymers must have functional moieties that are able to form hydrogen bonds and should also have flexibility potential enough to improve hydrogen bonding in addition [23].

- e) Hydration: When a mucoadhesive polymer is hydrated, it swells and causes induced polymer chains mobility, exposing bioadhesive sites for hydrogen bonding and/or to form electrostatic interactions between the polymer and the mucus network [23]. A critical degree of polymer hydration is required for optimal swelling and mucoadhesion to occur [24].
- f) Charge: Presence of anionic charge is reported to be a stronger characteristic for efficient mucoadhesion as compared to cationic charge due to their strong hydrogen bonding ability with the mucin in mucosal layer [11, 24]. However, few cationic polymers have shown greater mucoadhesion in presence of neutral to slightly basic media [25]. For example, high–molecular-weight cationic polymers such as chitosan have exhibited better adhesion in neutral or alkaline environment [26]. pH at the interface of bioadhesive and mucoadhesive membranes influences the adhesion properties of polymers as ionization of the functional groups of polymers depends on it [11, 27].
- g) Concentration: Concentration of the polymer refers to the available polymer chain length to interact with mucin layers to exhibit stronger mucoadhesion. Hence, higher concentration of the polymer results in better penetration and adhesion. If the polymer concentration is too low, interactions with mucin network are unstable. However, critical concentration should be considered for each polymer as above that the polymer produces a coiled structure resulting in poor penetration ability [27].

#### 2.1.2 Non-Specific Interactions of Mucoadhesive Particles With Mucus

Non-specific interaction involves adhesion of mucoadhesive systems to mucus through non-specific bonding. This includes Van der Waals interactions and hydrogen bond formation. First-generation mucoadhesive polymers which include anionic, cationic and non-ionic polymers, can form these kind of interactions with mucus. Stronger the hydrogen bonding, stronger will be the mucoadhesion. Hence, functional groups play an important role in deciding whether or not to impart strong adhesive properties to the polymer. Moieties such as carboxyl, hydroxyl and amino groups are capable of facilitating such interactions [11, 28]. In addition, polymers possessing functional groups within their structure are referred as polyelectrolytes, where anionic polyelectrolytes form stronger adhesion compared to neutral polymers. Typical examples of polyelectrolytes include poly (acrylic acid) (PAA) and sodium carboxymethylcellulose (NaCMC). These polymers exhibit outstanding mucoadhesive features by forming strong hydrogen bonding interactions with mucin network in mucosal layer. Chitosan is the most widely used cationic polymer, well known for its intriguing properties and mucosal binding through ionic bonds between the amino group and sialic acid residues [12, 20]. However, all of the first generation polymers adhere to the mucus non-specifically lacking specificity as the interactions involved in mucoadhesion are of non-covalent nature .

# 2.1.3 Specific and Targeted Mucus Interactions of Mucoadhesive Particles

Newer second-generation polymers are employed to impart specific mucoadhesive properties to drug delivery systems by overcoming the disadvantages of non-specific mucoadhesive polymers while being site specific and unaffected by high mucus turn-over rate [11, 29]. Second-generation polymers such as lectins, thiolated polymers, Polyox Water Soluble Resins (WSR), and tomato lectin specifically interact with the mucosal cells and are thus more targeted [30]. Lectins are natural, structurally varying proteins which can bind to specific carbohydrate residues on mucosal cells reversibly. Following binding to mucosal cells, lectins can either stay on surface or get internalized through endocytosis via receptor mediated adhesion. Thus, lectins can provide site specific controlled drug release. However, presence of potential immunogenic reaction is a disadvantage of lectins [12, 20].

Thiolated polymers are derived from water soluble polymers such as polyacrylates or chitosan [12]. They imitate the mucus glycoproteins covalently bound in the mucus layer. Free thiol groups of the polymers form disulfide bonds with cysteine present in mucus [20]. This specific adhesive property assists in better mucoadhesion and alteration of the drug release pattern due to enhanced cross linking [12]. Commonly used thiolated polymers include chitosan–iminothiolane, poly(acrylic acid)–cysteine, poly (acrylic acid)–homocysteine, chitosan–thioglycolicacid, chitosan–thioethylamidine, alginate–cysteine, poly (methacrylic acid)–cysteine and sodium carboxymethylcellulose–cysteine [20].

Polyox WSR is a novel, high molecular weight polyethylene oxide homopolymer which is readily water soluble and comprises of functional groups available for hydrogen bonding [12]. Tomato lectin is another novel polymer, which is different from lectins, and can bind to the small intestinal epithelium selectively [12, 20].

#### 2.1.4 Shortcomings of Conventional Mucoadhesive Strategies

Mucoadhesion requires a prolonged contact time for effective binding at the site of action which may lead to local ulcerous effects due to ulcerogenic characteristics of the drug itself based on the site of mucoadhesion [31]. For example, buccal site suffers from inconvenience because of taste and irritability potential of mucoadhesive oral dosage forms, presenting a major limitation to this approach [32]. Rectal and vaginal sites suffer from inconvenience of administration and patient compliance. In addition, transit time of mucoadhesive systems is predicted by the mucus turnover rates as these systems interact with mucin network of mucus layer [9]. Due to the adherence of mucoadhesive polymers to mucus, they lack the capability to penetrate across the mucus layer and enter the epithelia underneath, thus making them challenging for intracellular delivery of therapeutics [9]. Also, manufacturing complexities prove bioadhesives as a complicated drug delivery approach [16].

NPs coated with either non-specific or specific bioadhesives have shown potential for mucosal delivery but these approaches demand further research and progress before being approved by the regulatory agencies and become available to the patients [33]. Multiple engineering approaches have been attempted for fabrication of mucoadhesive nanoparticles which can adhere and cross mucus barriers and accomplish prolonged residence time of particles at mucosal surfaces and reach the intended target across the epithelium, respectively [9, 34].

# 2.2 Engineering Particles to Cross Mucus Barriers

NPs of mucus-penetrating potential are suitable for treatment of disorders at mucosal surfaces [35]. Modulating surface properties of nanoparticles made from polylactic acid, chitosan, poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid (PLGA) aids in attaining desired hydrophilic/hydrophobic properties through including molecules on their surface. The surface moieties influence particles' penetrating behavior through the mucus.

Several approaches have focused on modifying the NPs" surface to escape entanglement in the mucin networks of mucus [13]. These systems can penetrate the mucus with minimal interactions and exhibit [14] slippery surface [36].

#### 2.2.1 Modulating Hydrophilic/Hydrophobic Surface Properties

Mucus as a biological barrier hinders the mobility and penetration of NPs through involvement of mucin interactions with the particle surface. Hence, strategies to modulate surface of NPs came into existence such as PEGylation to alter the hydrophilicity of nanocarriers. Length, structure and grafting degrees of surface ligands govern the surface properties of NPs. Further, charge and hydrophobicity of NPs have a significant impact on their mucus penetrating behavior. Hence, modulation of NPs' surface properties for attaining hydrophilic and uncharged surfaces to successfully diminish the adhesive interactions between mucin and particles through reduced hydrophobic or electrostatic interactions present a promising strategy for efficient mucosal delivery [37]. A few polymers that have been used to modulate the surface properties of NPs are outlined below.

#### PEG-Modified NPs

Modification of nanoparticle surface with molecules of smaller sizes than the mucus network and coating with poly (ethylene glycol) (PEG) cause rapid diffusion of particles through mucosal secretions [38]. These PEG-modified NPs have shown improved distribution through mucosal surfaces along with greater therapeutic efficacy in treating diseases such as cervical cancer and also lung cancer using gene therapy [39, 40]. Creating copolymers of PEG with polymers through adsorption onto carrier particles alters their characteristics to achieve an effective particle size

and surface charge [41]. Surface modification using PEG imitates virus-like diffusion thus allowing for an improved transport through mucosal surfaces.

In a study by Cu and Saltzman, PEG conjugation to COOH-functionalized polystyrene particles was found to increase their diffusion in cervical mucus [42]. Moreover, PEGylation of NPs also augments their stability with regards to both physical (aggregation) and chemical properties in mucus along with improved transport. Stability is vital while particles transverse through a thick mucus layer before reaching underlying layers [9]. Few other research works have revealed that coating NPs with a high density of low molecular weight PEG is able to reduce the interaction of particles with mucin network. Adhesion is incomplete due to diminished polymer chains interpenetration into the mucus due to the low MW of PEG. Moreover, PEG density is adequate to protect the hydrophobic core [38, 43]. PEG can also be conjugated with other polymeric materials such as poly sebacic acid (PSA) [44], polyethylenimine (PEI) [45] and poly-I-lysine (PLL) [46]. Additionally, PEG can also be adsorbed on the particle surface through hydrophobic or electrostatic interactions [37].

#### Pluronic F-127 Modified NPs

Pluronics are triblock copolymers consisting of a hydrophobic poly (propylene oxide) (PPO) core with two hydrophilic PEG arms. PPO core of pluronics can adsorb onto hydrophobic nanoparticle surface, while the PEG chains safeguard the particle surface from possible electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions with mucin [47].

Few studies in literature reveal that pluronics containing PPO segments with MW of more than 3 kDa can produce MPPs. Pluronic F-127 falls under that category [48]. Yu et al established mucus-penetrating nanoparticle system composed of two poorly water soluble drugs and coated with select pluronic F127 and reported a muco-inert surface of the coated particles [34]. However, not all hydrophilic and neutral modifications can enable mucus penetration. For example, hydrophilic and uncharged polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) coated polystyrene NPs were found to be muco-adhesive independent of MW and PVA concentration resulting in poor mucus penetration [37].

#### 2.2.2 Limitations of Nanoparticles With Surface Modifications

PEGylated NPs can mobilize rapidly in mucus coating and enter other sites in the body due to their size and surface properties. Rate of diffusion of NPs depends on hydration of mucus layer, leaving modified NPs with no significant benefit in cases of less hydrated mucus conditions such as cystic fibrosis (CF) and chronic obstructive pulmonary destruction (COPD) [49, 50]. Even though larger size NPs are preferable in terms of drug loading efficiency and desired release kinetics, optimal size is required for mucosal delivery applications. Due to amplified resistance forces,

NPs of large size, even well-coated ones are unable to diffuse and overcome mucociliary clearance when delivered by the pulmonary route (REF). Depending on the mucosal tissue properties, different nanoparticle diffusion rates are essential to cross different mucus barriers. For instance, a 700  $\mu$ m and a 10  $\mu$ m thick mucus is found in colon and eye respectively where even the viscosity of the mucus and mucin types differ thus necessitating NPs of different diffusion rates. Moreover, for efficient uptake into underlying epithelial cells, larger nanoparticle size is anticipated to lessen the endocytosis rate [9, 51, 52].

# 2.3 Co-Association of NPs and Mucus Modifying Agents

Although there are several strategies available to modify particles so they can penetrate mucus while preventing them from being entangled in mucin networks, there are a few unresolved questions. These include induced changes in mucus properties in different pathological conditions and non-feasibility to manufacture surface engineered NPs at an industrial scale. The introduction of mucus modulating agents can improve mucosal nanoparticle drug delivery and overcome the above challenges [13]. Mucus modulating agents alter mucus barrier properties considering modification of its steric and interactive components. These agents induce changes in mucus matrix architecture, pore size and reduce mucus-NPs interactions [13]. In case of mucosal diseases such as CF and other lung diseases the mucus barrier properties alter significantly in terms of mucus volume, composition or physiological function like mucociliary clearance [53, 54]. Hence, these conditions demand use of mucus modulating agents capable of both improving nanoparticle transport and mucociliary clearance in lung diseases. For example, guluronate oligomers have the potential to alter mucus barrier function and are under investigation for their role as active pharmaceutical ingredients to improve mucociliary clearance in CF [55, 56].

Major motivations for the use of mucus modifying agents in association with NPs include the ability of these agents to improve mobility of NPs in mucus which can be produced easily [57] while keeping costs low [58] compared to complex systems [57]. NPs. Complex drug delivery systems involve numerous components and need for surface modifications make the large scale production more complicated [57, 58]. Considering all commercial aspects such as producing NPs with required specifications while keeping the unit cost low and scaling up from small batch production, it is of significant interest to identify strategies that are able to manufacture NPs which to function effectively. Utilization of a mucus modulating agent compromises the active mucus barrier encountered by a nanoparticle in muco-sal delivery and enhanced drug uptake can be achieved [13].

In a strategy involving co-administration of the mucus modulating agent and nanoparticle, they were administered as separate dosage entities at the mucosal surface either simultaneously or sequentially [13]. In another co-formulation strategy, both NPs and mucus modifying agents were present in the same delivery system [13]. In many other studies, a non-covalent association between mucus modifying

agents with the nanoparticle surface were established like in the case of polyplexes, where surface alteration with mucus modifying agent was performed and thus was part of the nanoparticle itself [59].

For a successful and efficacious co-association of nanoparticle and mucusmodifying agent, they are essential to reach the mucosal surface in a functional state without being altered by the physiological processes encountered. Mucus modulating agents, such as mucolytic agent or mucus hydrating agent, that are already in clinical use can be utilized for co-administration with NPs [13]. In the section below we briefly mention these mucus modulating agents that can be co-administered with NPs.

#### 2.3.1 Use of Mucolytic Agents

Mucolytic agents work by depolymerizing (lyse) mucins or other polymeric components of the mucus or sputum, while DNA and actin are the non-mucin targets. Mucolytics can be used as a therapy alone or in combination with other therapeutic agents to improve its delivery through mucosal secretions [13]. In addition to exploring mucolytic agents for their capability to enhance therapeutic delivery across mucosal surfaces [60, 61], they have also gained importance in the framework of pulmonary delivery for treating lung diseases, especially CF and COPD, where abnormally thick and viscous mucus is encountered in the airways [62]. These agents are currently used to lessen the bulk viscoelasticity of CF sputum through cleaving its constituents and improve sputum removal and lung function [63].

It is important to understand the basis of macro-rheology of mucus due to its significance toward the progress and assortment of possible beneficial approaches. For example, CF patients are required to administer mucolytic agents by inhalation for an enzymatic cleavage of mucus components for facilitating proper mucus clearance from lungs through coughing. For instance, in CF sputum, reduced water content and augmented cellular debris is observed which leads to an upsurge in physical entanglements, diminished usual mesh pore spacing, and increase in the viscoelastic property of the sputum [64].

N-acetylcysteine (NAC) and recombinant human DNase are the commonly used mucolytic agents. NAC acts by decreasing viscoelasticity through replacing the disulfide bonds of mucin networks with free sulfhydryl moieties, which further helps in disrupting the structure of the mucosal gel [65]. NAC is known to reduce the viscosity of mucus/sputum both *in-vitro* [66] and *in-vivo* [67]. Inhalation of a lysine salt of NAC, nacystelyn, has also been found to reduce sputum viscoelasticity and solid content in a dose-dependent manner [68]. Mucolytic agents also provide enhanced penetration rates of drug and gene carrier particles into the mucus [65]. Thus, the use of mucolytics as an adjuvant to particle transport is gaining importance. In 2011, Suk et al evaluated the enhancement of particle penetration through CF sputum in the presence of a combination of NAC with dense PEG coatings on particles. They reported enhanced sputum penetration by larger particles by combination strategy which are otherwise trapped in CF sputum [63].

#### 2.3.2 Increased Mucus Hydration

Increasing mucus hydration is mostly applicable in treating lung diseases such as chronic bronchitis and CF which involve mucus dehydration compared to typical state [54, 69, 70] with limited applicability in other conditions. Increased hydration of mucus reduces barrier properties by either imparting the mucus a gel swelling property or by decreasing the viscosity of the sol phase inside the mucosal gel layer [71]. In case of gel swelling, increase in the average pore size of gel matrix occurs. Blackmon and co-workers recently demonstrated real time increase in pore size, and reduction in steric barrier properties due to mucus swelling in model mucus secreting cell cultures such as Calu-3 upon exposure to osmotic agents like hypertonic saline. Steric barrier imposed by the pore size in mucus will affect interaction with NPs. Hypertonic saline initiates cellular fluid secretions thus enhancing mucus hydration and reducing viscosity of the sol phase in the mucus layer. They have used coherence tomography to image and directly monitor mucus hydration [72]. Ibrahim et al also examined hydration effects on the mucus barrier properties, using mannitol as an osmotic agent to augment mobility of nanoparticle gene carriers through the sputum [71]. Further, mannitol as an osmotically active agent can be administered as a dry powder for inhalation [73].

As an alternative strategy, hypotonic aqueous formulations are used as vehicles for nanoparticle administration at the absorptive mucosal surfaces of the vagina and colorectum [13]. Hypotonic solutions are known to dilute the sol phase, and can cause induced uptake of fluids by the epithelial cells, thus creating a tidal flow to direct the nanoparticle formulation through the mucus [13]. In one such study, Ensign et al demonstrated that muco-mobility of mucus penetrating NPs was enhanced in presence of hypotonic aqueous formulations, which was hypothesized to be the result of mucus gel swelling and corresponding increase in pore size in mucus gel [74].

# 2.4 Design of Mucolytic Enzyme Decorated Carrier Systems

Design of mucolytic enzyme decorated carrier systems (MECS) provides another promising approach to formulate carrier systems capable with enhanced bioavailability across the mucus barrier. These systems comprise of micro and nanoparticulate systems as well as self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS) decorated with enzymes like papain (PAP) or bromelain (BRO) which can cleave peptide bonds of mucus glycoproteins in mucin [75]. MECS are capable of crossing the mucus barrier efficiently by cleaving substructures of mucus which are obstructing their path toward the epithelium. These enzymes exert their effects by hydrolyzing peptide bonds of mucus glycoproteins and forming tiny holes or passageways across the mucus. In various research, *in-vitro* and *in-vivo* studies have demonstrated that MECS are efficient with greater mucus penetrating capability over nanocarriers deprived of enzyme decoration [14]. Due to MECS' ability to cleave the mucus network locally, the protective barrier properties of mucus are undisturbed, which makes MECS a feasible strategy for long-term treatments [14]. Passive systems and carrier systems of surface charge modifications are only capable to effectively permeate the mucus up to 200 nm particle size. But, MECS can penetrate the mucus even if the particles are larger in size [14] by enabling MECS to transport between the larger subunits of mucus. Due to the expansion of these mucus meshes, MECS are capable of penetrating the mucus [76]. Enzyme decorated SEDDS can be prepared through incorporation of enzyme into the lipophilic core [77, 78]. Leichner et al developed a papain loaded SEDDS system, reported increased mucus penetration and mucosal residence. Papain aids in enhancing mucus permeation through its mucolytic activity [77].

Polymeric MECS should possess mucus penetrating properties along with a slippery surface and characteristics of enzymatic decoration. Using negatively charged particles exhibit superior transport in mucus compared to positively charged particles due to electrostatic repulsion [79]. By combining a negatively charged polymer, such as PAA with a polyvalent cation like calcium chloride as a cross-linker, MECS with passive permeation characteristics can be formulated. It was also reported that particles with polymers of opposite charges producing a neutral surface net charge had shown better permeation properties relative to either negatively or positively charged NPs enabling it as another capable carrier structure [80].

For the preparation of MECS, the approach of polymer-enzyme complex formation between PAA and PAP was utilized by Dautzenberg et al and covalent attachment of PAP to PAA by Müller et al [75, 81]. Development of novel MECS by combining different enzymes further enhances their mucus penetrating effect in case of additive or synergetic effects. Moreover, MECS could provide an useful drug carrier system in treating mucus related diseases such as CF and COPD [14]. Figure 3 summarizes the available strategies utilized to improve nanoparticulate delivery for drug delivery across the mucus.

## **3** Research Strategies for Mucus Penetration

### 3.1 Diffusion Experiments

Diffusion of polymeric particles through mucosal layer can be quantified by *in-vitro* as well as *in-vivo* methods. A traditional method for the same is the use of diffusion chambers. In this method, rates of permeation of particles through mucus layer placed in the diffusion chamber can be measured. Sinko and co-workers used reconstituted porcine gastric mucin gel to measure the diffusion of polystyrene particles of different sizes across a layer of mucus-mimetic gel layer. They used a Transwell-Snapwell diffusion chamber where mucin gel was placed between the two chambers [84]. Even though diffusion experiment is simple, it is sensitive against parameters such as thickness of mucus sample and unstirred layer outside filters, changes in mucus characteristics and blockage of filter pores by mucus [49].



Fig. 3 Schematic of available strategies for mucosal delivery of nanoparticles. (A). Surface modified nanoparticles either with PEG or pluronic F-127. (B). Mucus hydrating agents as mucus modulators to enable penetration of nanoparticles through mucus layer. (C). Co-administration of nanoparticle and mucolytic agent. (D). Nanoparticles decorated with mucin cleaving enzymes and can cross the mucus barrier through the mucus, Adopted from [82] (B), [83] (D)

There are other studies which have overcome the problems encountered with use of diffusion chambers. These include fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) and multiple particle tracking (MPT). These methods are capable of recording active transit of NPs in the mucus layer using fluorescence microscopy.

In case of FRAP, fluorescently labeled NPs are exposed to a laser beam to produce a moving white spot. By recovering the fluorescence intensity from diffused fluorescently labeled molecules due to the flow of NPs, diffusion coefficient is attained [85]. Shen et al. examined the diffusion of plasmid DNAs in mucus by means of this FRAP method [86]. Nordgård et al also explored the use of FRAP to inspect the impact of guluronate oligomers on NPs mobility in mucus layers, and determined that guluronate oligomers were capable of advancing NPs movement in gastric mucus of native pigs [55]. Even though mobility of labeled molecules can be determined in mucus and biogels by using FRAP method, the drawback with this method is its inability in providing quantified diffusion rates for individual particles and determination of average diffusion rates only. This limits FRAP method's applicability for complex mucus experiments [87].

Recently, Hanes et al established multiple particle tracking (MPT) technique to help with measurement of NPs' mobility in mucus [88]. Diffusion behavior of NPs in the mucus can be calculated by rotating diffusion tubes [89] and mucus slices [90]. Moreover, MPT techniques are capable of recording the trajectory of each individual particle using inverted fluorescence microscope. Also, one can analyze NPs in some complex biological secretions [91]. Other *in-vitro* techniques for

mucus penetration measurements include capillary penetration using magnetic beads; and a magnetic field and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) with either pulsed-field or pulsed-gradient spin-echo [92].

# 3.2 Cell Models

Cell models constitute a monolayer of epithelium or a multilayer of cells with mono or co-cultured cells on a semipermeable membrane. These models can be used to evaluate the epithelial uptake and/or absorption of therapeutics. Based on the required level of epithelial cell integrity and cellular differentiation of the model, selective culturing conditions have to be chosen. Use of co-cultured cell models potentially provides more physiologically relevant and biologically responsive models for performing the studies [92].

# 3.2.1 HT29-MTX Cell Model

HT29 (human colonic cell line) differentiates into mature goblet cells in presence of methotrexate (MTX), capable of secreting mucus. Hence, HT29-MTX cells help in studying the impact of mucus layer on NPs' mobility [93]. However, there are limitations such as the exposure of NPs to only single type of intestinal epithelial cells. Therefore, performing *in-vivo* experiments is the best alternative approach for performing such transport studies [37].

# 3.2.2 Caco-2/HT29-MTX Co-culture Cell Model

The co-culture model consists of simultaneous culturing Caco-2 intestinal epithelial cells, and mucus-producing HT29-MTX (goblet cells) which can provide a better drug absorption model including the mucus barrier [94]. Improved in-*vivo/in-vitro* correlation application can be preserved by co-culturing Caco-2/HT29-MTX at a proportion of 90%/10% or 75%/25% preferably [95].

# 3.2.3 Caco-2/HT29-MTX/Raji B Triple Culture Model

In this model, human Burkitt's lymphoma Raji B cells which represent M cells are co-cultured with Caco-2, and mucus-producing HT29-MTX. This triple co-culture is capable of establishing a model to closely mimic human intestinal epithelium. As M cells play a key role in transporting antigens from the intestinal lumen to immune cells [96] and are located in the epithelium overlapping Peyers' patches, this co-culture forms a significant model to study intestinal translocation. It has been reported that

NPs can enter intestinal epithelia through M cells [37]. This model was established through co-culturing of Caco-2 and HT29 cells into transwell filters followed by add-ing Raji B cells to the basolateral chamber [97].

# 3.3 Animal Models

Animal models are necessitated to better comprehend the fate of these NPs and also to understand a way to translate these results in humans. Hence, most of the recent studies have implemented animal models to inspect the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic behavior of NPs. These models include mainly isolated intestinal experiments, *in-situ* experiments and *in-vivo* experiments.

#### 3.3.1 Isolated Perfused Intestinal Model

In experiments where cell monolayer models were used, there are few experimental limitations, including lack of three-dimensional structure and cells with variable differentiation. Hence, isolated intestinal experiments (including everted intestinal sac and permeability study by Ussing chamber [98]) are adopted to determine mucoadhesive properties of NPs. Nevertheless, this model requires the intestine to be removed, opened, washed and segmented, which may alter intestinal absorption properties, thus failing to forecast or correlated *in-vivo* performance of NPs [99].

#### 3.3.2 In-situ Models

Intestinal loop models help to study systemic absorption of drugs. In this model, a slice of the small intestine is removed from the abdominal cavity, followed by ligating at both ends of that portion to make an isolated "loop" and the test NPs are injected into the loop directly. After certain period, the animals are sacrificed; and additional morphology or quantitative analysis can be conducted by removing the intestinal loop from the body cavity [100]. In 2013, Li et al used this model to investigate the ability of core/shell corona nano-lipoparticles in facilitating the insulin permeation across the ileum epithelia [101]. Also, in 2013 Chen et al have studied the influence of mucus on NPs absorption and the amounts of particles trapped in mucus using this model [102].

#### 3.3.3 In-vivo Models

Even though there are many recent advancements available to utilize *in-vitro* models, *in-vivo* assessment is essential for validating the actual performance of drug delivery systems. For instance, as in case of oral delivery of NPs, it is complex



**Fig. 4** Biophysical approaches used to evaluate the transport of nanoparticles through mucus barrier. (**A**) Schematic diffusion chamber experiment showing nanoparticle (NP) diffusion from the donor compartment, across a mucus layer, and into the acceptor compartment. (**B**) Schematic of fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) experiments to determine the diffusion of fluorescently labelled NPs. (**C**) In vitro, in vivo, and ex vivo mucus models to study drug carrier diffusion using either isolated mucus gels or mucus present on cell cultures, tissues and animal models, Adopted from [106] (B), [107] (C)

to maintain the composition and thickness of the actual mucus and simulate in *in-vitro* models [37]. In 2001, Lamprecht et al studied particles for targeting inflamed colonic mucosa in rats and observed large number of particles trapped in mucus [103]. In another study by Arbos et al, it was found that poly(methylvinylether-co-maleic anhydride) NPs were unable to move toward the enterocytes of small intestinal and colon lining in rats and also observed highest localization of NPs in the mucus layer [104]. However, an inadequacy presented in all *in-vivo* models so far presents an extrapolation to human studies uncertain [105]. Figure 4 summarizes the biophysical approaches that are utilized to evaluate the efficiency of the fabricated nanocarriers in penetrating the mucus.

# 4 Conclusion

Mucosa provides a potential site for delivery of numerous therapeutics in treating a wide range of disorders. The significant role of nanoparticulate systems in current therapies make them promising carriers for mucosal delivery. However, the barrier property of mucus has to be addressed through proper strategies to result in an efficient mucosal drug delivery system to deliver NPs. Even though there are numerous approaches which have been used, there still exists a large gap in understanding

mucus clearance rates. Future studies require well-designed *in-vivo* studies in order to validate the mucus penetrating capability of various nanoparticle strategies rather than relying on only *in-vitro* systems.

# References

- 1. Rosen H, Abribat T. The rise and rise of drug delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2005 May;4(5):381–5.
- Shmulewitz A, Langer R, Patton J. Convergence in biomedical technology. Nat Biotechnol. 2006 Mar;24(3):277.
- Vaidya B, Parvathaneni V, Kulkarni NS, Shukla SK, Damon JK, Sarode A, et al. Cyclodextrin modified erlotinib loaded PLGA nanoparticles for improved therapeutic efficacy against non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Biol Macromol. 2019 Feb;122:338–47.
- Kulkarni NS, Parvathaneni V, Shukla SK, Barasa L, Perron JC, Yoganathan S, et al. Tyrosine kinase inhibitor conjugated quantum dots for non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) treatment. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2019 May 15;133:145–59.
- Rizvi SAA, Saleh AM. Applications of nanoparticle systems in drug delivery technology. Saudi Pharm J SPJ Off Publ Saudi Pharm Soc. 2018 Jan;26(1):64–70.
- Knowles MR, Boucher RC. Mucus clearance as a primary innate defense mechanism for mammalian airways. J Clin Invest. 2002 Mar 1;109(5):571–7.
- Lee BK, Yun YH, Park K. Smart nanoparticles for drug delivery: boundaries and opportunities. Chem Eng Sci. 2015 Mar 24;125:158–64.
- das Neves J, Sarmento B. Technological strategies to overcome the mucus barrier in mucosal drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2018 Jan 15;124:1–2.
- 9. Lai SK, Wang Y-Y, Hanes J. Mucus-penetrating nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to mucosal tissues. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009 Feb 27;61(2):158–71.
- Hearnden V, Sankar V, Hull K, Juras DV, Greenberg M, Kerr AR, et al. New developments and opportunities in oral mucosal drug delivery for local and systemic disease. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2012 Jan 1;64(1):16–28.
- Roy S, Pal K, Anis A, Pramanik K, Prabhakar B. Polymers in mucoadhesive drug-delivery systems: a brief note. Des Monomers Polym. 2009 Jan 1;12(6):483–95.
- 12. Tandel H. A systematic review on mucoadhesive drug delivery system. World J Pharm Res. 2017 Sep;1:337–66.
- Nordgård CT, Draget KI. Co association of mucus modulating agents and nanoparticles for mucosal drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2018 Jan 15;124:175–83.
- 14. Menzel C, Bernkop-Schnürch A. Enzyme decorated drug carriers: targeted swords to cleave and overcome the mucus barrier. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2018 Jan 15;124:164–74.
- Khutoryanskiy VV. Advances in mucoadhesion and mucoadhesive polymers. Macromol Biosci. 2011 Jun 14;11(6):748–64.
- Kharenko EA, Larionova NI, Demina NB. Mucoadhesive drug delivery systems (review). Pharm Chem J. 2009;43:200–8.
- 17. Vinod KR, Rohit Reddy T, Sandhya S, Banji D, Venkatram RB. Critical review on mucoadhesive drug delivery systems. Hygeia J Drugs Med. 2012;4(1):7–28.
- Madan J, Sagar B, Mahesh D. Mucosal drug delivery system. Int J Res Ayurveda Pharm. 2010;1(1):63–70.
- 19. Yun Y, Cho YW, Park K. Nanoparticles for oral delivery: targeted nanoparticles with peptidic ligands for oral protein delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2013 Jun 15;65(6):822–32.
- Mahajan P, Kaur A, Aggarwal G, Sl H. Mucoadhesive drug delivery system: a review. Int J Drug Dev Res. 2013 Mar 1;5:11–20.

- 21. Tiwari D, Goldman D, Sause R, Madan PL. Evaluation of polyoxyethylene homopolymers for buccal bioadhesive drug delivery device formulations. AAPS PharmSci. 1999;1(3):E13.
- 22. Huang Y, Leobandung W, Foss A, Peppas NA. Molecular aspects of muco- and bioadhesion: tethered structures and site-specific surfaces. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc. 2000 Mar 1;65(1–2):63–71.
- 23. Gu JM, Robinson JR, Leung SH. Binding of acrylic polymers to mucin/epithelial surfaces: structure-property relationships. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst. 1988;5(1):21–67.
- Peppas NA, Buri PA. Surface, interfacial and molecular aspects of polymer bioadhesion on soft tissues. J Control Release. 1985 Nov 1;2:257–75.
- Ways TMM, Lau WM, Khutoryanskiy VV. Chitosan and its derivatives for application in mucoadhesive drug delivery systems. Polymers. 2018 Mar;10(3):267.
- Kassem MAA, ElMeshad AN, Fares AR. Lyophilized sustained release Mucoadhesive chitosan sponges for buccal Buspirone hydrochloride delivery: formulation and in vitro evaluation. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2014 Nov 6;16(3):537–47.
- Solomonidou D, Cremer K, Krumme M, Kreuter J. Effect of carbomer concentration and degree of neutralization on the mucoadhesive properties of polymer films. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed. 2001 Feb 1;12:1191–205.
- Birudaraj R, Mahalingam R, Li X, Jasti BR. Advances in buccal drug delivery. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst. 2005;22(3):295–330.
- 29. Lee JW, Park JH, Robinson JR. Bioadhesive-based dosage forms: the next generation. J Pharm Sci. 2000 Jul;89(7):850–66.
- Kumar K, Dhawan N, Sharma H, Vaidya S, Vaidya B. Bioadhesive polymers: novel tool for drug delivery. Artif Cells Nanomedicine Biotechnol. 2014 Aug 1;42(4):274–83.
- 31. Nikalje A, Pratima, Tiwari S, Kamble S, Anna P, Nikalje. Mucoadhesive: as oral controlled gastroretentive drug delivery system. 2012 Sep 1;22:32–59.
- 32. Singh R, Deepak S, Garg R. Review on mucoadhesive drug delivery system with special emphasis on buccal route: an important tool in designing of novel controlled drug delivery system for the effective delivery of pharmaceuticals. J Dev Drugs. 2017 Mar 20;6:1–12.
- Woodley J. Bioadhesion: new possibilities for drug administration? Clin Pharmacokinet. 2001;40(2):77–84.
- 34. Yu T, Choi W-J, Anonuevo A, Chisholm J, Pulicare S, Zhong W, et al. Mucus-penetrating nanosuspensions for enhanced delivery of poorly soluble drugs to mucosal surfaces. Adv Healthc Mater. 2016 Nov;5(21):2745–50.
- 35. Nance EA, Woodworth GF, Sailor KA, Shih T-Y, Xu Q, Swaminathan G, et al. A dense poly(ethylene glycol) coating improves penetration of large polymeric nanoparticles within brain tissue. Sci Transl Med. 2012 Aug 29;4(149):149ra119.
- 36. Aljayyoussi G, Abdulkarim M, Griffiths P, Gumbleton M. Pharmaceutical nanoparticles and the mucin biopolymer barrier. BioImpacts BI. 2012;2(4):173–4.
- 37. Liu M, Zhang J, Shan W, Huang Y. Developments of mucus penetrating nanoparticles. Asian J Pharm Sci. 2015 Jul 1;10(4):275–82.
- Wang Y-Y, Lai SK, Suk JS, Pace A, Cone R, Hanes J. Addressing the PEG mucoadhesivity paradox to engineer nanoparticles that "slip" through the human mucus barrier. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl. 2008;47(50):9726–9.
- Wang X, Fu L, Lin W, Zhang W, Pei Q, Zheng X, et al. Vaginal delivery of mucus-penetrating organic nanoparticles for photothermal therapy against cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in mice. J Mater Chem B. 2019 Jul 25;7(29):4528–37.
- 40. Azarmi S, Roa WH, Löbenberg R. Targeted delivery of nanoparticles for the treatment of lung diseases. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2008 May 22;60(8):863–75.
- Esmaeili F, Ghahremani MH, Esmaeili B, Khoshayand MR, Atyabi F, Dinarvand R. PLGA nanoparticles of different surface properties: preparation and evaluation of their body distribution. Int J Pharm. 2008 Feb 12;349(1–2):249–55.
- Cu Y, Saltzman WM. Controlled surface modification with poly(ethylene)glycol enhances diffusion of PLGA nanoparticles in human cervical mucus. Mol Pharm. 2009;6(1):173–81.
- 43. Liu M, Zhang J, Shan W, Huang Y. Developments of mucus penetrating nanoparticles. Asian J Pharm Sci. 2015 Jul 1;10(4):275–82.
- 44. Tang BC, Dawson M, Lai SK, Wang Y-Y, Suk JS, Yang M, et al. Biodegradable polymer nanoparticles that rapidly penetrate the human mucus barrier. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2009 Nov 17;106(46):19268–73.
- 45. Suk JS, Kim AJ, Trehan K, Schneider CS, Cebotaru L, Woodward OM, et al. Lung gene therapy with highly compacted DNA nanoparticles that overcome the mucus barrier. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc. 2014 Mar 28;178:8–17.
- 46. Boylan NJ, Suk JS, Lai SK, Jelinek R, Boyle MP, Cooper MJ, et al. Highly compacted DNA nanoparticles with low MW PEG coatings: in vitro, ex vivo and in vivo evaluation. J Control Release. 2012 Jan 10;157(1):72–9.
- Kabanov AV, Batrakova EV, Alakhov VY. Pluronic block copolymers as novel polymer therapeutics for drug and gene delivery. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc. 2002 Aug 21;82(2–3):189–212.
- Yang M, Lai SK, Wang Y-Y, Zhong W, Happe C, Zhang M, et al. Biodegradable nanoparticles composed entirely of safe materials that rapidly penetrate human mucus. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl. 2011 Mar 7;50(11):2597–600.
- Saltzman WM, Radomsky ML, Whaley KJ, Cone RA. Antibody diffusion in human cervical mucus. Biophys J. 1994 Feb;66(2 Pt 1):508–15.
- Mall MA. Unplugging mucus in cystic fibrosis and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2016 Apr 1;13(Supplement\_2):177–85.
- 51. Lai SK, Hida K, Man ST, Chen C, Machamer C, Schroer TA, et al. Privileged delivery of polymer nanoparticles to the perinuclear region of live cells via a non-clathrin, non-degradative pathway. Biomaterials. 2007 Jun;28(18):2876–84.
- McGuckin MA, Thornton DJ, Whitsett JA. Chapter 14 Mucins and Mucus. In: Mestecky J, Strober W, Russell MW, Kelsall BL, Cheroutre H, Lambrecht BN, editors. Mucosal Immunology. Fourth ed. Boston: Academic; 2015. p. 231–50.
- Duncan GA, Jung J, Joseph A, Thaxton AL, West NE, Boyle MP, et al. Microstructural alterations of sputum in cystic fibrosis lung disease. JCI Insight. 2016 03;1(18):e88198.
- 54. Hill DB, Vasquez PA, Mellnik J, McKinley SA, Vose A, Mu F, et al. A biophysical basis for mucus solids concentration as a candidate biomarker for airways disease. PLoS One. 2014 Feb 18;9(2):e87681.
- Nordgård CT, Nonstad U, Olderøy MØ, Espevik T, Draget KI. Alterations in mucus barrier function and matrix structure induced by guluronate oligomers. Biomacromolecules. 2014 Jun 9;15(6):2294–300.
- 56. Pritchard MF, Powell LC, Menzies GE, Lewis PD, Hawkins K, Wright C, et al. A new class of safe oligosaccharide polymer therapy to modify the mucus barrier of chronic respiratory disease. Mol Pharm. 2016 Mar 7;13(3):863–72.
- Agrahari V, Hiremath P. Challenges associated and approaches for successful translation of nanomedicines into commercial products. Nanomed. 2017 Mar 24;12(8):819–23.
- Bukstein DA, Luskin AT. Pharmacoeconomics of biologic therapy. Immunol Allergy Clin N Am. 2017;37(2):413–30.
- 59. Chen EY, Daley D, Wang Y-C, Garnica M, Chen C-S, Chin W-C. Functionalized carboxyl nanoparticles enhance mucus dispersion and hydration. Sci Rep. 2012;2:211.
- 60. Takatsuka S, Morita T, Horikiri Y, Yamahara H, Saji H. Absorption enhancement of poorly absorbed hydrophilic compounds from various mucosal sites by combination of mucolytic agent and non-ionic surfactant. Int J Pharm. 2007 Jul 1;338:87–93.
- Takatsuka S, Morita T, Horikiri Y, Yamahara H, Saji H. Influence of various combinations of mucolytic agent and non-ionic surfactant on intestinal absorption of poorly absorbed hydrophilic compounds. Int J Pharm. 2008 Feb 12;349(1–2):94–100.
- Broughton-Head VJ, Smith JR, Shur J, Shute JK. Actin limits enhancement of nanoparticle diffusion through cystic fibrosis sputum by mucolytics. Pulm Pharmacol Ther. 2007;20(6):708–17.

- Suk JS, Lai SK, Boylan NJ, Dawson MR, Boyle MP, Hanes J. Rapid transport of muco-inert nanoparticles in cystic fibrosis sputum treated with N-acetyl cysteine. Nanomed. 2011 Feb 1;6(2):365–75.
- Rubin BK. Mucus structure and properties in cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2007 Mar 1;8(1):4–7.
- Lai SK, Wang Y-Y, Wirtz D, Hanes J. Micro- and macrorheology of mucus. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009 Feb 27;61(2):86–100.
- 66. Sheffner AL, Medler EM, Jacobs LW, Sarett HP. The in vitro reduction in viscosity of human tracheobronchial secretions by acetylcysteine. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1964 Nov;90:721–9.
- 67. Gallon AM. Evaluation of nebulised acetylcysteine and normal saline in the treatment of sputum retention following thoracotomy. Thorax. 1996 Apr;51(4):429–32.
- 68. App EM, Baran D, Dab I, Malfroot A, Coffiner M, Vanderbist F, et al. Dose-finding and 24-h monitoring for efficacy and safety of aerosolized nacystelyn in cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2002 Feb 1;19(2):294–302.
- 69. Anderson WH, Coakley RD, Button B, Henderson AG, Zeman KL, Alexis NE, et al. The relationship of mucus concentration (hydration) to mucus osmotic pressure and transport in chronic bronchitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015 Apr 24;192(2):182–90.
- Henderson AG, Ehre C, Button B, Abdullah LH, Cai L-H, Leigh MW, et al. Cystic fibrosis airway secretions exhibit mucin hyperconcentration and increased osmotic pressure. J Clin Invest. 2014 Jul 1;124(7):3047–60.
- Ibrahim BM, Park S, Han B, Yeo Y. A strategy to deliver genes to cystic fibrosis lungs: a battle with environment. J Control Release. 2011 Oct 30;155(2):289–95.
- Blackmon RL, Kreda SM, Sears PR, Chapman BS, Hill DB, Tracy JB, et al. Direct monitoring of pulmonary disease treatment biomarkers using plasmonic gold nanorods with diffusion-sensitive OCT. Nanoscale. 2017 Apr 13;9(15):4907–17.
- 73. Flume PA, Aitken ML, Bilton D, Agent P, Charlton B, Forster E, et al. Optimising inhaled mannitol for cystic fibrosis in an adult population. Breathe. 2015 Mar;11(1):39–48.
- 74. Ensign LM, Hoen TE, Maisel K, Cone RA, Hanes JS. Enhanced vaginal drug delivery through the use of hypotonic formulations that induce fluid uptake. Biomaterials. 2013 Sep;34(28):6922–9.
- Mueller C, Leithner K, Hauptstein S, Hintzen F, Salvenmoser W, Bernkop-Schnürch A. Preparation and characterization of mucus-penetrating papain/poly(acrylic acid) nanoparticles for oral drug delivery applications. J Nanopart Res. 2012 Dec;1:15.
- Mahmood A, Laffleur F, Leonaviciute G, Bernkop-Schnürch A. Protease-functionalized mucus penetrating microparticles: in-vivo evidence for their potential. Int J Pharm. 2017 Oct 30;532(1):177–84.
- Leichner C, Menzel C, Laffleur F, Bernkop-Schnürch A. Development and in vitro characterization of a papain loaded mucolytic self-emulsifying drug delivery system (SEDDS). Int J Pharm. 2017 Sep 15;530(1):346–53.
- Efiana NA, Phan TNQ, Wicaksono AJ. Bernkop- Schnürch A. Mucus permeating selfemulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS): About the impact of mucolytic enzymes. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2018 Jan 1;161:228–35.
- Crater JS, Carrier RL. Barrier properties of gastrointestinal mucus to nanoparticle transport. Macromol Biosci. 2010 Dec 8;10(12):1473–83.
- Laffleur F, Hintzen F, Shahnaz G, Rahmat D, Leithner K, Bernkop-Schnürch A. Development and in vitro evaluation of slippery nanoparticles for enhanced diffusion through native mucus. Nanomed. 2014 Mar;9(3):387–96.
- Dautzenberg H, Hartmann J, Grunewald S, Brand F. Stoichiometry and structure of polyelectrolyte complex particles in diluted solutions. Berichte Bunsenges F
  ür Phys Chem. 1996;100(6):1024–32.
- Mottais A, Le Gall T, Sibiril Y, Ravel J, Laurent V, d'Arbonneau F, et al. Enhancement of lung gene delivery after aerosol: a new strategy using non-viral complexes with antibacterial properties. Biosci Rep. 2017 Dec 22;37(6):BSR20160618.

- 83. Zhou H, Fan Z, Deng J, Lemons PK, Arhontoulis DC, Bowne WB, et al. Hyaluronidase embedded in Nanocarrier PEG Shell for enhanced tumor penetration and highly efficient antitumor efficacy. Nano Lett. 2016 May 11;16(5):3268–77.
- Norris DA, Sinko PJ. Effect of size, surface charge, and hydrophobicity on the translocation of polystyrene microspheres through gastrointestinal mucin. J Appl Polym Sci. 1997;63(11):1481–92.
- Groo A-C, Lagarce F. Mucus models to evaluate nanomedicines for diffusion. Drug Discov Today. 2014 Aug;19(8):1097–108.
- 86. Shen H, Hu Y, Saltzman WM. DNA diffusion in mucus: effect of size, topology of DNAs, and transfection reagents. Biophys J. 2006 Jul 15;91(2):639–44.
- 87. Suh J, Dawson M, Hanes J. Real-time multiple-particle tracking: applications to drug and gene delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2005 Jan 2;57(1):63–78.
- Lai S, Hanes J. Real-time multiple particle tracking of gene nanocarriers in complex biological environments. Methods Mol Biol Clifton NJ. 2008 Feb 1;434:81–97.
- Dünnhaupt S, Barthelmes J, Hombach J, Sakloetsakun D, Arkhipova V, Bernkop-Schnürch A. Distribution of thiolated mucoadhesive nanoparticles on intestinal mucosa. Int J Pharm. 2011 Apr 15;408(1–2):191–9.
- Gradauer K, Barthelmes J, Vonach C, Almer G, Mangge H, Teubl B, et al. Liposomes coated with thiolated chitosan enhance oral peptide delivery to rats. J Control Release. 2013 Dec 28;172(3):872–8.
- 91. Suk JS, Suh J, Lai SK, Hanes J. Quantifying the intracellular transport of viral and nonviral gene vectors in primary neurons. Exp Biol Med Maywood NJ. 2007 Mar;232(3):461–9.
- Boegh M, Foged C, Müllertz A, Nielsen H. Mucosal drug delivery: barriers, in vitro models and formulation strategies. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol. 2013 Dec 31;23:383–91.
- Behrens I, Stenberg P, Artursson P, Kissel T. Transport of lipophilic drug molecules in a new mucus-secreting cell culture model based on HT29-MTX cells. Pharm Res. 2001 Aug;18(8):1138–45.
- Mahler GJ, Shuler ML, Glahn RP. Characterization of Caco-2 and HT29-MTX cocultures in an in vitro digestion/cell culture model used to predict iron bioavailability. J Nutr Biochem. 2009 Jul;20(7):494–502.
- Walter E, Janich S, Roessler BJ, Hilfinger JM, Amidon GL. HT29-MTX/Caco-2 cocultures as an in vitro model for the intestinal epithelium: in vitro-in vivo correlation with permeability data from rats and humans. J Pharm Sci. 1996 Oct;85(10):1070–6.
- Gebert A, Rothkötter HJ, Pabst R. M cells in Peyer's patches of the intestine. Int Rev Cytol. 1996;167:91–159.
- 97. Schimpel C, Teubl B, Absenger M, Meindl C, Fröhlich E, Leitinger G, et al. Development of an advanced intestinal in vitro triple culture permeability model to study transport of nanoparticles. Mol Pharm. 2014 Mar 3;11(3):808–18.
- 98. Fan T, Chen C, Guo H, Xu J, Zhang J, Zhu X, et al. Design and evaluation of solid lipid nanoparticles modified with peptide ligand for oral delivery of protein drugs. Eur J Pharm Biopharm Off J Arbeitsgemeinschaft Pharm Verfahrenstechnik EV. 2014 Oct;88(2):518–28.
- Gamboa JM, Leong KW. In vitro and in vivo models for the study of oral delivery of nanoparticles. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2013 Jun 15;65(6):800–10.
- 100. Jin Y, Song Y, Zhu X, Zhou D, Chen C, Zhang Z, et al. Goblet cell-targeting nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery and the influence of mucus on insulin transport. Biomaterials. 2012 Feb;33(5):1573–82.
- 101. Li X, Guo S, Zhu C, Zhu Q, Gan Y, Rantanen J, et al. Intestinal mucosa permeability following oral insulin delivery using core shell corona nanolipoparticles. Biomaterials. 2013 Dec;34(37):9678–87.
- 102. Chen D, Xia D, Li X, Zhu Q, Yu H, Zhu C, et al. Comparative study of Pluronic(®) F127modified liposomes and chitosan-modified liposomes for mucus penetration and oral absorption of cyclosporine a in rats. Int J Pharm. 2013 Jun 5;449(1–2):1–9.
- Lamprecht A, Schäfer U, Lehr CM. Size-dependent bioadhesion of micro- and nanoparticulate carriers to the inflamed colonic mucosa. Pharm Res. 2001 Jun;18(6):788–93.

- 104. Arbós P, Campanero MA, Arangoa MA, Renedo MJ, Irache JM. Influence of the surface characteristics of PVM/MA nanoparticles on their bioadhesive properties. J Control Release. 2003 Apr 14;89(1):19–30.
- 105. Gamboa JM, Leong KW. In vitro and in vivo models for the study of oral delivery of nanoparticles. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2013 Jun 15;65(6):800–10.
- 106. Sustr D, Hlaváček A, Duschl C, Volodkin D. Multi-fractional analysis of molecular diffusion in polymer multilayers by FRAP: a new simulation-based approach. J Phys Chem B. 2018 Jan 25;122(3):1323–33.
- Lock JY, Carlson TL, Carrier RL. Mucus models to evaluate the diffusion of drugs and particles. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2018 Jan 15;124:34–49.

# **Buccal Delivery of Nanoparticles**



Andrea C. Ortiz and Javier O. Morales

**Abstract** The buccal route offers an alternative for drug administration due to its advantages, including the avoidance of the gastrointestinal tract, the hepatic firstpass, enzymatic degradation and chemical instability of certain molecules that would pose a challenge to formulate orally. Moreover, the oral cavity has a lower enzyme content than the rest of the gastrointestinal tract, predictable transit times, easy administration, and provides the opportunity to readily halt drug administration. Additionally, the oral cavity is an organized system with stratified epithelium that allows manufacturing of pharmaceutical forms for drug delivery.

Due to the possibilities offered by this route, recent research efforts have been conducted towards the use of nanotechnology to enable buccal drug delivery. In this chapter, we discuss the anatomy of the oral cavity, relevant characteristics of the epithelium to drug delivery and delivery system permeation, types of nanocarriers that have been reported to-date and toxicity studies addressing nanotechnology.

**Keywords** Buccal absorption  $\cdot$  Nanocarriers  $\cdot$  Nanoparticle safey  $\cdot$  Ex vivo permeation  $\cdot$  Mucoadhesion  $\cdot$  Buccal drug delivery

Advanced Center for Chronic Diseases (ACCDiS), Santiago, Chile

J. O. Morales (🖂)

Advanced Center for Chronic Diseases (ACCDiS), Santiago, Chile

A. C. Ortiz

Department of Pharmaceutical Science and Technology, School of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Chile, Santiago, Chile

Department of Pharmaceutical Science and Technology, School of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Chile, Santiago, Chile

Pharmaceutical and Biomaterial Research Group, Department of Health Sciences, Luleå University of Technology, Luleå, Sweden e-mail: jomorales@ciq.uchile.cl

<sup>©</sup> American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020 P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), *Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles*, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_5

# 1 Introduction

Different routes of administration have emerged to overcome difficulties of the oral or the intravenous route. However, there are many molecules (mainly class II and IV of the Biopharmaceutical Classification Systems and biologics alike) that pose challenges to formulate and thus to administer orally [1–3]. These molecules frequently exhibit very low oral bioavailability or, conversely, they have to be administered intravenously. Injections, however, are invasive and poorly accepted by patients [4]. For such reasons, alternative routes of administration are largely studied, and one of them is the buccal route. Buccal drug administration has been extensively studied due to patient comfort, bypassing the gastrointestinal tract and thus the hepatic first-pass effect [5, 6].

The mouth is a well-organized system, with a variety of functions, which closely work together to prevent absorption of foreign substances, maintain the oral micro ambience and support the digestion process [7]. The buccal epithelium is located in the inner mucosal side of cheeks, and together with the sublingual epithelium, it is non-keratinized as opposed to other regions of the oral cavity [8]. The buccal route has advantages such as the avoidance of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and thus avoidance of low pH exposure, a relatively low enzyme content compared with the intestine, predictable transit (contact) times, an excellent vascular and lymphatic supply, ease of administration, and long cellular turn over (5–6 days) which may facilitate long term delivery in retentive dosage forms [9].

The use of the buccal route is geared by the avoidance of the hepatic first-pass effect, enzymatic degradation and chemical instability of certain molecules that would pose a challenge to formulate orally [10]. In addition, this route of administration is comfortable and accepted by patients, especially those who have difficulty swallowing [11]. For this route of administration, a number of pharmaceutical forms are available, including tablets for sublingual administration, chewable tablets or mouth swabs. These dosage forms, however, have limitations due to the environmental factors of the oral cavity, enzymes or the effect of saliva, and thus limited buccal bioavailability can be obtained from these forms [12]. Therefore, challenging molecules (BCS class II, IV, or biologics) may need advanced drug delivery systems that favor residence time and permeation through the buccal mucosa.

For this reason, nanoparticles have been a strategy for the administration of drugs, since they can be designed for controlled release, protection of the active components from enzymatic agents, and localized retention [13]. In addition to these advantages, manufacturing methods can be scalable [14–16] and applicable to different medications and disease conditions [17]. There are different types of nanoparticles including organic [18–20] and inorganic [21–23], which have been studied for different routes of administration. Specifically, polymeric nanocarriers have been the most studied for evaluating the buccal route of administration [8, 24–27].

In this chapter, we will discuss the anatomy of the oral cavity, important properties of the buccal mucosa, methods by which drug delivery has been enabled by means of nanotechnology, and the potential toxicity of these systems.

## 2 Buccal Epithelium Anatomy and Physiology

The oral cavity is easily accessible and is not invasive, making it an excellent candidate for alternate route of administration. Moreover, different tissues in the oral cavity can promote high systemic absorption. In addition, the administration of drugs by this route avoids the hepatic first-pass effect and degradation promoted by the different pH and enzymatic environment in the rest of the GI tract [28]. Moreover, blood irrigation, epithelium thickness, and a non-keratinized epithelium are factors that favor the buccal route of administration [4]. All these factors can affect drug permeation through the oral mucosa [29].

The various tissues in the oral cavity include the lips, cheeks, hard and soft palate, tongue and the floor of the mouth [29]. Moreover, three types of oral mucosa have been identified, with a similar distribution in adults and children [4]: (i) lining mucosa (60%), (ii) masticatory mucosa (25%), and (iii) specialized mucosa (15%). The lining mucosa comprises the non-keratinized sublingual and buccal epithelium. The masticatory mucosa, exhibiting both keratinized and non-keratinized regions, is found in the dorsal surface of the tongue [30].

The buccal mucosa is a stratified squamous epithelium followed by a basal membrane, lamina propria, and a submucosa as its innermost layer (Fig. 1) [4, 31]. It is generally understood that the permeation barrier resides on the top quarter or third of the stratified epithelium [32]. The oral mucosa protects the underlying tissues from mechanical damage and from entry of toxic materials and microorganisms [33].

From a drug delivery standpoint, the buccal mucosa offers advantages over other epithelia in the oral cavity including a larger surface area  $(50.2 \pm 2.9 \text{ cm}^2)$  [34] and an intermediate permeability compared with the low permeability of gingival and palatal epithelia [35]. Furthermore, the buccal epithelium is highly vascularized and any drug diffusing across the buccal mucosa can directly access systemic circulation via capillaries and venous drainage, bypassing the hepatic first-pass metabolism [36].

A continuous desquamation process occurs in this epithelium, resulting in a long cellular turnover, that is similar to the rest of squamous epithelia of the body [37]. In addition, due to homeostasis, the buccal epithelium can quickly heal after damage [38]. It is due to this constant differentiation and stratification, that the epithelium is highly permeable but less than the intestinal epithelium [38]. On the other hand, the sublingual mucosa has a more limited surface area, a more continuous liquid flow, and it is thinner in comparison to the buccal mucosa, which would favor



Fig. 1 Diagram of a cross-section of the buccal mucosa. The keratinized layer is only present in most rodent models while humans have a non-keratinized buccal mucosa. Reprinted from Morales and McConville [5]

rapid and better action [39]. Keratinized areas of the oral cavity (gums and palate) have a larger content of cholesterol and ceramides (much like the skin), whereas non-keratinized domains such as the buccal and sublingual mucosa have a greater presence of phospholipids, esters of glycosylic ceramides and cholesterol. This accounts for the main differences in permeability between these tissues in the oral cavity [37].

In relation to the physiologic changes generated from childhood to adulthood, there is a decrease in the thickness of the buccal epithelium as we get older [40]. In a human study, it was observed that the epithelial cells become flatter with age, which suggests that the area and the perimeter of the epithelium becomes greater. However, despite the difference in oral development, these do not significantly affect the buccal epithelial tissue [41]. Furthermore, studies in animals have shown that during aging there is a decrease in cell density in the buccal cavity [42] and a decrease on the mitotic cell activity [27]. In this regard, it has been observed that freshly excised animal mucus membranes are widely used due to the similarity with human *in vivo* absorption (Fig. 1). Although rodents are the first line of animals used for buccal delivery studies, they are not good representatives due to their keratinized buccal epithelium. Within rodents, rabbits are better suited for buccal studies due to

their para–keratinized buccal membrane [43]. In general, larger animals exhibit a non-keratinized stratified buccal mucosa, which is similar to the human anatomy and differs mainly in the thickness and permeation properties of the tissue. However, monkeys and dogs, due to ethical and economic aspects, are not commonly used [44]. It has been widely demonstrated in literature that the oral mucosa of the pig seems to be the most suitable animal model, due to its availability, thickness, and permeation properties of the buccal mucosa [45–49].

For all these reasons, the oral mucosal route is a strategy that can be exploited for the administration of different drugs, and with a particular focus on challenging drugs (BCS class II, IV and biologics). A leading strategy in recent years has been the use of nanocarriers to enable buccal drug delivery systems.

# 3 Nanoparticles as Drug Delivery Systems for the Buccal Route

Nanotechnology has contributed with different delivery systems and drug release strategies to yield absorption through the buccal route. For the limitations of oral administration and the advantages of buccal delivery, the molecules of interest to incorporate in nanocarriers are those that have a marked GI metabolism and are strongly affected by the hepatic first-pass effect. Moreover, drugs that have low solubility and permeability could also be a good fit for buccal absorption. Furthermore, the buccal route of administration is better accepted and fulfilled by patients in comparison to an invasive route of administration, such as the intravenous [50].

Several research groups have studied the release of various molecules in different nanocarrier systems; however, most researched delivery systems are comprised of polymeric or lipidic nanoparticles. Within polymeric delivery systems, Mouftah et al. studied the release of heparin encapsulated in polymethacrylate nanoparticles for buccal administration. Heparin is a relevant molecule due to its macromolecular structure, and thus of sensitive chemical and physical nature. In vitro drug release studies revealed a very slow release reaching a 6% release plateau, which can be modified according to the composition of the polymeric matrix. The slow release was associated with strong electrostatic interactions between the negatively charged heparin and the polycationic polymers [51]. This was also demonstrated by Choi et al. where the release of human growth hormone from polymeric nanoparticles with a chitosan coating was evaluated. They determined that drug release decreased when chitosan was used in the formulation, due to the electrostatic interactions between the hormone and chitosan [24]. Another study evaluated the release of nystatin incorporated in alginate nanospheres coated with chitosan for buccal delivery. Drug release studies showed a burst release followed by a slow and sustained release. This effect was also attributed to an electrostatic interaction between the drug and the nanoparticle coating. In addition, the authors suggested

that the release processes involved solvent penetration into the matrix, gelation of the polymer, dissolution of the drug and diffusion of drug through the resultant polymer layer [52].

El-Nahas et al., evaluated in a segment of chicken pouch mucosal membrane as model mucosa, the behavior of polymethacrylate-derivative polymeric nanoparticles. In addition, the authors studied silymarin, a complex mixture of four flavonolignan obtained from Silybum marianum and a poorly water soluble drug. The oral mucosa presents a rich blood supply and allows direct systemic access through the internal jugular vein; moreover, absorption through this epithelium avoids the hepatic first pass metabolism of silymarin and improves its systemic bioavailability. The authors studied the release through the method of dialysis bags, from polymeric nanoparticle compared to a solution. It was observed that the permeability of silvmarin increased 30 times with respect to a drug solution. Moreover, an increase in permeation flux and permeation coefficient was observed only for the nanoparticle formulation. It was also described that the smaller size of nanoparticles favored faster drug release due to their greater surface area and that all the nanoparticle systems had a sustained release in relation to silymarin solution [53]. Among lipid nanoparticles, Hazzah et al. studied the targeting of curcumin to oral mucosa from solid lipid nanoparticles. The investigation evaluated how the type of fat and stabilizer in lipid nanoparticles affected curcumin release. It was determined that curcumin dispersion in lipid nanoparticles significantly reduced its release in comparison to the curcumin suspension. This could be attributed to the lipid phase encapsulating the drug that lowered its release; furthermore, the type of stabilizer can generate more rigid nanoparticle structures and limit drug release [54]. This investigation is relevant as curcumin is a highly lipophilic molecule (a BCS class II drug model) and its oral administration has been highly challenging, with no commercial products to date [55]. Thus, curcumin can be representative of such molecules for potential buccal delivery while being a potential product on its own.

In the field of nanoparticle development as buccal drug delivery systems, a thorough characterization of the release mechanisms is required as it can determine the success of the system. There are different types of processes controlling drug release from buccal formulations. These mechanisms include drug diffusion, dissolution, swelling or erosion of the matrix, and osmotic effects [56, 57]. These processes can occur together, but the slower process is what governs release. Consideration should be given to the burst release of the drug from nanocarriers, because if the molecule associates to the instrument membrane to a large extent, it will diffuse and saturate the surface, and then when exposed in the medium, an abrupt release will be observed and a high initial concentration can be found [58]. This ultimately leads to the drug reaching the different areas of GI tract.

Once the release profile of the nanocarriers are known, absorption enhancers can contribute to improving drug permeation [59]. Bile salts, cyclodextrins and chitosan have been used in previous investigations as buccal permeation enhancers [60]. Kontogiannidou *et al.* evaluated different absorption enhancers, N-trimethyl chitosan (positively charged), sulfobutyl ether-b-cyclodextrin (negatively charged) and hydroxypropyl-b-cyclodextrin (neutral). Porcine buccal mucosa was used due to its

non-keratinized and highly irrigated epithelium by a dense network of capillary vessels, and as previously indicated, its morphology and permeability is comparable with that of the human buccal epithelium. The acceptor compartment was filled with phosphate buffered saline pH 7.4 and the donor compartment with 5 mg/mL of ropinirole hydrochloride plain solution in presence of different concentration of absorption enhancers. It was found N-trimethyl chitosan to be the best enhancer in promoting drug absorption. This was attributed to the positive charge of N-trimethyl chitosan, which would interact better with the negative charge of the mucin and thus allowing penetration. N-trimethyl chitosan also allows for interaction with lipids and increases drug uptake through the buccal epithelium [58].

All the studies listed above follow drug absorption by quantifying drug in the epithelium or permeated through in permeation experiments. However, it has been described that nanoparticles can remain intact through the buccal epithelium. For example, studies of inorganic nanoparticles, including silver nanoparticles (19 nm of diameter) [61] and titanium dioxide (30–150 nm) [62] indicate a relationship between permeability of nanoparticles through the buccal mucosa and their physical and chemical properties. In addition, polymeric nanoparticles have been found to show a permeation behavior governed by a combination of particle diameter and their agglomeration properties [63, 64]. It has also been described that anionic and cationic polymeric nanoparticles have different permeation mechanisms. Cationic nanoparticles are more efficient in permeating isolated porcine oral tissue in Franz cell diffusion experiments. Anionic nanoparticles of size 200 nm were found to agglomerate and were not effective in permeating; however, the smallest anionic nanoparticles (20 nm) were able to permeate by the transcellular route. On the other hand, although the 200 nm nanoparticles had a tendency to agglomerate, they had the ability to penetrate by endocytic mechanisms. Robbleg et al. describe that the morphology of buccal superficial cells determines the size dependent uptake of nanoparticles in the oral cavity [63]. Fig. 2 shows the furrows between microplicae with diameters in the range of 210-410 nm. Therefore, aggregates of nanoparticles larger than this size make it difficult to permeate the buccal mucosa.

The administration of a nanoparticle suspension is complex due to the clearance function of saliva and the presence of food in the oral cavity. Despite the stabilization provided by nanoparticles, their potential has been investigated in secondary nanocarrier vehicles to enhance their residence time in the buccal epithelium [26, 65, 66].

#### 4 Mucoadhesion

Since the oral cavity is protected by the buccal mucosa, it is possible to design strategies for the interaction between the pharmaceutical dosage form and the mucus. The mucoadhesive principle is based on the composition of mucus, which is viscous in nature [67]. It is composed mainly of water with high concentrations of mucins, inorganic salts, proteins and lipids [68]. For the purpose of mucoadhesion, mucins



Fig. 2 The morphology of buccal superficial cells determines the size-dependent uptake of nanoparticles in the oral cavity. Reprinted from Roblegg *et al.* [63]

are responsible for the interpenetration with the other molecules. Mucins are glycoproteins with various structures that are specific to each region of the body [69]. These have a protein core and carbohydrate side chains, which are responsible for the specific non-covalent bond that can be produced when contacted with the mucoadhesive vehicle [69]. The role of mucins in the mucus is constituting a highly entangled system exhibiting physical junctions, disulphide bonding, and stabilized by inter hydrogen bonding or other non-covalent bond [68]. Weak interactions such as hydrogen bonds and Van der Waals forces are believed to play a key role in the formation of the mucoadhesive bond as well. As for covalent bonds, these can occur between the functional groups of mucin and mucoadhesive material. Polymers that form weak interactions are described as first generation mucoadhesives and second generation are those that rely on covalent bonds to establish a strong mucoadhesive bond [70]. The main effect of mucoadhesion is to increase the retention time of the dosage form, in order to favor the contact and subsequent permeability of the drug towards the mucus membranes. In addition, an intimate contact occurs, by which the active molecule is protected from the oral environment. Mucoadhesive polymers represent an important example of molecules that can significantly improve characteristics as buccal delivery systems. Some examples of first generation mucoadhesives are cellulose derivates (hydroxypropylmethyl cellulose, hydroxyethyl cellulose, hydroxypropyl cellulose, among others), sodium alginate, polyvinyl alcohol, xanthan gum, chitosan, polycaprolactone and acrylic acid copolymers. Chitosan, and other polycations, due to its positive surface charge has been described as an excellent carrier for drug delivery. This is because it acts as a vehicle, permeation enhancer and mucoadhesive (Fig. 3) [71, 72].



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of chitosan loaded nanoparticles structure and interaction with the mucus layer. Reprinted of Mohammed *et al.* [56]

Recently, mucoadhesives of second generation have been described in literature due to their mechanism of action [73, 74]. The mucoadhesive polymers in this category correspond to thiolated polymers, lectins and by harnessing the phenomenon of bacterial adhesion (the capacity of bacteria to adhere is due to the presence of fimbriae) adapted to buccal delivery systems.

The use of nanoparticles or secondary vehicles that are composed of mucoadhesives will then favor drug delivery. As mentioned as will be indicated later, using nanoparticles composed of chitosan can increase retention in the mucosa. A study carried out by Tejada et al., showed that the presence of functional groups loaded in the polymer chains increases the interaction with mucin. Therefore, the formation of strong hydrogen bonds and ionic interactions between the functional groups of the polymer and the mucosa has a clear effect on the strength of the mucoadhesive layer compared to the polymer with the lowest charge [75]. Reda et al. evaluated polymeric nanofibers loaded with ketoprofen and attributed that the mucoadhesive property of the nanofibers tested could be due to the polyanionic nature of both polymers used. Although there are anionic groups in the structure which could be repelled by the negative charges of mucin, these can form hydrogen bonds and increase residence time. In addition, it was argued that the large surface area of nanofibers can interact with the biosurface, resulting in interaction with the mucosa after the absorption of fluids due to the presence of numerous nano-size interfibrillary pores that cause mucoadhesion [76].

In the case of lipid nanoparticles, a study showed that Gelucire<sup>®</sup> 50/13 nanoparticles have a lower mucoadhesion compared to the same formulation with poloxamer 407 (synthetic block copolymer of ethylene oxide and propylene oxide) in their composition. This result is attributed to the fact that poloxamer is more hydrophilic and, therefore, has greater capacity to generate hydrogen bonds with mucosal components [54]. These results are consistent with the mucoadhesive theory where the material is key in increasing the interaction of the delivery system with the mucosal components, and thus the retention time [77].

#### 5 Secondary Vehicles for Nanocarrier Buccal Administration

The secondary vehicle is defined by the nature of the nanoparticle and by the effect that it is desired to obtain. Thus, various types of secondary vehicles can be found in the literature, including buccal films [9], gels [78], and buccal tablets [79]. For example, buccal films are specifically preferred in the case of local delivery for oral diseases as they offer the advantage of formation of a thin layer on the mouth lesion, thus protecting the wound surface and reducing the pain [80, 81]. In 2017, a review was conducted on different methods for film manufacture for buccal administration. This work emphasized the need for biologicals to be delivered by the buccal route, which is an approach to the requirements of the area [10]. The methodology of ink injection loaded with drug has been described to print nanocarriers, to be carried on films. This research studied the stability of the protein used after the injection process. The authors conclude that it is possible to achieve high printing efficiencies and manage the structural viability of the printed protein [82]. Moreover, recent work has highlighted the potential of inkjet printing of nanocarriers as a means of incorporating nanocarriers on films for their buccal administration [83].

Recently, Kraisit et al. evaluated the swelling and mucoadhesion of a polymeric film with chitosan nanoparticles loaded with propranolol hydrochloride [84]. Firstly, the swelling property were relevant because it determines polymer chain relaxation and promotes penetration of the nanoparticles into the buccal mucosa. The swelling index increased in the presence of nanoparticles in the film at early time, but then reached an equilibrium at later times. The authors attributed this effect to different types of interactions that occur with the materials used [85]. Porcine mucosa was used for mucoadhesion studies and it was found that films containing nanoparticles presented greater mucoadhesive properties in terms of work of adhesion and maximum adhesive force [84]. Moreover, Nair et al. evaluated the permeability of acyclovir-loaded nanoparticles in a polymeric film for buccal delivery in a rabbit buccal mucosa ex vivo model. The permeation studies were conducted in Franz diffusion cells and it was observed that drug permeation was sustained in films with respect to drug alone. Furthermore, it was observed that the greater amount of drug in the nanoparticles, the permeated amount also increased. Additionally, it was also suggested that the incorporation of either free drug or nanoparticles had little or no effect in the mucoadhesive strength of the film. The release of nanoparticles from formulations is governed by the separation of nanoparticles from the polymer matrix and their diffusion from the matrix. Furthermore, kinetic studies suggested that the acyclovir release from nanoparticles followed first order kinetics in low concentration (0.5 mg/cm<sup>2</sup>) and a Higuchi model at high drug concentration (1 mg/cm<sup>2</sup>) [86]. In another investigation, Barzoki et al. studied the pattern of insulin release from nanoparticles after incorporating them into a film. They made chitosan/gelatin films and concluded that the physical and chemical properties of insulin are influenced by the film polymer, the nanoparticle and the drug [87]. In another study, Morales *et al.* evaluated the incorporation of insulin-coated nanoparticles in polymeric films and studied insulin permeation in a human buccal epithelium model. Additionally, similar to other studies, the kinetics of insulin permeation from films was determined by the film (secondary vehicle) composition and the enhanced permeation was attributed to a great concentration gradient built by the delivery system [9].

Another type of secondary vehicle for nanoparticles are gels, which are believed to function by polymer interaction with mucin, resulting in the adhesion of the formulation. However, this pharmaceutical form has the disadvantage that it can be affected by the movement in the oral cavity and saliva, which could risk a more unspecific contact with the appropriate area in the buccal region and a more heterogeneous dose release control [68, 88]. Margues et al. developed and characterized lipid nanoparticles in a carbopol hydrogel and determined that the incorporation of nanoparticles to the mucoadhesive hydrogels has desirable rheological properties (texture and mucoadhesion) that can benefit therapeutic efficacy, since it increases the retention time and ease of application. Carbopol can promote longer residence times in the mucosa, favoring sustained release from the nanoparticles [17]. Raafat et al. evaluated the mucoadhesive properties considering the effect of saliva on nanocomposites and observed that the presence of Ag nanoparticles slows the release of propranolol from the nanocomposite formulation. Therefore, the nanoparticles in the secondary vehicle can act as a physical barrier for drug diffusion and, consequently, can regulate its release profile [25]. Elkomy et al. incorporated lipid nanoparticles to a carbopol/poloxamer gel and evaluated their pharmacokinetics in human volunteers, in relation to the administration of a tablet. They observed that the bioavailability of the oral tablet was similar to that of the gel [78]. Giovino *et al.* described nanoparticles loaded with insulin and included them in a chitosan film for buccal drug delivery. From the results, the authors concluded that the system demonstrated excellent swelling and mucoadhesive properties due to the presence of hydrophilic compounds in the formulation, which allowed the interaction with the mucosa. In addition, the release of insulin was controlled by chitosan erosion. Finally, the permeation was studied, and it was shown that there is a potential use for buccal administration based on the extent of permeation describing a flux of 0.1  $\mu$ g/cm<sup>2</sup>/h and apparent permeability of 4 × 10<sup>-2</sup> cm<sup>2</sup>/h [89].

El-Nahas *et al.* proposed the use of chitosan/gelatin microparticles with sylimarin Eudragit – loaded nanoparticles and used this material as substrate for compacting into tablets. Pharmacopeial specifications were evaluated (weight variation, content uniformity, friability, hardness test) and a functional tablet formulation was obtained. Finally, the tablet with nanoparticles showed interesting mucoadhesive properties and allowed a greater drug penetration than sylimarin-loaded nanoparticle and sylimarin suspension when studied on chicken pouch membrane using Franz diffusion cells [53].

Another advanced buccal drug delivery system is the IntelliDrug Device (IDD), an innovation developed to treat chronic diseases and addictions [90]. The device

consists of a microprocessor, a drug reservoir and a valve for drug release. The drug reservoir can be a drug solution or nanoparticles loaded with drug. IDD is a device inserted in the dental arch, much like a tooth, and does not interfere with the patient's comfort. The mechanism by which this device functions allows to manage wirelessly the speed and amount of drug released. This also allows knowing the need for drug refill, which is done remotely and is also capable of informing the patient that a refill is required [91].

Although the buccal route presents advantages including avoidance of the hepatic first-pass effect, enzymatic degradation and chemical instability, comfortable, easily self-administrable and accepted by patients. The administration of nanoparticles and complementary systems can be enhanced by taking advantage of the characteristics of the oral cavity. As discussed before, characteristics such as the low presence of enzymes, structure of the epithelium and components of the mucosa can be used to increase drug residence time and drug bioavailability. Therefore, granting these characteristics can lead to advanced buccal drug delivery systems.

# 6 Toxicity and Safety Aspects

Considering that buccal delivery systems are oral administration systems, it is very important to conduct toxicity studies *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The *in vitro* assays provide a first approximation to the possible behavior of these systems in the buccal mucosa. However, *in vivo* studies must be conducted to have a better understanding of the materials used in complex organisms. For this, *ex vivo* assays have been used in porcine buccal epithelium, as it is structurally and enzymatically similar to that of the human oral cavity.

Roblegg *et al.*, evaluated the effect of saliva on the availability of nanoparticles to the buccal mucosa. They determined that the effect of saliva is varied and depends on the composition of the nanoparticle, but its main toxic effect was related to agglomeration [64]. As mentioned in the previous section, nanoparticles can enter the epithelium and the size of the nanoparticles should be considered because it can affect permeability. Given the size and agglomeration, nanoparticles could permeate or be included in the invaginations of the cell membrane and be retained from deeper penetration (Fig. 2) [62]. Teubl et al., in a study in 2015 demonstrated that particles of TiO<sub>2</sub> showed a minor impact on the viability and the membrane integrity of human buccal epithelial cells. However, it was observed that there was a significant increase in the metabolic activity of mitochondria (by MTS assay) after an incubation time of 4 hours. This phenomenon can be explained by the first reaction of the cell against xenobiotics. It was proposed that nanoparticles cause ROS generation and cellular defense mechanisms were activated. However, the metabolic activity decreased to normal levels after 24 hours, showing that the cells remain viable after exposure [62].

Andreani *et al.*, studied silica nanoparticle for oral insulin delivery and evaluated their toxicity *in vitro* in Caco-2 and HepG2 cell lines. In comparison with the con-

trol group no significant differences were observed, which was attributed to the surface charge of nanoparticles. In this investigation, silica nanoparticles exhibit a negative zeta potential at pH 7. Several studies have reported that negatively charged nanoparticles exert very little or no toxicity on biological membranes, in comparison to positively charged particles [92]. In 2017, Iglesias *et al.* evaluated cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of nanoparticles for oral drug delivery. They studied the effect of NPs (negative zeta potential) on cell viability using the proliferation assay in Caco-2 cells over 3 h, without any significant evidence of hindering proliferation of cells in any of the conditions tested. Additionally, it was shown that the nanoparticles did not induce relevant genotoxic lesions during the time of the study. The authors reported that the oxidized DNA bases induced by NP after 24 h of treatment may not have any biological relevance due to the low level of damage and the high concentration required [93]. Klemetsrud *et al.* studied the behavior of different types of polymer coated liposomes for use in the oral cavity and they evaluated cell viability in TR146 cells. Interestingly, chitosan was the only polymer exhibiting a marked negative effect on the cell viability. In this research, chitosan was the only positively charged polymer studied, and as presented above, positively charged nanocarriers can cause cell necrosis and this could lead to the observed reduced cell viability [94, 95]. Chitosan is generally classified as a nontoxic, biocompatible and biodegradable polymer; nevertheless, it has been described that its modifications can ultimately determine its toxicity. Chitosan malate for example, has shown toxicity in cells at longer contact times in slightly higher concentrations than the hydrochloric salt utilized in a study [96]. In other research, a high number of ionized groups, *i.e.* deacetylation degree, has been found to decrease the cell viability [97, 98].

To date, many mucoadhesive and permeability studies have been carried out, which have delivered encouraging results to continue investigating buccal delivery system. In relation to the above, mucus is relevant in the delivery of nanosystems, as mucus has glycoproteins with which nanoparticles can interact. Therefore, it seems that a negative zeta potential can be less toxic. However, oral mucosal toxicity studies are few and such studies are necessary to expand the knowledge and translational use of this drug delivery system.

## 7 Conclusion

The oral cavity can be used as an effective route of administration due to its ease of access and physiological features that can be harnessed as tools for drug delivery. Mucoadhesion is one of the main strategies to enable buccal drug delivery, where polymers can be selected to increase the delivery system retention time in the buccal epithelium. In addition, this route may allow the delivery of biologics, as described by authors with recent examples of high buccal bioavailability. This brings advantages over the conventional oral route, since the administration of biologics is complex.

While promising, the buccal route has limitations that have been addressed with the use of nanoparticles, films, gels or other secondary vehicles enriched with nanoparticles that favor buccal drug delivery. Although buccal toxicity studies have been conducted on nanoparticles, the information still is early and specific to certain types of nanoparticles, and as such, future studies should be envisioned to tackle other types of nanoparticles and toxicity aspects not yet fully elucidated.

Finally, future investigations are expected to explore buccal absorption enhancement through nanoparticle and secondary vehicle design in order to fully harness the potential of this route, particularly for the recent successes observed in biologics buccal drug delivery.

Acknowledgments The authors acknowledge the financial support of FONDECYT 1181689, FONDAP 15130011, and CONICYT 21180654.

### References

- 1. Fahr A, Liu X. Drug delivery strategies for poorly water-soluble drugs. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2007 Jul 1;4(4):403–16.
- Fernandes GJ, Kumar L, Sharma K, Tunge R, Rathnanand M. A review on solubility enhancement of carvedilol—a BCS class II drug. J Pharm Innov. 2018 Sep 1;13(3):197–212.
- Sievens-Figueroa L, Bhakay A, Jerez-Rozo JI, Pandya N, Romañach RJ, Michniak-Kohn B, et al. Preparation and characterization of hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose films containing stable BCS class II drug nanoparticles for pharmaceutical applications. Int J Pharm. 2012 Feb 28;423(2):496–508.
- 4. Lam JKW, Xu Y, Worsley A, Wong ICK. Oral transmucosal drug delivery for pediatric use. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2014 Jun 30;73:50–62.
- Morales JO, McConville JT. Manufacture and characterization of mucoadhesive buccal films. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2011 Feb 1;77(2):187–99.
- Mahmoud GA, Ali AE-H, Raafat AI, Badawy NA, Elshahawy MF. Development of (acrylic acid/ polyethylene glycol)-zinc oxide mucoadhesive nanocomposites for buccal administration of propranolol HCl. Radiat Phys Chem. 2018 Jun 1;147:18–26.
- 7. Mandel ID. The functions of saliva, the functions of saliva. J Dent Res. 1987 Feb 1;66(2\_suppl):623–7.
- Morales JO, Brayden DJ. Buccal delivery of small molecules and biologics: of mucoadhesive polymers, films, and nanoparticles. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2017 Oct 1;36:22–8.
- Morales JO, Huang S, Williams RO, McConville JT. Films loaded with insulin-coated nanoparticles (ICNP) as potential platforms for peptide buccal delivery. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2014 Oct 1;122:38–45.
- Montenegro-Nicolini M, Morales JO. Overview and future potential of buccal Mucoadhesive films as drug delivery Systems for Biologics. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2017 Jan 1;18(1):3–14.
- Bir Pawan Kumar\* and Sandeep Kumar. Fast dissolving films: an innovative approach to oral drug delivery. INDO Am J Pharm Sci 2018 May 12;05(05):3714–3719.
- 12. Teubl BJ, Stojkovic B, Docter D, Pritz E, Leitinger G, Poberaj I, et al. The effect of saliva on the fate of nanoparticles. Clin Oral Investig. 2018 Mar 1;22(2):929–40.
- Konstantinova V, Ibrahim M, Lie SA, Birkeland ES, Neppelberg E, Marthinussen MC, et al. Nano-TiO2 penetration of oral mucosa: in vitro analysis using 3D organotypic human buccal mucosa models. J Oral Pathol Med. 2017 Mar;46(3):214–22.

- 14. Müller RH, Mäder K, Gohla S. Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) for controlled drug delivery a review of the state of the art. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2000 Jul 3;50(1):161–77.
- Müller RH, Radtke M, Wissing SA. Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) and nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) in cosmetic and dermatological preparations. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2002 Nov 1;54:S131–55.
- Schuh RS, Bruxel F, Teixeira HF. Physicochemical properties of lecithin-based nanoemulsions obtained by spontaneous emulsification or high-pressure homogenization. Quím Nova. 2014;37(7):1193–8.
- Marques AC, Rocha AI, Leal P, Estanqueiro M, Lobo JMS. Development and characterization of mucoadhesive buccal gels containing lipid nanoparticles of ibuprofen. Int J Pharm. 2017 Nov 30;533(2):455–62.
- Geszke-Moritz M, Moritz M. Solid lipid nanoparticles as attractive drug vehicles: composition, properties and therapeutic strategies. Mater Sci Eng C. 2016 Nov 1;68:982–94.
- Ezzati Nazhad Dolatabadi J, Omidi Y. Solid lipid-based nanocarriers as efficient targeted drug and gene delivery systems. TrAC Trends Anal Chem. 2016 Mar;77:100–8.
- Tamjidi F, Shahedi M, Varshosaz J, Nasirpour A. Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC): a potential delivery system for bioactive food molecules. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol. 2013 Jul 1;19(Supplement C):29–43.
- Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S. A review of clinical translation of inorganic nanoparticles. AAPS J. 2015 May 9;17(5):1041–54.
- 22. Arriagada F, Correa O, Günther G, Nonell S, Mura F, Olea-Azar C, et al. Morin flavonoid adsorbed on mesoporous silica, a novel antioxidant nanomaterial. PLoS One. 2016 Nov 3;11(11):e0164507.
- Tonga GY, Moyano DF, Kim CS, Rotello VM. Inorganic nanoparticles for therapeutic delivery: trials, tribulations and promise. Curr Opin Colloid Interface Sci. 2014 Apr 1;19(2):49–55.
- 24. Choi JS, Han S-H, Hyun C, Yoo HS. Buccal adhesive nanofibers containing human growth hormone for oral mucositis. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 104(7):1396–406.
- 25. Raafat AI, Mahmoud GA, Ali AE-H, Badawy NA, Elshahawy MF. In vitro evaluation of mucoadhesive and self-disinfection efficiency of (acrylic acid/polyethylene glycol)-silver nanocomposites for buccal drug delivery, in vitro evaluation of mucoadhesive and self-disinfection efficiency of (acrylic acid/polyethylene glycol)-silver nanocomposites for buccal drug delivery. J Bioact Compat Polym. 2018 Jan 1;33(1):95–115.
- Freag MS, Saleh WM, Abdallah OY. Laminated chitosan-based composite sponges for transmucosal delivery of novel protamine-decorated tripterine phytosomes: ex-vivo mucopenetration and in-vivo pharmacokinetic assessments. Carbohydr Polym. 2018 May 15;188:108–20.
- Suh JW, Lee J-S, Ko S, Lee HG. Preparation and characterization of mucoadhesive buccal nanoparticles using chitosan and dextran sulfate. J Agric Food Chem. 2016 Jul 6;64(26):5384–8.
- Mørck Nielsen H, Rømer RM. TR146 cells grown on filters as a model of human buccal epithelium: v. enzyme activity of the TR146 cell culture model, human buccal epithelium and porcine buccal epithelium, and permeability of leu-enkephalin. Int J Pharm. 2000 May 10;200(2):261–70.
- Patel VF, Liu F, Brown MB. Advances in oral transmucosal drug delivery. J Control Release. 2011 Jul 30;153(2):106–16.
- Montero-Padilla S, Velaga S, Morales JO. Buccal dosage forms: general considerations for pediatric patients. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2017 Feb 1;18(2):273–82.
- Ten NA. Cate's Oral histology E-book: development, structure, and function: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2014. 407 p.
- 32. Squier CA. The permeability of keratinized and nonkeratinized oral epithelium to horseradish peroxidase. J Ultrastruct Res. 1973 Jan 1;43(1):160–77.
- Kinikoglu B, Damour O, Hasirci V. Tissue engineering of oral mucosa: a shared concept with skin. J Artif Organs. 2015 Mar 1;18(1):8–19.
- 34. Collins LMC, Dawes C. The surface area of the adult human mouth and thickness of the salivary film covering the teeth and Oral mucosa. J Dent Res. 1987 Aug 1;66(8):1300–2.

- de Vries ME, Boddé HE, Verhoef JC, Junginger HE. Developments in buccal drug delivery. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst. 1991;8(3):271–303.
- Goodman CH, Squier CA. Blood flow in the oral mucosa of normal and atherosclerotic rhesus monkeys. J Oral Pathol Med. 17(1):34–8.
- Wertz PW, Swartzendruber DC, Squier CA. Regional variation in the structure and permeability of oral mucosa and skin. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 1993 Oct 1;12(1):1–12.
- Squier CA, Wertz PW. Permeability and the pathophysiology of oral mucosa. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 1993 Oct 1;12(1):13–24.
- 39. Goswami T, Jasti BR, Li X. Sublingual drug delivery. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carr Syst. 2008;25(5)
- 40. Shklar G. The effects of aging upon oral mucosa. J Invest Dermatol. 1966 Aug;47(2):115-20.
- Abu Eid R, Sawair F, Landini G, Saku T. Age and the architecture of oral mucosa. Age. 2012 Jun;34(3):651–8.
- 42. Hill MW. Influence of age on the morphology and transit time of murine stratified squamous epithelia. Arch Oral Biol. 1988 Jan 1;33(4):221–9.
- 43. Sohi H, Ahuja A, Ahmad FJ, Khar RK. Critical evaluation of permeation enhancers for oral mucosal drug delivery. Drug Dev Ind Pharm. 2010 Mar;36(3):254–82.
- 44. Squier C, Wertz P. Structure and function of the oral mucosa and implications for drug delivery. ery. In: Rathbone M, Swarbrick J, editors. Oral mucosal drug delivery. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc.; 1996. p. 1–26.
- 45. Semalty M, Semalty A, Kumar G. Formulation and characterization of mucoadhesive buccal films of glipizide. Indian J Pharm Sci. 2008;70(1):43–8.
- 46. Shidhaye SS, Saindane NS, Sutar S, Kadam V. Mucoadhesive bilayered patches for administration of sumatriptan succinate. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2008 Aug 5;9(3):909–16.
- Satishbabu BK, Srinivasan BP. Preparation and evaluation of buccoadhesive films of atenolol. Indian J Pharm Sci. 2008;70(2):175–9.
- Nappinnai M, Chandanbala R, Balaijirajan R. Formulation and evaluation of nitrendipine buccal films. Indian J Pharm Sci. 2008;70(5):631–5.
- 49. Diaz del Consuelo I, Falson F, Guy RH, Jacques Y. Ex vivo evaluation of bioadhesive films for buccal delivery of fentanyl. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc. 2007 Sep 26;122(2):135–40.
- 50. Batista P, Castro PM, Madureira AR, Sarmento B, Pintado M. Recent insights in the use of nanocarriers for the oral delivery of bioactive proteins and peptides. Peptides. 2018 Mar 1;101:112–23.
- Mouftah S, Abdel-Mottaleb MMA, Lamprecht A. Buccal delivery of low molecular weight heparin by cationic polymethacrylate nanoparticles. Int J Pharm. 2016 Dec 30;515(1):565–74.
- 52. Martín MJ, Calpena AC, Fernández F, Mallandrich M, Gálvez P, Clares B. Development of alginate microspheres as nystatin carriers for oral mucosa drug delivery. Carbohydr Polym. 2015 Mar 6;117:140–9.
- El-Nahas AE, Allam AN, El-Kamel AH. Mucoadhesive buccal tablets containing silymarin Eudragit-loaded nanoparticles: formulation, characterisation and ex vivo permeation. J Microencapsul. 2017 Jul 4;34(5):463–74.
- 54. Hazzah HA, Farid RM, Nasra MMA, Hazzah WA, El-Massik MA, Abdallah OY. Gelucirebased nanoparticles for curcumin targeting to oral mucosa: preparation, characterization, and antimicrobial activity assessment. J Pharm Sci. 2015 Nov 1;104(11):3913–24.
- 55. Wan S, Sun Y, Qi X, Tan F. Improved bioavailability of poorly water-soluble drug curcumin in cellulose acetate solid dispersion. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2012 Mar 1;13(1):159–66.
- Mohammed MA, Syeda JTM, Wasan KM, Wasan EK. An overview of chitosan nanoparticles and its application in non-parenteral drug delivery. Pharmaceutics. 2017 Nov;20:9(4).
- 57. Siepmann J, Siepmann F. Modeling of diffusion controlled drug delivery. J Control Release. 2012 Jul 20;161(2):351–62.
- 58. Kontogiannidou E, Andreadis DA, Zografos AL, Nazar H, Klepetsanis P, van der Merwe SM, et al. Ex vivo buccal drug delivery of ropinirole hydrochloride in the presence of permeation enhancers: the effect of charge. Pharm Dev Technol. 2017 Nov 17;22(8):1017–21.

- 59. Haque T, Talukder MMU. Chemical enhancer: a simplistic way to modulate barrier function of the stratum Corneum. Adv Pharm Bull. 2018 Jun;8(2):169–79.
- 60. Jain S, Indulkar A, Harde H, Agrawal AK. Oral mucosal immunization using glucomannosylated bilosomes. J Biomed Nanotechnol. 2014 Jun;10(6):932–47.
- Mauro M, Crosera M, Bianco C, Bellomo F, Bovenzi M, Adami G, et al. In vitro permeability of silver nanoparticles through porcine oromucosal membrane. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2015 Aug 1;132:10–6.
- Teubl BJ, Leitinger G, Schneider M, Lehr C-M, Fröhlich E, Zimmer A, et al. The buccal mucosa as a route for TiO2 nanoparticle uptake. Nanotoxicology. 2015 Feb 17;9(2):253–61.
- Roblegg E, Fröhlich E, Meindl C, Teubl B, Zaversky M, Zimmer A. Evaluation of a physiological in vitro system to study the transport of nanoparticles through the buccal mucosa. Nanotoxicology. 2012 Jun 1;6(4):399–413.
- 64. Teubl BJ, Meindl C, Eitzlmayr A, Zimmer A, Fröhlich E, Roblegg E. In-Vitro permeability of neutral polystyrene particles via buccal mucosa. Small. 9(3):457–66.
- 65. Mašek J, Lubasová D, Lukáč R, Turánek-Knotigová P, Kulich P, Plocková J, et al. Multilayered nanofibrous mucoadhesive films for buccal and sublingual administration of drugdelivery and vaccination nanoparticles – important step towards effective mucosal vaccines. J Control Release. 2017 Mar 10;249:183–95.
- 66. Gavin A, Pham JT, Wang D, Brownlow B, Elbayoumi TA. Layered nanoemulsions as mucoadhesive buccal systems for controlled delivery of oral cancer therapeutics. Int J Nanomedicine. 2015 Feb 23;10:1569–84.
- 67. Forstner J, Taichman N, Kalnins V, Forstner G. Intestinal goblet cell mucus: isolation and identification by immunofluorescence of a goblet cell glycoprotein. J Cell Sci. 1973 Mar 1;12(2):585–601.
- Morales JO, McConville JT. Novel strategies for the buccal delivery of macromolecules. Drug Dev Ind Pharm. 2014 May 1;40(5):579–90.
- 69. Horowitz M, Ward P. The Glycoconjugates. In: Mammalian glycoproteins and glycolipids: Elsevier; 2012. 579 p.
- Bernkop-Schnürch A. Thiomers: a new generation of mucoadhesive polymers. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2005 Nov 3;57(11):1569–82.
- 71. George M, Abraham TE. Polyionic hydrocolloids for the intestinal delivery of protein drugs: alginate and chitosan a review. J Control Release. 2006 Aug 10;114(1):1–14.
- Vllasaliu D, Exposito-Harris R, Heras A, Casettari L, Garnett M, Illum L, et al. Tight junction modulation by chitosan nanoparticles: comparison with chitosan solution. Int J Pharm. 2010 Nov 15;400(1):183–93.
- Boddupalli BM, Mohammed ZNK, Nath RA, Banji D. Mucoadhesive drug delivery system: an overview. J Adv Pharm Technol Res. 2010;1(4):381–7.
- Salamat-Miller N, Chittchang M, Johnston TP. The use of mucoadhesive polymers in buccal drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2005 Nov 3;57(11):1666–91.
- Tejada G, Piccirilli GN, Sortino M, Salomón CJ, Lamas MC, Leonardi D. Formulation and invitro efficacy of antifungal mucoadhesive polymeric matrices for the delivery of miconazole nitrate. Mater Sci Eng C. 2017 Oct 1;79:140–50.
- Reda RI, Wen MM, El-Kamel AH. Ketoprofen-loaded Eudragit electrospun nanofibers for the treatment of oral mucositis. Int J Nanomedicine. 2017 Mar 27;12:2335–51.
- Wen H. Park K, Oral controlled release formulation design and drug delivery: theory to practice: Wiley; 2011. 376 p.
- 78. Elkomy MH, Menshawe SFE, Abou-Taleb HA, Elkarmalawy MH. Loratadine bioavailability via buccal transferosomal gel: formulation, statistical optimization, in vitro/in vivo characterization, and pharmacokinetics in human volunteers. Drug Deliv. 2017 Jan 1;24(1):781–91.
- Abruzzo A, Cerchiara T, Bigucci F, Gallucci MC, Luppi B. Mucoadhesive buccal tablets based on chitosan/gelatin microparticles for delivery of propranolol hydrochloride. J Pharm Sci. 2015 Dec 1;104(12):4365–72.

- Donnelly RF, McCarron PA, Tunney MM, David WA. Potential of photodynamic therapy in treatment of fungal infections of the mouth. Design and characterisation of a mucoadhesive patch containing toluidine blue O. J Photochem Photobiol B. 2007 Jan 3;86(1):59–69.
- Singh S, Jain S, Muthu MS, Tiwari S, Tilak R. Preparation and evaluation of buccal bioadhesive films containing clotrimazole. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2008 Jun 1;9(2):660–7.
- Montenegro-Nicolini M, Miranda V, Morales JO. Inkjet printing of proteins: an experimental approach. AAPS J. 2017 Jan 1;19(1):234–43.
- Fritz H, Ortiz AC, Morales JO. Development of nifedipine-loaded nanoemulsions as Inks for Inkjet Printing of a BCS Class II Drug. In: AAPS Annual Meeting and Exposition. Denver, CO, USA; 2016, 2016.
- Kraisit P, Limmatvapirat S, Luangtana-Anan M, Sriamornsak P. Buccal administration of mucoadhesive blend films saturated with propranolol loaded nanoparticles. Asian J Pharm Sci. 2018 Jan 1;13(1):34–43.
- Hu D, Wang H, Wang L. Physical properties and antibacterial activity of quaternized chitosan/ carboxymethyl cellulose blend films. LWT – Food Sci Technol. 2016 Jan 1;65:398–405.
- Nair AB, Al-ghanna AA, Al-Dhubiab BE, Hasan AA. Mucoadhesive film embedded with acyclovir loaded biopolymeric nanoparticles: in vitro studies. J Young Pharm. 2017;9(1):100–5.
- Barzoki ZM, Emam-Djomeh Z, Mortazavian E, Moosavi-Movahedi AA, Tehrani MR. Formulation, in vitro evaluation and kinetic analysis of chitosan–gelatin bilayer mucoadhesive buccal patches of insulin nanoparticles. J Microencapsul. 2016 Oct 2;33(7):613–24.
- Kianfar F, Chowdhry BZ, Antonijevic MD, Boateng JS. Novel films for drug delivery via the buccal mucosa using model soluble and insoluble drugs. Drug Dev Ind Pharm. 2012 Oct 1;38(10):1207–20.
- Giovino C, Ayensu I, Tetteh J, Boateng JS. An integrated buccal delivery system combining chitosan films impregnated with peptide loaded PEG-b-PLA nanoparticles. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2013 Dec 1;112:9–15.
- Velten T, Schuck H, Knoll T, Scholz O, Schumacher A, Göttsche T, et al. Intelligent intraoral drug delivery microsystem. Proc Inst Mech Eng Part C J Mech Eng Sci. 2006 Nov 1;220(11):1609–17.
- 91. Li H, Yu Y, Dana SF, Li B, Lee C-Y, Kang L. Novel engineered systems for oral, mucosal and transdermal drug delivery. J Drug Target. 2013 Aug 1;21(7):611–29.
- 92. Andreani T, Kiill CP, de Souza ALR, Fangueiro JF, Fernandes L, Doktorovová S, et al. Surface engineering of silica nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery: characterization and cell toxicity studies. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2014 Nov 1;123:916–23.
- 93. Iglesias T, López de Cerain A, Irache J, Martín-Arbella N, Wilcox M, Pearson J, et al. Evaluation of the cytotoxicity, genotoxicity and mucus permeation capacity of several surface modified poly(anhydride) nanoparticles designed for oral drug delivery. Int J Pharm. 2017 Jan 30;517(1):67–79.
- 94. Klemetsrud T, Kjøniksen A-L, Hiorth M, Jacobsen J, Smistad G. Polymer coated liposomes for use in the oral cavity – a study of the in vitro toxicity, effect on cell permeability and interaction with mucin. J Liposome Res. 2018 Jan 2;28(1):62–73.
- Wei X, Shao B, He Z, Ye T, Luo M, Sang Y, et al. Cationic nanocarriers induce cell necrosis through impairment of Na+/K+-ATPase and cause subsequent inflammatory response. Cell Res. 2015 Feb;25(2):237–53.
- Juliano C, Galleri G, Klemetsrud T, Karlsen J, Giunchedi P. Effect of chitosan malate on viability and cytoskeletal structures morphology of Caco-2 cells. Int J Pharm. 2011 Nov 28;420(2):223–30.
- Huang M, Khor E, Lim L-Y. Uptake and cytotoxicity of chitosan molecules and nanoparticles: effects of molecular weight and degree of deacetylation. Pharm Res. 2004 Feb;21(2):344–53.
- Kean T, Thanou M. Biodegradation, biodistribution and toxicity of chitosan. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2010 Jan 31;62(1):3–11.

# **Respiratory Drug/Vaccine Delivery Using Nanoparticles**



## Joanne M. Ramsey, Alice McCloskey, Rachel Gaul, Elena Fernandez Fernandez, Louise Sweeney, Catherine M. Greene, Ronan Macloughlin, and Sally-Ann Cryan

**Abstract** Respiratory diseases account for a very significant portion of worldwide morbidity and mortality but to-date only a limited number of therapeutics are available for direct delivery via inhalation. Nanotechnology offers a range of potential

J. M. Ramsey · A. McCloskey

Tissue Engineering Research Group, (RCSI), Dublin 2, Ireland

Science Foundation Ireland Centre for Research in Medical Devices (CURAM), NUIG & RCSI, Galway, Ireland

R. Gaul

School of Pharmacy & Biomolecular Sciences, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland (RCSI), Dublin 2, Ireland

Tissue Engineering Research Group, (RCSI), Dublin 2, Ireland

Department of Clinical Microbiology, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Education and Research Centre, Beaumont Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

E. F. Fernandez · C. M. Greene Department of Clinical Microbiology, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Education and Research Centre, Beaumont Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

L. Sweeney · R. Macloughlin Aerogen Ltd., Galway, Ireland

S.-A. Cryan (⊠) School of Pharmacy & Biomolecular Sciences, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland (RCSI), Dublin 2, Ireland

Tissue Engineering Research Group, (RCSI), Dublin 2, Ireland

Science Foundation Ireland Centre for Research in Medical Devices (CURAM), NUIG & RCSI, Galway, Ireland

Trinity Centre for Biomedical Engineering, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin 2, Ireland

Science Foundation Ireland Advanced Materials & Bioengineering Research Centre (AMBER) Centre, TCD & RCSI, Dublin 2, Ireland e-mail: scryan@rcsi.ie

© American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020 P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), *Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles*, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_6

School of Pharmacy & Biomolecular Sciences, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland (RCSI), Dublin 2, Ireland

benefits to facilitate the targeted delivery/co-delivery of existing therapeutic agents and to support the delivery of more advanced biotherapeutics e.g. proteins, gene medicines. The clinical and commercial translation of inhalable nanomedicines is not trivial and presents significant formulation, manufacturing, assessment and regulatory challenges. Herein, we explore the range of respiratory diseases being targeted using nanoparticle-based delivery systems for therapeutics and vaccines, the composition and manufacture of these nanoparticles, their integration into relevant inhaler devices, the methods being used to characterize these nanoparticles *in vitro* and *in vivo* and the regulatory requirements governing inhaled nanomedicines.

**Keywords** Respiratory drug delivery · Nanoparticles · Nanomedicine Therapeutics · Vaccines · Inhalation · Aerosol

# 1 Clinical Applications of Nanomedicines for Respiratory Disease

Respiratory diseases account for a very significant portion of worldwide morbidity and mortality but to-date only a limited number of therapeutics are available for direct delivery via inhalation. There are multiple factors potentially underpinning an unhealthy human lung. Lung cancers and single gene disorders (e.g. cystic fibrosis (CF), alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency (AATD), primary ciliary dyskinesia (PCD/ Kartagener's disease) and pulmonary alveolar proteinosis/surfactant deficiency are non-infectious pulmonary diseases that could each benefit from inhaled therapies. These diseases all have disparate aetiologies and thus require bespoke nanomedicines. Similarly for allergic and inflammatory diseases of the lungs such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), both of which occur due to environmental exposure of susceptible individuals to allergenic or noxious stimuli. Infective exacerbations often complicate these pre-existing lung pathologies and thus anti-infective measures are often required in addition to disease-specific treatments.

A wide range of therapeutic modalities have been explored to-date as inhaled nanomedicines including small molecule drug actives, peptides, proteins, antibodies and nucleic acid-based therapeutics. Effective inhalation of particles is generally seen for particles with aerodynamic particle sizes between  $1-5 \mu m$ . Particles in the nanoparticle size range (<1  $\mu m$ ) generally need to be delivered either within nebulized droplets of inhalable size or incorporated into microparticle formats for delivery via dry powder inhaler (DPI) [1–5]. Inhalable microparticulate/nanoparticulate dry powders are often prepared using spray-drying. Examples of therapeutics that have been formulated into inhalable formats for targeted lung delivery include various antibiotics (e.g. vancomycin, clarithromycin, tobramycin, azithromycin, rifam-

picin [6–8]), antimicrobials such as ofloxacin and moxifloxacin [9], as well as the anti-inflammatory fluticasone propionate, the steroid budesonide and  $\beta$ 2-agonists for the treatment of COPD and asthma [10–13]. Various lung cancer and antimetastatic therapeutics, including doxorubicin, paclitaxel, cisplatin, gemcitabine, camptothecin, fluorouracil and azacytidine have been similarly formulated (reviewed in [14]). Notwithstanding the clinical benefits of these therapeutics, the development of newer and more effective medicines for various lung diseases is desirable, and nanoparticle technologies could enable their development. A selection of examples is presented below.

Each nanomedicine needs to be tested empirically for its physicochemical and morphological characteristics as the behaviour of seemingly quite similar cargoes e.g. double-stranded DNA oligos and miRNA mimics, can vary greatly even when using the same nanoparticle formulation. Although these various cargoes are vastly different in their modes of action, the goal of good formulations is to ensure that all of them are soluble, stable (i.e. nuclease- or protease-resistant), non-toxic and maintain their activity when they are delivered to their site of action. Whether the therapeutic cargo of a nanomedicine is designed to function extracellularly, such as for a nanomedicine carrying an antiprotease to be delivered to the lumen of the lungs, or intracellularly within specialised lung cells in the bronchial epithelium or alveolar compartment, will also affect decisions regarding the most appropriate size, charge and method of delivery for a specific nanomedicine.

Age and gender can occasionally be important factors associated with the development of certain respiratory diseases. In aged adults of either sex, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) is a progressive and irreversible chronic lung disease for which there is no cure, whereas lymphangioleiomyomatosis (LAM), for example, occurs almost exclusively in middle-age women. Regardless of the different causes and manifestations of these various lung disorders each could have the potential to benefit from custom-designed nanomedicines to reverse, inhibit or repair aberrant processes. Novel nanomedicine therapies for IPF are in development. Using a murine bleomycin-induced model of IPF, Garbuzenko et al. [15] have demonstrated that nanostructured lipid carriers loaded with prostaglandin E and siRNAs targeting matrix metalloproteinase 3 (MMP3), chemokine (C-C motif)ligand 12 (CCL12) and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF1)alpha, delivered locally to the lungs by inhalation reduced mouse body mass, limited hydroxyproline content in the lungs, restricted lung tissue damage and prevented animal mortality. Sirolimus (also called rapamycin), is a macrolide compound that acts as an inhibitor of the mTOR pathway and is the FDA-approved drug treatment for LAM. mTOR inhibitors also have therapeutic application for bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome, a chronic form of lung allograft rejection that occurs due to mesenchymal cell-mediated airway fibroobliteration. Gold nanoparticles loaded with everolimus (a mTOR inhibitor) were shown to inhibit mesenchymal cell proliferation in vitro [16] and were non-toxic when administered by inhalation to mice [17].

Other pulmonary diseases suitable for treatment via inhaled nanomedicines, could include acute or traumatic lung diseases such as pneumonia or acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), respectively wherein the therapy must be immedi-

ately applied and be fast-acting. Like pneumonia, tuberculosis (TB) is an infectious lung disease; however, TB is more commonly described as a chronic rather than an acute lung disease caused by bacterial infection. Cross-linked poly- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin (p $\beta$ CD) nanoparticles, as one example, have been explored for pulmonary delivery of anti-TB drugs. Interestingly the p $\beta$ CD nanoparticles themselves have intrinsic antibacterial properties against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb); they can interfere with Mtb infection of macrophages by provoking macrophage apoptosis [18].

#### 1.1 Aerosol Vaccination Using Nanoparticles

Aerosol-mediated delivery of vaccines to the mucosal surface of the airways has already demonstrated significant potential as a successful vaccination strategy [19–22]. The potential for nanoparticle-based vaccines themselves have broadly demonstrated efficacy [23], however their specific potential for prophylactic or therapeutic application in vaccination via the respiratory mucosa is yet to be fully realized. That notwithstanding, it is reported that there is a significant amount of nanoparticle focused research underway in the development of new and revisited vaccine strategies targeting the respiratory mucosa [24–26]. That research builds on the learnings from the development of the many existing worldwide regulatory-approved nanomedicines [27, 28] and acts to fill the pipeline of potential new nanovaccines.

In vaccinations, nanoparticles have the potential to perform several functions, ranging from being simple vectors for controlled release of encapsulated antigenic material, to presentation of antigens or cell targeting moieties on their surfaces, to imaging and additionally, the provision of adjuvant effects. Depending on the therapeutic needs, nanoparticle design and material choice, nanoparticles can serve to prolong antigen release or promote lung retention over time [29, 30]. Presentation of antigens or cell targeting moieties on the surfaces of these nanoparticles can enhance effectiveness through means of cell receptor targeting. This surface modification of nanoparticles may serve multiple purposes such as increased compatibility or interaction with the target cell type [31] or alternatively, as a means of presenting antigens intended to illicit an immune response [32].

As discussed above (see Clinical applications of nanomedicines for respiratory disease), targeted deposition within the airways is achievable through generation of appropriately sized aerosols/particles with which to deliver the nanoparticles. Identifying the target cell and their location within the airways may aid in further optimising the immune response by delivering the nanovaccine to that location. For example, the distribution of sialic acid influenza receptors varies greatly with location within the airways, thus delivery of an otherwise promising influenza nanovaccine to the wrong location may result in attenuated or nil effect [33]. Other means of preferential targeting of aerosols within the airways have been described in the literature [34, 35]. It has been shown that targeting of aerosolised super paramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs) within the airways is feasible, albeit using

complex and potentially expensive procedures [36, 37]. In practice, this targeting ability is likely to facilitate crude targeting of conducting versus peripheral airways and not cell-specific targeting. Nevertheless, improvements in the state of the art would represent an important advance in the success of aerosol-mediated vaccines in that targeting specific cell types may have a significant bearing on the ultimate immune response, and conferred level of protection.

# 2 Types of Nanoparticles Being Used for Pulmonary Drug Delivery

The challenges faced in pulmonary drug delivery of novel therapies might be overcome using advanced formulations including encapsulation of drug actives within biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles [38] as well as/or "pure" (non-polymeric) drug nanoparticles [39]. As noted above these nanotechnologies must be delivered in either a droplet or powder with appropriate aerodynamic properties i.e. aerodynamic diameter 1-5  $\mu$ m.

It is worth noting that very few materials and excipients are approved for inhaled drug delivery [40]. However, a wide range of materials/carriers are being explored for drug delivery via the inhaled route. These carriers include nanoparticles – polymeric and lipidic, liposomes, dendrimers, micelles, nanoemulsions and nanosuspensions. In particular, materials already approved for other routes of administration e.g. biodegradable and biocompatible polymers such as poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (PLGA) and liposomes, have been extensively studied for the delivery of a range of cargoes to the lungs. These materials offer a number of advantages over other materials, such as metallic or carbon nanomaterials, due to their biodegradation and in some instances thier established biocompatibility profile. Advantages associated with these different formulation technologies are outlined in Table 1, with exemplar references to their application for inhaled nanoparticles.

## 2.1 Liposomes and Lipid Based Formulations

Inhalable solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) and liposomes have been extensively explored as nanomedicines for lung delivery and some have reached clinical trial stages. The first liposomal product to be marketed was Alveofact® used to treat acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in infants by pulmonary instillation [60]. Typically, they are considered less toxic than their polymeric counterparts as physiological lipids are often used. Examples of studies targeting the respiratory system include that of Wang and colleagues [41] who used curcumin-loaded SLNs and observed reduced inflammation and cytokine expression in murine asthma models thus highlighting the favorable therapeutic and toxicity profiles of SLNs.

Excipient type	Advantageous characteristics	Ref.
Liposomes/solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN)	Can be designed for controlled release of drug cargo and are of particular interest due to their biocompatibility and non-irritant degradation products. Consideration has to be given, however, to the lipid miscibility of drugs when formulating SLN.	[41–44]
Polymeric materials	Currently being investigated for pulmonary drug delivery due to their versatility such as modified surface properties, high encapsulation of the drug, protection of the cargo from degradation, prolonged drug delivery, an expanded shelf life and functional groups available for the attachment of cargo, targeting and imaging agents. The most common examples are poly(lactic acid) (PLA), poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), poly( $\varepsilon$ - caprolactone) (PCL), alginate, polyethylenimine (PEI), dendrimers, chitosan and gelatin. A number of polymeric materials such as PEI are employed principally as gene delivery vectors and are less suitable for small molecule delivery	[34, 35, 45–50]
Micelles	Nanostructures made of amphiphilic molecules, like polymers or lipids. Polymeric micelles are emerging as a promising platform for drug delivery.	[51–53]
Nanoemulsions	High solubilizing and drug protection features. Have the potential to deliver proteins as well as other new or classic active drug compounds to the lungs.	[54, 55]
Nanosuspension	Can be prepared without using large volumes of organic co-solvents, and concentration of nanosuspension is not limited by solubility in the carrier, thus, a wider dose range can be achieved. Good content uniformity and can facilitate penetration of deep lung and smaller airways, leading to a more even drug distribution and resulting in a more accurate modeling of the drug distribution and efficacy. Several excipients such as sugars, lipids, amino acids, surfactants, polymers and absorption enhancers have been tested for their efficacy in improving drug pulmonary administration.	[56, 57]
Magnetic/Metallic	Metal based nanoparticles are used in theranostics in lung cancer. Use for local delivery to the lung is somewhat limited by potential immune and cytotoxic effects.	[58, 59]

Table 1 Nanotechnology delivery systems explored for inhalation and their associated advantages

Liu and colleagues [42] also assessed the *in vivo* potential of ciprofloxacin containing liposomes in rat models where reduced pulmonary irritation was observed with drug encapsulated into liposomes compared to drug alone controls. A liposomal ciprofloxacin formulation advanced to phase three clinical trials for non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis where it reduced pulmonary exacerbations and had a similar adverse effect profile to placebo [61]. In our own work we have demonstrated that liposomal encapsulation of recombinant secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI) offered improved stability, reduced clearance and increased residency time in the lungs after local delivery [62, 63].

# 2.2 Polymeric Based Formulations

Properties of polymeric nanoparticles appear to have differing levels of influence on toxicity and therapeutic outcomes when investigated in vitro and in vivo. Grabowski and colleagues [45] for example showed that surface charge influences in vitro cellular uptake and transport across mucus layers. This property however was not as significant a factor when the same group [64] compared these findings to an *in vivo* accumulation and elimination study, thus highlighting the necessity for both thorough in vitro and in vivo investigations. Toxicity of a range of biodegradable nanoparticles (PLGA coated with; chitosan, poloxamer 188 or polyvinyl alcohol (PVA)) to that of non-biodegradable inorganic (TiO<sub>2</sub>) and polymeric nanoparticles (polystyrene) was determined in Balb/cJ mice (4-6 weeks old) and biodistribution in NMRI nude mice (4 weeks old). Nebulization of non-degradable nanoparticles resulted in increased numbers of macrophages, protein quantification and levels of inflammatory markers such as IL-6, MCP-1 and TNFα. Histological examination showed signs of tissue damage in the non-biodegradable group with thickening of interstitial walls and erythrocyte accumulation in comparison to minimal changes in the group treated with biodegradable nanoparticles.

Dendrimers are highly branched macromolecules with varying architectures to suit their cargo needs. Their absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination (ADME) profile is dependent upon these various structural features. Kaminskas *et al* demonstrated controlled release and longer lung residence time by conjugating PEGylated Poly-L-Lysine (PLL) dendrimer to the chemotherapeutic agent doxorubicin. In addition, they found local lung delivery led to a greater reduction in tumour burden of >95% compared to only 30–50% reduction by intravenous delivery [48].

Chitosan and its derivatives demonstrate potential for chemical modification and functionalization [46]. Its mucoadhesive and membrane permeability properties, in addition to its antimicrobial nature, mean that chitosan has been extensively explored for respiratory diseases and associated infections. Work by Garg and colleagues [65] in murine TB models shows how chitosan nanoparticles loaded with the anti-tubercular agents isoniazid and rifampicin are both therapeutically effective and minimally toxic *in vivo* in comparison to free drug. Nebulized nanoparticles were selectively phagocytosed thus preferentially targeting macrophage rich organs such as the lungs. This highlights also the close links between clearance and therapeutic pathways for nanomedicines.

# **3** Nanoparticle Targeting

Functionalization of nanomedicines can be used to confer targeting specificity into the nanomedicine and/or enable particles to overcome biological barriers to achieve efficient delivery. Non-specific distribution and unwanted elimination of nanoparticles pose a significant challenge for those developing nanomedicines, including those being developed for respiratory delivery. When designing a functionalized nanoparticle for respiratory delivery it is critical to understand the nature of the target site/cell and the anatomical/physiological environment presented by the lungs, including the pathological presentation.

One of the key biological barriers in the respiratory tract is the presence of mucus or surfactant on the surface of the airway cells. The upper airway epithelial cells are covered with a viscous layer of mucus containing glycoproteins and lipids, which trap unwanted particles (dust, pathogens etc.) and is then cleared via mucociliary clearance. In the alveolar region of the respiratory tract the alveolar cells are covered with a layer of surfactant composed of lipids and proteins which serves to prevent alveolar collapse [66]. Crossing of these barriers is crucial for many nanomedicines in reaching their target site either at the cell surface or intracellularly in order to exert their effect. Mucoadhesive surface modifications to nanomedicines increases retention time in the lungs and allows a localized, controlled release of the nanomedicine by circumventing clearance mechanisms. Mucus-penetrating modifications function by improving the ability of the nanomedicine to permeate through the mucus and surfactant layers which line the upper and lower lung environment.

Chitosan, which as noted above has known mucoadhesive properties, has been extensively explored for respiratory and nasal delivery. While it has been used alone, particularly as a gene delivery vector, it is becoming increasingly popular to functionalize nanoparticles with chitosan in order to improve their bioavailability [67]. Chitosan modification of PLGA is a common approach which successfully combines the key features of both delivery vectors. Chitosan functionalized-PLGA particles are cationic in nature and confers PLGA particles with greater mucoadhesive properties, thereby increasing site retention and drug delivery efficiency [67–69].

Polyethylene glycol (PEG) modifications have been shown to reduce nanoparticle associations with mucin glycoproteins by shifting the particle to a more neutral charge, thereby enhancing their movement through the negatively charged mucus layer and can alter their cellular uptake by decreasing their interaction with cytoskeletal actin filaments. By minimizing adhesion to the viscoelastic mucus, fluorescent polystyrene sphere PEGylated particles could rapidly penetrate up to 35-fold faster than uncoated particles through to the airway cell epithelium. However, this is particle size dependent with particles >500 nm becoming immobilized in the mucus [70–72]. Suk *et al* showed PEGylation of PLL and PEI particles improved their ability to traverse mucus from cystic fibrosis (CF) patients, led to enhanced gene transfer *in vivo* and could express functional CFTR expression as a potential CF therapy [71]. Due to the potential for cytotoxic responses to arise relating to the molecular weight and density of particle PEGylation, alternative functionalization methods using PEG are being developed [72].

Functionalizing nanoparticles with ligands for specific receptors such as transferrin, folic acid or intercellular adhesion molecule-1 can potentially confer a high level of cell-specific targeting [73–75]. For example, the mannose receptor (MR) is highly expressed on alveolar macrophages which could be used to target nanomedicines to these cells. Targeting the phagocytic system of the alveolar macrophages (AM) can prove therapeutically advantageous as this is the driving cell population for inflammation related diseases including respiratory infections. Liposomes encapsulating ciprofloxacin, coated with mannose showed a significantly greater level of alveolar cell uptake compared to uncoated liposomal particles and efficient antibacterial activity at doses lower than those used clinically [76]. Costa *et al* showed attachment of the mannose to the surface of SLNs resulted in increased macrophage uptake compared to unmodified lipid nanoparticles as a potential therapeutic for TB [77]. We have studied the effect of coating liposomes with mannose on cell association with differentiated THP-1 macrophages using a high content analysis (HCA) approach (Fig. 1) [43]. This work demonstrated that mannose-coating of liposome carrier particles could enhance cell association with the THP-1 cells in a time-, concentration and linker-length dependent manner. In addition, the mannosylated liposomes showed immunosuppressive characteristics including hampering of NF $\kappa$ B activation compared to non-mannosylated liposomes [43].

# 4 Nanoparticle Characterisation

Drug/drug-loaded nanoparticles are produced using a variety of methods. These can involve the generation of small particles from a bulk material (top down) or the production of individual nanoscale particles (bottom up). The bottom-up approaches generally produce nanoparticles by crystallization and solvent removal, while the top-down approaches include milling and homogenization [78–80]. Ultimately the method chosen depends on whether a pure active nanoparticle or a drug-carrier nanoparticle is being formulated and what the nature of the actives and carriers are along with accessibility of equipment and instrumentation. Once manufactured a key requirement is the effective characterization of the nanoparticles.

A comprehensive list of characterization approaches for nanomedicines is now emerging and includes characterisation of the shape, size of primary particles, aspect ratio, degree of aggregation and agglomeration, size distribution, specific surface properties, surface chemistry (e.g. surface charge, functional groups, catalytic activity), crystal structure, and surface modification (chemical composition, type of modification). Key to robust nanoparticle characterization is selection of the appropriate analytical technique. Some methods are of course common to all nanomedicines and others are more specific for nanoparticles being developed for inhalation. More general methods for sizing of nanoparticles include dynamic light scattering (DLS) [81], Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis (NTA), Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) and Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) as well as Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM). Crystal structure of drug nanoparticles and encapsulation efficiency of drug-loaded nanoparticle formulations must also be determined. Encapsulation efficiency can be determined by quantifying the amount of drug present, which is expressed as a fraction of the initial drug loading. Of course, all nanoparticle formulations for clinical use will have a requirement for appropriate in vitro and in vivo testing to determine efficacy and safety. More specifically for nanoparticles designed for respiratory delivery there is their inte-



**Fig. 1** Cell association analysis by INCELL HCA of rhodamine-labeled liposomes with differentiated THP-1 cells. Cells were incubated without liposomes (untreated) or with fluorescently tagged (rhodamine; red) anionic (1,2 -dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phospho-L-serine (DOPS)),

gration with appropriate inhaler devices and the subsequent aerosol testing as outlined below. A number of organizations are now focusing on the specific requirements around nanomedicine characterisation and development including The National Cancer Institute (NCI) established the Nanotechnology Characterization Laboratory (https:// ncl.cancer.gov/) in conjunction with the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST). In the European Union the European Nanomedicine Characterisation Laboratory (EUNCL) (http://www.euncl. eu/) was established. These organizations provide extensive guidelines to academic researchers and industry detailing the type of characterization which might be expected when developing a new nanomaterial or nanomedicine. For inhaled nanomedicines there are additional characterization requirements around drug-device integration and aerodynamic properties as outlined below.

#### **5** Integration of Nanomedicines With Devices for Inhalation

Appropriate selection of an aerosol generating device is of vital importance in the development of lung targeted nanomedicines. Beyond the standard regulatory requirements for drug device combination products, where reliability and reproducibility of performance is key [82], here, the compatibility of the aerosol generator and the nanomedicine must be considered.

Across the selection of aerosol generator technologies available (dry powder inhaler (DPI), pressurized metered dose inhaler (pMDI), soft mist inhaler, venturi nebulizer, ultrasonic nebulizer, passive mesh nebulizer and active vibrating mesh nebulizer) the nanomedicine may be exposed to many forms of heat, shear forces or evaporative stresses. The consequences of exposing the nanomedicine to these stresses may include changes in morphology, loss of conjugates, formation of particle aggregates, or concentrating effects [83]. Further, the formulation requirements for DPI, for example, may complicate or add expense and time in development [84].

The ultimate choice of aerosol generator will vary depending on its compatibility with a specific nanomedicine formulation and should be the first assessment to be completed in the development of any combination nanomedicine product. Characterisation of morphology, aggregation and therapeutic effect pre and post

**Fig. 1** (continued) non-mannosylated neutral (1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DOPC)) and mannosylated liposomes (composed of 7.5% mannosylated lipid with different carbon linker lengths MC2C, MC4C and MC6C), fixed and stained for nuclei (Hoechst; blue) and F-actin (phalloidin-FITC; green). Images were acquired by an INCELL 1000 cell analyser with a 20x objective. Representative images show (A) untreated cells and cells treated with 200 nm DOPS liposomes at concentrations of (B) 50, (C) 100, (D) 200, (E) 300 and (F) 1000  $\mu$ M for 2 h. Liposomes were counted per cell using INCELL 1000 analysis software following treatment with liposomes ranging (G) in size at 200  $\mu$ M for 2 h, (H) in concentration at 200 nm for 2 h and (I) in incubation time at 200 nm and 200  $\mu$ M. Data represented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 6). Statistical differences were determined by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post hoc test (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001) versus unextruded liposome (for size comparisons, G) or DOPC-treated counterparts (for concentration and time comparisons, H and I). (Reprinted with permission of the publisher Taylor & Francis http://www.tandfonline.com from [43])

aerosolisation must be considered at a minimum and will act to de-risk further development activities [30, 31, 85]. Additionally, it may occur that the nanomedicine formulation is grossly unsuitable for use with a particular aerosol generator technology, for example, venturi-type nebulizers are known to be incompatible with suspensions. In this scenario, the evaporative effects within the medication cup of the nebulizer results in a concentrating effect, where the buffer is preferentially aerosolized and the suspended therapeutic is contained in an ever reducing buffer volume [83]. This changing concentration effect may lead to an increase in aggregation, formulation instability or even changes in aerosol droplet size over time [86].

As a next step, the effect of the nanomedicine formulation on device performance and aerosol characteristics should be assessed. It is known that the physicochemical characteristics of a pharmaceutical formulation may have a profound effect on the output rate (mass or volume aerosolized per unit time) and droplet size produced by some aerosol generators [87, 88]. These characteristics may be influenced by the surface tension or viscosity of formulation excipients, and also the concentration of actives in a formulation. The output rate may be seen to increase or decrease over that expected. Time to delivery of a dose is a critical consideration in the day to day treatment of patients and may have an influence on patient adherence with prescribed therapy [89]. Extended delivery times may also be a factor in device selection depending on the therapeutics' half-life in the body.

These effects may also manifest as altered droplet size distributions compared with those expected from the same device aerosolizing small molecules, for example albuterol sulphate. This is an important consideration, especially if the nanomedicine aerosol is intended to deposit in specific regions within the respiratory tract for greatest effect [19, 20]. At a minimum, droplet size should be assessed using standardised, regulatory approved means such as laser diffraction or cascade impaction [90]. This is done in order to confirm that the aerosolised droplets containing the nanomedicine are within the respirable range of interest [2, 91].

Once a compatible aerosol generator has been identified, the next consideration is the delivered dose to the lungs or target area. The literature is replete with studies describing the differences in delivered dose between device types, patient interventions and patient interfaces [92, 93]. Patient type is a key factor also, with the choice of the most appropriate aerosol generator sometimes being limited by the environment in which the therapy is being administered. For example, anaesthetized patients receiving invasive respiratory support through mechanical ventilation are likely to require a different device than a spontaneously breathing, conscious patient. These respiratory support interventions require the use of a variety of complex equipment, each of which have been shown to have a significant effect on the delivered dose [93, 94]. These differences in dose delivery are magnified further between infant, paediatric, adolescent and adult patients. With effects conferred by differences in breathing patterns, airway geometries and device/patient interfaces, there is a huge range of potential delivered doses reported in the literature [95–98]. Understanding the delivered dose is critical in formulation design. It inputs into dose concentration and dose volume calculations. It may also lead to prescriptions of device type, interface or intervention in ensuring that the appropriate dose is delivered.

#### 6 In vitro and In vivo Assessment of Inhaled Nanoparticles

#### 6.1 In Vitro Testing

#### 6.1.1 Cell Culture Models

The lungs are complex not only in structure but in the assortment of cell types that are present, of which there are about 40 varying types [4]. Various cell lines have been developed which act as models for different cell phenotypes in the lungs and a key feature of cell culture models for assessment of inhaled nanoparticles is that cells are often cultured at an air-liquid interface to recapitulate the lung environment. Calu-3 and 16HBE14o- cell lines are capable of forming polarized monolayers and tight junctions providing a suitable model of the bronchial epithelium. Calu-3 cells are also capable of forming an airway surface layer, an impacting barrier to nanoparticle delivery [99]. Alveolar epithelial cells can be replicated using human primary cells, the adenocarcinoma derived A549 cell line or the NCI-H441 cell line. Primary cells and NCI-H441s form a competent barrier [100] whereas the A549s do not [101]. Primary airway epithelial cells have been isolated from human and animal sources. These primary cultures consist of several cell types and provide a better approximation of the in vivo environment. Normal human bronchial epithelial cells (NHBEs) can be fully differentiated with mucin and cilia production when grown on an extracellular matrix at an air-liquid interface. However, this process takes a relatively long time with cells being cultured for 30 days.

There are several immune cells present in the lung including mast cells, dendritic cells, and alveolar macrophages. The THP-1 monocytic leukemia cell line is a commonly used alveolar macrophage *in vitro* model and can be differentiated into macrophages using phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA) [102]. Primary human alveolar macrophages have also been isolated from patients with disease states such as COPD. These cells can be difficult to culture and may show an inability to phagocytose [103]. Primary monocyte-derived macrophages obtained from human blood and differentiated with granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) have also been used as lung models but are not alveolar macrophages [40].

Cell-cell interactions can mean results regarding inflammation and responses to particles vary. Over the years a number of co-culture models have been developed to enable the study of the interaction of particles with lung cells. These co-culture models facilitate cell-cell interactions and could thereby better recapitulate the *in vivo* environment. Some examples include the system developed by Rothen-Rutishauser et al. in 2005 [104] consisting of A549s, macrophages and dendritic cells. The cells are grown on and underneath filter inserts with pores of 3 µm in size. The model has been used to investigate particle interactions with the lung and the immune system. More elaborate 3D models are also being developed and used which seek to recapitulate the extracellular matrix of the lungs using materials such as Matrigel® [105], poly(ethylene glycol) [106], and collagen [107] to support cell culture *in vitro*. While these systems offer significant advantages over traditional 2D cell culture, they do not take into account dynamic processes of respiration.

Microfluidic-based devices are seeking to address this including the lung-on-a-chip developed by Huh et al. [108–112] which in the author's own words is "a microfluidic device that replicates the microarchitecture and dynamic microenvironment of the alveolar–capillary unit of the living human lung" [112].

#### 6.1.2 In Vitro Toxicity & Immunogenicity of Inhaled Nanoparticles

There is still significant research required to properly elucidate the physiological processing of nanomaterials that serve as drug carriers [113] and drug alone nanoparticles [114]. The ideal properties required for nanoparticle drug-delivery systems: size on the nanoscale, large surface area facilitating drug solubility and/or surface modifications to aid targeting, good cell interaction are the same characteristics that can contribute to a nanoparticle's deposition and pulmonary toxicity profile [115, 116]. Additionally, the properties of the nanomedicines themselves and the region in the lungs where they are deposited will influence the degradation and clearance properties of the nanoparticles as demonstrated in Fig. 2 [117].

Biodegradable polymers are often considered as safer alternatives compared to non-degrading carriers but to-date none have been regulatory approved for inhaled use. There are reports of inhaled PEI and PEGylated drug-loaded nanoparticles



**Fig. 2** Several extracellular and cellular barriers determine nanoparticle deposition, degradation and clearance: In the central lungs nanoparticles firstly encounter (1) epithelial lining and can traverse bronchial epithelial cells either in-tact or (2) larger particles may be broken down into smaller ones. Traversing the bronchial epithelium means that the nanoparticles avoid (3) mucociliary clearance in the central lungs and (4) phagocytic uptake by alveolar macrophages in the peripheral lungs or (5) dendritic uptake, translocation to the lymphatic system and systemic circulation. Reprinted with permission of the publisher Elsevier from Haque *et al.*, 2016 [117]


Fig. 3 Gamma scintigraphy images comparing nebulization efficiencies with (A) jet nebulizer and (B) vibrating mesh nebulizer during non-invasive ventilation using a radiolabelled diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid in saline solution. Reproduced with permission of Daedalus Enterprises Inc from [147]

inducing inflammation in the lungs and disease-associated inflammation contributing to altered clearance mechanisms and pulmonary toxicity [118]. *In vitro* toxicity has also been observed for example for PLGA, chitosan and PLGA Pluronic®F68 (PF68) in epithelial A549 cells [45].

Briefly, in vitro testing facilitates simple, cost and time efficient determination of toxicity endpoints at a generic cytotoxicity or genotoxicity level [119]. A number of techniques are employed from traditional cell-culture studies to more advanced in vitro kits that serve as more realistic representatives of the lung and consider both lung physiology and surrounding environment [120]. As outlined above traditional cell-culture methods (monolayers, co-cultures and more recently 3D cell-culture models) may be used to mimic the lung environment and determine potential pulmonary toxicity. Cellular toxicity or indeed antigenicity [121] may be determined via simple metabolic assays [122] and more complex multi-parameter toxicity kits that also consider the influence of nanomaterials on factors such as cell morphology, size, membrane integrity, cell density and lysosomal mass-pH [47]. Metabolic activity is often determined via mitochondrial activity using an MTT assay. Cellular necrosis, another indicator of cytotoxicity is also detected colorimetrically using the lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay [123]. Stress response tests are based on the presence of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [124]. Detection of inflammatory markers (IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$ ) present in cell supernatants, via a series of antibody and enzymatic detection reactions involving an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) test, may determine immune responses to materials [123]. Despite the apparent usefulness of the aforementioned in vitro tests, nanoparticle interference remains a problem with the overall test success and validity determined by the nature of the nanomaterial and the test itself. Properties such as nanoparticle hydrophobicity, surface charge, catalytic activity and adsorption capacity can interfere with test findings thus providing false positive or negatives with regards to in vitro

Assay	Detection principle	Interference	Result	Ref.
MTT	Mitochondrial activity determined via colorimetry	Substrate adsorption	Altered cell viability	[125, 127]
LDH	LDH release determined via colorimetry	LDH inhibition	Altered prediction of necrosis	[128]
ELISA	Cytokine secretion determined via colorimetry	Cytokine adsorption	Altered cytokine concentration	[129]
H <sub>2</sub> DCF-DA	ROS production determined via fluorescence	Fluorescence quenching	Unreliable indication of oxidative stress	[130]

 Table 2 A summary of nanoparticle interference in commonly used *in vitro* toxicity assays (Adopted from [123])

MTT:(3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide); LDH: lactate dehydrogenase; ELISA: enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay; H<sub>2</sub>DCF-DA: 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate; ROS: reactive oxygen species.

activity particularly for metallic nanoparticles as outlined in Table 2 [125]. Although some researchers have conducted sterilization, microbial and endotoxin analysis of their nanoparticles most published nanoparticle studies are still manufacturing under non-sterile conditions. Whether this is a cause for concern and influences *in vitro* and *in vivo* toxicity findings remains debatable as even the lung itself is not truly a sterile environment thus nanomaterials may be simply disrupting the natural microbiome [126].

The scientific community are keen to pursue developing, standardising and validating more advanced in vitro detection methods in particular with continuous public concern regarding animal welfare [131]. Centers such as the European Centre for the Validation of Alternative Methods (ECVAM) are driving this process of international standardisation and validation [123]. Current acceptance for translation includes nanomedicines that meet the International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use Standard 8 and those of the ASTM Committee E56 (https://www.safenano.org/knowledgebase/standards/astm-international/). Within Europe projects such as Future Nanomedicines and NanoReg2 aim to define the European strategy for regulatory testing of clinically translatable nanomaterials [132]. There are advances and improvements in marketed *in vitro* tests, for example commercially available differentiated epithelium MucilAir<sup>TM</sup> can mimic healthy or diseased tissue including expected respiratory system characteristics such as ciliary beating, ion transport and metabolic activity [120]. How a material behaves in vivo may differ considerably to in vitro due to the presence of biological fluids (plasma, mucus, lung surfactants) and pulmonary enzymes [118]. Co-cultures as referred to earlier, comprising two or more cell types facilitate closer replication of physiological conditions in vivo but require complete validation of cells used in both mono and co-cultures [116].

# 6.2 In Vivo Testing

In terms of a target site for *in vivo* testing generally the respiratory system is relatively accessible with many veterinary devices used in studies involving mice [64, 65], other rodents, dogs [133] and sheep [134] in particular. Rodent models are not ideal in terms of representing human physiology and anatomy, which can lead to poor recapitulation of the human lung nanoparticle clearance and overall pharmaco-kinetics. Sheep are more useful models with respiratory system dimensions and physiology more representative of that in humans [134].

#### 6.2.1 In Vivo Toxicity & Immunogenicity of Inhaled Nanoparticles

When determining *in vivo* toxicity, consideration must be given to a number of factors including: route of administration; dose delivered and exposure levels; overall health of the respiratory system; particle size and the material itself among others. Nanoparticles administered via inhalation have been associated with systemic, inflammatory and neurotoxic effects following penetration of the central nervous system [135]. The dose delivered and number of exposures also may induce accumulation of polymer which in turn precipitates pulmonary edema, and release of pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines. Similarly the health of the respiratory system to which the nanoparticles are being delivered can influence their retention time and thus therapeutic effect [136]. Toxicity of nanoparticles in vivo is generally determined by the detection of relevant biomarkers including cytokines, chemokines and the presence of inflammatory cells including macrophages and neutrophils in the lung tissue and broncheoalveolar lavage fluid [117]. Studies to-date on inhaled nanoparticles have primarily focused on the pharmacokinetics and drug release profiles of the therapeutic cargoes rather than the fate and products of degradation of the nanomaterial [45, 64, 117, 137]. If these nanoparticles are to be transferred to the clinic, complete characterization of their toxicity profiles, an understanding of the mechanisms involved in nanomaterial clearance and correlation of *in vitro* - *in vivo* assessment is essential [117]. A combination of *in vitro* and in vivo methods may be employed with endpoint pulmonary toxicity determined by viability, apoptosis, oxidative stress, inflammatory response and mucus interaction [116]. The reader is referred to an extensive list of *in vitro* and *in vivo* toxicity endpoint studies for both polymer and lipid nanoparticle systems as presented in the review by Fattal and colleagues [116].

#### 6.2.2 Biodistribution of Inhaled Nanoparticles

Inhalation allows for targeted delivery of nanoparticles to the lungs, however, the respiratory system is not an isolated one. Determining the fate of drug-loaded nanoparticles including their site of deposition, residence time in the lungs, the

nanoparticle drug (nanomedicine) half-life, off-target effects and rate of clearance are important in terms of effective delivery as well as protection from toxic accumulation. Biodistribution also provides vital information for optimal patient care when selecting the appropriate inhalation device and dosing regimen in terms of drug compatibility and inspiratory effort of the patient particularly for respiratory patients with compromised lung function.

Tracking of nanoparticle fate following inhalation can be done by either pharmacokinetic methods or imaging techniques. The method employed depends upon the type of information that is required i.e. the level of cell/tissue targeting, the effect of nanoparticle/dose manipulation or the effect of lung disease state [138–140]. Selection of the appropriate animal model is also of critical importance when assessing total and regional deposition to inform human studies. Rodent models are a popular choice for biodistribution studies, being relatively inexpensive with easy availability of reagents and kits with which to analyse endpoints. However, as noted above the anatomy of rodents differs significantly with human anatomy. Rodents have monopodial branching compared to the dichotomous branching in human lungs, rodents lack respiratory bronchioles and have a reduced number of alveoli affecting air flow. These structural differences mean particle entrainment and change in velocity does not occur in rodents until they reach the central to lower airways with deposition occurring due to sedimentation unlike deposition due to impaction often seen in humans, therefore care must be taken when extrapolating the regional deposition of particles from rodent studies to humans [141, 142].

After respiratory delivery of nanoparticles, histological analysis permits determination of drug concentration and assessment of focal lung regions deposition which has occurred. In addition collection of the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) provides useful information on nanoparticle-drug distribution. This involves instilling and then aspirating sterile 0.9% saline solution from the whole lung followed by centrifugation and cell staining. Microscopy, flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry of the BALF can provide evidence of any inflammatory responses to the nanoparticles and/or the distribution of nanoparticles within the BALF cells and any preferential cell uptake that might be exhibited [26, 71, 143]. Application of these techniques proved useful in the comparison of polymer, i.e. PEI and PLL particles, which were uncoated or PEGylated. The nanoparticles were able to efficiently cross the human CF mucus barrier ex vivo which, when taken further into mouse in vivo studies, showed the ability to compact and deliver plasmid DNA to airway epithelial cells. Furthermore, histological biodistribution comparisons between the nanoparticles showed PEGylated particles were able to achieve small airway deposition compared to uncoated particles which had significantly reduced small airway distribution; coated particles were retained in the lungs for longer duration demonstrating the utility of these techniques in delivery method selection [71].

Conjugation of a tag or incorporation of photostable fluorescent dyes into nanoparticles can be a powerful tool in studying their biodistribution and fate of the nanoparticle and/or therapeutic cargo in the lungs. Conjugates such as Alexa fluor can be covalently linked to permit biofluorescent visualisation of nanoparticle biodistribution. By selecting varying fluorophores across the spectra multiplex, analysis can be carried out where varying formulations of nanomedicines can be examined for site specific targeting. Schneider *et al* labelled PLGA and polystyrene polymers with differing Alex fluor conjugates prior to particle manufacturing and intranasally delivered either mucoadhesive or mucus-penetrating nanoparticle variations of the polymers to assess which provided better biodistribution and crossing of the tracheal mucus layer in mouse models. The mucus penetrating formulations (PEGylated) in both cases demonstrated enhanced ability over mucoadhesive formulations in diffusing across the tracheal mucus layer [144].

Visualisation of luciferase with instruments like the In Vivo Imaging System (IVIS) generates biodistribution data based on a bioluminescent signal by the marker at the subdivided anatomic zones of the lungs, showing where drug nanoparticles are located [145]. Luciferase plasmid encapsulated in dimerized HIV-1 TAT peptide delivery vectors was administered intratracheally into tumourbearing lung cancer mouse models which showed a dose dependent uptake at the tumour site over a 14 day monitoring period and limited off-target distribution [146]. Application of both bioluminescence and biofluoresence distribution techniques elegantly demonstrated the lungs as a viable administration route over systemic delivery of vaccine formulations. Li et al showed intratracheal delivery of Alexa647-OVA+ cells and luciferase expressing OT-I CD8+ cells in mouse models were able to traffic from the lungs to the mediastinal lymph nodes. Subsequent intratracheal delivery of peptide encapsulating lipid nanocapsules (interbilavercrosslinked multilamellar vesicles) primed 13-fold more T-cells compared to controls in both the lungs and distal sites, as well as eliciting memory immunity and showing greater biodistribution compared to parenteral delivery [26].

Gamma-scintigraphy is a two-dimensional technique with the radionuclide either adsorbed onto the surface of the nanoparticle or combined in the drug solution for nebulisers providing detailed information on total nanoparticle delivery and subsequent distribution. Galindo-Filho and colleagues demonstrated the utility of this technique showing vibrating mesh nebulisers achieved >two-fold pulmonary aerosol deposition compared to standard jet nebulisers using a radiolabelled diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid in saline solution (Fig. 3) [147]. Use of gamma scintigraphy in healthy individuals also demonstrated a 2.3 fold increase in pulmonary deposition of nanoscale salbutamol drug compared to standard micronized dry powder delivery [11]. However, limitations with this technique include the overestimation of deposition due to poor separation between the peripheral and small airways which can affect calculation of Permeation Index [148, 149]. Three-dimensional imaging can overcome this issue with Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT) and Positron Emission Tomography (PET) by conjugation of radionuclides or incorporation into the formulations respectively; by taking multiple planar images computer algorithms are able to generate the 3D images. Vij et al delivered PEGylated PLGA nanoparticles encapsulating ibuprofen to COPD mouse models and were able to determine by X SPECT-CT particle localisation to sites of pulmonary inflammation in real-time and subsequent decrease in detection marker indicating drug efficacy showing the additional capacity of this technique in terms of theranostics [150]. However, radionuclides used in these methods have relatively short half-lives limiting their use in longitudinal studies and sophisticated instrumentation is required meaning they are mostly used in basic scientific human trials [143, 150, 151].

#### 6.2.3 Computational Modelling

Due to the ethical issues, expense, resource requirement and the lack of good iterative and standardised *in vivo* models there is a significant focus now on computational modelling (*in silico* testing) of deposition [152]. The models are based on either mechanical or mathematical modelling of the airways to predict whole lung and/or regional levels of deposition. Formulations such as Sar-Gel, when coated to the interior of 3D printed airway models, allow qualitative assessment of biodistribution based on colour change upon interaction with moisture present in an inhaled solution [153]. While these types of models are useful they do not generate quantitative data meaning slight or subtle differences may be missed and they are not suitable for all types of inhalers. Computational *in vitro* studies are now looking at a combined mechanical/mathematical approach generating Functional Respiratory Imaging (FRI). Manipulation of experimental conditions such as varying formulations or inhaler device and disease progression can all be modelled to assess the effect on nano medicine biodistribution.

# 7 Industrial and Regulatory Aspects of Nanotechnology in Inhaled Product Development

The ability to manufacture and commercialize nanoparticles on a large-scale is essential to facilitate clinical translation. The successful scale-up of nanoparticlebased delivery systems relies heavily on collaborative efforts between academic researchers, industry, contract research organisations (CROs), government agencies and regulatory authorities in addition to financial investment, to facilitate transfer of scientific know-how to a therapeutic product [154]. Translation of standard evaluation assays for nanoparticle characterization is not straightforward due to the distinctive nature of nanoparticle physicochemical properties. This contributes to interference in assay findings as discussed earlier [155]. Finally personnel exposure to the nanoparticles during manufacture, healthcare and patient exposure during administration, and environmental and public exposure following disposal and excretion via waste water must also be carefully considered [156].

As mentioned above it is essential that complete *in vitro* and *in vivo* characterisation of the final product is conducted and this is costly not only in terms of time but also the requirement for personnel with appropriate skills and expertise in the area [154]. As outlined previously in the characterisation section the NCI-NCL and the EU-NCL are cooperative centers that focus on harmonisation of nanomedicine development and pave the pathway for regulatory approval of nanomedicines [154]. The aim is to facilitate a "safety by design approach" for novel nanoparticles and enhance their potential for efficient and effective development and scale-up of new nanomedicines [157].

To address concerns regarding the safety and toxicity profile of nanopharmaceuticals requires the active participation of both the regulatory and scientific bodies and the academic/industrial researchers involved to develop and reinforce safety measures and regulatory frameworks to insure the public health [158, 159]. Research is now showing that harmless bulk materials tend to become more toxic when they are made into ultra-fine particles. The broad opinion is that the smaller the particles, the more reactive and toxic are their effects. The European Medicines Agency (EMA), in conjunction with experts of other Regulatory Agencies from US, Japan, Canada and Australia, joined the international reflection hosted by the FDA on how to define the characteristics of medicines based on nanotechnology. The group of regulators discussed and shared information on relevant on-going guidelines [160] and scientific and legislative initiatives in the various regions in order to facilitate worldwide harmonization regarding nanotechnology.

According to scientific guidelines from the EMA, the quality and performance of nanomedicines depends on the particle size, sample composition, chemical and physiochemical status, surface characteristics and interactions with biological environment. In harmony with this classification, devices are tested in accordance with the European Committee for Standardisation (CEN) Standard for Respiratory Therapy Equipment EN 13544–1 [161]. In 2006, new regulatory guidance was issued by the EMA and Health Canada [162]. This guidance reflected the dependency of safe inhaler device use on the selected formulation/device combination.

Orally inhaled products (OIPs) act in combination as device and formulation, however, from a regulatory perspective, are treated as drugs by the ruling pharmacopoeia's given that the drug is the main causative agent in the product [82, 90, 163, 164]. Given the multi-dose dispensing nature of many OIPs, the uniformity of delivered dose is of importance in all inhalation products, to ensure the patient receives a consistent drug dosage. As discussed previously, particle size has an important influence on localization of the drug therefore particle size and aerodynamic particle size and distribution characterisation must be carried out on all OIPs. The pharmacopoeia monographs and their expected results should be used at all stages of the product life cycle from development to batch-to-batch analysis once in production.

Aerodynamic particle size distribution provides important information on deposition of the drug due to the plume generated by the inhaler. Cascade impactors can provide this information as well as aerodynamic particle size by use of an airstream to entrain the particles and assess where they reach due to inertia. This method also permits assessment of drug mass that reaches the target site in the lungs providing the 'respirable fraction' of the drug [161, 162, 165].

# 8 Conclusion

To conclude, the potential for nanoparticles in successful respiratory therapeutic and vaccination strategies is significant. Unlike systemic delivery approaches, using nanoparticles via inhalation facilitates local, targeted delivery of the nanomedicine to the disease site overcoming many of the issues associated with parenteral delivery. The ability to combine several functions into a single nanomedicine could play a significant role in bringing nanomedicines to the fore as a go-to inhalable technology platform. The optimal integration of nanomedicines with devices for inhalation is a multifaceted and complex process, but reliable and reproducible dosing can be achieved through optimised combination product development, ensuring that nanomedicines have the greatest opportunity to demonstrate their potential as a next generation approach to therapy.

# References

- Dufort S, Bianchi A, Henry M, Lux F, Le Duc G, Josserand V, et al. Nebulized gadoliniumbased nanoparticles: a theranostic approach for lung tumor imaging and radiosensitization. Small. 2015;11(2):215–21.
- Elhissi A, Hidayat K, Phoenix DA, Mwesigwa E, Crean S, Ahmed W, et al. Air-jet and vibrating-mesh nebulization of niosomes generated using a particulate-based proniosome technology. Int J Pharm. 2013;444(1–2):193–9.
- Porsio B, Cusimano MG, Schillaci D, Craparo EF, Giammona G, Cavallaro G. Nano into micro formulations of tobramycin for the treatment of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections in cystic fibrosis. Biomacromolecules. 2017;18(12):3924–35.
- Silva AS, Sousa AM, Cabral RP, Silva MC, Costa C, Miguel SP, et al. Aerosolizable gold nano-in-micro dry powder formulations for theragnosis and lung delivery. Int J Pharm. 2017;519(1–2):240–9.
- Vencken S, Foged C, Ramsey JM, Sweeney L, Cryan SA, MacLoughlin RJ, et al. Nebulised lipid-polymer hybrid nanoparticles for the delivery of a therapeutic anti-inflammatory microRNA to bronchial epithelial cells. ERJ Open Res. 2019;5(2)
- 6. Park CW, Li X, Vogt FG, Hayes D Jr, Zwischenberger JB, Park ES, et al. Advanced spraydried design, physicochemical characterization, and aerosol dispersion performance of vancomycin and clarithromycin multifunctional controlled release particles for targeted respiratory delivery as dry powder inhalation aerosols. Int J Pharm. 2013;455(1–2):374–92.
- Li X, Vogt FG, Hayes D Jr, Mansour HM. Physicochemical characterization and aerosol dispersion performance of organic solution advanced spray-dried microparticulate/nanoparticulate antibiotic dry powders of tobramycin and azithromycin for pulmonary inhalation aerosol delivery. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2014;52:191–205.
- Sung JC, Padilla DJ, Garcia-Contreras L, Verberkmoes JL, Durbin D, Peloquin CA, et al. Formulation and pharmacokinetics of self-assembled rifampicin nanoparticle systems for pulmonary delivery. Pharm Res. 2009;26(8):1847–55.
- Duan J, Vogt FG, Li X, Hayes D Jr, Mansour HM. Design, characterization, and aerosolization of organic solution advanced spray-dried moxifloxacin and ofloxacin dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC) microparticulate/nanoparticulate powders for pulmonary inhalation aerosol delivery. Int J Nanomedicine. 2013;8:3489–505.

- El-Gendy N, Pornputtapitak W, Berkland C. Nanoparticle agglomerates of fluticasone propionate in combination with albuterol sulfate as dry powder aerosols. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2011;44(4):522–33.
- 11. Bhavna, Ahmad FJ, Mittal G, Jain GK, Malhotra G, Khar RK, et al. Nano-salbutamol dry powder inhalation: a new approach for treating broncho-constrictive conditions. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2009;71(2):282–291.
- Berger WE, Noonan MJ. Treatment of persistent asthma with Symbicort (budesonide/formoterol inhalation aerosol): an inhaled corticosteroid and long-acting beta2-adrenergic agonist in one pressurized metered-dose inhaler. J Asthma. 2010;47(4):447–59.
- Molimard M, Till D, Stenglein S, Singh D, Krummen M. Inhalation devices for long-acting beta2-agonists: efficiency and ease of use of dry powder formoterol inhalers for use by patients with asthma and COPD. Curr Med Res Opin. 2007;23(10):2405–13.
- Kuzmov A, Minko T. Nanotechnology approaches for inhalation treatment of lung diseases. J Control Release. 2015;219:500–18.
- Garbuzenko OB, Ivanova V, Kholodovych V, Reimer DC, Reuhl KR, Yurkow E, et al. Combinatorial treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis using nanoparticles with prostaglandin E and siRNA(s). Nanomedicine. 2017;13(6):1983–92.
- Cova E, Colombo M, Inghilleri S, Morosini M, Miserere S, Penaranda-Avila J, et al. Antibodyengineered nanoparticles selectively inhibit mesenchymal cells isolated from patients with chronic lung allograft dysfunction. Nanomedicine (Lond). 2015;10(1):9–23.
- Cova E, Inghilleri S, Pandolfi L, Morosini M, Magni S, Colombo M, et al. Bioengineered gold nanoparticles targeted to mesenchymal cells from patients with bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome does not rise the inflammatory response and can be safely inhaled by rodents. Nanotoxicology. 2017;11(4):534–45.
- Machelart A, Salzano G, Li X, Demars A, Debrie AS, Menendez-Miranda M, et al. Intrinsic antibacterial activity of nanoparticles made of beta-Cyclodextrins potentiates their effect as drug Nanocarriers against tuberculosis. ACS Nano. 2019;13(4):3992–4007.
- Altenburg AF, van de Sandt CE, Li BW, MacLoughlin RJ, Fouchier RA, van Amerongen G, et al. Modified vaccinia virus Ankara preferentially targets antigen presenting cells in vitro, ex vivo and in vivo. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):8580.
- Holzer B, Morgan SB, Matsuoka Y, Edmans M, Salguero FJ, Everett H, et al. Comparison of Heterosubtypic protection in ferrets and pigs induced by a single-cycle influenza vaccine. J Immunol. 2018;200(12):4068–77.
- Low N, Bavdekar A, Jeyaseelan L, Hirve S, Ramanathan K, Andrews NJ, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of an aerosolized vaccine against measles. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(16):1519–29.
- Meyer M, Garron T, Lubaki NM, Mire CE, Fenton KA, Klages C, et al. Aerosolized Ebola vaccine protects primates and elicits lung-resident T cell responses. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(8):3241–55.
- Zhao L, Seth A, Wibowo N, Zhao C-X, Mitter N, Yu C, et al. Nanoparticle vaccines. Vaccine. 2014;32(3):327–37.
- Fromen CA, Robbins GR, Shen TW, Kai MP, Ting JP, DeSimone JM. Controlled analysis of nanoparticle charge on mucosal and systemic antibody responses following pulmonary immunization. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2015;112(2):488–93.
- Manolova V, Flace A, Bauer M, Schwarz K, Saudan P, Bachmann MF. Nanoparticles target distinct dendritic cell populations according to their size. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(5):1404–13.
- Li AV, Moon JJ, Abraham W, Suh H, Elkhader J, Seidman MA, et al. Generation of effector memory T cell–based mucosal and systemic immunity with pulmonary nanoparticle vaccination. Sci Transl Med. 2013, 5(204):204ra130–0.
- Bobo D, Robinson KJ, Islam J, Thurecht KJ, Corrie SR. Nanoparticle-based medicines: a review of FDA-approved materials and clinical trials to date. Pharm Res. 2016;33(10):2373–87.

- Ragelle H, Danhier F, Préat V, Langer R, Anderson DG. Nanoparticle-based drug delivery systems: a commercial and regulatory outlook as the field matures. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2017;14(7):851–64.
- Sahdev P, Ochyl LJ, Moon JJ. Biomaterials for nanoparticle vaccine delivery systems. Pharm Res. 2014;31(10):2563–82.
- 30. Su L, Li R, Khan S, Clanton R, Zhang F, Lin Y-N, et al. Chemical Design of both a glutathionesensitive Dimeric drug guest and a glucose-derived Nanocarrier host to achieve enhanced osteosarcoma lung metastatic anticancer selectivity. J Am Chem Soc. 2018;140(4):1438–46.
- Verma NK, Crosbie-Staunton K, Satti A, Gallagher S, Ryan KB, Doody T, et al. Magnetic core-shell nanoparticles for drug delivery by nebulization. J Nanobiotechnol 2013;11(1):1.
- 32. Rodrigues TC, Oliveira MLS, Soares-Schanoski A, Chavez-Rico SL, Figueiredo DB, Gonçalves VM, et al. Mucosal immunization with PspA (Pneumococcal surface protein A)-adsorbed nanoparticles targeting the lungs for protection against pneumococcal infection. PLoS One. 2018;13(1):e0191692.
- Nelli RK, Kuchipudi SV, White GA, Perez BB, Dunham SP, Chang K-C. Comparative distribution of human and avian type sialic acid influenza receptors in the pig. BMC Vet Res. 2010;6(1):4.
- 34. Guo X, Zhang X, Ye L, Zhang Y, Ding R, Hao Y, et al. Inhalable microspheres embedding chitosan-coated PLGA nanoparticles for 2-methoxyestradiol. J Drug Target. 2014;22(5):421–7.
- 35. Menon JU, Ravikumar P, Pise A, Gyawali D, Hsia CC, Nguyen KT. Polymeric nanoparticles for pulmonary protein and DNA delivery. Acta Biomater. 2014;10(6):2643–52.
- Banura N, Murase K. Magnetic particle imaging for aerosol-based magnetic targeting. Jpn J Appl Phys. 2017;56(8):088001.
- Dames P, Gleich B, Flemmer A, Hajek K, Seidl N, Wiekhorst F, et al. Targeted delivery of magnetic aerosol droplets to the lung. Nat Nanotechnol. 2007;2(8):495.
- Bandyopadhyay A, Moitra S. Bio-organic nanoparticles: breaking the barrier in nanoparticlemediated pulmonary drug delivery. Int J Pulm & Res Sci. 2017;1(4):555568.
- 39. Zhang J, Wu L, Chan H-K, Watanabe W. Formation, characterization, and fate of inhaled drug nanoparticles. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2011;63(6):441–55.
- 40. de Souza CC, Daum N, Lehr C-M. Carrier interactions with the biological barriers of the lung: advanced in vitro models and challenges for pulmonary drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2014;75:129–40.
- 41. Wang W, Zhu R, Xie Q, Li A, Xiao Y, Li K, et al. Enhanced bioavailability and efficiency of curcumin for the treatment of asthma by its formulation in solid lipid nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine. 2012;7:3667.
- 42. Liu C, Shi J, Dai Q, Yin X, Zhang X, Zheng A. In-vitro and in-vivo evaluation of ciprofloxacin liposomes for pulmonary administration. Drug Dev Ind Pharm. 2015;41(2):272–8.
- Kelly C, Lawlor C, Burke C, Barlow JW, Ramsey JM, Jefferies C, et al. High-throughput methods for screening liposome-macrophage cell interaction. J Liposome Res. 2015;25(3):211–21.
- 44. Patil TS, Deshpande AS. Nanostructured lipid carriers-based drug delivery for treating various lung diseases: a state-of-the-art review. Int J Pharm. 2018;547(1–2):209–25.
- 45. Grabowski N, Hillaireau H, Vergnaud J, Santiago LA, Kerdine-Romer S, Pallardy M, et al. Toxicity of surface-modified PLGA nanoparticles toward lung alveolar epithelial cells. Int J Pharm. 2013;454(2):686–94.
- Rajitha P, Gopinath D, Biswas R, Sabitha M, Jayakumar R. Chitosan nanoparticles in drug therapy of infectious and inflammatory diseases. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2016;13(8):1177–94.
- Hibbitts A, Lieggi N, McCabe O, Thomas W, Barlow J, O'Brien F, et al. Screening of siRNA nanoparticles for delivery to airway epithelial cells using high-content analysis. Ther Deliv. 2011;2(8):987–99.
- 48. Kaminskas LM, McLeod VM, Ryan GM, Kelly BD, Haynes JM, Williamson M, et al. Pulmonary administration of a doxorubicin-conjugated dendrimer enhances drug exposure to lung metastases and improves cancer therapy. J Control Release. 2014;183:18–26.

- Garbuzenko OB, Winkler J, Tomassone MS, Minko T. Biodegradable Janus nanoparticles for local pulmonary delivery of hydrophilic and hydrophobic molecules to the lungs. Langmuir. 2014;30(43):12941–9.
- Vaidya B, Parvathaneni V, Kulkarni NS, Shukla SK, Damon JK, Sarode A, et al. Cyclodextrin modified erlotinib loaded PLGA nanoparticles for improved therapeutic efficacy against nonsmall cell lung cancer. Int J Biol Macromol. 2019;122:338–47.
- Andrade F, Videira M, Ferreira D, Sarmento B. Micelle-based systems for pulmonary drug delivery and targeting. Drug Deliv Lett. 2011;1(2):171–85.
- Guthi JS, Yang S-G, Huang G, Li S, Khemtong C, Kessinger CW, et al. MRI-visible micellar nanomedicine for targeted drug delivery to lung cancer cells. Mol Pharm. 2009;7(1):32–40.
- 53. Grotz E, Tateosian NL, Salgueiro J, Bernabeu E, Gonzalez L, Manca ML, et al. Pulmonary delivery of rifampicin-loaded soluplus micelles against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Drug Deliv Sci Tec. 2019;101170
- Amani A, York P, Chrystyn H, Clark BJ. Evaluation of a nanoemulsion-based formulation for respiratory delivery of budesonide by nebulizers. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2010;11(3):1147–51.
- 55. Arbain NH, Salim N, Masoumi HRF, Wong TW, Basri M, Rahman MBA. In vitro evaluation of the inhalable quercetin loaded nanoemulsion for pulmonary delivery. Drug Deliv Transl Res. 2019;9(2):497–507.
- Chiang P-C, Alsup JW, Lai Y, Hu Y, Heyde BR, Tung D. Evaluation of aerosol delivery of nanosuspension for pre-clinical pulmonary drug delivery. Nanoscale Res Lett. 2009;4(3):254.
- Pilcer G, Amighi K. Formulation strategy and use of excipients in pulmonary drug delivery. Int J Pharm. 2010;392(1–2):1–19.
- Mukherjee A, Paul M, Mukherjee S. Recent Progress in the Theranostics application of Nanomedicine in lung Cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2019;11(5)
- Silva RM, Anderson DS, Peake J, Edwards PC, Patchin ES, Guo T, et al. Aerosolized silver nanoparticles in the rat lung and pulmonary responses over time. Toxicol Pathol. 2016;44(5):673–86.
- 60. Müller RH, Mäder K, Gohla S. Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) for controlled drug delivery a review of the state of the art. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2000;50(1):161–77.
- 61. Haworth CS, Bilton D, Chalmers JD, Davis AM, Froehlich J, Gonda I, et al. Inhaled liposomal ciprofloxacin in patients with non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis and chronic lung infection with Pseudomonas aeruginosa (ORBIT-3 and ORBIT-4): two phase 3, randomised controlled trials. Lancet Respir Med. 2019;7(3):213–26.
- Gibbons AM, McElvaney NG, Taggart CC, Cryan S-A. Delivery of rSLPI in a liposomal carrier for inhalation provides protection against cathepsin L degradation. J Microencapsul. 2009;26(6):513–22.
- 63. Gibbons A, Padilla-Carlin D, Kelly C, Hickey AJ, Taggart C, McElvaney NG, et al. The effect of liposome encapsulation on the pharmacokinetics of recombinant secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (rSLPI) therapy after local delivery to a guinea pig asthma model. Pharm Res. 2011;28(9):2233–45.
- 64. Aragao-Santiago L, Hillaireau H, Grabowski N, Mura S, Nascimento TL, Dufort S, et al. Compared in vivo toxicity in mice of lung delivered biodegradable and non-biodegradable nanoparticles. Nanotoxicology. 2016;10(3):292–302.
- 65. Garg T, Rath G, Goyal AK. Inhalable chitosan nanoparticles as antitubercular drug carriers for an effective treatment of tuberculosis. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol. 2016;44(3):997–1001.
- 66. Rubin BK. Physiology of airway mucus clearance. Respir Care. 2002;47(7):761-8.
- 67. Yang M, Yamamoto H, Kurashima H, Takeuchi H, Yokoyama T, Tsujimoto H, et al. Design and evaluation of inhalable chitosan-modified poly (dl-lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanocomposite particles. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2012;47(1):235–43.
- Al-Nemrawi N, Alshraiedeh NA, Zayed A, Altaani B. Low molecular weight chitosancoated PLGA nanoparticles for pulmonary delivery of tobramycin for cystic fibrosis. Pharmaceuticals. 2018;11(1):28.

- Paul P, Sengupta S, Mukherjee B, Shaw TK, Gaonkar RH, Debnath MC. Chitosan-coated nanoparticles enhanced lung pharmacokinetic profile of voriconazole upon pulmonary delivery in mice. Nanomedicine. 2018;13(5):501–20.
- Schuster BS, Suk JS, Woodworth GF, Hanes J. Nanoparticle diffusion in respiratory mucus from humans without lung disease. Biomaterials. 2013;34(13):3439–46.
- Suk JS, Kim AJ, Trehan K, Schneider CS, Cebotaru L, Woodward OM, et al. Lung gene therapy with highly compacted DNA nanoparticles that overcome the mucus barrier. J Control Release. 2014;178:8–17.
- Beyerle A, Merkel O, Stoeger T, Kissel T. PEGylation affects cytotoxicity and cellcompatibility of poly (ethylene imine) for lung application: structure–function relationships. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2010;242(2):146–54.
- Chittasupho C, Xie S-X, Baoum A, Yakovleva T, Siahaan TJ, Berkland CJ. ICAM-1 targeting of doxorubicin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles to lung epithelial cells. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2009;37(2):141–50.
- 74. Li K, Liang N, Yang H, Liu H, Li S. Temozolomide encapsulated and folic acid decorated chitosan nanoparticles for lung tumor targeting: improving therapeutic efficacy both in vitro and in vivo. Oncotarget. 2017;8(67):111318.
- Guo Y, Wang L, Lv P, Zhang P. Transferrin-conjugated doxorubicin-loaded lipid-coated nanoparticles for the targeting and therapy of lung cancer. Oncol Lett. 2015;9(3):1065–72.
- 76. Chono S, Tanino T, Seki T, Morimoto K. Efficient drug targeting to rat alveolar macrophages by pulmonary administration of ciprofloxacin incorporated into mannosylated liposomes for treatment of respiratory intracellular parasitic infections. J Control Release. 2008;127(1):50–8.
- Costa A, Sarmento B, Seabra V. Mannose-functionalized solid lipid nanoparticles are effective in targeting alveolar macrophages. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2018;114:103–13.
- Chan H-K, Kwok PCL. Production methods for nanodrug particles using the bottom-up approach. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2011;63(6):406–16.
- Singh M, Manikandan S, Kumaraguru A. Nanoparticles: a new technology with wide applications. Res J Nanosci Nanotechno. 2011;1(1):1–11.
- Mu RH. Manufacturing of nanoparticles by milling and homogenization techniques. Nanoparticle technology for drug delivery: CRC Press. 2006:45–76.
- Cho EJ, Holback H, Liu KC, Abouelmagd SA, Park J, Yeo Y. Nanoparticle characterization: state of the art, challenges, and emerging technologies. Mol Pharm. 2013;10(6):2093–110.
- 82. CDER Metered Dose Inhaler (MDI) and Dry Powder Inhaler (DPI) Products Quality Considerations. Draft Guidance for Industry. https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/ search-fda-guidance-documents/metered-dose-inhaler-mdi-and-dry-powder-inhaler-dpidrug-products-quality-considerations: FDA; 2018.
- Dailey LA, Schmehl T, Gessler T, Wittmar M, Grimminger F, Seeger W, et al. Nebulization of biodegradable nanoparticles: impact of nebulizer technology and nanoparticle characteristics on aerosol features. J Control Release. 2003;86(1):131–44.
- Pritchard JN. Industry guidance for the selection of a delivery system for the development of novel respiratory products. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2015;12(11):1755–65.
- Fernández Fernández E, Santos-Carballal B, de Santi C, Ramsey JM, MacLoughlin R, Cryan S-A, et al. Biopolymer-based nanoparticles for cystic fibrosis lung gene therapy studies. Materials. 2018;11(1):122.
- Graczyk H, Bryan LC, Lewinski N, Suarez G, Coullerez G, Bowen P, et al. Physicochemical characterization of nebulized superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs). J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv. 2015;28(1):43–51.
- Beck-Broichsitter M, Kleimann P, Schmehl T, Betz T, Bakowsky U, Kissel T, et al. Impact of lyoprotectants for the stabilization of biodegradable nanoparticles on the performance of airjet, ultrasonic, and vibrating-mesh nebulizers. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2012;82(2):272–80.

- Najlah M, Vali A, Taylor M, Arafat BT, Ahmed W, Phoenix DA, et al. A study of the effects of sodium halides on the performance of air-jet and vibrating-mesh nebulizers. Int J Pharm. 2013;456(2):520–7.
- Sawicki GS, Goldman DP, Chan W, Casey A, Greenberg J, Romley JA. Patient preference for treatment administration in cystic fibrosis. Am J Pharm. 2015;7(4):174–81.
- CDRH Reviewer Guidance for Nebulisaers, Metred Dose Inhalers, Spacers and Actuators FDA; 1993. https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/ reviewer-guidance-nebulizers-metered-dose-inhalers-spacers-and-actuators.
- Hibbitts A, O'mahony A, Forde E, Nolan L, Ogier J, Desgranges S, et al. Early-stage development of novel cyclodextrin-siRNA nanocomplexes allows for successful postnebulization transfection of bronchial epithelial cells. J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv. 2014;27(6):466–77.
- 92. Ari A, Areabi H, Fink JB. Evaluation of aerosol generator devices at 3 locations in humidified and non-humidified circuits during adult mechanical ventilation. Respir Care. 2010;55(7):837–44.
- Bennett G, Joyce M, Sweeney L, MacLoughlin R. In vitro determination of the Main effects in the Design of High-Flow Nasal Therapy Systems with respect to aerosol performance. Pulmonary Therapy. 2018:1–14.
- Ari A, Fink JB. Differential medical aerosol device and interface selection in patients during spontaneous, conventional mechanical and noninvasive ventilation. J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv. 2016;29(2):95–106.
- Dubus JC, Vecellio L, De Monte M, Fink JB, Grimbert D, Montharu J, et al. Aerosol deposition in neonatal ventilation. Pediatr Res. 2005;58(1):10.
- 96. Dugernier J, Reychler G, Wittebole X, Roeseler J, Depoortere V, Sottiaux T, et al. Aerosol delivery with two ventilation modes during mechanical ventilation: a randomized study. Ann Intensive Care. 2016;6(1):73.
- 97. MacLoughlin R, Telfer C, Clark A, Fink J. Aerosol: a novel vehicle for pharmacotherapy in neonates. Curr Pharm Des. 2017;23(38):5928–34.
- Réminiac F, Vecellio L, Loughlin RM, Le Pennec D, Cabrera M, Vourc'h NH, et al. Nasal high flow nebulization in infants and toddlers: an in vitro and in vivo scintigraphic study. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2017;52(3):337–44.
- 99. Grainger CI, Greenwell LL, Lockley DJ, Martin GP, Forbes B. Culture of Calu-3 cells at the air interface provides a representative model of the airway epithelial barrier. Pharm Res. 2006;23(7):1482–90.
- 100. Salomon JJ, Muchitsch VE, Gausterer JC, Schwagerus E, Huwer H, Daum N, et al. The cell line NCI-H441 is a useful in vitro model for transport studies of human distal lung epithelial barrier. Mol Pharm. 2014;11(3):995–1006.
- 101. Johnson LG, Dickman KG, Moore KL, Mandel LJ, Boucher RC. Enhanced Na+ transport in an air-liquid interface culture system. Am J Phys. 1993;264(6 Pt 1):L560–5.
- 102. Tsuchiya S, Gota Y, Okumura H, Nakae S, Konno T, Tada K, et al. Induction of maturation in cultured human Monocytic leukemia cells by a Phorbol Diester. Cancer Res. 1982;42(4):1530–6.
- 103. Terpstra GK, De Weger RA, Wassink GA, Kreuknit J, Huidekoper HJ. Changes in alveolar macrophage enzyme content and activity in smokers and patients with chronic obstructive lung disease. Int J Clin Pharmacol Res. 1987;7(4):273–7.
- 104. Rothen-Rutishauser BM, Kiama SG, Gehr P. A three-dimensional cellular model of the human respiratory tract to study the interaction with particles. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2005;32(4):281–9.
- 105. Franzdóttir SR, Axelsson IT, Arason AJ, Baldursson Ó, Gudjonsson T, Magnusson MK. Airway branching morphogenesis in three dimensional culture. Respir Res. 2010;11(1):162.
- 106. Gill BJ, Gibbons DL, Roudsari LC, Saik JE, Rizvi ZH, Roybal JD, et al. A synthetic matrix with independently tunable biochemistry and mechanical properties to study epithelial morphogenesis and EMT in a lung adenocarcinoma model. Cancer Res. 2012;72(22):6013–23.

- 107. O'Leary C, Cavanagh B, Unger RE, Kirkpatrick CJ, O'Dea S, O'Brien FJ, et al. The development of a tissue-engineered tracheobronchial epithelial model using a bilayered collagenhyaluronate scaffold. Biomaterials. 2016;85:111–27.
- Huh D, Hamilton GA, Ingber DE. From three-dimensional cell culture to organs-on-chips. Trends Cell Biol. 2011;21(12):745–54.
- 109. Huh D, Kim HJ, Fraser JP, Shea DE, Khan M, Bahinski A, et al. Microfabrication of human organs-on-chips. Nat Protoc. 2013;8:2135.
- Huh D, Matthews BD, Mammoto A, Montoya-Zavala M, Hsin HY, Ingber DE. Reconstituting organ-level lung functions on a Chip. Science. 2010;328(5986):1662.
- 111. Huh D, Torisawa YS, Hamilton GA, Kim HJ, Ingber DE. Microengineered physiological biomimicry: organs-on-chips. Lab Chip. 2012;12(12):2156–64.
- 112. Huh D. A human breathing lung-on-a-Chip. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015;12(Suppl 1):S42-S4.
- 113. Nassiri Koopaei N, Abdollahi M. Opportunities and obstacles to the development of nanopharmaceuticals for human use. Daru. 2016;24(1):23.
- 114. Li W, Yang Y, Wang C, Liu Z, Zhang X, An F, et al. Carrier-free, functionalized drug nanoparticles for targeted drug delivery. Chem Commun. 2012;48(65):8120–2.
- Bailey MM, Berkland CJ. Nanoparticle formulations in pulmonary drug delivery. Med Res Rev. 2009;29(1):196–212.
- 116. Fattal E, Tsapis N. Nanomedicine technology: current achievements and new trends. Clinical and Translational Imaging. 2014;2(1):77–87.
- 117. Haque S, Whittaker MR, McIntosh MP, Pouton CW, Kaminskas LM. Disposition and safety of inhaled biodegradable nanomedicines: opportunities and challenges. Nanomedicine. 2016;12(6):1703–24.
- 118. Marasini N, Haque S, Kaminskas LM. Polymer-drug conjugates as inhalable drug delivery systems: a review. Curr Opin Colloid Interface Sci. 2017;31:18–29.
- 119. Hayashi Y. Designing in vitro assay systems for hazard characterization. Basic strategies and related technical issues. Exp Toxicol Pathol. 2005;57:227–32.
- 120. Constant S, Huang S, Wiszniewski L, editors. An in vitro testing strategy for the development of novel inhaled therapeutics using human 3D airway epithelium model (Mucilair<sup>™</sup>). J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv; 2013.: Mary Ann Liebert, Inc..
- 121. Fytianos K, Drasler B, Blank F, von Garnier C, Seydoux E, Rodriguez-Lorenzo L, et al. Current in vitro approaches to assess nanoparticle interactions with lung cells. Nanomedicine (Lond). 2016;11(18):2457–69.
- 122. Grenha A, Grainger CI, Dailey LA, Seijo B, Martin GP, Remuñán-López C, et al. Chitosan nanoparticles are compatible with respiratory epithelial cells in vitro. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2007;31(2):73–84.
- 123. Kroll A, Pillukat MH, Hahn D, Schnekenburger J. Current in vitro methods in nanoparticle risk assessment: limitations and challenges. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2009;72(2):370–7.
- 124. Jakubowski W, Bartosz G. 2, 7-dichlorofluorescin oxidation and reactive oxygen species: what does it measure? Cell Biol Int. 2000;24(10):757–60.
- 125. Guadagnini R, Halamoda Kenzaoui B, Walker L, Pojana G, Magdolenova Z, Bilanicova D, et al. Toxicity screenings of nanomaterials: challenges due to interference with assay processes and components of classic in vitro tests. Nanotoxicology. 2015;9(sup1):13–24.
- 126. Poh TY, Ali N, Mac Aogain M, Kathawala MH, Setyawati MI, Ng KW, et al. Inhaled nanomaterials and the respiratory microbiome: clinical, immunological and toxicological perspectives. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2018;15(1):46.
- 127. Piret JP, Bondarenko OM, Boyles MSP, Himly M, Ribeiro AR, Benetti F, et al. Pan-European inter-laboratory studies on a panel of in vitro cytotoxicity and pro-inflammation assays for nanoparticles. Arch Toxicol. 2017;91(6):2315–30.
- 128. Han X, Gelein R, Corson N, Wade-Mercer P, Jiang J, Biswas P, et al. Validation of an LDH assay for assessing nanoparticle toxicity. Toxicology. 2011;287(1–3):99–104.

- 129. Mottas I, Milosevic A, Petri-Fink A, Rothen-Rutishauser B, Bourquin C. A rapid screening method to evaluate the impact of nanoparticles on macrophages. Nanoscale. 2017;9(7):2492–504.
- 130. Chen R, Huo L, Shi X, Bai R, Zhang Z, Zhao Y, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress induced by zinc oxide nanoparticles is an earlier biomarker for nanotoxicological evaluation. ACS Nano. 2014;8(3):2562–74.
- 131. Goldberg AM, Frazier JM, Brusick D, Dickens MS, Flint O, Gettings SD, et al. Framework for validation and implementation of in vitro toxicity tests. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Animal. 1993;29(9):688–92.
- 132. Accomasso L, Cristallini C, Giachino C. Risk assessment and risk minimization in Nanomedicine: a need for predictive, alternative, and 3Rs strategies. Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:228.
- 133. Nakane H. Translocation of particles deposited in the respiratory system: a systematic review and statistical analysis. Environ Health Prev Med. 2012;17(4):263.
- 134. Ryan GM, Bischof RJ, Enkhbaatar P, McLeod VM, Chan LJ, Jones SA, et al. A comparison of the pharmacokinetics and pulmonary lymphatic exposure of a generation 4 PEGylated dendrimer following intravenous and aerosol administration to rats and sheep. Pharm Res. 2016;33(2):510–25.
- 135. Zolnik BS, Sadrieh N. Regulatory perspective on the importance of ADME assessment of nanoscale material containing drugs. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009;61(6):422–7.
- 136. Tseng C-L, Wu SY-H, Wang W-H, Peng C-L, Lin F-H, Lin C-C, et al. Targeting efficiency and biodistribution of biotinylated-EGF-conjugated gelatin nanoparticles administered via aerosol delivery in nude mice with lung cancer. Biomaterials. 2008;29(20):3014–22.
- 137. Singh RP, Ramarao P. Accumulated polymer degradation products as effector molecules in cytotoxicity of polymeric nanoparticles. Toxicol Sci. 2013;136(1):131–43.
- 138. Diot P, Palmer LB, Smaldone A, DeCEelieGermana J, Grimson R, Maldone GC. RhDNase I aerosol deposition and related factors in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1997;156(5):1662–8.
- Heyder J. Deposition of inhaled particles in the human respiratory tract and consequences for regional targeting in respiratory drug delivery. Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2004;1(4):315–20.
- 140. Cryan S-A, Sivadas N, Garcia-Contreras L. In vivo animal models for drug delivery across the lung mucosal barrier. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2007;59(11):1133–51.
- 141. Hofmann W, Asgharian B, Bergmann R, Anjilvel S, Miller FJ. The effect of heterogeneity of lung structure on particle deposition in the rat lung. Toxicol Sci. 2000;53(2):430–7.
- 142. Miller F, Mercer R, Crapo J. Lower respiratory tract structure of laboratory animals and humans: dosimetry implications. Aerosol Sci Technol. 1993;18(3):257–71.
- 143. Black KC, Ibricevic A, Gunsten SP, Flores JA, Gustafson TP, Raymond JE, et al. In vivo fate tracking of degradable nanoparticles for lung gene transfer using PET and Cerenkov imaging. Biomaterials. 2016;98:53–63.
- 144. Schneider CS, Xu Q, Boylan NJ, Chisholm J, Tang BC, Schuster BS, et al. Nanoparticles that do not adhere to mucus provide uniform and long-lasting drug delivery to airways following inhalation. Sci Adv. 2017;3(4)
- 145. Carlon M, Toelen J, Van der Perren A, Vandenberghe LH, Reumers V, Sbragia L, et al. Efficient gene transfer into the mouse lung by fetal Intratracheal injection of rAAV2/6.2. Mol Ther. 2010;18(12):2130–8.
- 146. Kawabata A, Baoum A, Ohta N, Jacquez S, Seo G-M, Berkland C, et al. Intratracheal Administration of a Nanoparticle-Based Therapy with the angiotensin II type 2 receptor gene attenuates lung Cancer growth. Cancer Res. 2012;72(8):2057–67.
- 147. Galindo-Filho VC, Ramos ME, Rattes CS, Barbosa AK, Brandão DC, Brandão SCS, et al. Radioaerosol pulmonary deposition using mesh and jet nebulizers during noninvasive ventilation in healthy subjects. Respir Care. 2015;60(9):1238–46.

- 148. Weers J, Metzheiser B, Taylor G, Warren S, Meers P, Perkins WR. A gamma scintigraphy study to investigate lung deposition and clearance of inhaled amikacin-loaded liposomes in healthy male volunteers. J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv. 2009;22(2):131–8.
- 149. Bhavna, Ahmad FJ, Mittal G, Jain GK, Malhotra G, Khar RK, et al. Nano-salbutamol dry powder inhalation: a new approach for treating broncho-constrictive conditions. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2009;71(2):282–91.
- 150. Vij N, Min T, Bodas M, Gorde A, Roy I. Neutrophil targeted nano-drug delivery system for chronic obstructive lung diseases. Nanomedicine. 2016;12(8):2415–27.
- 151. Semmler-Behnke M, Takenaka S, Fertsch S, Wenk A, Seitz J, Mayer P, et al. Efficient elimination of inhaled nanoparticles from the alveolar region: evidence for interstitial uptake and subsequent Reentrainment onto airways epithelium. Environ Health Perspect. 2007;115(5):728–33.
- 152. Nowak N, Kakade PP, Annapragada AV. Computational fluid dynamics simulation of airflow and aerosol deposition in human lungs. Ann Biomed Eng. 2003;31(4):374–90.
- 153. Xi J, Yang T, Talaat K, Wen T, Zhang Y, Klozik S, et al. Visualization of local deposition of nebulized aerosols in a human upper respiratory tract model. J Vis. 2018;21(2):225–37.
- 154. Rösslein M, Liptrott NJ, Owen A, Boisseau P, Wick P, Herrmann IK. Sound understanding of environmental, health and safety, clinical, and market aspects is imperative to clinical translation of nanomedicines. Nanotoxicology. 2017;11(2):147–9.
- 155. Stark WJ. Nanoparticles in biological systems. Angew Chem Int Ed. 2011;50(6):1242-58.
- 156. Mostafalou S, Mohammadi H, Ramazani A, Abdollahi M. Different biokinetics of nanomedicines linking to their toxicity; an overview. BioMed Central. 2013;
- 157. Robinson RLM, Lynch I, Peijnenburg W, Rumble J, Klaessig F, Marquardt C, et al. How should the completeness and quality of curated nanomaterial data be evaluated? Nanoscale. 2016;8(19):9919–43.
- 158. Bawa R, Barenholz Y, Owen A. The challenge of regulating Nanomedicine: key issues. Nanomedicines. 2016:290–314.
- 159. Berkner S, Schwirn K, Voelker D. Nanopharmaceuticals: tiny challenges for the environmental risk assessment of pharmaceuticals. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2016;35(4):780–7.
- 160. FDA. Guidance for industry considering whether an FDA-regulated product involves the application of nanotechnology. 2014. https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/ search-fda-guidance-documents/considering-whether-fda-regulated-product-involvesapplication-nanotechnology.
- 161. Standard for Respiratory Therapy Equipment EN 13544-1 2009. https://standards.cen.eu/.
- 162. CHMP Guideline on the Pharmaceutical Quality of Inhalation and Nasal Products. 2006. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-guideline/guideline-pharmaceuticalquality-inhalation-nasal-products\_en.pdf.
- 163. Ph. Eur. Preparations for nebulisation: Characterisation. https://www.edqm.eu/en/ european-pharmacopoeia-ph-eur-9th-edition.
- 164. USP. Products for nebulization: Characterization. https://www.usp.org/.
- 165. USP. Orally Inhaled and Nasal Products. https://www.usp.org/.

# **Oral Vaccine Delivery: The Coming Age of Particulate Vaccines to Elicit Mucosal Immunity**



Rikhav P. Gala, Lotika Bajaj, Amit Bansal, Keegan Braz Gomes, Devyani Joshi, Ipshita Menon, Rokon Uz Zaman, Susu M. Zughaier, Marissa D'Souza, Carmen Popescu, Nigel D'Souza, Gregory T. Knipp, and Martin J. D'Souza

Abstract With the evolution of different challenging diseases, there is an urgent need of vaccine development against them to save millions of lives around the world. Particlulate delivery system plays an important role by acting as self-adjuvant in form of particles and thus assisting the immunogenicity of vaccines. Particulate vaccines have shown to have improved uptake by antigen presenting cells as compared to the soluble antigen. Traditional injectable vaccines are generally poor inducers of mucosal immunity and are therefore less effective against infections at the mucosal site. Mucosal vaccines have been reported to provide additional secretory antibody mediated protection at the mucosal site of entry of the pathogen. In this chapter, we discuss the benefits of particulate drug delivery systems for oral delivery, the role of immune system in the gut, and a case study of a novel particulate

R. P. Gala

L. Bajaj · A. Bansal · K. B. Gomes · D. Joshi · I. Menon · R. U. Zaman · M. D'Souza N. D'Souza · M. J. D'Souza (⊠) Vaccine Nanotechnology Laboratory, Center for Drug Delivery, Mercer University, Atlanta, GA, USA e-mail: dsouza\_mj@mercer.edu

S. M. Zughaier College of Medicine, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar

C. Popescu Roquette America Inc., Geneva, IL, USA

© American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020 P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), *Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles*, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_7

Vaccine Nanotechnology Laboratory, Center for Drug Delivery, Mercer University, Atlanta, GA, USA

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, The University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA

G. T. Knipp Department of Industrial and Physical Pharmacy, College of Pharmacy, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA

vaccine formulated into oral dissolving film for immunization via the buccal route. Key formulation components, process parameters and their biophysical characterizations have been discussed as well.

Keywords Microparticles  $\cdot$  Spray dry  $\cdot$  Oral dissolving films  $\cdot$  Mucosal immunity Buccal immunization

# Abbreviations

APCs	Antigen-Presenting Cells		
BBB	Blood-Brain Barrier		
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin		
DCs	Dendritic Cells		
EPR	Enhanced Permeability and Retention		
GALT	Gut Associated Lymphoid Tissue		
IFNΥ	Interferon Gamma		
IL	Interleukin		
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex		
MLNs	Mesenteric Lymph Nodes		
MALT	Mucosal Associate Lymphoid Tissues		
MIS	Mucosal Immune System		
NALT	Nasopharynx-Associated Lymphoid Tissue		
ODF	Oral Dissolving Film		
PPs	Peyer's Patches		
PLGA	Poly(lLactic-cCo-gGlycolic aAcid)		
RVG	Rabies Virus Glycoprotein		
TLRs	Toll-Like Receptors		
Th1	Type 1 Helper T Cells		
Th2	Type 2 Helper T Cells		
VLPs	Virus-Like Particles		

# 1 Introduction

Vaccines play a pivotal role in the management of various infectious diseases and are considered to be as successful tours de force in medicine [1]. Concerted efforts in the development of vaccines have benefitted both humans and animals in dealing with deadly infectious diseases. Vaccine development was historically based on Louis Pasteur's concept of isolation, attenuation and injection. Over the years, it has been observed that vaccines either loses its immunogenicity or cause adverse effects like fever and anaphylactic reaction [2–4]. There is always a risk in the use of live

attenuated viral vaccine i.e. it may undergo reversion to virulence. In an attempt to mitigate the adverse effects and in order to avoid the use of weakened viruses, recent research has led to the development of subunit vaccines. Subunit vaccine consists of single or a few highly purified antigens designed to induce a specific immune response. Advances in technology enabled the production of subunit vaccine in bulk quantity. Unlike traditional vaccines, it exhibits superior safety profile and reduced reactogenicity [5].

It has been observed over the years that subunit vaccines were less immunogenic than traditional vaccines due to the absence of pathogen-associated molecular patterns and poor antigen presentation to the immune sentinels i.e. antigen-presenting cells (APCs). These obstacles necessitated the use of adjuvants in vaccines and delivery of antigens in particulate form [5–7]. Adjuvants currently used in vaccines are more efficient in inducing an antibody-mediated immune response and produce the weak cell-mediated immune response. However, cell-mediated immune response is equally important in treating various infections caused by viruses and intracellular bacteria. Successful demonstration of increased vaccine efficacy promotes the delivery of vaccine antigen in the particulate form [8]. The objective of vaccination is to generate an innate and adaptive immune response to an infectious pathogen. The interface between the innate and adaptive immune response is APCs, particularly dendritic cells (DCs) [9]. DCs recognize the pathogen via pathogen recognition receptors namely toll-like receptors (TLRs) and undergo maturation, then redistributes the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules from intracellular compartments to the surface of cells [10].

Immune cells e.g. DCs preferentially uptake virus sized particles (20-200 nm) and macrophages preferentially uptake larger sized particles (0.5-5 µm). Particles larger than 0.5 µm undergo cellular uptake via phagocytosis and are directed to phagosomes resulting in cross-presentation of antigen and production of cellular immune response. Nascent phagosomes undergo several transformation stages during maturation and interact with early endosomes, late endosomes and lysosomes and finally turn into phagolysosomes [11]. Phagolysosome formation results in extensive remodeling and turns the pH of its lumen acidic [12]. It triggers the proteolytic activity and generates small antigenic peptides thus avoiding the complete degradation of epitopes [13]. The antigens that enter into phagosome and released into the cytosol are degraded further by proteasomes into small fragments and shuttle to the cell surface using MHC I molecules resulting in cell mediated immune response. Alternatively, the uptake of smaller particles is primarily mediated via endocytosis and subsequently directs the antigen to early endosomes. The antigens that enter the cells via endosomal pathways are typically degraded in the vesicles and displayed on the MHC II molecules and thus activate the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. By tailoring the properties of particulate vaccine, antigenic peptides can escape the endosomes and be released into the cytosol. Antigens get degraded via proteasomes in the cytosol and displayed on the cell surface via MHC I molecules [10]. In contrast, the antigenic peptide that remain in the endosome, and not released into the cytosol, are presented on the cell surface via MHC II molecules.

DCs and macrophages express various surface receptors to recognize the antigen. Targeting the antigen using ligand specific for DCs or macrophages can further enhance the immunogenicity of vaccines and potentially reduce the dose. Interestingly, targeting of soluble antigens using antibody ligand has been found to elicit a strong cellular immune response compared to insoluble antigens [14]. Particulate nature of vaccines enabled the targeting of vaccine antigen by coupling a ligand specific for sentinel cells [14]. Ligands deliver the antigen to the target site such as phosphatidylserine incorporated in liposomes promoted interaction with surface receptors on monocytes. Ligands terminally linked to mannose, fucose or N-acetylglucosamine facilitates binding to mannose (DEC-205 and DC-SIGN) and lectin-like receptors on DCs. For example, grafting of antibody-ligand targeting DC-SIGN on poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) PLGA based nanoparticles enhanced the antigen delivery and cellular uptake in-vitro [15, 16]. Different route of vaccine administration could target different secondary lymphoid tissues. For example, Langerhans cells in the skin, CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs in connective tissue and mucosal DCs in the gut. Delivery of antigens via different route may also affect the skewing of an immune response. Vaccine immunogenicity is not only affected by its composition of particulates, but its efficacy can be affected by the particle size, shape, and rigidity. Various publications have reported the effect of size, shape, and rigidity on the immunogenicity of vaccine [17]. These parameters provide the means to tune the vaccines immunogenicity, bio distribution, cellular uptake and antigen presentation.

Size: The size of particle affects its transport to the lymph nodes and the immune response. Smaller particles less than 50 nm converge to the lymph nodes via interstitial flow, however, larger particles shuttle to the lymph nodes using active transport by tissue resident DCs. Shima et al, also reported that smaller sized particles uptake was higher compared to larger sized particles. However, the delivery of antigen to APCs was higher for larger sized particles. For example, the uptake of 40 nm particles was twice compared to 200 nm particles but the delivery of antigen was three times higher for 200 nm particles [18]. The size of particulate vaccine is an important correlate of the extent of antigen presentation (MHC I & MHC II) and influences the type of immune response generated. Nanoparticles induce stronger activation of DCs and skewed the immune response towards Th1 evidenced from elevated expression of interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), and IgG2a antibody titers relative to IgG1. It has been suggested that accumulation of small particles in the lysosomes may cause it to burst due to overload, resulting in the release of particles in the cytosol and explains the reduced MHC II loading of antigen. In contrast, the microparticulate vaccine skewed immune response towards type 2 helper T cells (Th2). Microparticles induced more MHC II molecules than MHC I and stimulate interleukin (IL-4) cytokine expression favoring Th2 antibody-mediated immune response [19].

**Shape:** Spherical nano and micron size particles induce stronger activation of DCs due to increased upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules (CD80 & CD86) compared to non-spherical particles [20]. This observation suggests that spherical particles are more efficient in antigen presentation. Further studies revealed that

spherical particles induce  $IFN_{\gamma}$  cytokine expression and IgG2a antibody titers and are more effective in skewing the immune response towards Th1 and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. In contrast, rod-shaped particles skewed the immune response more towards Th2 and are more effective in inducing IgG1 antibody titers.

**Rigidity:** The rigidity of particle affects its cellular uptake and immunogenicity. Studies showed that rigid particles activated DCs more strongly as measured by upregulation of CD40 and CD86 levels. On interaction with the cells, rigid particles wrapped up easily around the cell membrane, alternatively, soft particles tend to spread out across the membrane resulting in increased energy consumption. This led to the inference that rigid particles had significantly higher cellular uptake relative to soft particles due to less energy consumption [21]. In addition, rigid particles are efficiently presented by MHC I molecules on the surface of DCs and skew the immune response towards Th1. A study showed that reducing the rigidity of liposomes by adding cholesterol of low transition temperature imparts flexibility and lessen the Th1 mediated immune response [22]. For instance, generation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and Th1 directed immune response, important in cancer vaccine, can be achieved by using spherical, nano-sized rigid particles. Alternatively, development of Th2 biased antibody-mediated immune response, useful for infectious diseases (e.g. hepatitis B vaccines), can be generated using rod-shaped, micron-sized flexible particles [23].

### 2 Particulate Vaccines

The quest to design an efficient delivery system for biologics is continuously evolving to be at par with the advances in drug discovery, gene mapping, proteomics and cancer targeting. Conventional therapy involves the administration of potentially high doses of the therapeutic moiety multiple times resulting in a multitude of adverse effects. Consequently, there is an increasing need for research in the field of controlled release systems. One of these methods involves formulation of a particulate delivery system where the drug/s of interest can be incorporated within various types of biodegradable polymer matrices [24].

Particulate delivery systems using biodegradable polymers have been investigated for sustained release and for targeted delivery to the site of action. Some of the currently used polymers in research can be broadly divided into being derived from either natural or synthetic materials.

Natural polymers include polypeptides and proteins (e.g. albumin, gelatin and collagen), polysaccharides (e.g. hyaluronic acid, starch, and chitosan), virus envelopes (e.g. Sendai viral envelopes) and living cells (e.g. erythrocytes, fibroblasts) [25]. Biodegradable synthetic polymers used for the formulation of polymeric nanoparticles for drug and vaccine delivery include aliphatic polyesters of hydroxyl acids, such as poly (lactic acid) (PLA), (PLGA), poly (caprolactone), poly (orthoesters), poly (alkylcarbonates), poly (amino acids), polyanhydrides, poly-acrylamides and poly (alkyl-cyanoacrylates) [26, 27].

The particulate delivery systems offer significant advantages compared to the traditional delivery systems, such as:

- · Capability of delivery via oral, transdermal and parenteral routes
- Can accommodate small and large molecules
- Multi-drug therapy using one particle
- Stable delivery system for bioactive molecules
- Easy manufacturing and scale-up
- Eliminated cold chain requirements

# 3 Advantages of Particulate Vaccines

The use of micro- and nanoparticles as a vehicle to deliver vaccine antigens has attracted interest in conferring protection against infectious diseases. The unique morphology of particles mimics pathogen and thus facilitates ease of recognition and uptake by the body's immune system.

- 1. Encapsulation of antigen in the core of particulate system emerged as a promising approach for the oral delivery of vaccines. Particulate vaccines facilitate the oral delivery of antigen by protecting from harsh gastric pH, bile juices and digestive enzymes of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. Entrapped antigens release slowly from the particulate matrix by virtue of their slow degradation rate. It eliminates the need for booster vaccination and thus enables the development of a potential single dose vaccine formulation.
- 2. Antigens can be either adsorbed, encapsulated or entrapped in the particulates. The location of antigen in the particulates can influence the immune response. Antigens bound to the surface are more likely to undergo proteolytic degradation and may result in premature degradation before reaching the APCs. However, it provides the benefit of interacting directly with B cells and can induce stronger antibody immune response. Multivalent presentation of antigens on the surface of particles promotes crosslinking of B cell receptor resulting in an enhanced humoral immune response. Moreover, antigen adsorbed onto the particles are cross-presented at 1000-10,000 fold lower antigen concentration compared to its soluble form due to enhanced antigen uptake upon particularization [28, 29]. Studies have shown that there is up to 30% increase in cellular uptake of vaccine antigen when present in a particulate form over a soluble form [28]. Particularization also facilitates the co-localization of antigen and adjuvant to the same APCs, thus limits the systemic exposure to adjuvant and its side effects. Moreover, uptake of particulate matter by the APCs generates inflammatory response and thus reinforces the adjuvanticity [28].
- 3. Particulates are the choice of vehicle for vaccine antigens due to their ease of preparation and potential modification of their physicochemical properties such as surface charge, hydrodynamic size and the solubility of particles.

- 4. Amongst the particulates, virus-like particles (VLPs) provide protection not only against the virus of origin but also against heterologous antigens. They are typically in the size range of 20–150 nm and consist of a self-assembled viral envelope, generated from a single protein to form a multimeric complex [30]. VLPs possess the antigenic properties of a virus but are not infective since it does not contain any genetic material. Engineering of VLPs allows expressing additional proteins either by fusing these proteins to the particle or by expressing multiple antigens. In addition, VLPs can be chemically coupled to non-protein antigens such as polysaccharides or small organic molecules to produce bioconjugate VLPs [31].
- Mucosal surfaces provide a first line of defense from external invaders. Therefore, oral delivery of particulate vaccines have more access to M cells than its soluble counterpart. M cells can actively transport the particles to the underlying Mucosal Associate Lymphoid Tissues (MALT) to initiate an immune reaction [32].
- 6. Peptides derived from extracellular proteins are loaded onto the MHC class II molecules whereas endogenously synthesized peptides are loaded on MHC class I molecules. Cross-presentation refers to the loading of exogenous antigens on MHC I molecules and thus activates CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Cross-presentation is critical for priming CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells response to viruses, intracellular pathogens or tumors. Particularization of vaccine promotes cross-presentation due to internalization of particles *via* phagocytosis into phagosomes. Phagosomes is known to be an important organelle known to play a pivotal role in cross-presentation of antigen. PLGA nanoparticles possess phagosome disruptive properties resulting in enhanced delivery of antigen to cytosol [1].
- 7. Lack of cold chain for vaccine storage poses a major challenge for disease control and prevention in many developing and underdeveloped countries. According to a report from the Department of Health and Human Services, 76% of vaccines for children were stored at inappropriate temperature conditions. Exposure to inappropriate temperatures can reduce vaccine potency and efficacy. Studies have shown that particulate vaccines can withstand extreme temperature conditions and thereby enhance the shelf life of vaccines [33].

# 4 Particulate Drug Delivery Systems

Microparticles are generally defined as particles with diameter ranging from 1000 nm up to a few microns, whereas nanoparticles are usually under 1000 nm. Particulate drug delivery systems are a class of formulations where drugs are incorporated into polymer matrices. The application of drug loaded particles in clinical treatment range from improving patient compliance, keeping constant therapeutic drug levels in the systemic circulation (sustained release), maintaining higher concentration of the drug at the pathogenic site and lower concentration in normal tissue (targeting), and reducing adverse effects (less toxicity) [34]. With the development in nanotechnology, it is now possible to produce drug containing

nanoparticles that can be utilized in a variety of innovative ways. New drug delivery pathways can be used that increase drug efficacy and reduce side effects [35]. Nanoparticle drug delivery could potentially be one of the safe and effective approaches to overcome these issues based on their advantages over conventional solution-based drug delivery systems.

Micro-and-nanoparticles can be divided into two categories: the first is called the homogenous particles where the drug is dissolved or dispersed throughout the polymer matrix; the second is called the encapsulated microcapsules where the drug is surrounded by the polymer matrix. The encapsulation technique is used in the pharmaceutical industry in the areas of sustained release of drugs, taste-masking of unplatable drugs, masking of unpleasant odors, stabilization of drugs sensitive to atmospheric conditions, modification of physical properties, altering the solubility of drugs, elimination of incompatibilities between two or more drugs and a multitude of other uses [36]. However, the primary focus of particulate research in the pharmaceutical field has been the sustained release of drugs and drug targeting.

# 4.1 Physiologic and Biological Characteristics of Nanoparticles

Chemotherapeutic drugs reach tumors with poor specificity and leads to dose limited toxicity. Conventional drug delivery methods include oral and intravenous routes. Oral administration of drugs suffers from drawbacks such as the exposure to several metabolic pathways resulting in disorderly pharmacokinetics. This can then require the administration of a higher dose of the drug which might result in toxicity issues. Further, low specificity of drugs to the tumor is seen when administered intravenously. As a result, tumor targeted drug delivery has gained a lot of attention in the recent years to overcome the disadvantages of conventional chemotherapy. Tumor targeted drug delivery can be achieved by either passive targeting or active targeting. The mechanisms used by passive and active targeting is illustrated in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1 Classification of tumor targeted drug delivery

# 5 Different Strategies of Micro-, Nanoparticles for Targeting

The downsides of conventional drug delivery systems such as low efficacy, poor bio distribution, toxicity and lack of sensitivity, can potentially be overcome by using controlled drug delivery systems. By means of controlled drug delivery systems, the drug is delivered to the site of action that increases its concentration and effect on the target organ or tissues and reduces the side effects at non-target organs. This leads to lowering the dose of drug required to perform the same action [37]. Micro and nanoparticulate drug delivery systems have the above mentioned benefits in comparison to conventional dosage forms [38]. Nanoparticles can be formulated to deliver drugs across several biological barriers. Anti-neoplastics, anti-viral drugs, and several other types of drugs are markedly hindered because of the inability of these molecules to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB). The application of nanoparticles to deliver across this barrier is extremely promising [39, 40]. Further, biode-gradable nanoparticles appear to be a promising drug delivery carrier system because of their versatile formulation, sustained release properties, sub cellular size and biocompatibility with various cells and tissue in the body [41].

Polymeric nanoparticles have been used for oral anticancer drug delivery and has gained significant attention lately due to the advantages summarized in Fig. 2. Anticancer drug entrapment within polymeric nanoparticles guards them from efflux transporters and the nano-sized range accelerates its entrance through biological membranes [42].

Passive targeting can be achieved by including the therapeutic agent into a macromolecule or nanoparticle which passively reaches the target organ. Drugs encapsulated in nanoparticles or drugs coupled to macromolecules can passively target tumors through the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect. Instead, catheters can be used to infuse nanoparticles to the target organ or tissues. For example, localized delivery of drug-bearing nanoparticles to sites of vascular restenosis may be useful for providing sustained drug release at specific sites on the arterial wall. Tween 80-coated nanoparticles also have been shown to cross the BBB [39] [43].

Conjugation of nanoparticles with ligands of tumor specific biomarkers is a potent therapeutic approach to treat cancer diseases with high efficacy. It has been shown that conjugation of nano-carriers with molecules such as antibodies and

Fig. 2 Advantages of

polymeric nanoparticles

(NP) in cancer therapy



their variable fragments, peptides, nucleic aptamers, vitamins, and carbohydrates can lead to effective targeted drug delivery to cancer cells and thereby cancer attenuation [44].

One such approach to target brain delivery was to deliver oxytocin to brain using nanoparticles. Oxytocin is used for the treatment of social-deficit disorders such as autism spectrum disorder, but oxytocin cannot readily pass the BBB and requires frequent dosing because it is rapidly metabolized in blood. Polymeric nanoparticle formulations were made using poly(lactic-coglycolic acid) (PLGA) or bovine serum albumin (BSA) as the polymeric matrix. For brain targeting, these nanoparticles were conjugated with either transferrin or rabies virus glycoprotein (RVG) as targeting ligands. Release studies demonstrated that BSA nanoparticles exhibited a faster initial burst release compared to PLGA particles, in addition to later sustained release. This initial burst release would be favorable for clinical dosing as therapeutic effects could be quickly established, especially in combination with sustained release to maintain the therapeutic effects. The size and release profile data indicate that RVG-conjugated BSA nanoparticles is the most reliable formulation for brain delivery of oxytocin [45].

Other antigen delivery vehicles were formulated using polymers like hydroxypropyl methylcellulose acetate succinate,beta-cyclodextrin, ethyl cellulose etc. [24] Targeting ligand Aleuria Aurantia Lectin was used to deliver a particulate oral breast cancer vaccine. This particulate vaccine was formulated with enteric polymers to protect the antigens from the gastric environment and target the ligands to facilitate its uptake from M cells of the Peyer's patches (PPs) in the small intestine. M cells act as sampling ports for any foreign entities encountered in the small intestine. These M cells house various DCs and immune cells in them. Once the oral vaccine particle is sampled by M cells, it is processed by APCs and presented on MHC class I or MHC class II molecules. Thus, the particulate oral breast cancer vaccine was effective in providing protective humoral or antibody mediated immune response in a murine model [46].

In another study, poly (ethylene glycol) (PEG)-coated biodegradable nanoparticles were coupled to folic acid to target the folate-binding protein; this molecule is the soluble form of the folate receptor that is overexpressed on the surface of many tumor cells. For this purpose, a novel copolymer, poly [aminopoly (ethylene glycol) cyanoacrylate-co-hexadecyl cyanoacrylate] was synthesized and characterized. Nanoparticles were then conjugated to the activated folic acid via PEG terminal amino groups and purified from unreacted products. The specific interaction between the conjugate folate– nanoparticles and the folate-binding protein was evaluated by surface plasmon resonance. The analysis confirmed a specific binding of the folate–nanoparticles to the folate-binding protein. This interaction did not occur with non-conjugated nanoparticles used as control. Thus, folatelinked nanoparticles can be a potential new drug carrier for tumor cell-selective targeting [47].

#### 6 Different Delivery Systems and Routes of Administration

Vaccines are by far the most effective and least costly way to offer protection against the debilitating infectious diseases. Vaccines are divided into two types: therapeutic vaccines and prophylactic vaccines. Prophylactic vaccines are primarily used for prevention of bacterial, viral or parasitic infectious diseases such ashuman immunodeficiency virus, influenza, malaria, tuberculosis, pneumonia, polio and small pox. At present, vaccines are administered intramuscularly, intravenously or subcutaneously. These routes have very low patient compliance and require intervention by trained personnel for their administration. Administering the vaccines via more patient compliant and easy to administer routes including oral, buccal, transdermal and pulmonary has been under investigation.

For current vaccines, some important points such as safety, effectiveness, ease of administration, time of preparation and cost need to be considered. The extent of success of vaccination depends on several factors such as nature of pathogen, delivery system, route of administration and immune system of the host. The following section discusses the various routes of vaccine administration.

## 7 Oral Route

The oral route is attractive primarily owing to its patient compliance and immune system activation. Oral administration of antigens has a potential to elicit mucosal and systemic immunity due to efficient antigen sampling by M cells in PPs. Although there are several advantages of oral administration, challenges such as the degradation of the antigen in harsh gastric and intestinal conditions is a significant concern [48].

Few of the oral vaccines that are currently in the market are, the Polio Sabin<sup>™</sup> oral vaccine by Smithkline Beecham Biologicals, Dukoral<sup>™</sup> oral vaccine for traveler's diarrhea and cholera manufactured by SBL AB, Stockholm, Sweden, Rota Teq oral vaccine by Merck vaccines, which is an oral vaccine to prevent rota virus infection and Vivotif (Typhoid Vaccine Live Oral Ty21a) manufactured by the Crucell Switzerland LTD for selective immunization against Typhoid fever for people travelling to endemic areas.

Apart from the above-mentioned advantages of the oral delivery in terms of patient compliance, ease of administration, lower cost of production and transportation (by avoiding cold chain), there is the added advantage of inducing both mucosal and systemic immunity. Recent studies have suggested that in order to produce a more robust immune response, both systemic and mucosal immunity must be induced. However, the major hurdle in oral vaccine delivery is the protection of the antigen from the acidic and enzymatic degradation in the gastrointestinal tract. Another obstacle to be considered while designing an oral vaccine is the probability



Fig. 3 Vaccine microparticle uptake by M cells of PPs in the small intestine after oral delivery

of oral tolerance. Low particle uptake and gastric degradation products of the antigens can cause oral tolerance [24].

Intestinal Peyer's patches (PPs) are the predominant site for uptake of such vaccine particles upon oral administration. The particle uptake at these sites depends on various factors such as size, charge and hydrophobicity. For oral delivery, particles of size less than 5  $\mu$ m with a positive charge and hydrophobic nature can preferentially enter the PP of small intestine [31]. Orally delivered vaccines, especially particulate antigens are recognized and sampled by the M cells in PPs as illustrated in Fig. 3 [48]. This is followed by the transport of the particles to the underlying follicles that contain professional APCs such as DCs and macrophages. M cells house numerous APCs, which internalize the vaccine particles and express the antigen on its surface as MHC I or II complex.

#### 8 Mucosal Immunity

The immune system is an intricate system in the human body that protects it from various types of pathogens. The mucosal surfaces of the respiratory, gastrointestinal and urogenital tract are the port of entry of pathogens into the body. This makes the mucosal system, which has a surface area of more than 300 m<sup>2</sup> susceptible to infections [49]. As a result, the mucosal system has developed its own mucosal immune system (MIS) to protect the body from onslaughts by external infections agents. The MIS is essentially the largest immune organ in the human body and it is noted that the intestinal lining contains the most immune cells and also secretes the highest amount of antibodies as compared to any other organ [50]. The MIS comprises of mucus covered epithelial layers, anti-microbial proteins and is augmented by the lymphoid tissues which encompasses the innate and adaptive immunity [51, 52]. The mucosal tissues are heavily populated with both innate and acquired immune cells, and their surfaces are the location of the secretory immune system, whose major immunoglobulin is secretory immunoglobulin A [49].

#### 9 External Defense Mechanism by the Mucosal System

The mucosal surfaces provide the physical barrier which prevents the entry of the pathogens into the host. The cellular and chemical defenses differ from one mucosal surface to the other depending on the organ. The intestinal mucosa is covered by a single layer of epithelial lining, the respiratory tract is covered by epithelium lining which varies from pseudoestratified to simple epithelium and the oral cavity, pharynx, oesophagus, urethra and vagina are lined by a multilayered squamous epithelial lining [50]. These epithelial linings act as a first line of defense. In addition, the mechanical washing forces and cilial action create a current that rids the mucosal surface of organisms that enter the body and fail to bind early or well to the epithelium. The acidic pH of the stomach or some enzymes (lysozyme, lactoferrin, lactoperoxidase) secreted at mucosal surfaces or the anti- microbial peptides secreted by the epithelial cells such as defensins, cathelicidins and histatins can kill bacteria [49, 50].

## 10 Components of Mucosal Immune System

The MIS also comprises of symbiotic and commensal microorganisms which colonize the mucosal linings of the distal small intestine and colon, the skin, the nasal and respiratory tract, the oral cavity, and the female reproductive tract. These are also called as the natural microbiota [53]. The large intestine contains the largest number of microbes at approximately 10<sup>12</sup> bacteria/ cm<sup>3</sup> [54]. This intestinal microbiota apart from helping to protect the body also helps in the digestion of food. The MIS can be separated into inductive and effector sites based upon their anatomical location. It is composed of the lymphoid tissues that are associated with mucosal surfaces (MALT) and can be separated into several components: gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (BALT), nasopharynx-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT), the mammary and salivary glands and the genitourinary organs [50, 55].

The GALT includes PPs, mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs), and isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs). The NALT includes tonsils/adenoids, inducible bronchusassociated lymphoid tissue, cervical lymph nodes, and hilar lymph nodes [49, 50, 56]. The MALT consists of the memory B cells and T cells which then move forward into the effector sites which include the lamina propria regions of the gastrointestinal, upper respiratory and reproductive tracts as well as the secretory glandular tissues. These sites contain antigen-specific mucosal effector cells such as IgAproducing plasma cells, and memory B and T cells [49]. The finger like projections in the intestine called villi play a major role in the absorption of nutrients as well as contain a large number of immune cells.

# 11 Mechanism of the Function of the Immune System in the Gut

The differentiation between the resident bacteria, pathogens and other antigens is mediated by three main types of immunosensory cell. First, surface enterocytes serve as afferent sensors of danger within the luminal microenvironment by secreting chemokines and cytokines that alert and direct innate and adaptive immune responses to the infected site [57]. The M cells that are present in the lymphoid follicles sample the environment and transport lumina antigens to sub-adjacent DCs and other APCs [51]. Finally, the intestinal DCs sense the gut contents by either entering or extending dendrites between surface enterocytes without disrupting tight junctions [58]. These DCs ingest and retain live commensal bacteria and travel to the mesenteric lymph node where immune responses to commensal bacteria are induced locally [59].

APCs, including DCs are responsible for the initiation of the specific immune reaction. The MALT is covered by a subset of differentiated M cells, epithelial cells, and underlying lymphoid cells that have a key function in the initiation of mucosal immune responses. M cells take up antigens from the lumen of the intestinal and nasal mucosa and transport them to the underlying DCs. The DCs take up the antigen, processes the antigen as peptides on their MHC class I or II molecules to underlying T cell region. The DCs migrate to the PPs or via draining lymphatics into the MLNs for initiation of mucosal T and B cell responses. The T cells migrate via the lymphatic system to the lamina propia of the villi, and then they secrete the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10. The function of immune cells in the lamina propia and the epithelial layer is suppressed by the IL-10. The Wnt-β-catenin pathway in intestinal DCs also has a role in maintaining immunity in the gut. β-catenin expression in intestinal DCs induces the expression of anti-inflammatory mediators such as retinoic acid, IL-10 and transforming growth factor  $\beta$  [60]. Retinoic acid producing DCs enhance the expression of mucosal homing receptors ( $\alpha 4\beta 7$  and chemokine receptor 9 (CCR9)) on activated T cells for subsequent migration through the lymphatics, the bloodstream, and into the GI tract lamina propria. The T cell subsets Th1, Th2, Th17, and  $T_{regs}$  serve the crucial function of regulation within the MIS. Adaptive mucosal immune responses result from CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help (provided by both CD4<sup>+</sup> Th2 or CD4<sup>+</sup> Th1 cells), which supports the development of IgA producing plasma cells.

#### 12 Inducing Mucosal Immunity for Treating Disease

Many pathogens enter the body via the GIT, respiratory tract and reproductive tract therefore mucosal immunity can be targeted to achieve protection against these agents. Mucosal vaccines currently licensed for human use include oral vaccines against Vibrio cholera, Salmonella typhi, poliovirus and rotavirus, as well as nasal vaccines for treating influenza [61]. The strategy used by these vaccines is to directly perturb the MIS thus providing immunity against the bacteria and viruses. The DCs then process the antigens and are presented to CD4 and CD8 T cells at inductive sites [62]. In case of orally administered antigens, the GALT induce effector or memory cells that express the integrin  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  [63]. These activated lymphocytes equipped with specific gut-homing molecules associate with the integrin and chemokine systems. Intranasally administered vaccine antigen sensitize the lymphocytes in the NALT and express the  $\alpha 4\beta 1$  integrin, a receptor for Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1 [61]. These recent advances in the field of mucosal immunology has enabled us to glean a wealth of information about the intricate immune system. This has led to the development of vaccines that can be delivered through the mucosal route; the initiation of immune reactions at mucosal sites can provide both systemic and mucosal protection. Conventional parenteral immunization, however, produces only systemic protection without effective mucosal protection.

#### 13 Case Study

# 13.1 Microparticulate Measles Vaccine in Oral Dissolving Film (ODF): Case Study

Measles is a highly contagious infectious disease caused by the measles virus. The advent of the vaccine, =significantly reduced the mortality due to measles [64].

Humoral as well as cell mediated immune responses are imperative for fighting against the measles virus infection. The humoral response is critical in controlling the viral replication and conferring protection, while the cell mediated immune response is necessary for overcoming acute measles infection by eliminating the infected cells [65].

An ODF formulation is a thin film prepared using hydrophilic polymers which dissolve rapidly in the mouth. The buccal cavity provides large surface area for rapid disintegration, release of the therapeutic entity, subsequent absorption and is a potentially good site for antigen delivery. The buccal cavity is rich in DCs like Langerhans cells, which are a type of APC. High density of T lymphocytes and MALT like tonsils, salivary glands, Waldeyer's rings and pharyngeal lymphoid tissue are present in the buccal mucosa. Hence, buccal immunization using an ODF can help to elicit both mucosal and systemic immunity. Microparticulate vaccine delivery via mucosal surfaces such as oral cavity has elicited a significantly higher immune response compared to an equivalent solution or suspension formulation. Consequently, the measles vaccine was encapsulated in the microparticles intended to be given via the buccal route. The microparticles were made from the biodegradable material that slowly releases the antigen, thereby having an antigen depot effect to enhance immunogenicity. Antigen presentation to the APCs is significantly improved when given in the microparticulate form. The measles vaccine



Fig. 4 Method of production of the ODF loaded with the microparticulate measles vaccine, and further immunization studies [66]

microparticles formulated using a spray drying technique were incorporated into an optimized ODF (Fig. 4).

The ODF vaccine formulation tested in the juvenile porcine model showed significantly increased antibody levels in contrast to naïve juvenile porcine controls. Thus, the novel particulate measles vaccine delivered in a flexible, ODF formulation can induce an efficient immune response that may be translated for global clinical applications [66].

ODFs containing measles vaccine microparticles dissolve on contact with the saliva and facilitate the coating of the buccal surface enhancing the delivery of the vaccine into the buccal mucosa. ODF also assures dosing accuracy and elicits the induction of an effective immune response. The current vaccine against the measles infection is invasive and requires medical professionals for its administration. This problem could be overcome using an ODF measles vaccine for which self-administration is possible. Thus, the cost associated with administration and cold chain storage could be minimized and large population could be immunized at an affordable cost.

The microparticles are made from the biocompatible and biodegradable polymer matrix which protects the antigen in the stable form and does not induce an immune response. The microparticles due to their size are easily taken up by the APCs and thus help in better antigen presentation to the immune system. The measles vaccine when formulated as the microparticles and incorporated into the ODF formulation induces significantly higher antigen presentation to the MHC I and MHC II molecules and corresponding co-stimulatory molecules CD40 and CD80 when compared to the blank formulation. This ensures that the microparticles are taken up by the APCs and stimulate both the arms of the immune system via Th1 and Th2

pathways. Gala R.P *et al* have reported a novel approach to formulate the microparticulate measles vaccine in an orally disintegrating film for delivery via the buccal route in a juvenile porcine model has revealed a promising mode of immunization strategy against measles in a commonly accepted surrogate model for human buccal delivery. In route is more patient compliant due to its ease of administration and can be given to populations of all ages from infants to adults [66].

### 14 Future Directions and Conclusion

Nanotechnology has been amply used in drug and vaccine delivery development. Various nanocarriers in the forms of emulsions, carbon-based materials, VLPs, liposomes, and polymeric particles have been utilized to formulate and deliver drugs and vaccines to combat a plethora of ailments. For vaccines, nanotechnology platforms have an enhanced potential to facilitate cell-mediated and humoral immune responses due to their nanoscale size, thereby improving the uptake of vaccine antigen resulting in enhanced antigen presentation to immune cells [67]. Polymeric micro- and nanoparticles are an attractive delivery system for vaccines as they can be optimized to produce desired sustained release profiles as well as specific surface properties for maximal vaccine efficacy. Most importantly, they have been shown to have good biodegradability and high biological safety in the body [68]. The antigen can either be encapsulated into the particle or incorporated into the surface morphology [69]. Additionally, adjuvants can be easily incorporated into these delivery systems to boost the innate immune response to the vaccine [67].

As reviewed in this chapter, micro- and nanoparticulate platforms can be integrated into various vaccines targeting diseases ranging from suspending microparticles in an oral-dissolving film for measles prevention to targeting various cancers. Larger microparticles, which can be more immunogenic, can be used to induce mucosal immunity. Particulate delivery can potentially achieve both passive and targeted delivery. Passive delivery can be achieved systemically, which passively reaches the target organ whereas targeted delivery can include conjugating the particle with a specific cell-targeting ligand [69]. As aforementioned, these microparticulate delivery systems have high versatility, which allow them to be administered through various routes including oral, buccal, intranasal, intramuscular, and subcutaneous delivery.

Nanomaterials in particulate delivery systems can function to have enhanced biocompatibility, biosafety, biodegradability, and mucosal absorption. Additionally, these materials can be relatively easy to modify in regards to shape, surface properties, release profiles, and protection of the antigen from degradation [70]. For vaccines, in addition to serving as delivery systems for the antigen, these materials can potentially confer certain adjuvant-like properties. Over the last few years, there has been a push to not only use microparticles as a delivery system for the antigen but also for them to promote immunomodulatory effects by serving as adjuvants [67].

Additionally, the future of micro- or nanoparticulate vaccines is dependent on the novel approaches and innovation of this technology based on the materials used for making the particles, the antigen/antigen dose, method of antigen loading, particle size distribution and uniformity, and routes of administration. Typically, polymeric micro- or nanoparticulate systems are delivered orally, subcutaneously, or intramuscularly. However, due to the rigidity and wide scale application of these particular systems, they can also be administered via less conventional routes of delivery such as buccal, nasal, pulmonary and transdermal routes. In this chapter, a novel polymeric buccal-absorbed microparticle-loaded oral dissolving film measles vaccine was discussed. Next, these particulate delivery systems can be optimized through various formulation methods involving specific surface and coating modifications for specific targeting in the body [71]. These particles can then be applied to treat a wide array of diseases and infections prophylactically or therapeutically through less invasive routes of delivery to improve the lives of millions of people worldwide.

## References

- De Temmerman M-L, Rejman J, Demeester J, Irvine DJ, Gander B, De Smedt SC. Particulate vaccines: on the quest for optimal delivery and immune response. Drug Discov Today. 2011 Jul 1;16(13):569–82.
- Oberg AL, Kennedy RB, Li P, Ovsyannikova IG, Poland GA. Systems biology approaches to new vaccine development. Curr Opin Immunol. 2011 Jun;23(3):436–43.
- Rappuoli R, Mandl CW, Black S, De Gregorio E. Vaccines for the twenty-first century society. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011 04;11(12):865–872.
- Zhao L, Seth A, Wibowo N, Zhao C-X, Mitter N, Yu C, et al. Nanoparticle vaccines. Vaccine. 2014 Jan 9;32(3):327–37.
- 5. Bramwell VW, Perrie Y. The rational design of vaccines. Drug Discov Today. 2005 Nov 15;10(22):1527–34.
- Hubbell JA, Thomas SN, Swartz MA. Materials engineering for immunomodulation. Nature. 2009 Nov 26;462(7272):449–60.
- Storni T, Kündig TM, Senti G, Johansen P. Immunity in response to particulate antigendelivery systems. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2005 Jan 10;57(3):333–55.
- Scheerlinck J-PY, Greenwood DLV. Particulate delivery systems for animal vaccines. Methods. 2006 Sep 1;40(1):118–24.
- Bachmann MF, Jennings GT. Vaccine delivery: a matter of size, geometry, kinetics and molecular patterns. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010 Nov;10(11):787–96.
- Gregory AE, Titball R, Williamson D. Vaccine delivery using nanoparticles. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2013;3:13.
- Jahraus A, Storrie B, Griffiths G, Desjardins M. Evidence for retrograde traffic between terminal lysosomes and the prelysosomal/late endosome compartment. J Cell Sci. 1994 Jan;107(Pt 1):145–57.
- Pitt A, Mayorga LS, Stahl PD, Schwartz AL. Alterations in the protein composition of maturing phagosomes. J Clin Invest. 1992 Nov;90(5):1978–83.
- 13. Garin J, Diez R, Kieffer S, Dermine JF, Duclos S, Gagnon E, et al. The phagosome proteome: insight into phagosome functions. J Cell Biol. 2001 Jan 8;152(1):165–80.
- 14. Tacken PJ, Torensma R, Figdor CG. Targeting antigens to dendritic cells in vivo. Immunobiology. 2006;211(6–8):599–608.

- Bonifaz LC, Bonnyay DP, Charalambous A, Darguste DI, Fujii S-I, Soares H, et al. In vivo targeting of antigens to maturing dendritic cells via the DEC-205 receptor improves T cell vaccination. J Exp Med. 2004 Mar 15;199(6):815–24.
- Gieseler RK, Marquitan G, Hahn MJ, Perdon LA, Driessen WHP, Sullivan SM, et al. DC-SIGNspecific liposomal targeting and selective intracellular compound delivery to human myeloid dendritic cells: implications for HIV disease. Scand J Immunol. 2004 May;59(5):415–24.
- Agarwal R, Jurney P, Raythatha M, Singh V, Sreenivasan SV, Shi L, et al. Effect of shape, size, and aspect ratio on nanoparticle penetration and distribution inside solid tissues using 3D spheroid models. Adv Healthc Mater. 2015 Oct 28;4(15):2269–80.
- Shima F, Uto T, Akagi T, Baba M, Akashi M. Size effect of amphiphilic poly(γ-glutamic acid) nanoparticles on cellular uptake and maturation of dendritic cells in vivo. Acta Biomater. 2013 Nov;9(11):8894–901.
- Fifis T, Gamvrellis A, Crimeen-Irwin B, Pietersz GA, Li J, Mottram PL, et al. Size-dependent immunogenicity: therapeutic and protective properties of nano-vaccines against tumors. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 2004 Sep 1;173(5):3148–54.
- Mathaes R, Winter G, Siahaan TJ, Besheer A, Engert J. Influence of particle size, an elongated particle geometry, and adjuvants on dendritic cell activation. Eur J Pharm Biopharm Off J Arbeitsgemeinschaft Pharm Verfahrenstechnik EV. 2015 Aug;94:542–9.
- Sun J, Zhang L, Wang J, Feng Q, Liu D, Yin Q, et al. Tunable rigidity of (polymeric core)-(lipid shell) nanoparticles for regulated cellular uptake. Adv Mater Deerfield Beach Fla. 2015 Feb 25;27(8):1402–7.
- 22. Kaur R, Henriksen-Lacey M, Wilkhu J, Devitt A, Christensen D, Perrie Y. Effect of incorporating cholesterol into DDA:TDB liposomal adjuvants on bilayer properties, biodistribution, and immune responses. Mol Pharm. 2014 Jan 6;11(1):197–207.
- Benne N, van Duijn J, Kuiper J, Jiskoot W, Slütter B. Orchestrating immune responses: how size, shape and rigidity affect the immunogenicity of particulate vaccines. J Control Release. 2016 Jul 28;234:124–34.
- Chablani L, Tawde SA, D'souza MJ. Spray-dried microparticles: a potential vehicle for oral delivery of vaccines. J Microencapsul. 2012 Jun 1;29(4):388–97.
- Kumar M, Mani P, Pratheesh P, Chandra S, Jeyakkodi M, Chattopadhyay P, et al. Membrane fusion mediated targeted cytosolic drug delivery through scFv engineered Sendai viral envelopes. Curr Mol Med. 2015;15(4):386–400.
- Bolhassani A, Javanzad S, Saleh T, Hashemi M, Aghasadeghi MR, Sadat SM. Polymeric nanoparticles. Hum Vaccines Immunother. 2014 Feb 1;10(2):321–32.
- Basu A, Kunduru KR, Katzhendler J, Domb AJ. Poly(α-hydroxy acid)s and poly(α-hydroxy acid-co-α-amino acid)s derived from amino acid. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2016 15;107:82–96.
- Foged C, Hansen J, Agger EM. License to kill: formulation requirements for optimal priming of CD8+ CTL responses with particulate vaccine delivery systems. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2012 Mar 12;45(4):482–91.
- Harding CV. Song R Phagocytic processing of exogenous particulate antigens by macrophages for presentation by class I MHC molecules. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 1994 Dec 1;153(11):4925–33.
- McCraw DM, Gallagher JR, Torian U, Myers ML, Conlon MT, Gulati NM, et al. Structural analysis of influenza vaccine virus-like particles reveals a multicomponent organization. Sci Rep. 2018 Jul 9;8(1):1–16.
- Xiang SD, Scholzen A, Minigo G, David C, Apostolopoulos V, Mottram PL, et al. Pathogen recognition and development of particulate vaccines: does size matter? Methods San Diego Calif. 2006 Sep;40(1):1–9.
- 32. Singh B, Maharjan S, Cho K-H, Cui L, Park I-K, Choi Y-J, et al. Chitosan-based particulate systems for the delivery of mucosal vaccines against infectious diseases. Int J Biol Macromol. 2018 Apr 15;110:54–64.
- Bansal A, Wu X, Olson V, D'Souza MJ. Characterization of rabies pDNA nanoparticulate vaccine in poloxamer 407 gel. Int J Pharm. 2018 Jul 10;545(1–2):318–28.

- 34. Akalkotkar A, Chablani L, Tawde SA, D'Souza C, D'Souza MJ. Development of a microparticulate prostate cancer vaccine and evaluating the effect of route of administration on its efficacy via the skin. J Microencapsul. 2015 Apr 3;32(3):281–9.
- 35. D'Souza MJ, Tawde SA, Akalkotkar A, Chablani L, D'Souza M, Chiriva-Internati M. Nanotechnology in Vaccine Delivery. In: Giese M, editor. Molecular vaccines: from prophylaxis to therapy Volume 2 [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2014 [cited 2018 Oct 2]. p. 727–741. Available from: doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-00978-0\_19
- Singh MN, Hemant KSY, Ram M, Shivakumar HG. Microencapsulation: a promising technique for controlled drug delivery. Res Pharm Sci. 2010;5(2):65–77.
- Kumar B, Jalodia K, Kumar P, Gautam HK. Recent advances in nanoparticle-mediated drug delivery. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol. 2017 Oct 1;41:260–8.
- Agnihotri SA, Mallikarjuna NN, Aminabhavi TM. Recent advances on chitosan-based microand nanoparticles in drug delivery. J Control Release. 2004 Nov 5;100(1):5–28.
- Singh R, Lillard JW. Nanoparticle-based targeted drug delivery. Exp Mol Pathol. 2009 Jun;86(3):215–23.
- 40. Zaman RU, Mulla NS, Braz Gomes K, D'Souza C, Murnane KS, D'Souza MJ. Nanoparticle formulations that allow for sustained delivery and brain targeting of the neuropeptide oxytocin. Int J Pharm. 2018 Sep 5;548(1):698–706.
- 41. Mahapatro A, Singh DK. Biodegradable nanoparticles are excellent vehicle for site directed in-vivo delivery of drugs and vaccines. J Nanobiotechnology. 2011;9(1):55.
- El-Say KM, El-Sawy HS. Polymeric nanoparticles: promising platform for drug delivery. Int J Pharm. 2017 Aug 7;528(1):675–91.
- Borchard G, Audus KL, Shi F, Kreuter J. Uptake of surfactant-coated poly(methyl methacrylate)-nanoparticles by bovine brain microvessel endothelial cell monolayers. Int J Pharm. 1994 Sep 12;110(1):29–35.
- 44. Bahrami B, Hojjat-Farsangi M, Mohammadi H, Anvari E, Ghalamfarsa G, Yousefi M, et al. Nanoparticles and targeted drug delivery in cancer therapy. Immunol Lett. 2017 Oct 1;190:64–83.
- 45. Zaman RU, Mulla NS, Braz Gomes K, D'Souza C, Murnane KS, D'Souza MJ. Nanoparticle formulations that allow for sustained delivery and brain targeting of the neuropeptide oxytocin. Int J Pharm. 2018 Sep 5;548(1):698–706.
- 46. Chablani L, Tawde SA, Akalkotkar A, D'Souza C, Selvaraj P, D'Souza MJ. Formulation and evaluation of a particulate oral breast cancer vaccine. J Pharm Sci. 2012 Oct 1;101(10):3661–71.
- 47. Stella B, Arpicco S, Peracchia MT, Desmaële D, Hoebeke J, Renoir M, et al. Design of folic acid-conjugated nanoparticles for drug targeting. J Pharm Sci. 2000 Nov 1;89(11):1452–64.
- D'Souza B, Bhowmik T, Shashidharamurthy R, Oettinger C, Selvaraj P, D'Souza M. Oral microparticulate vaccine for melanoma using M-cell targeting. J Drug Target. 2012 Feb 1;20(2):166–73.
- 49. McGhee JR, Fujihashi K. Inside the mucosal immune system. PLoS Biol. 2012 Sep 25;10(9):e1001397.
- 50. Montilla NA, Blas MP, Santalla ML. Villa JMM. Mucosal immune system: a brief review. 2004;23(2):10.
- 51. O'Hara AM, Shanahan F. The gut flora as a forgotten organ. EMBO Rep. 2006 Jul;7(7):688–93.
- 52. Peters BM, Shirtliff ME, Jabra-Rizk MA. Antimicrobial Peptides: Primeval Molecules or Future Drugs? PLoS Pathog. 2010 Oct 28;6(10):e1001067.
- Charles A Janeway J, Travers P, Walport M, Shlomchik MJ. The mucosal immune system. 2001 [cited 2018 Mar 29]; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK27169/
- 54. Nicholson JK, Holmes E, Kinross J, Burcelin R, Gibson G, Jia W, et al. Host-gut microbiota metabolic interactions. Science. 2012 Jun 8;336(6086):1262–7.
- McNabb PC, Tomasi TB. Host defense mechanisms at mucosal surfaces. Annu Rev Microbiol. 1981;35:477–96.
- Lamichhane A, Azegamia T, Kiyonoa H. The mucosal immune system for vaccine development. Vaccine. 2014 Nov 20;32(49):6711–23.
- 57. Shanahan F. The host-microbe interface within the gut. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2002 Dec;16(6):915–31.
- Rescigno M, Urbano M, Valzasina B, Francolini M, Rotta G, Bonasio R, et al. Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. Nat Immunol. 2001 Apr;2(4):361–7.
- Macpherson AJ, Uhr T. Induction of protective IgA by intestinal dendritic cells carrying commensal bacteria. Science. 2004 Mar 12;303(5664):1662–5.
- Manicassamy S, Reizis B, Ravindran R, Nakaya H, Salazar-Gonzalez RM, Wang Y-C, et al. Activation of beta-catenin in dendritic cells regulates immunity versus tolerance in the intestine. Science. 2010 Aug 13;329(5993):849–53.
- Azegami T, Yuki Y, Kiyono H. Challenges in mucosal vaccines for the control of infectious diseases. Int Immunol. 2014 Sep;26(9):517–28.
- Holmgren J, Czerkinsky C. Mucosal immunity and vaccines. Nat Med. 2005 Apr;11(4 Suppl):S45–53.
- 63. Hieshima K, Kawasaki Y, Hanamoto H, Nakayama T, Nagakubo D, Kanamaru A, et al. CC chemokine ligands 25 and 28 play essential roles in intestinal extravasation of IgA antibody-secreting cells. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. 2004 Sep 15;173(6):3668–3675.
- 64. Leung AK, Hon KL, Leong KF, Sergi CM. Measles: a disease often forgotten but not gone. Hong Kong Med J Xianggang Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2018 Sep;24
- 65. Department of Pediatrics, The University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, Leung AK, Hon K, Leong K, Sergi C. Measles: a disease often forgotten but not gone. Hong Kong Med J [Internet]. 2018 Sep 24 [cited 2018 Oct 4]; Available from: http://www.hkmj.org/earlyrelease/hkmj187470.html
- 66. Gala RP, Popescu C, Knipp GT, McCain RR, Ubale RV, Addo R, et al. Physicochemical and preclinical evaluation of a novel buccal measles vaccine. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2017 Feb;18(2):283–92.
- O'Hagan DT, Singh M, Ulmer JB. Microparticle-based technologies for vaccines. Methods San Diego Calif. 2006 Sep;40(1):10–9.
- Lin C-Y, Lin S-J, Yang Y-C, Wang D-Y, Cheng H-F, Yeh M-K. Biodegradable polymeric microsphere-based vaccines and their applications in infectious diseases. Hum Vaccines Immunother. 2015 Mar 4;11(3):650–6.
- 69. Singh R, Lillard JW. Nanoparticle-based targeted drug delivery. Exp Mol Pathol. 2009 Jun;86(3):215–23.
- Zhu M, Wang R, Nie G. Applications of nanomaterials as vaccine adjuvants. Hum Vaccines Immunother. 2014;10(9):2761–74.
- Soppimath KS, Aminabhavi TM, Kulkarni AR, Rudzinski WE. Biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles as drug delivery devices. J Control Release Off J Control Release Soc. 2001 Jan 29;70:1–2):1–20.

# Nanoparticle Vaccines for Immunotherapy: From Design to Clinical Trials



Achraf Noureddine, Jonas G. Croissant, Harrison O. Davis, Lorenza I. Friedrich, and Rita E. Serda

**Abstract** Nanoparticles have the capacity to activate the immune system, based on both intrinsic particle characteristics and through the delivery of immune activating cargo. Co-delivery of antigens with adjuvants, such as cytokines, cytotoxic agents or pathogen-associated molecular patterns, presents opportunities for stimulating antigen-specific immune responses. This chapter highlights the immunogenic benefits of select chemotherapeutics and the use of nanoparticles to deliver immunogenic molecules and antigens. The influence of intrinsic nanoparticle properties and biological barriers on immune responses to nanoparticles is also discussed. In closing, a summary of nanoparticles approved for clinical use in the United States and examples of those approved in other countries are presented to highlight successes in nano-immunotherapy.

Keywords Immunotherapy  $\cdot$  Nanoparticle vaccine  $\cdot$  Delivery  $\cdot$  Cancer  $\cdot$  Adjuvant Nanomedicine

A. Noureddine · J. G. Croissant · L. I. Friedrich · R. E. Serda (🖂)

Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA

e-mail: anoureddine@unm.edu; jonascroissant@unm.edu; lfriedrich@unm.edu; rserda@ salud.unm.edu

H. O. Davis

Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Kent State University, Kent, OH, USA e-mail: hdavis27@kent.edu

<sup>©</sup> American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020 P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), *Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles*, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_8

### **1** Rational Design of Vaccines

Among the successes of worldwide vaccination programs are global eradication of smallpox [1] and a 50% reduction in the death rate of children under the age of five [2]. While these and other benefits of prophylactic vaccines against infectious diseases are undisputed [3], the application of vaccines to post-exposure prophylaxis, such as anthrax and Ebola, and non-infectious targets, such as cancer cells, has been challenging [4]. Live attenuated, inactivated microbial vaccines are intrinsically endowed with immune stimulating pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) [5]. In contrast, vaccines against mutated or otherwise modified cells, such as those associated with cancer and neurological disorders, require the presence of components that activate immune cells, with PAMPs and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) being obvious candidates. The application of nanotechnology to vaccine development benefits from the ability to co-load antigens and immune stimulants in nanoparticles, modifiable release profiles and natural targeting of immune cells [6], giving rise to hopes of future successes in creating therapeutic vaccines with enduring cell-mediated and humoral immunity.

While early vaccine components were identified by trial and error, current technologies and advances in our understanding of mechanisms underlying immune responses have moved us to an era of rational design of vaccines [7, 8]. The first vaccine formulations included starch and oils, aimed at slowing antigen release. Later formulations used aluminum salts to precipitate and purify antigen. The inclusion of biological adjuvants, such as squalene (oil extracted from shark liver supporting both MF59 and AS03 formulations) began in the late 1990s [7]. Adjuvants are agents added to vaccines to enhance the immunogenicity of antigens that otherwise have insufficient immunostimulatory properties [9]. AS01, a liposomal formulation containing pathogen-derived monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) and saponin, and AS02, an oil and water emulsion containing MPL and saponin, are currently in clinical testing. MPL adsorbed on aluminum hydroxide salt (i.e. alum, AS04) is currently being used in the human papillomavirus vaccine Cervarix® (GlaxoSmithKline) [10]. Adjuvants approved for human use also include virus-like particles (VLPs) [11]. VLPs are nano-platforms that resemble viruses in organization and conformation and are thereby able to trigger strong humoral and cellular immune responses, but lack the viral genetic material, to replicate. The historical use of vaccines with and without adjuvants is shown in Fig. 1. In 2014, the proportion of vaccines with adjuvants in clinical trials was greater than 50%; however, licensed vaccines lagged behind, with less than half containing adjuvants [7].

MPL is a detoxified version of the gram-negative bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS). It triggers innate immunity through the engagement of receptors on the surface of antigen presenting cells (APC). Other examples of pathogenic molecules include Poly(I:C), a synthetic double-stranded RNA that mimics viral components, and CpG DNA, commonly found in bacteria [12]. PAMPs signal the innate immune system through Toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors (NLRs) and other pathogen-related receptors (PRRs). Cytokines and chemokines



Fig. 1 The historical use of vaccines with and without adjuvants. Estimated vaccine percentage in history based on the fraction proportional to the log of the number of different vaccines [7]. The data points plotted for 2014 represent U.S. licensed vaccines listed by FDA. The clinical trial data points for 2014 (star-like) represent vaccines listed by HuVax (http://www.violinet.org) in clinical testing

are also candidates for inclusion in vaccines. IL-12, for example, helps to tailor immune responses towards pro-inflammatory T helper 1 (Th-1) responses. Our team has demonstrated that liposomal formulations containing MPL and IL-12 stimulate Th-1 responses and block tumor growth in mice bearing 4 T1 breast ade-nocarcinoma tumors [13]. Combinations of adjuvants and vaccines are an attractive means of eliciting better and long-lasting protective immune responses.

Cell mediators of sustained immune responses are APCs, with dendritic cells (DCs) being recognized as potent activators of adaptive immunity [14]. DCs engulf foreign objects (e.g. nanoparticles) by fluid-phase pinocytosis, receptor-mediated endocytosis, and phagocytosis, and then secrete cytokines and chemokines. Endogenous and exogenous proteins are degraded into peptides and assembled with major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and II molecules. The classical path of MHC class II loading with peptides includes processing of internalized (exogenous) antigens within the endosomal pathway. Conversely, processing of endogenous proteins occurs within the proteasome, with antigens transported to the endoplasmic reticulum for loading of MHC class I molecules [15, 16]. Models proposed to explain MHC class I loading of exogenous protein (i.e. cross-presentation) include a unique intercellular compartment known as an ergosome, which is a fusion compartment involving the phagosome and the ER [17, 18]. It has also been proposed that DCs contain a unique endocytic trafficking pathway that facilitates peptide loading into recycled MHC class I molecules within the endosomal compartments [19]. The ability of DCs to process endosomally-trapped antigens along both MHC class I and II pathways facilitates the use of nanoparticles as vaccine delivery platforms since the majority of nanoparticles are internalized into the endolysosomal pathway.

### 2 Development of Nanoparticle Vaccines: The Size Dilemma

The successful design of vaccines needs to consider two overarching goals: [1] efficient delivery of antigens to APCs; and [2] the capacity of APCs to process internalized antigens and present them to T-cells in association with MHC and costimulatory molecules [6]. Nanomaterials, the pillar of the nanotechnology [20, 21], provide opportunities for the rational design of potent vaccine platforms [22]. Owing to diverse features, such as tunable size (in the same range as pathogens), surface functionalization and hybrid nanoparticle platforms, antigen and adjuvant [23–25] can be loaded within or on the surface of the same nanoparticle and delivered to APCs to initiate a cascade of immune responses. In the last twenty years, particles of various nature have been used for the delivery of antigens, including (co)polymers [26], liposomes [27], mesoporous silica [28], chitosan [29], and others [30].

Amidst physicochemical characteristics dictating the immunological fate of particles, size plays a key role in their biodistribution, pharmacokinetics, efficacy, cellular internalization [31] in addition to their immunogenic behavior. Interestingly, no consensus has been established thus far on the optimal nanoparticle size for modulating immune responses, with the literature reporting opposing trends, sometimes even within the same study. In addition to size, surface potential, chemical composition, and selective opsonization, the site of administration of nanoparticle vaccines also influences outcomes. Common metrics for evaluating nanoparticlemediated immune responses *in vitro* and *in vivo* are antibody titers and cytokines profiles. In this section, we will summarize immunological trends dictated by the size of nano/microparticles.

### 2.1 Benefits of Large Nanoparticles for Vaccine Design

Early work by Pedraz and colleagues [32] studied the influence of size and administration route of poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid (PLGA) nanoparticles encapsulating bovine serum albumin (BSA) on vaccine efficacy. PLGA nanoparticles (200, 500 and 1000 nm) were administered via three injection routes in BALB/c mice: subcutaneous (1 µg antigen, one dose) intranasally (200 µg BSA, 3 doses), and orally (500 µg BSA, 3 doses). Serum anti-BSA immunoglobulin IgG was evaluated and compared with that resulting from administration of free BSA alone or adjuvanted with Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA) or alum. For all the administration routes, 1000 nm particles elicited the highest serum IgG titer. PLGA nanoparticles (500 nm) elicited superior antibody responses compared to 200 nm only when intranasally administered whereas similar responses resulted from nanoparticle injections through other routes. The difference in the relationship between particle size and antigen titer highlights the importance, sometimes overlooked, of the vaccine administration route which could show even opposed trend if the administration routes are different (*vide infra*). Overall,



**Fig. 2** Schematic of a mucosal membrane showing either direct DC internalization of nanoparticle vaccines or transport of nanoparticles across M cells to DC. DC then traffic through lymphatic vessels to lymph nodes where they present antigen in association with MHC to T cells

particle size predominated over antigen dose for influence on IgG titers. The authors attributed the higher immunogenicity of larger particles to the different distribution of differently sized particles in the lymphoid tissue but also to a lack of uptake of smaller particles by Peyer's patch microfold (M) cells, in agreement with other reports [33, 34]. M cells are epithelial cells of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues that internalize antigens and transport them to lymphocytes and APCs in mucosal tissues (Fig. 2). Specialized DCs, also present on mucosal surfaces, are critical for recognizing pathogens and initiating and regulating immune responses [35].

In a more recent study, OVA-loaded polypropylene sulfide nanoparticles adjuvanted with soluble CpG with sizes of 30 (NP30) and 200 nm (NP200) were intranasally administered to C57BL/6 mice [36]. Here again, larger nanoparticles showed superior delivery of OVA into the MHC II presentation pathway as determined by inflammatory cytokine expression by OVA-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-2 (IL-2) cytokine levels were similar in the lungs and spleen. In all cases, negligible cytokine changes were detected from CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. In addition, serum IgG2c antibody and proximal and distal mucosal IgA secretion were more pronounced following injection of NP200 compared to NP30 nanoparticles, suggesting that larger particles induce more efficient systemic and mucosal humoral responses and that a Th1-biased immune response was achieved. Interestingly, earlier reports by the same group showed that smaller nanoparticles (of the same nature) were more efficient when intradermally administered (vide infra) [37]. Therefore, understanding the interplay between size and administration route is critical for designing nanoparticle vaccines for optimal outcomes.

# 2.2 Benefits of Small Nanoparticles and Shape for Vaccine Design

The following studies support the opposite impact of particle size on elicitation of immune responses compared to the previous section. Cui and colleagues [38] demonstrated that nanoparticles obtained from a lecithin/glyceryl stearate emulsion in water (200 nm) conjugated with BSA induced strong immune responses when injected subcutaneously in mice compared to free BSA adjuvanted with alum or IFA (Incomplete Freund's adjuvant). Responses to Bacillus anthracis protective antigen (BAPA) using the same vaccine platform induced strong and long-lasting protection of mice exposed to a lethal dose of anthrax toxin (up to 473 days). Interestingly, when nanoparticles of two different hydrodynamic sizes (230 and 708 nm), presenting the same surface charge and conjugated with OVA  $(93 \pm 4 \mu g/mg \text{ NPs})$  [39], were compared *in vitro*, internalization of the smaller (230 nm) nanoparticles by APCs was superior to that of the 708 nm nanoparticles. In addition, in vivo subcutaneous immunization (50 µg OVA/ mouse/week) showed significantly higher anti-OVA IgG production with the smaller nanoparticles. Small (230 nm) nanoparticles inhibited the growth of B16-OVA tumors in C57BL/6 mice (18 days post tumor cell injection) to a larger extent than the following formulations: (1) 708 nm nanoparticles (300% volume increase); (2) an equimolar mixture of small and large NPs (160%); (3) pure OVA (700%); (4) OVA supplemented with IFA (100%), or PBS only control (1000%). It is noteworthy that nanoparticles induced significant immune responses only when OVA was covalently conjugated onto their surface, as opposed to adsorption [39].

Mitragotri's team recently evaluated antibody and cytokine responses to spherical and rod-shaped polystyrene (PS) nanoparticles of two diameter (193 and 521 nm) or aspect ratio (190 x 376 and 520 x 1530 nm) [40]. Nanoparticles, conjugated with ovalbumin (50  $\pm$  3 µg/mg PS), were subcutaneously injected into female BALB/c mice. After the boost injection (21 days, 100 µg OVA), production of anti-OVA titers and cytokines were evaluated in splenocytes using IgG1 and IL-4 or IgG2a and IFN-y as markers for Th-2 and Th-1 responses, respectively. They found that the smallest nanospheres induced the highest immune responses. With respect to Th-1 cytokine production, the smallest spheres induced significantly higher levels of INF- $\gamma$  (800%) than all other particles, but no statistical differences in IL-4 production (Th-2) were observed amongst all the tested nanoparticles. With respect to antibodies, the smaller spheres produced higher IgG titers, however, the trend was reversed for rods. In addition to size effects, this work highlights the influence of particle shape on eliciting an immune response. Finally, the obtained ratios of IgG1/ IgG2a indicated that the small spheres stimulated a cell-mediated Th1-biased response in contrast to the large rods, which stimulated a humoral Th2-biased response.

### 2.3 Impact of Nanoparticle Size on Dendritic Cells Targeting

APCs in peripheral tissues function mainly as sentinels. They readily internalize and process antigens, leading to maturation and migration to lymph nodes where they present the processed antigens to T cells [41]. Generally, nanoparticle vaccines target peripheral DCs, however, it has also been proposed that targeting lymph nodes with APCs uptake being secondary has the benefit of overcoming premature antigen presentation [42].

In 2006, Hubbel and Swartz demonstrated that interstitially injected small polypropylene sulfide (PPS) nanoparticles trafficked directly to lymph nodes without the use of targeting agents [43]. This occurred at a higher frequency for 20 and 45 nm particles compared to 100 nm particles, which is consistent with reports for liposomal or polymeric nanoparticles [27, 44]. They also demonstrated that the nanoparticles were predominately internalized by DC (amongst other APCs). In a subsequent study [37], they took advantage of the interstitialto-lymphatic flow to transport small nanoparticles to the lymphatic vasculature bed where they induced maturation of lymph node-resident DCs leading to in situ activation of complement. In this study, 25 and 100 nm PPS nanoparticles, stabilized with hydroxylated or methoxylated pluronic (F127), were tested for adjuvant activity. The smaller 25 nm particles were much more efficient in the rate of accumulation in lymph node DCs 24 h post injection (50% compared to 6% for 100 nm) as well as their residency time (120 h minimum vs 24 h maximum for 100 nm). In addition, costimulatory molecules (CD40, CD80 and CD86) were found to be upregulated in the presence of hydroxylated 25 nm nanoparticles and the maturation of DCs, in this case, was comparable to that induced by the adjuvant LPS. To study antigen processing and presentation, mice were intradermally immunized (tail tip or dorsal foot skin) with OVA conjugated 25 nm nanoparticles. INF-γ expression, characteristic of T cell activation, was found to be 250% higher for nanoparticle-presented OVA compared to free OVA or methoxylated 25 nm OVA nanoparticles, but 83% lower than OVA+LPS. Interestingly, the same group reported in a subsequent study [36] the opposed trend when the nanoparticles were administered by a different route (intranasally) [36] and hence, once again, highlighting that vaccination route plays a key role in the fate of the nanoparticles. More recently, the group of DeSimone [45] subcutaneously injected PEG hydrogel nanoparticles (180 x 80 nm) and microparticles (1 µm) with OVA conjugated with or without PEG linkers (0.5 K and 5 K) to OT-II transgenic mice. In line with Hubbel study, they have clearly observed that small particles reached the APCs in the popliteal lymph node (PLN) more efficiently than larger ones. While less than 2% APCs were reached by microparticles, nanoparticles were uptaken and delivered antigen to up to 20% DC and 35% macrophages residing in the PLN.

# 2.4 Perspectives and Challenges

These studies demonstrate that within the panel of studied particle sizes, there is no universal particle size that supports optimal immune responses. While nano platform size is highly relevant and crucial, other factors need to be considered. For instance, the group of Plebanski [46] tested polystyrene nanoparticles (20–2000 nm) loaded with OVA on C57BL/6 mice bearing EG7-OVA tumors. Mice were injected intradermally with 100 µg OVA/mouse. Amidst the tested sizes, 40 nm nanoparticles stimulated the best T-cell responses (based on the production of  $INF-\gamma$ ) following 1 and 2 injections, as well as the highest serum anti-OVA IgG titers 10 days after the second immunization (after the first immunization, 100 nm nanoparticles showed comparable responses to 40 nm nanoparticles). In addition, a comparison of 40 and 1000 nm nanoparticles, containing equivalent OVA doses, supported that the aforementioned behavior was not dose- but size-dependent. It was also discovered that 40 nm nanoparticles exhibited higher uptake by lymph node-resident DCs compared to either 1000 nm or 20 nm particles [43, 47]. DCs housing 40 nm nanoparticles expressed higher levels of DEC205, CD40 and CD86, while 1000 nm particles were more localized in macrophage-like APCs expressing F4/80 and CD80. It is also noteworthy that 40 nm nanoparticles displayed a greater adjuvant effect than commonly used adjuvants such as alum, MPL, Quil-A® and IFA. Finally, 40 nm particles also demonstrated the best performance in terms of hindering tumor growth. Hence, while the size of the nanoparticle is important for vaccine design, size thresholds most likely exist for all particle types, with a relevant influence by administration route.

The effect of size on immunogenicity was also studied using a library of OVAconjugated polystyrene beads (approximately 20, 40, 50, 70, 90, 100, 120 nm) [48]. Nanoparticles were intradermally injected into mice (50 µg OVA/mouse) and cytokine secretion was evaluated in splenocytes 10 days after immunization. IFN- $\gamma$ induction from CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was mainly caused by 40–50 nm nanoparticles (~400% compared to other sizes) whereas IL-4, which mediates CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell activation, was mainly produced following stimulation with 90–120 nm particles (~150% higher). In addition, 40 nm nanoparticles were more efficiently internalized by lymph noderesident cells than their larger counterparts (70 nm), which is consistent with previous reports [37, 43]. It is noteworthy that the smallest nanoparticles (~20 nm) in this study were not outstanding in any aspect, in contrast to other reports [37, 43].

Four size ranges (50–150, 10–70, 2–8 and < 2  $\mu$ m) of polylactic acid (PLA) microparticles encapsulating tetanus toxoid (TT), were injected intramuscularly in mice and anti-TT serum titers were evaluated [49]. Fifty days post single-point immunization, the 2–8  $\mu$ m particles elicited 60% more antibody titers than their smaller counterparts and up to 120% and 320% than two larger groups of particles. The higher antibody response for the same group were sustained for 250 days postimmunization. Interestingly, in the presence of alum, the highest increase in titers was found for the 10–70  $\mu$ m group of particles (+130%). One possible reason for low immunogenicity by 10–150  $\mu$ m was suggested to be low macrophage phagocytosis, which considerably diminishes for PLGA particles with sizes higher than  $5-10 \ \mu m$  [49].

In agreement with previous studies on anti-hepatitis B particulate vaccines [50, 51], the Ahsan group demonstrated that PLGA particles (5  $\mu$ m) loaded with hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) were more immunogenic than their smaller (2  $\mu$ m) and larger (12  $\mu$ m) counterparts when administered using a pulmonary route [52]. Interestingly, the anti-HBsAg production was comparable for the three sizes at 21 days after vaccine administration, however, the 5  $\mu$ m-particles showed an increase in immune response after 28 days (200% more antibodies than 2  $\mu$ m- and 12  $\mu$ m-particles).

Nano immunotherapy depends on the capacity of APCs to internalize nanoparticles, which is partly dependent on size, but also on shape and other physicochemical characteristics of nanoparticles. It is clear that a consensus on the effect of the size of vaccine nanoparticles is far from being established as numerous factors are involved within the reported works, including administration route and the chemical nature of the nanoparticles. A summary of findings on the effect of particle size on immune efficacy is presented in Table 1. In the majority of these studies, colloidal size measurements were omitted, and the reported size was the commercially provided size or that measured by electron microscopy. Significant differences in colloidal size may exist and other measurements should be considered. Thoughtful consideration of the mechanisms underlying vaccine efficacy will benefit the development of smarter and more adaptable nanosystems. Future studies would benefit from using different nanoparticle sizes with fixed administration routes and antigen doses in preclinical studies.

## 3 Biological Barriers to Nanoparticle Vaccine Delivery

Advantages of nanoparticles for immunotherapy include co-loading of biologically active compounds, natural APC targeting, sustained release of antigens, and multivalent presentation of immune stimulants for a heightened immune response [6, 25, 53]. Figure 3 illustrates DC internalization of a nanoparticle vaccine and presentation of antigens to T cells in association with upregulated co-stimulatory molecules. The confocal micrograph in Fig. 3b is a bone marrow-derived murine DC following internalization of fluorescent immunogenic lipid coated mesoporous silica nanoparticles (Serda laboratory at the University of New Mexico, image by Karen Sanchez; unpublished). The DC actin and microtubules, shown in red and green, respectively, are labeled with Alexa Fluor 647 phalloidin and anti-tubulin Alexa Fluor 488, while RITC-labeled nanoparticles are shown in white and the cell nucleus, labeled with DAPI, is shown in blue).

Potentially, every particle formulation has a unique behavior based on its physico-chemical properties [54]. Nanoparticle properties, including size, shape and chemical composition can be tailored to benefit the desired therapeutic effect. Such properties also include the particle surface charge and hydrophilic/hydropho-

response
on immune
particles
es of J
of siz
comparison
systematic c
eporting a s
works 1
he main
y of th
Summar
Table 1

•				·		
Material	Size (nm)	Antigen (µg)	Administration route (adjuvant)	Immunization	Mouse model	Ref
PLGA	$200; 500; 1 k^*$	BSA (1)	Subcutaneous (FCA or Alum)	Single dose	Balb/C	[32]
	$200; 500; 1 k^{*}$	BSA (200)	Intranasal (FCA or Alum)	3 doses (d, d + 1, d + 2)	200–500 -1 k*	1
	$200; 500; 1 k^{*}$	BSA (500)	Oral (FCA or Alum)			
Sdd	30; 200*	OVA (25)	Intranasal, CpG 4 µg	3 doses (d, d + 14, d + 28)	C57BL/6 OTI/OTII OVA transgenic	[36]
PPS stabilized with Pluronic F127	25*; 100	OVA (15)	Intradermal in tail tip or dorsal foot skin	Single dose	C57BL/6	[37]
Lecithin/stearate	200	BSA (5)	Subcutaneous	3 doses (d, d + 14,	Balb/C	[38]
	200	BAPA (1-10)		d + 28)		
	230*; 708	OVA (50)		3 doses (d, d + 7, d + 14)	C57BL/6	[39]
PS	193*; 521;	OVA (100)	Subcutaneous	2 doses (d, d + 21)	Balb/C	<u>[</u>
	193 x 176; 521 x 1530					
PS	20: 40*: 100: 200:	OVA (100)	Intradermal	2 doses (d. d + 14)	C57BL/6	[46]
	500; 1 k; 2 k	~				-
Sd	20; 40*; 50*; 70, 90, 100, 120	OVA (50)	Intradermal in hind footpad	2 doses, (d, d + 14)	C57BL/6 OTI/OTII OVA transgenic	[48]
	50	G88 and M2.1 RSV proteins (40)	Intranasal	2 doses, (d, d + 14)	BALB/c	
PLA	50 k-150 k; 10 k-70 k; 2 k-8 k*; 0 k-2 k	TT (13)	Intramuscular, Alum 50 ng	Single dose	Wistar Rat	[49]
PLGA	2 k; 5 k*; 12 k	HBsAg (10)	Pulmonary (Inhalation)	1 dose	Sprague-Dawly rat	[52]
PGA-co-PDL	300 nm	rPspA4Pro	Inhalation via nasal delivery	2 doses (d, d + 14)	BALB/c	[58]
*indicates the size with acid) PLGA [Poly(lact Albumin (BSA), Bacill B surface Antigen (HB	in the studied panel wi tic/glyotic) acid], PGA lus anthrasis Protective sAg)	th optimal immune respectives of the set of	ponse. Materials acronyms: PS (Pc ol adipate)-co-pentadecalactone]. nbinant pneumococcal surface pr	Jlystyrene) PPS (Polypropy Antigens acronyms: Oval otein A (rPspA4Pro), Respi	/lene Sulfide) PLA (Poly bumin (OVA), Bovine ( iratory Virus (RSV), He	/lactic Serum patitis



**Fig. 3** Nano immunotherapy. (a) Artistic rendition of a DC interacting with two T cells following internalization of a nanoparticle vaccine (image by Jonas Croissant). Inset: transmission electron microscopy image of mesoporous silica nanoparticles (scale bar: 100 nm). (b) Confocal micrograph of a mouse DC following internalization of immunogenic lipid coated mesoporous silica nanoparticles (ILM: white, actin: red, microtubules: green, nuclei blue; image by Karen Sanchez)

bic balance, which can be challenging to tune for certain particle types (e.g. polymers) without extensive synthetic modifications [55]. The choice of route is determined by the desired target region, which may be preferentially accessible thorough lungs, gastrointestinal tract, brain, or central nervous system. Some of the routes of administration for mucosal delivery of nanotherapeutics are nasal and oral and are discussed below. We also address the challenges that face nanoparticle delivery in biological environments by chemical and materials nanoengineering.

### 3.1 Barriers to Nasal Delivery

Within the facet of nasal delivery, there are a wide variety of therapeutics and nanoparticle frameworks already available. Roux and colleagues [56] presented a potential nasal vaccine for respiratory syncytial virus (RSV). At the time of the article's publication in 2008, there was little discussion of using the nucleoprotein (N) from the RSV nucleocapsid as an antigen, making the team pioneers in the use of this antigen for intranasal delivery of the vaccine. They created a nanoparticle composed of a homogeneous ring of 10–11 N subunits enclosing bacterial RNA. Intranasal immunization of adult mice with the nanoparticles adjuvanted with detoxified bacterial endotoxin protected mice against RSV challenge.

Further, Yu and colleagues [57] engineered an RSV vaccine targeting an engineered G glycoprotein using an adenovirus nanoparticle platform (rAd/3xG). Strong mucosal IgA responses were elicited in the mice following a single intranasal immunization, but not following intramuscular or oral administrations. Interestingly, Th-1 and Th-2 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses (IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-4, respectively) were lacking following rAd/3xG vaccination, but restored following priming with vaccinia virus expressing RSV G. Other reports of intranasal nanoparticle delivery systems include poly(glycerol adipate-co-

omega-pentadecalactone) (PGA-co-PDL) polymeric nanoparticles loaded with a Pneumococcal surface protein A [58, 59] and mucoadhesive chitosan nanoparticles for delivery of inactivated influenza A virus [60]. While the data support the use of intranasal delivery of therapeutics, it also indicates opportunities for optimization of vaccine platforms to achieve diverse immunogenic responses.

### 3.2 Barriers to Oral Delivery

There is a large array of strategies being utilized for overcoming barriers facing oral delivery of nanoparticles. An example is a series of amphiphilic cetirizine-chitosan polymer (CTZ-CSs) cetirizine dihydrochloride (CedH) nanoparticles [61], which displayed both burst and sustained drug release profiles in the presence of lysozyme (cell-free). CedH showed a burst release during the first 6 h, after which the release rate slowed significantly and was sustained for 72 h. Ex vivo mucosal adhesion of CedH-CTZ-CS nanoparticles supported the potential for prolonged residence time for nanoparticles in the small intestinal mucosa. This strategy involves trafficking of nanoparticles through the digestive system while avoiding exposure of the drug to the stomach's acidic environment through encapsulation, retaining molecular integrity, and remaining unidentified as foreign material based on nature of the polymer throughout the journey. Their conclusion were that oral delivery has the potential to deliver drug without compromising their chemical integrity. In addition, the authors stated that timed release has the potential to deliver a drug/antigen over an extended period of time. Researchers have also used chitosan and PLGA based nanoparticles to effectively cross the epithelial layer of the intestinal epithelium [62, 63]. Mucosal immune cells, located in the basolateral domain of the intestinal mucosa [64], are able to internalize nanoparticles and initiate antigen-specific T cell responses in the body, supporting the potential use of orally-delivered nanoparticles to initiate T cell responses by targeting localized DCs.

### 3.3 Perspectives and Challenges

There are many challenges in designing nanoparticle delivery systems for mucosal delivery. At the forefront, the human body is extremely efficient when it comes to eliminating foreign materials from the body [65]. These challenges vary depending on the delivery route. Some of the challenges facing oral delivery include stability of the nanoparticles in the polarizing environments that exist throughout the human GI tract. Further, the GI contains a mucosal layer that is able to eliminate larger particles as part of the biological defense system. These barriers emphasize the importance of optimizing nanoparticle properties such as viscoelasticity, thickness, density and turnover time [65]. Ongoing research is aimed at manipulating nanoparticles and their loaded cargo to obtain the desired therapeutic effects.

## 4 Immunogenic Cell-Death Inducing Chemotherapeutics: Contribution of Nanoparticles

### 4.1 Immunogenic Cell Death (ICD)

Chemotherapeutic drugs have played a major role in the treatment of various types of cancer, yet the mechanisms of their inner workings are still being discovered. Historically, anti-cancer drugs have been used to elicit cytotoxic responses, such as DNA damage leading to apoptosis and inhibition of tumor growth. More recently, the ability of chemotherapeutic drugs to activate immune responses has surfaced, with a focus on their ability to trigger immunogenic cell death (ICD). The utilization of this immune response has led to the inception of chemotherapeutics as "anticancer vaccines [66].

During ICD, dying cancer cells transmit danger signals that activate the immune system. These signals are outlined by the emergence of danger associated molecular pattern (DAMP). These signals consist of three hallmarks: (1) the migration of calreticulin (CRT) from the endoplasmic reticulum to the surface of the cell, (2) release of ATP and (3) the dislocation of the high mobility post-apoptotic box 1 (HMGB-1). The first hallmark occurs soon after treatment and precedes other indications of apoptosis [67]. The presence of CRT is also accompanied by another corresponding disulfide isomerase protein, ERp57, without which, the translocation of calreticulin is not observed [68]. CRT functions as a beacon, enticing macrophages to consume the dying cells. Along with CRT, the presence of another "eat-me" signal is generated during early apoptosis, phospholipid phosphatidylserine (PS) [69]. In contrast to CRT, PS is believed to have immunosuppressive effects. For example, transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ), essential for the establishment of anti-inflammatory responses, is only observed in the presence of PS [70]. Therefore, PS acts to stimulate the removal of apoptotic cells without eliciting proinflammatory immune responses. In addition to "eat-me" signals, another essential event in ICD is the production of ATP, which serves as a "find-me" signal to attract DCs. Furthermore, ATP is a ligand for P2RX7 purinergic receptors, leading to secretion of the inflammatory cytokine interleukin-1 beta (IL-1β) [71]. The pro-inflammatory immunogenic signals are essential for the immune efficacy of chemotherapeutics. The final requirement for ICD involves secretion of HMGB-1 which is also another immunogenic molecule that is a ligand for Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR-4) on APCs [71].

### 4.2 Nanoparticles and ICD

Although, immunogenic chemotherapeutics under their free form are theoretically sufficient to produce an ICD, reported works show how the encapsulation of drugs within nanoparticles drastically increases their efficacy. In the following section, we present some examples for oxaliplatin, doxorubicin and paclitaxel which nanoplat-forms made significant improvements in their ICD-inducing effect.

Oxaliplatin (OXA) The Nie group [72] created diblock copolymer PLGA-mPEG nanoparticles loaded with oxaliplatin (OXA) or gemcitabine (GEM) which are respectively immunologically active and silent agents. Both free OXA and OXAloaded NPs showed a significantly higher release of ATP, CRT and HMGB-1 than free and NP-loaded GEM for both Panc-1 and PanO2 human and murine pancreatic cell lines. Additionally, it was demonstrated that the encapsulation within NPs improved the ability of OXA to induce DAMPs exposure as well as immune responses of dendritic cells and T-cells (measured by amount of expressed CD80, CD83, and  $INF-\gamma$ ). In vivo studies on immunocompetent C57BL/6 mice showed that, free and encapsulated OXA resulted in 20 to 60% mice survival 60 days after challenge whereas all mice were dead before 10 days when treated with free GEM, free NP or encapsulated GEM. These results indicate that NP encapsulation of ICD-inducing drugs enhances the immune response in terms of APC maturation, T-cell activation and tumor infiltration. The authors confirmed the same trend by comparing ICDinducer doxorubicin and immunologically silent 5-fluoruracil. The groups of Nel and Meng [73] recently reported the possibility to induce immunogenic cell death (ICD) by using "Immunogenic LCMSN" on pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC). Those I-LCMSNs being loaded with ICD-inducing agent oxaliplatin (OX) and by engineering the lipid bilayer coating to incorporate indoximod moieties that interfere with the immunosuppressive indoleamine dioxygenase overexpressed on PDAC site. KPC cells-implanted pancreas in B6/129 mice were IV-injected by free or ILCMSNcoloaded drugs (5 mg/Kg OX; 50 mg/Kg IND, corresponding to about 110 mg/Kg ILCMSN). Mature dendritic cells were enhanced to 32% in the case dual-loaded nanocarrier while remains below 18% in all other treatments. This induced significantly higher tumor shrinkage (up to 8 times) than free or liposome-loaded drugs and at least twice than OX-loaded LCMSN (w/o IND) outlining the synergistic (somehow unexpected) effect of IND on ICD when used along with OX.

**Doxorubicin** (DOX) The group of Zhang [74] used the concept of a nanomachine [75-79] to load DOX into integrated MSNs (IMSNs) while using a double pH- and redox-sensitive  $\beta$ -cylodextrine ( $\beta$ -CD)/rotaxane gatekeeper that will prevent DOX leakage before endosomal internalization. After IV injection of DOX-free or -containing samples into 4-T1 tumor-bearing Balb/C mice ([DOX] = 5 mg/kg), the tumor volume decreased 5 to 2 times compared to free DOX and DOX@MSNs. The authors showed an increase in spleen, tumor and serum interleukin-16 (IL-16), IL-12P40, interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), CD4, CD8, and CD86 levels was also observed after DOX@IMSN treatment, when compared with other control groups including free DOX or gate-keeper-free MSNs consistent with that encapsulation of DOX into IMSN increased the ICD. More recently, the group of Moon [79] reported ~10 nm sHDL nanodiscs coated with pH-sensitive DPPC-DOX conjugate that successfully showed higher release of CRT and HMGB-1 compared to free DOX.(4 mg/kg) in colon carcinoma cells CT26 and MC38 in BALB/C and C57BL/6 subcutaneously injected mice. It is noteworthy that the reported DOX nanodiscs enhanced the efficiency of antiPD-1 alone or with free DOX by dramatically increasing the survival rate from 13% up to 90% r in BALB/C mice.

**Paclitaxel (PAX)** Reports about PAX as ICD-inducing drug are relatively earlier than other known drugs such as OXA and DOX. Bhaskar group [80, 81] [82]created PLGA nanoparticles containing Paclitaxel (PAX) and the non-toxic fragment of the adjuvant LPS (P-LPS) as a TLR-4 ligand. APC and T-cell activation and infiltration into tumor was proven to be higher on the PAX@PLGA nanoparticles rather than free PAX or PLGA alone. The same group also reported a micelle-like conjugate of paclitaxel and SP-LPS (a similar fragment to L-LPS) that showed higher activated immune cells within the tumor microenvironment than liposomal PAX (Taxol). Lim's group [82] reported a system for treatment of B16-F10 melanoma cells, in fact they co-loaded PAX and imiquimod (TLR-7 agonist) within polyglutamic acid nanoparticles and those were intratumorally injected (4 doses) into C57BL/6 (H-2b) mice previously inoculated with B16-F10 cells. This system induced enhancement of up to 250% proliferation of dendritic cells as well as Th1 cytokines. *In vivo* results showed 70% mice survival after 41 days whereas all mice from all other groups were dead.

### 4.3 Perspectives and Challenges

In summary, chemotherapeutic drugs have the potential to induce a dual therapeutic effect, death of highly replicating cancer cells and stimulation of anti-cancer immune responses. Nanoparticles provide an opportunity to concentrate and protect drugs and enhance their pharmacokinetics. Combination therapy is also made possible by nanoparticles where emerging complex systems induce photothermal and photodynamic immunotherapy in addition to conventional chemotherapy. Co-delivery of chemotherapeutics and adjuvants, help alleviating immune suppression in the tumor microenvironment and enhancing the immunogenicity of chemotherapeutics. Because the use of ICD-inducing chemotherapeutics may require numerous experiments and time-consuming characterization and data analysis, researchers encounter difficulties to find one optimal drug/nanoparticle complex as all the reported studies were carried out independently and a comparison on the same basis is not possible. In any case, we are undoubtedly witnessing the first advances in a field with tremendous potential for cancer therapy which will be full of enthusiastic discussions in the next years.

### 5 Nanoparticle Vaccines in Clinical Trials

In this section, nanoparticle vaccines currently in clinical trials will be discussed and considered in relation to the various diseases they attempt to cure, namely respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), Influenza viral infections, Ebola virus disease (EVD), and cancer.

# 5.1 Nanoparticle Vaccines Against Infectious Diseases (RSV, HPV, HIV)

RSV infection is the leading cause of hospitalization of infants under one-year-old in the United States and is the second leading cause of infant mortality worldwide after malaria. To date, no vaccine technology is FDA approved for RSV infections. Commercialized prophylactic therapeutics include the neutralizing monoclonal antibody (mAb) palivizumab. Preclinical trials of nanoparticle vaccine technologies abound in the literature. Agilvax, Inc., a biotechnology company located in New Mexico in the United States, is for instance developing an immunotherapy vaccine nanoplatform that supports high immunogenicity to both foreign and self-antigens. Their VLP vaccine candidate is cost-effective by virtue of using a bacteriophage MS2 virus-like particles [83]. The candidate enables the recovery and amplification of affinity-selected sequences from vast libraries (through a process similar to phage display) by using a single technology, hence accelerating significantly the identification and development of novel vaccines. One preclinical study involved AX14, which targets pre-fusion F-protein identified via VLP affinity selection. Mice immunized with AX14 generated an immune response that effectively neutralized RSV infection in vitro, and in vivo tests are underway. The company is also working towards clinical trials with a universal virus-like particle-based (~25 nm in diameter) vaccine to combat human papillomavirus (HPV) infection, which is estimated to cause 5% of human cancers worldwide [84-86].

All nanoparticle vaccine clinical trials currently under examination in the United States were developed by Novavax, Inc., a clinical-stage biotechnology company headquartered in Maryland [88]. The public company trades under the symbol NVAX and aims to commercialize products to prevent a broad range of infectious diseases based on recombinant nanoparticle vaccine technologies. The goal of the clinical trials is to treat patients suffering from RSV (using RSV-F Vaccines) [89–92], seasonal influenza (using NanoFlu) [93–98], and Ebola virus (EBOV) [87, 99]. To achieve this goal, the company constructed nanosized vaccines via assembly of recombinant protein in star-like nanostructures (Fig. 4). The Company partners with the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, the US Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority (BARDA), LG Life Sciences, and has a joint venture with Cadila Pharmaceuticals. Table 2 summaries all the available clinical trials on the clinicaltrials.gov database using the keywords "nanoparticle" and "vaccine" (Accessed May 2019, novavax.com) [121–127].

Novavax has an extensive publication record substantiating the science behind the clinical trials and communicating the data to the public [90, 91, 93, 99–102]. All the reported clinical trials have been performed using immunogenic nanoparticles based on fusion (F) proteins via the IM administration route . The studies enrolled participant ranges for phase 1 (32 to 230), phase 2 (50 to 1330), and phase 3 (8618) and mostly concerning RSV Infections. Although in September 2016, the stocks of company collapsed after the failure of Phase III RSV F vaccine, the company is still actively advancing on other RSV clinical trials. Figure 5 summarizes the pipeline of

[87]

Fig. 4 Artistic rendition of Novavax Novavax nanoparticle vaccine based on negative staining electron microscopy - Hahn et al. Complexation Recombinant point Protein

all clinical trials revealed by the Novavax's website, as of June 2018. The company developed adjuvant formulations that enable the vaccine to induce potent immune responses that include enhanced production of antibodies and longer lasting protection against infections caused by various bacteria and viruses. Matrix<sup>TM</sup> and saponinbased Matrix-M<sup>TM</sup> proprietary adjuvants are also being used in the clinical trials.

#### 5.2 Influenza Nanoparticle Vaccines

Novavax Inc. is currently using NanoFlu<sup>™</sup> to treat seasonal influenza in humans [93–98]. The phase 1/2 clinical trials include randomized and observer-blinded studies enrolling three groups of 110 patients who received IM administration of either one of two dose levels of NanoFlu<sup>TM</sup> nanoparticle vaccines subjects or Fluzone HD controls. Trial follow-ups were to last one full year and are still continuing as of June 2018.

In another study, completed in 2014, RSV-F vaccine and influenza vaccine were co-administrated to elderly people [103]. This phase I randomized, observerblinded, and dose-ranging clinical trial aims to assess the immunogenic therapeutic efficacy RSV-F protein nanoparticle vaccine. The trials were conducted with or without aluminum adjuvants injected in combination with the inactivated influenza vaccines. The study enrolled 220 patients in elderly populations stratified by two age categories: 60 to <75 years and  $\geq$  75 years. On day zero, immunizations were performed with single IM dose injections of placebos or RSV-F protein nanoparticle vaccines, with concurrent IM immunization with an inactivated pathogen vaccine. On the 28th day, rescue doses of the licensed seasonal trivalent inactivated influenza

able 2	2 Curre	ent US clinical tria	als on nanoparticl	e vaccine candidates				
Ref	Phase	Disease type	Treatment type	Dosing time and number	Injection type	Particle type	Patients enrolled	Start/End dates
[121]	5	Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV)	RSV-F Vaccine	RSV-F Vaccine phosphate buffer placebo	WI	F Protein	1330	Oct 2015/ Nov 2016
[122]		Ebola	EBOV GP Vaccine	Base Dose EBOV GP Vaccine 2x Base Dose EBOV GP Vaccine 4x Base Dose EBOV GP Vaccine 8x Base Dose EBOV GP Vaccine Placebo Matrix-M Adjuvant	W	Glyco-protein	230	Feb 2015/ Apr 2016
[123]	1/2	Influenza	NanoFlu	NanoFlu Fluzone HD - Day 0 Fluzone HD - Day 21 Saline - Day 21	IM	F Protein	330	Sep 2017/ Mar 2018
[124]	1	Respiratory Synctial Virus	RSV F vaccine	RSV F Vaccine with adjuvant RSV F Vaccine Hepatitis A Vaccine Placebo	IM	F Protein	32	Nov 2014/ Apr 2016
[125]	б	Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infections	RSV F vaccine	RSV F vaccine with adjuvant Formulation buffer	IM	F Protein	8618	Dec 2015/ Jun 2018
[103]		Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV)	RSV F vaccine	Low dose RSV-F Vaccine with Adjuvant (Day 0); Seasonal TIV (Day 0 & Day 28) Low dose RSV-F Vaccine without Adjuvant (Day 0); Seasonal TIV (Day 0 & day 28) High dose RSV-F Vaccine with Adjuvant (Day 0); Seasonal TIV (Day 0 & Day 28) High dose RSV-F Vaccine Without Adjuvant (Day 0); Seasonal TIV (Day 0 & Day 28) Placebo (Day 0 & Day 28); Seasonal TIV (Day 0)	IM	F Protein	220	Oct 2012/ Mar 2014

 Table 2
 Current US clinical trials on nanoparticle vaccine candidates

Sep 2014/ May 2017	Oct 2012/ May 2013	
50	330	
Protein	Protein	
IM	IM	
Drug: Saline Placebo (0.5 mL injection) Drug: RSV F vaccine (0.5 mL injection)	Low dose RSV-F Vaccine with Adjuvant Low dose RSV-F Vaccine Without Adjuvant High dose RSV-F Vaccine with Adjuvant High dose RSV-F Vaccine without Adjuvant Low dose RSV-F Vaccine with Adjuvant [Bedside Mixing] Placebo	
RSV-F protein nanoparticle vaccine	RSV-F protein nanoparticle vaccine	
Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infections	Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV)	
[126] 2	[127] 2	



Fig. 5 Clinical trial stages of various Novavax nanoparticle-based vaccine technologies

vaccine were injected into healthy volunteers, with the placebo patient group receiving saline injections. Maximal anti-F IgG antibody titers were attained within 28 or 56 days' post-vaccination for adjuvanted and unadjuvanted treatments, respectively. The immune responses (IgG) persisted for 12 months after the vaccination [89].

Novavax also recently reported improved titers against influenza drift variants using an adjuvanted recombinant hemagglutinin trivalent nanoparticle vaccine [98]. In this clinical trial, trivalent nanoparticle influenza vaccine induced significantly higher hemagglutinin inhibition efficacies than the high-dose trivalent Fluzone vaccine against the A/Singapore strain. The possible implications of this work include more effective and long-lasting influenza vaccinations through avoiding the mismatch resulting from egg adaptive mutations.

### 5.3 Ebola Nanoparticle Vaccines

The Ebola virus (EBOV) exploded in West and Central Africa a few years ago without effective medical responses. Research efforts to combat the disease are still ongoing [104]. Novavax began clinical trials in February 2015 using its EBOV glycoprotein (GP) vaccine [87, 99]. The EBOV GP gene was cloned into a baculovirus vector and recombinant protein was produced in Sf9 insect cells. The resulting glycosylated trimmers formed spherical 30–40 nm particles. In mice [99], EBOV GP injected with the saponin adjuvant Matrix-M was significantly more immunogenic (based on virus neutralization titers and anti-EBOV GP IgG) compared to immunization with EBOV GP with alum or no adjuvant. Further, immunization of mice with EBOV GP with Matrix-M was 100% protective when mice were challenged with the lethal virus. In support of the use of saponin-based adjuvants in vaccine, no protection was observed with the alum adjuvant and only 10% o mice were protected in the EBOV/Mak GP antigen alone group.

Results from the above Phase 1 clinical trial of the EBOV GP vaccine was presented at the World Health Organization (WHO) fifth Teleconference on Ebola vaccine trial. The dose escalation immunogenicity and safety trial included approximately 230 healthy subjects between the ages of 18 to 49. Immunizations included one or two IM doses of 6.5 to 50 µg antigen into the deltoid muscle in alternate arms. Adjuvanted EBOV GP was highly immunogenic at all dose levels. Single and two-dose regimens induced a 21–27 and 500–750-fold increase in antibody titer levels over baseline on day 35 after immunization. Local and systemic reactions were mild to moderate, and only slightly higher in the adjuvant group. Overall the clinical data indicates that the EBOV GP nanoparticle vaccine will be protective in humans.

### 5.4 Cancer Nanoparticle Vaccines

A wide variety of translational nanoparticle vaccines have been investigated by clinical trials to treat various cancers at a variety of stages [88, 105]. Liposomes have been used extensively due to their multifunctionality and biocompatibility [106–109]. Grippin and co-workers recently reviewed the subject in an excellent work chronicling nanoparticle-based cancer vaccines for antigen delivery used in human clinical studies [105], including Tecemotide<sup>TM</sup> liposomes [110], AS15<sup>TM</sup> lipids [111], DepoVax<sup>TM</sup> liposomes [112, 113], Cholesteryl pullulan (CHP) nanogels [114, 115], ISCOMATRIX<sup>TM</sup> liposomes [116], virus-like nanoparticles [117], OncoVAX-id/IL-2 liposomes [118], Lipovaxin<sup>TM</sup> liposomes [119], and Lipo-MERIT<sup>TM</sup> liposomes [120]. Two of the above examples will be discussed hereafter.

Tecemotide<sup>™</sup> is a nanoliposomal cancer vaccine comprised of a mixture of cholesterol, dimyristoyl phosphatidylglycerol (DMPG), and dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine (DPPC) and loaded with MUC1 glycoproteins. The diameters of the liposomal vesicles ranged from 150 to 580 nm. The delivery of MUC1 glycoproteins was performed as they are overexpressed on the apical surfaces of epithelia in many mucosal cancers. In combination of immunostimulatory lipid BLP25 and TLR4 agonist MPL, the delivery induced a shift toward Th1 polarization and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response [105]. However, phases II and III trials did not succeed in generating sufficient survival benefits for cancer patients except for patients with stage IIIB locoregional disease and patients treated concurrently with cyclophosphamide. Tecemotide<sup>™</sup> is now being investigated in multinational phase III trials of colorectal cancers [105].

CHP nanogels containing cholesteryl pullulan complexed with truncated HER2 protein 1–146 were created to target the HER2 antigen [114]. The clinical trial aimed to evaluate the safety of the nanoparticle vaccine and HER2-specific T-cell immune responses, which were determined by an enzyme-linked immunospot assay

with mRNA-transduced phytohemagglutinin-stimulated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in HLA-A2402-positive patients with therapy-refractory HER2-expressing cancers. The study demonstrated the safe use of the vaccine as well as the induction of HER2-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> and/or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell immune responses [114].

### 6 Conclusions and Perspectives

Preclinical and clinical studies support better vaccine efficacy in the presence of adjuvants. Benefits of nanoparticle vaccines include the ability to package adjuvant and antigen in the same construct and achieve potent, multivalent presentation of molecules to APCs. Here we have shown that the development of therapeutic cancer vaccines may benefit from the use of chemotherapeutics as adjuvants through induction of immunogenic cell death. The ability to co-load chemotherapeutics and other adjuvants into nanoparticles may enhance ICD-induced anti-cancer immune responses. Advantages of nanoparticle vaccines also include the ability to tailor nanoparticles for optimal performance based on cargo, route of administration and desired tissue targeting. While nanoparticle size clearly has a strong impact on nanoparticle efficacy for eliciting immune responses, other physico-chemical traits, such as shape, surface potential, and particle degradation/cargo release kinetics also impact therapeutic efficacy. While early nanoparticle vaccine clinical studies are promising, thoughtful consideration of the mechanisms underlying vaccine efficacy when delivered using nanoparticles will benefit the development of future vaccine nanosystems.

### References

- 1. Strassburg MA. The global eradication of smallpox. Am J Infect Control. 1982;10(2):53-9.
- 2. World Health Organization. Global vaccine action plan: monitoring eaaarGW.
- 3. Hinman A. Eradication of vaccine-preventable diseases. Annu Rev Public Health. 1999;20:211–29.
- 4. Powell BS, Andrianov AK, Fusco PC. Polyionic vaccine adjuvants: another look at aluminum salts and polyelectrolytes. Clin Exp Vaccine Res. 2015;4(1):23–45.
- Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell. 2006;124(4):783–801.
- 6. Serda RE. Particle platforms for cancer immunotherapy. Int J Nanomedicine. 2013;8:1683-96.
- Powell BS, Andrianov AK, Fusco PC. Polyionic vaccine adjuvants: another look at aluminum salts and polyelectrolytes. Clinical and experimental vaccine research. 2015;4(1):23–45.
- 8. De Gregorio E, Rappuoli R. From empiricism to rational design: a personal perspective of the evolution of vaccine development. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(7):505–14.
- 9. Di Pasquale A, Preiss S, Tavares Da Silva F, Garcon N. Vaccine adjuvants: from 1920 to 2015 and beyond. Vaccines (Basel). 2015;3(2):320–43.
- Naud PS, Roteli-Martins CM, De Carvalho NS, et al. Sustained efficacy, immunogenicity, and safety of the HPV-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine: final analysis of a long-term followup study up to 9.4 years post-vaccination. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2014;10(8):2147–62.

- Fuenmayor J, Godia F, Cervera L. Production of virus-like particles for vaccines. New Biotechnol. 2017;39(Pt B):174–80.
- 12. Sahdev P, Ochyl LJ, Moon JJ. Biomaterials for nanoparticle vaccine delivery systems. Pharm Res. 2014;31(10):2563–82.
- 13. Meraz IM, Savage DJ, Segura-Ibarra V, et al. Adjuvant cationic liposomes presenting MPL and IL-12 induce cell death, suppress tumor growth, and alter the cellular phenotype of tumors in a murine model of breast cancer. Mol Pharm. 2014;11(10):3484–91.
- Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2000;18:767–811.
- Joshi MD, Unger WJ, Storm G, van Kooyk Y, Mastrobattista E. Targeting tumor antigens to dendritic cells using particulate carriers. J Control Release. 2012;161(1):25–37.
- Burgdorf S, Kautz A, Bohnert V, Knolle PA, Kurts C. Distinct pathways of antigen uptake and intracellular routing in CD4 and CD8 T cell activation. Science. 2007;316(5824):612–6.
- Guermonprez P, Saveanu L, Kleijmeer M, Davoust J, Van Endert P, Amigorena S. ER-phagosome fusion defines an MHC class I cross-presentation compartment in dendritic cells. Nature. 2003;425(6956):397–402.
- Houde M, Bertholet S, Gagnon E, et al. Phagosomes are competent organelles for antigen cross-presentation. Nature. 2003;425(6956):402–6.
- Basha G, Lizee G, Reinicke AT, Seipp RP, Omilusik KD, Jefferies WA. MHC class I endosomal and lysosomal trafficking coincides with exogenous antigen loading in dendritic cells. PLoS One. 2008;3(9):e3247.
- Croissant JG, Fatieiev Y, Omar H, et al. Periodic mesoporous organosilica nanoparticles with controlled morphologies and high drug/dye loadings for multicargo delivery in cancer cells. Chemistry. 2016;22(28):9607–15.
- Noureddine A, Brinker CJ. Pendant/bridged/mesoporous silsesquioxane nanoparticles: versatile and biocompatible platforms for smart delivery of therapeutics. Chem Eng J. 2018;340:125–47.
- Park J, Wrzesinski SH, Stern E, et al. Combination delivery of TGF-beta inhibitor and IL-2 by nanoscale liposomal polymeric gels enhances tumour immunotherapy. Nat Mater. 2012;11(10):895–905.
- Fan Y, Kuai R, Xu Y, Ochyl LJ, Irvine DJ, Moon JJ. Immunogenic cell death amplified by co-localized adjuvant delivery for cancer immunotherapy. Nano Lett. 2017;17(12):7387–93.
- 24. Dane EL, Irvine DJ. Big thinking for adjuvants. Nat Biotechnol. 2015;33(11):1146-8.
- Meraz IM, Hearnden CH, Liu X, et al. Multivalent presentation of MPL by porous silicon microparticles favors T helper 1 polarization enhancing the anti-tumor efficacy of doxorubicin nanoliposomes. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e94703.
- Horisawa E, Kubota K, Tuboi I, et al. Size-dependency of DL-lactide/glycolide copolymer particulates for intra-articular delivery system on phagocytosis in rat synovium. Pharm Res. 2002;19(2):132–9.
- Oussoren C, Storm G. Liposomes to target the lymphatics by subcutaneous administration. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2001;50(1–2):143–56.
- Mahony D, Cavallaro AS, Stahr F, Mahony TJ, Qiao SZ, Mitter N. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles act as a self-adjuvant for ovalbumin model antigen in mice. Small. 2013;9(18):3138–46.
- Borges O, Cordeiro-da-Silva A, Romeijn SG, et al. Uptake studies in rat Peyer's patches, cytotoxicity and release studies of alginate coated chitosan nanoparticles for mucosal vaccination. J Control Release. 2006;114(3):348–58.
- 30. Irvine DJ, Hanson MC, Rakhra K, Tokatlian T. Synthetic nanoparticles for vaccines and immunotherapy. Chem Rev. 2015;115(19):11109–46.
- Wang J, Byrne JD, Napier ME, DeSimone JM. More effective nanomedicines through particle design. Small. 2011;7(14):1919–31.
- 32. Gutierro I, Hernandez RM, Igartua M, Gascon AR, Pedraz JL. Size dependent immune response after subcutaneous, oral and intranasal administration of BSA loaded nanospheres. Vaccine. 2002;21(1–2):67–77.

- McClean S, Prosser E, Meehan E, et al. Binding and uptake of biodegradable poly-DL-lactide micro- and nanoparticles in intestinal epithelia. Eur J Pharm Sci. 1998;6(2):153–63.
- Simecka JW. Mucosal immunity of the gastrointestinal tract and oral tolerance. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 1998;34(2–3):235–59.
- Jiang PL, Lin HJ, Wang HW, et al. Galactosylated liposome as a dendritic cell-targeted mucosal vaccine for inducing protective anti-tumor immunity. Acta Biomater. 2015;11:356–67.
- Stano A, Nembrini C, Swartz MA, Hubbell JA, Simeoni E. Nanoparticle size influences the magnitude and quality of mucosal immune responses after intranasal immunization. Vaccine. 2012;30(52):7541–6.
- 37. Reddy ST, van der Vlies AJ, Simeoni E, et al. Exploiting lymphatic transport and complement activation in nanoparticle vaccines. Nat Biotechnol. 2007;25(10):1159–64.
- Sloat BR, Sandoval MA, Hau AM, He Y, Cui Z. Strong antibody responses induced by protein antigens conjugated onto the surface of lecithin-based nanoparticles. J Control Release. 2010;141(1):93–100.
- 39. Li X, Sloat BR, Yanasarn N, Cui Z. Relationship between the size of nanoparticles and their adjuvant activity: data from a study with an improved experimental design. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2011;78(1):107–16.
- 40. Kumar S, Anselmo AC, Banerjee A, Zakrewsky M, Mitragotri S. Shape and size-dependent immune response to antigen-carrying nanoparticles. J Control Release. 2015;220(Pt A):141–8.
- 41. Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature. 1998;392(6673):245–52.
- 42. Wang C, Ge Q, Ting D, et al. Molecularly engineered poly(ortho ester) microspheres for enhanced delivery of DNA vaccines. Nat Mater. 2004;3(3):190–6.
- Reddy ST, Rehor A, Schmoekel HG, Hubbell JA, Swartz MA. In vivo targeting of dendritic cells in lymph nodes with poly(propylene sulfide) nanoparticles. J Control Release. 2006;112(1):26–34.
- Manolova V, Flace A, Bauer M, Schwarz K, Saudan P, Bachmann MF. Nanoparticles target distinct dendritic cell populations according to their size. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(5):1404–13.
- 45. Mueller SN, Tian S, DeSimone JM. Rapid and persistent delivery of antigen by lymph node targeting PRINT nanoparticle vaccine carrier to promote humoral immunity. Mol Pharm. 2015;12(5):1356–65.
- Fifis T, Gamvrellis A, Crimeen-Irwin B, et al. Size-dependent immunogenicity: therapeutic and protective properties of nano-vaccines against tumors. J Immunol. 2004;173(5):3148–54.
- Nishioka Y, Yoshino H. Lymphatic targeting with nanoparticulate system. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2001;47(1):55–64.
- Mottram PL, Leong D, Crimeen-Irwin B, et al. Type 1 and 2 immunity following vaccination is influenced by nanoparticle size: formulation of a model vaccine for respiratory syncytial virus. Mol Pharm. 2007;4(1):73–84.
- 49. Katare YK, Muthukumaran T, Panda AK. Influence of particle size, antigen load, dose and additional adjuvant on the immune response from antigen loaded PLA microparticles. Int J Pharm. 2005;301(1–2):149–60.
- Jain AK, Goyal AK, Gupta PN, et al. Synthesis, characterization and evaluation of novel triblock copolymer based nanoparticles for vaccine delivery against hepatitis B. J Control Release. 2009;136(2):161–9.
- Thomas C, Gupta V, Ahsan F. Influence of surface charge of PLGA particles of recombinant hepatitis B surface antigen in enhancing systemic and mucosal immune responses. Int J Pharm. 2009;379(1):41–50.
- 52. Thomas C, Gupta V, Ahsan F. Particle size influences the immune response produced by hepatitis B vaccine formulated in inhalable particles. Pharm Res. 2010;27(5):905–19.
- 53. Meraz IM, Melendez B, Gu J, et al. Activation of the Inflammasome and enhanced migration of microparticle-stimulated dendritic cells to the draining lymph node. Mol Pharm. 2012;9:2049–62.

- 54. Zhang L, Gu FX, Chan JM, Wang AZ, Langer RS, Farokhzad OC. Nanoparticles in medicine: therapeutic applications and developments. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2008;83(5):761–9.
- 55. Jung T, Kamm W, Breitenbach A, Kaiserling E, Xiao JX, Kissel T. Biodegradable nanoparticles for oral delivery of peptides: is there a role for polymers to affect mucosal uptake? Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2000;50(1):147–60.
- Roux X, Dubuquoy C, Durand G, et al. Sub-nucleocapsid nanoparticles: a nasal vaccine against respiratory syncytial virus. PLoS One. 2008;3(3):e1766.
- Yu JR, Kim S, Lee JB, Chang J. Single intranasal immunization with recombinant adenovirusbased vaccine induces protective immunity against respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Virol. 2008;82(5):2350–7.
- Rodrigues TC, Oliveira MLS, Soares-Schanoski A, et al. Mucosal immunization with PspA (pneumococcal surface protein a)-adsorbed nanoparticles targeting the lungs for protection against pneumococcal infection. PLoS One. 2018;13(1):e0191692.
- 59. Kunda NK, Alfagih IM, Miyaji EN, et al. Pulmonary dry powder vaccine of pneumococcal antigen loaded nanoparticles. Int J Pharm. 2015;495(2):903–12.
- 60. Dhakal S, Renu S, Ghimire S, et al. Mucosal immunity and protective efficacy of intranasal inactivated influenza vaccine is improved by chitosan nanoparticle delivery in pigs. Front Immunol. 2018;9:934.
- Stylianou E, Diogo GR, Pepponi I, et al. Mucosal delivery of antigen-coated nanoparticles to lungs confers protective immunity against tuberculosis infection in mice. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44(2):440–9.
- 62. Baleeiro RB, Schweinlin M, Rietscher R, et al. Nanoparticle-based mucosal vaccines targeting tumor-associated antigens to human dendritic cells. J Biomed Nanotechnol. 2016;12(7):1527–43.
- Wang D, Molavi O, Lutsiak ME, Elamanchili P, Kwon GS, Samuel J. Poly(D,L-lacticco-glycolic acid) microsphere delivery of adenovirus for vaccination. J Pharm Pharm Sci. 2007;10(2):217–30.
- Maldonado-Contreras AL, McCormick BA. Intestinal epithelial cells and their role in innate mucosal immunity. Cell Tissue Res. 2011;343(1):5–12.
- Moss DM, Curley P, Kinvig H, Hoskins C, Owen A. The biological challenges and pharmacological opportunities of orally administered nanomedicine delivery. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;12(3):223–36.
- 66. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31(1):51–72.
- 67. Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. Nat Med 2006;13:54–54.
- Panaretakis T, Kepp O, Brockmeier U, et al. Mechanisms of pre-apoptotic calreticulin exposure in immunogenic cell death. EMBO J. 2009;28(5):578–90.
- 69. Martins I, Kepp O, Galluzzi L, et al. Surface-exposed calreticulin in the interaction between dying cells and phagocytes. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2010;1209(1):77–82.
- 70. Birge RB, Boeltz S, Kumar S, et al. Phosphatidylserine is a global immunosuppressive signal in efferocytosis, infectious disease, and cancer. 2016;23(6):962–78.
- Wong DY, Ong WW, Ang WH. Induction of immunogenic cell death by chemotherapeutic platinum complexes. Angewandte Chemie (International ed. in English). 2015;54(22):6483–7.
- Zhao X, Yang K, Zhao R, et al. Inducing enhanced immunogenic cell death with nanocarrierbased drug delivery systems for pancreatic cancer therapy. Biomaterials. 2016;102:187–97.
- Lu J, Liu X, Liao YP, et al. Nano-enabled pancreas cancer immunotherapy using immunogenic cell death and reversing immunosuppression. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):1811.
- 74. Zheng DW, Chen JL, Zhu JY, et al. Highly integrated Nano-platform for breaking the barrier between chemotherapy and immunotherapy. Nano Lett. 2016;16(7):4341–7.
- Noureddine A, Lichon L, Maynadier M, et al. Controlled multiple functionalization of mesoporous silica nanoparticles: homogeneous implementation of pairs of functionalities communicating through energy or proton transfers. Nanoscale. 2015;7(26):11444–52.

- 76. Ambrogio MW, Thomas CR, Zhao YL, Zink JI, Stoddart JF. Mechanized silica nanoparticles: a new frontier in theranostic nanomedicine. Acc Chem Res. 2011;44(10):903–13.
- Noureddine A, Gary-Bobo M, Lichon L, et al. Bis-clickable mesoporous silica nanoparticles: straightforward preparation of light-actuated Nanomachines for controlled drug delivery with active targeting. Chemistry. 2016;22(28):9624–30.
- Croissant J, Zink JI. Nanovalve-controlled cargo release activated by plasmonic heating. J Am Chem Soc. 2012;134(18):7628–31.
- Saint-Cricq P, Deshayes S, Zink JI, Kasko AM. Magnetic field activated drug delivery using thermodegradable azo-functionalised PEG-coated core-shell mesoporous silica nanoparticles. Nanoscale. 2015;7(31):13168–72.
- Roy A, Singh MS, Upadhyay P, Bhaskar S. Combined chemo-immunotherapy as a prospective strategy to combat cancer: a nanoparticle based approach. Mol Pharm. 2010;7(5):1778–88.
- Roy A, Chandra S, Mamilapally S, Upadhyay P, Bhaskar S. Anticancer and immunostimulatory activity by conjugate of paclitaxel and non-toxic derivative of LPS for combined chemoimmunotherapy. Pharm Res. 2012;29(8):2294–309.
- Seth A, Heo MB, Lim YT. Poly (gamma-glutamic acid) based combination of waterinsoluble paclitaxel and TLR7 agonist for chemo-immunotherapy. Biomaterials. 2014;35(27):7992–8001.
- Peabody DS, Manifold-Wheeler B, Medford A, Jordan SK, do Carmo Caldeira J, Chackerian B. Immunogenic display of diverse peptides on virus-like particles of RNA phage MS2. J Mol Biol. 2008;380(1):252–63.
- Tumban E, Peabody J, Peabody DS, Chackerian B. A universal virus-like particle-based vaccine for human papillomavirus: longevity of protection and role of endogenous and exogenous adjuvants. Vaccine. 2013;31(41):4647–54.
- Tyler M, Tumban E, Peabody DS, Chackerian B. The use of hybrid virus-like particles to enhance the immunogenicity of a broadly protective HPV vaccine. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2014;111(12):2398–406.
- Saboo S, Tumban E, Peabody J, et al. Optimized formulation of a thermostable spray-dried virus-like particle vaccine against human papillomavirus. Mol Pharm. 2016;13(5):1646–55.
- HAHN TJ, WEBB B, KUTNEY J, et al. Rapid manufacture and release of a GMP batch of Zaire ebolavirus glycoprotein vaccine made using recombinant Baculovirus-Sf9 insect cell culture technology. Bioprocess J. 2015;14(1):6–14.
- Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S. Nanoparticles in the clinic. Bioengineering & translational medicine. 2016;1(1):10–29.
- Fries L, Shinde V, Stoddard JJ, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of a respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein (RSV F) nanoparticle vaccine in older adults. Immun Ageing. 2017;14(1):8.
- Colosia AD, Yang J, Hillson E, et al. The epidemiology of medically attended respiratory syncytial virus in older adults in the United States: a systematic review. PLoS One. 2017;12(8):e0182321.
- August A, Glenn GM, Kpamegan E, et al. A phase 2 randomized, observer-blind, placebocontrolled, dose-ranging trial of aluminum-adjuvanted respiratory syncytial virus F particle vaccine formulations in healthy women of childbearing age. Vaccine. 2017;35(30):3749–59.
- Glenn GM, Fries LF, Smith G, et al. Modeling maternal fetal RSV F vaccine induced antibody transfer in Guinea pigs. Vaccine. 2015;33(47):6488–92.
- 93. Smith G, Liu Y, Flyer D, et al. Novel hemagglutinin nanoparticle influenza vaccine with matrix-M<sup>TM</sup> adjuvant induces hemagglutination inhibition, neutralizing, and protective responses in ferrets against homologous and drifted a (H3N2) subtypes. Vaccine. 2017;35(40):5366–72.
- 94. Liu YV, Massare MJ, Pearce MB, et al. Recombinant virus-like particles elicit protective immunity against avian influenza a (H7N9) virus infection in ferrets. Vaccine. 2015;33(18):2152–8.
- Fries LF, Smith GE, Glenn GM. A recombinant viruslike particle influenza A (H7N9) vaccine. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(26):2564–6.

- TJ HAHN, COURBRON D, HAMER M, MASOUD M, WONG J, TAYLOR K. Rapid manufacture and release of a GMP batch of avian influenza a (H7N9) virus-like particle vaccine made using recombinant baculovirus-Sf9 insect cell culture technology. BioProcessing. 2013;12(2):1538–8786.
- 97. Smith GE, Flyer DC, Raghunandan R, et al. Development of influenza H7N9 virus like particle (VLP) vaccine: homologous a/Anhui/1/2013 (H7N9) protection and heterologous a/ chicken/Jalisco/CPA1/2012 (H7N3) cross-protection in vaccinated mice challenged with H7N9 virus. Vaccine. 2013;31(40):4305–13.
- Shinde V, Fries L, Wu Y, et al. Improved titers against influenza drift variants with a nanoparticle vaccine. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:2346–8.
- Bengtsson KL, Song H, Stertman L, et al. Matrix-M adjuvant enhances antibody, cellular and protective immune responses of a Zaire Ebola/Makona virus glycoprotein (GP) nanoparticle vaccine in mice. Vaccine. 2016;34(16):1927–35.
- 100. Raghunandan R, Lu H, Zhou B, et al. An insect cell derived respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) F nanoparticle vaccine induces antigenic site II antibodies and protects against RSV challenge in cotton rats by active and passive immunization. Vaccine. 2014;32(48):6485–92.
- 101. Coleman CM, Liu YV, Mu H, et al. Purified coronavirus spike protein nanoparticles induce coronavirus neutralizing antibodies in mice. Vaccine. 2014;32(26):3169–74.
- 102. Reimer JM, Karlsson KH, Lövgren-Bengtsson K, Magnusson SE, Fuentes A, Stertman L. Matrix-M<sup>™</sup> adjuvant induces local recruitment, activation and maturation of central immune cells in absence of antigen. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e41451.
- 103. Thomas DN. RSV-F vaccine and influenza vaccine co-administration study in the elderly. 2014.
- 104. Sridhar S. Clinical development of Ebola vaccines. Therapeutic advances in vaccines. 2015;3(5–6):125–38.
- Grippin AJ, Sayour EJ, Mitchell DA. Translational nanoparticle engineering for cancer vaccines. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(10):e1290036.
- 106. Alamoudi K, Martins P, Croissant JG, Patil S, Omar H, Khashab NM. Thermoresponsive pegylated bubble liposome nanovectors for efficient siRNA delivery via endosomal escape. Nanomedicine. 2017;12(12):1421–33.
- 107. Daraee H, Etemadi A, Kouhi M, Alimirzalu S, Akbarzadeh A. Application of liposomes in medicine and drug delivery. Artificial cells, nanomedicine, and biotechnology. 2016;44(1):381–91.
- 108. Yaroslavov AA, Efimova AA, Sybachin AV, Chvalun SN, Kulebyakina AI, Kozlova EV. Biodegradable multi-liposomal containers. RSC Adv. 2015;5(40):31460–4.
- 109. Bozzuto G, Molinari A. Liposomes as nanomedical devices. Int J Nanomedicine. 2015;10(1):975–99.
- Butts C, Murray N, Maksymiuk A, et al. Randomized phase IIB trial of BLP25 liposome vaccine in stage IIIB and IV non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(27):6674–81.
- 111. Kruit WH, Suciu S, Dreno B, et al. Selection of immunostimulant AS15 for active immunization with MAGE-A3 protein: results of a randomized phase II study of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer melanoma Group in Metastatic Melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(19):2413–20.
- 112. Berinstein NL, Karkada M, Morse MA, et al. First-in-man application of a novel therapeutic cancer vaccine formulation with the capacity to induce multi-functional T cell responses in ovarian, breast and prostate cancer patients. J Transl Med. 2012;10(1):156.
- 113. Berinstein NL, Karkada M, Oza AM, et al. Survivin-targeted immunotherapy drives robust polyfunctional T cell generation and differentiation in advanced ovarian cancer patients. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(8):e1026529.
- 114. Kitano S, Kageyama S, Nagata Y, et al. HER2-specific T-cell immune responses in patients vaccinated with truncated HER2 protein complexed with nanogels of cholesteryl pullulan. Clin Can Res. 2006;12(24):7397–405.
- 115. Wada H, Sato E, Uenaka A, et al. Analysis of peripheral and local anti-tumor immune response in esophageal cancer patients after NY-ESO-1 protein vaccination. Int J Cancer. 2008;123(10):2362–9.

- Maraskovsky E, Schnurr M, Wilson NS, Robson NC, Boyle J, Drane D. Development of prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines using the ISCOMATRIX adjuvant. Immunol Cell Biol. 2009;87(5):371–6.
- 117. Speiser DE, Schwarz K, Baumgaertner P, et al. Memory and effector CD8 T-cell responses after nanoparticle vaccination of melanoma patients. J Immunother. 2010;33(8):848–58.
- 118. Bendandi M, Gocke CD, Kobrin CB, et al. Complete molecular remissions induced by patient-specific vaccination plus granulocyte–monocyte colony-stimulating factor against lymphoma. Nat Med (NY, NY, US). 1999;5(10):1171.
- 119. Altin J, Atmosukarto I, De Wildt RM, Parish C, Price J. Composition for targeting dendritic cells. Google Patents; 2014.
- 120. Kranz LM, Diken M, Haas H, et al. Systemic RNA delivery to dendritic cells exploits antiviral defence for cancer immunotherapy. Nature. 2016;534(7607):396–401.
- 121. Thomas DN. Safety and immunogenicity of the RSV-F vaccine in older adults previously treated with the same vaccine or placebo in the prior year. 2017.
- 122. Thomas DN. Study to evaluate the immunogenicity and safety of an Ebola virus (EBOV) glycoprotein (GP) vaccine in healthy subjects. 2016.
- 123. Thomas DN. Evaluation of the safety and immunogenicity of a recombinant trivalent nanoparticle influenza vaccine with matrix M-1 adjuvant (NanoFlu). 2018.
- 124. Thomas DN. A Phase I Randomized, Observer-Blinded, Dose-Ranging Study in Healthy Subjects 24 to <72 Months of Age. 2016.
- 125. Thomas DN. A study to determine the safety and efficacy of the RSV F vaccine to protect infants via maternal immunization. 2018.
- 126. Thomas DN. RSV F Vaccine maternal immunization study in healthy third-trimester pregnant women. 2017.
- 127. Thomas DN. RSV-F vaccine dose ranging study in young women. 2014.

# Part III Host Interactions with Nanoparticles

# **Engineered Nanomaterial Interaction** with Epithelial and Immune Cells upon Mucosal Drug Delivery



Valerie C. Minarchick and Jared M. Brown

**Abstract** The mucosal membranes (i.e. oral, and nasal cavities, gut and female reproductive tract) throughout the body are ideal locations for drug delivery as they result in rapid uptake of the pharmaceutical into the blood system; however, these membranes are protected by the mucosal immune system (MIS). This intricate network of epithelial cells, microbiota, immune cells and mucus present a unique challenge for drug delivery due to their barrier functions and responses to foreign pathogens. There is a constant need to improve drug delivery methods, particularly in regard to mucosal drug delivery. The application of engineered nanomaterials (ENM), due to their unique physicochemical properties, have significant potential to improve mucosal drug delivery. This chapter will discuss key physicochemical properties (i.e. size, shape, surface functionalization, and solubility) and how modification of these properties can alter the biological impact of ENMs. Finally, a brief overview of the normal function of key MIS cells (i.e. epithelial cells, goblet cells, Paneth cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, T and B lymphocytes, mast cells, and endothelial cells) and how ENM exposure alters their function will be presented.

**Keywords** Mucosal immunity · Engineered nanomaterials · Drug delivery Physicochemical properties · Epithelial cells · Macrophages · Mast cells

V. C. Minarchick · J. M. Brown (🖂)

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Skaggs School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Aurora, CO, USA e-mail: jared.brown@cuanschutz.edu

<sup>©</sup> American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020

P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), *Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles*, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_9

## 1 Introduction

Engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) hold great potential for the improvement of many biomedical applications. These applications range from refining diagnostic imaging, drug delivery, and even use as therapeutics. However, in order for these biomedical advances to be fully realized the toxicity and immunological alterations associated with them needs to be understood.

By definition, ENMs are less than 100 nm in at least one dimension, manufactured with a specific intent, and are designed to take advantage of unique physicochemical properties (i.e. size, shape, charge, surface area) that are different from their larger counterparts [1]. The ability to modify these properties for specific needs/applications is one of the reasons ENMs are being investigated for improved drug delivery. ENMs have been shown to cross cellular barriers (i.e. blood-brain and epithelial-endothelial cell barriers); can be directed to specific cell types or tissues within the body. Depending on the intended function of the ENM (i.e. drug delivery), these interactions could be beneficial; however, if these cellular disruptions are unintended the results could lead to increased and unwanted toxicity.

In basic terms, the mucosal immune system (MIS) is made up of an intricate network of immune cells, epithelial cells, mucus, and microbiota that aid in the protection of mucosal membranes (i.e. oral, and nasal cavities, gut, and female reproductive tract) from foreign pathogens [2]. Due to their protective function, the MIS also results in complications when developing drug delivery systems. Currently, speculation exists that ENMs may help overcome some of the barriers and challenges associated with mucosal drug delivery. However, to date, there is very limited research on the toxicity and health outcomes associated with mucosal drug delivery using ENMs.

Therefore, the objective of this chapter will be two-fold. First, a few of the major physicochemical properties of ENMs will be addressed and how changes in these properties may affect mucosal drug delivery. Second, ENM interactions with epithelial and the major immune cells of the MIS and their common toxicological/ biological outcomes will be discussed.

## 2 Engineered Nanomaterials and Drug Delivery

The development of mucosal drug delivery is hindered by a myriad of factors, including physical barrier challenges. The mucosal immune system is uniquely designed to keep foreign xenobiotics out of the body, which includes pharmaceutical agents. Although ENMs are a xenobiotic, they also have great promise to improve the efficacy and efficiency of mucosal drug delivery. This is largely due to the ability of altering ENMs physicochemical properties (Fig. 1). The alteration of these properties may aid ENMs in avoiding interaction with physical barriers



Fig. 1 An overview of some of the physicochemcial properties of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs). These modifications include size, composition (i.e. elemental, oxides, and phospholipids), shape, surface charge, solubility, and functionalization (i.e. protein corona, proteins, pharmaceutical drugs, antibodies, etc.)

(i.e. microbes, mucus, and surfactant), crossing the epithelial cell layer, and evading immune responses.

The modification of physicochemical properties is why ENMs hold so much potential for drug delivery [3]. ENMs are developed using a variety of compounds (i.e. lipids, carbon, metals, polymers etc.). Each material has its own unique drawbacks and advantages that make them appealing for drug delivery applications. Currently, lipids are increasing in popularity for drug delivery applications. Lipids are used to create hollow spheres called liposomes [4]. Liposomes are of great interest because theoretically they are biologically compatible, can be used to encapsulate various pharmaceutical agents including hydrophilic and hydrophobic compounds, and can be coated with other excipients (i.e. citrate, polyethylene glycol) to improve their circulation in vivo [5].

Other ENMs are less biologically compatible but have novel effects in vivo. Cerium dioxide nanoparticles have been shown to act as an anti-oxidant and may be developed to treat illnesses associated with high levels of oxidative stress (i.e. hypertension, stroke) [6, 7]. Finally, iron oxide nanoparticles have been investigated for years due to their magnetic properties [8]. By taking advantage of their magnetic properties, the nanoparticles can be directed to specific tissues and improve imaging compared to current magnetic resonance imaging [8]. Based on these few examples, it is clear that ENMs are being used to deliver drugs in a variety of ways. The following section will further highlight how modification of various physicochemical properties can enable and potentially enhance ENMs use for drug delivery.

### 2.1 Physicochemical Properties

The modulation of physicochemical properties (i.e. size, shape, charge, etc.) can have a huge impact on ENMs' in vivo behavior and toxicity (Fig. 1). It should be noted that the physicochemical properties described in this chapter are only an example of the many potential alterations that can be achieved with ENM manufacturing.

### 2.1.1 Size and Shape

Two of the most basic parameters that are modified during ENM drug development are size and shape. The size of the ENM used for mucosal drug delivery is an important parameter that needs consideration during development. Current research indicates that larger ENMs may be less toxic than their smaller counterparts; however, there is likely a need for smaller ENM in order to overcome the physical barrier function of epithelial cells [3]. The toxicity of silica nanoparticles has been assessed with a variety of sizes (20–200 nm), where 60 nm had the highest level of endocytosis as well as toxicity [9]. Although the ideal ENM size may vary depending on application, it is reasonable to speculate that smaller nanoparticles (~60 nm) would be engulfed by immune cells easier but also have a higher toxicity and risk for inflammation. This toxicity paradigm is important to consider for drug delivery with ENMs since the ultimate goal is for the ENM to reach the site of action within the body, while avoiding high levels of toxicity.

ENMs are also developed in variety of shapes. Different ENM shapes have been shown to be more biologically compatible (i.e. spheres, cubical) compared to other types (i.e. rods and wires) [3]. Several studies have shown that rod shaped ENMs penetrate cells, like macrophages, instead of being engulf and digested [10]; this penetration led to increased inflammation and fibrosis [10]. Furthermore, if these high aspect ratio ENMs penetrate epithelial cells they may cause the cells to become necrotic and release alarmins thus activating the MIS (see **Epithelial Cells**) [1]. Ideally, this response needs to be avoided in order for ENM based mucosal drug delivery to be successful. Therefore, ENMs with lower aspect ratios, like spheres, are more biologically compatible and may be better suited for mucosal drug delivery.

Although spheres are likely the most common ENM shape used for drug delivery, other shapes can be used for specific applications but these alternate shapes may present toxicity issues. ENMs made of carbon are developed in a variety of shapes, including rods, spheres, cubes and sheets, which impact toxicity. Carbon nanocubes were unable to be engulfed by cells and caused significant damage to the intestinal epithelial cell layer [11]. Whereas the spheres and tubes, while still causing epithelial damage and autophagy, was less severe than the carbon nano-cubes [11].

For mucosal drug delivery, the size and shape of the ENM is even more critical. Adhesion molecules and tight junctions are essential for cell-cell communication and optimal epithelial cell function [12]. In order for mucosal drug delivery with ENMs to be successful, they need to bypass the epithelial barrier without damaging the cells. Experimentally, ENMs have been shown in vitro to disrupt epithelial cell function; however, the size and shape of the ENM is likely to play a critical role in this disruption [11, 13]. Furthermore, the epithelial cell barrier of the MIS may be overcome by taking advantage of endogenous transport mechanisms via either passive or active transport [14]. For active transport, the drug needs to cross the epithelial cell barrier either using carrier-mediated transport or trans-epithelial phagocytosis [14]. Therefore, it is reasonable to speculate that the size and shape of an ENM may be exploited to take advantage of active transport. By taking advantage of biological processes to introduce ENMs to the body, restricted epithelial cell damage and distress signaling would occur, which in turn would result in limited immune cell activation.

### 2.1.2 Surface Functionalization

One of the main advantages of using ENMs for mucosal drug delivery is the ability to attach various compounds, including the drug of interest or targeting ligands, to the surface of the ENM. These surface modifications in theory would increase biocompatibility and allow the ENM to be targeted to a specific cell type. Hypothetically, this will decrease the amount of drug needed to treat a disease and improve bioavailability. These surface modifications are particularly appealing for the diagnosis and treatment of cancer. One advantage of using liposomes for cancer drug delivery is that they can be used to increase intracellular uptake and can be modified in variety of ways [15]. For example, chemotherapy drugs are encapsulated in liposomes, and the outer surface of the liposome can be modified with targeting peptides [15]. Taken together, these attachments help decrease the off-target toxicity associated with chemotherapy [15].

The addition of polymers to the surface of ENM can also help solve some common complications (i.e. protein corona, agglomeration) that are often encountered when used for drug delivery. When ENMs are exposed to biological environments they attract macromolecules (i.e. proteins, lipids, peptides) due to a variety of thermodynamic principles such as hydrogen bonding, van der Waals forces, and hydrophobic interactions [16]. The development of this protein corona has been shown to have a profound effect of the toxicity of the ENM often resulting in decreased levels of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines, but may also effect the efficacy of the ENM when used for drug delivery [16, 17]. There is evidence that this ENM complication can be avoided by attaching "stealth" polymers [i.e. polyethylene glycol (PEG)], to help ensure the ENM does not interact with other proteins [16]. Another example is the addition of clusterin to the ENM surface to help evade macrophage uptake [16]. Both these surface changes help ensure the ENM reaches a target tissue for optimal drug delivery. It should be noted that the addition of these "stealth" molecules present a new set of challenges for ENM based drug delivery. For example, PEG is not biodegradable, so accumulation over time may be an issue if the ENM is being developed for the delivery of a drug that needs to be given daily [16].

Various coatings may also help the ENMs evade the physical barriers of the MIS. One of the first barriers encountered during mucosal drug delivery is mucus. The purpose of mucus is to keep all foreign materials outside of the body by trapping them due to various glycoproteins. For mucosal drug delivery, ENMs need to avoid interaction with these glycoproteins and by treating the ENM with unique coatings; it may be possible to bypass this interaction. Finally, ENMs can be treated with chemical compounds to make them more lipophilic, which could assist with passive transport of the ENM through the mucus and across the epithelial cells.

### 2.1.3 Surface Charge

The previous section described ENM modifications focused on physical properties, it is also possible to alter the ENM's chemical properties. One of the most common chemical changes associated with ENM is altering the surface charge. The biodistribution and cellular uptake of charged ENMs (positive, negative, and neutral) were assessed following oral exposure [18]. There was an increase in epithelial cell particle uptake and improved bioavailability with the positively charged ENM, indicating that charge plays an important role as ENMs are developed for mucosal drug delivery [18]. Furthermore, there is evidence that the development of a protein corona is affected by surface charge which in turn can effect delivery and biodistribution of ENMs [19].

The surface charge of ENMs can also influence the mechanism of toxicity (i.e. alterations in ROS, ATP, and/or inflammasome activation). Cellular toxicity from positively charged cellulose nanocrystals was associated with increased inflammation and a decreased intracellular ATP levels [20]. Whereas, the toxicity with negatively charged nanocrystals was due to inflammasome development and increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) [20]. It is important to understand these different mechanisms of toxicity because they are likely to influence the development of ENMs for drug delivery. Overall, as ENMs are developed for mucosal drug delivery a balance between cellular uptake and toxicity due to surface charge needs to be established and understood.

### 2.1.4 Solubility.

Solubility can be modified via the ENM itself or the pharmaceutical agent. The main goal of improving solubility is to increase bioavailability and tissue distribution while decreasing the amount of drug needed to treat a particular disease thereby reducing toxicity regardless of exposure route [21]. In terms of ENM mucosal drug delivery, improving the solubility of the ENM and target drugs could potentially allow them to move into the body via passive transport across the epithelial cell barrier.
Many pharmaceutical agents are not water soluble, thus making mucosal drug delivery difficult. The creation of nanosuspensions with the drug may improve their solubility [22]. Nanosuspensions are dispersions of nanosized drugs that are stabilized by surfactants, and can then be delivered to the body by various exposure routes [22]. In addition to these nanosuspensions, liposomes, a type of biologic ENM, are also used to improve solubility and drug delivery. In the case of liposomes, pharmaceutical agents can be loaded into the center of the vesicles, thus protecting them during drug delivery. Since the liposomes are made of lipids, it is speculated that they will be biologically inert, lipophilic, and allow the incorporation of both hydrophilic and lipophilic compounds. These parameters make this ENM a prime candidate for mucosal drug delivery.

## **3** Engineered Nanomaterial Derived Mucosal Immunity Modulation

The greatest challenge to ENM drug development is evading host immune responses and off-target toxicity. ENMs have been shown to initiate an inflammatory response after inhalation, injection, and even oral exposure. These inflammatory responses are often associated with increases in ROS, circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines [interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), interleukin-33 (IL-33), tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-6 (IL-6), and leucocyte recruitment]. Furthermore, these exposure routes have caused off-target organ toxicity in the kidneys, liver, and spleen. To date, limited studies have specifically focused on ENM based mucosal drug delivery and the potential for inflammation and toxicity. ENMs that interact with the MIS will interact with a variety of cells associated with barrier functions as well as both innate and adaptive immune responses. This section will focus on common cell types associated with a variety of mucosal surfaces, which have a high probability of directly interacting with ENMs during mucosal drug delivery.

## 3.1 Common Mucosal Barrier Cells

In addition to epithelial cells, several other important cell types (i.e. goblet cells, Paneth cells, alveolar epithelium) contribute to the integrity and function of epithelial cell barrier [2]. These cells provide initial protection against xenobiotics, and would be the first cells that ENMs interact with upon a mucosal-based exposure. ENMs developed for mucosal drug delivery should circumnavigate these barriers for optimal drug delivery [2].

#### 3.1.1 Generalized Epithelial Cells

The mucosal barrier is a single cell layer of epithelial cells connected by tight junctions and adherens, which allow the cells to communicate and act as a functional unit. Ideally, the ENMs would cause minimal damage to epithelial cells and avoid triggering an immune response. If damaged, the epithelial cells may undergo apoptosis or become necrotic and release mediators that trigger the recruitment and activation of various mucosal immune cells (Fig. 2) [23].

One important mediator expressed in epithelial cells which influences immune function is interleukin-33 (IL-33) [23]. IL-33 is a unique cytokine that is termed an alarmin. Alarmins are a class of cytokines that are rapidly released from necrotic cells and initiate an adaptive or innate immune response [24]. Specifically, IL-33 binds to the ST2 receptor that is found on multiple immune cells (i.e. mast cells, dendritic cells, and macrophages), thus activating the cell and triggering an immune response [23, 25]. Epithelial cells released IL-33 after pulmonary exposure to multiwalled carbon nanotubes, which led to the development of inflammation, mast cell degranulation, and damage to lung tissue [26]. Furthermore, epithelial cells are also critical in the regulation of IL-33. These cells express a soluble form of ST2, which prevents interaction with ST2 on other cell types [23]. This regulation is important to understand, since ENMs could be modified with soluble ST2, which may limit IL-33 driven immune activation.

Epithelial cell damage from ENM exposure can also lead to an increase in ROS generation [27]. As the levels of ROS increase, the cellular responses change. Low levels of ROS are associated with induction of nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2) protein [27]. This induction leads to the transcription of antioxidant



Fig. 2 A generalize schematic of a potential mucosal immune response following ENM exposure

enzymes such as heme-oxygenase 1, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase [27]. It has been speculated that if ENMs activate this pathway they might be used in vivo as an antioxidant. Biogenic nanoselenium has been shown to activate this pathway leading to the induction of anti-oxidants in intestinal epithelial cells [28]. This activity was associated with decreased cellular apoptosis and oxidative stress [28]. In this capacity, it is speculated that ENM could be used to treat intestinal diseases with high levels of ROS.

However, if the level of ROS continues to increase after ENM exposure then redox-sensitive mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and nuclear factor kappalight-chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF- $\kappa$ B) are activated, which leads to a pro-inflammatory responses [27]. Many metal oxide nanoparticles have led to the activation of this pathway and the release of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-8, and TNF $\alpha$  from macro-phages and epithelial cells [27]. Additionally, these cytokines are known to activate additional macrophages and dendritic cells, which further stimulate an inflammatory response. Another pro-inflammatory mediator, toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) was up-regulated due to activation of NF- $\kappa$ B in epithelial cells following in vitro gold nanoparticle exposure [29]. It should also be noted that if ROS is not controlled by either of these pathways then mitochondrial damage occurs and ultimately cell death [27]. Taken together, these responses to ROS indicated the dynamics of using ENMs for drug delivery.

#### 3.1.2 Goblet Cells

The epithelial cell layer can be easily damaged due to physical and mechanical stresses. Therefore, goblet cells are specialized cells located in the intestinal and respiratory tracts, which secrete mucus to protect the epithelium [30]. Goblet cells contain granules of MUC2 polymers/mucin, which are regularly secreted into the intestine or airway. The secretion of mucus is influenced by a number of factors including autophagy, ROS production, and inflammasome activation [30].

Interestingly, these parameters are often altered upon ENM exposure therefore it is reasonable to assume that goblet cell and mucus production may be affected by ENM based mucosal drug delivery. There has been limited research on goblet cell function and ENM exposure. Pulmonary exposure to nanoparticle-size particulate matter was associated with an increase in goblet cell number and potential mucus secretions [31]. Although this study was not performed with ENMs, there are similar pulmonary responses between particulate matter and ENM exposure; therefore, it is possible that mucosal ENM exposure could alter goblet cell function in a similar way.

Historically, the inflammasome has been associated with the production of mature cytokines and macrophage function (see **Macrophages**); however, recent studies have shown inflammasomes are also important for goblet cell function. The inflammasome is a multiprotein structure created in the cytosol of multiple cell types in response to stress and cellular damage [1]. Inflammasomes are composed of NOD-like receptor proteins (NLRP) of which the NLRP6 has been shown be

critical in maintaining gut homeostasis and microbiota due to the secretion of IL-18 [32]. IL-18 is important for the synthesis of antimicrobial peptides and mucus secretion [32]. Although there are no studies investigating the role of inflammasomes and goblet cells specifically, ENMs have been shown to promote inflammasome formation in macrophages (see **Macrophages**) [33, 34]. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that ENM exposure could lead to an increase in IL-18 production via inflammasome activation. This ultimately would lead to an increase in mucus secretion and antimicrobial peptides, which could affect the efficacy of ENM drug delivery.

As previously discussed, ENM are capable of triggering the release of IL-33. The release of this cytokine has been shown indirectly to affect goblet cell formation and function. IL-33 can induce the release of IL-13 from CD4+ T helper cells and mast cells [35]. This cytokine influences gene expression (i.e. *Muc2*) and goblet cell hyperplasia, indicating that IL-13 has influence on goblet cell function, which may be modified upon ENM exposure [35]. Finally, if IL-33 and IL-13 modifications from ENM exposure continue to increase various bowel diseases could develop (i.e. inflammatory bowel disease, acute colitis) [35].

#### 3.1.3 Paneth Cells

Paneth cells are important immune cells that are located in the intestinal epithelial cell layer and may play a role in the development of intestinal inflammatory diseases (i.e. Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis) [36]. Paneth cells produce antimicrobial peptides, known as  $\alpha$ -defensins, chemokines, and cytokines [36]. Defensins released by Paneth cells are important in the regulation of T cell, dendritic cell, macrophage, and epithelial cell function. Alpha-defensins have been shown to be a chemoattractant for immature dendritic cells and T cells by acting through receptors (i.e. CCR6) that are expressed on these cells [36]. Furthermore, defensins can also promote dendritic cell maturation via pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) and Toll-like receptors (TLRs) [36].

From a disease progression perspective, patients with inflammatory disease had impaired defensin secretion from Paneth cells [36]. Inflammatory intestinal diseases are associated with damage to epithelial cells and impaired immune function following an active disease state. It has been showed that after this inflammatory episode, there is a significant increase in Paneth cells number, which potentially serve to restore mucosal immunity [36]. To date, there is little to no research done on the influence of ENM exposure and Paneth cell secretions. Despite this lack of research, it is reasonable to speculate that due to the nature of mucosal drug delivery, ENM would interact with Paneth cells and may trigger an innate inflammatory response and potentially lead to inflammatory pathologies.

#### 3.1.4 Alveolar Epithelial Type I and II Cells

Alveolar epithelial cells are important in modulating pulmonary immune responses. In the lungs, two types of epithelial cells exist: Type I and Type II. Type I epithelial cells are integral for gas exchange and maintaining barrier function; whereas Type II are responsible for the production and secretion of surfactant.

Type 1 alveolar epithelial cells have only recently been shown to be involved in initiating inflammatory responses following ENM exposure. Multiple ENMs such as carbon nanotubes and zinc oxide nanoparticles cause damage to epithelial cells [10]. This damage leads to cellular apoptosis and oxidative stress. The increase in oxidative stress can lead to the activation of macrophages, which can then trigger release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and recruitment of other lymphocytes (see **Macrophages**). Additionally, research indicates that damaged epithelial cells when undergoing apoptosis, may trigger inflammatory responses within the lungs but the exact mechanism is unknown [37].

Surfactant is naturally produced and secreted from Type II alveolar epithelial cells; however, it can also be artificially manufactured, which may be important for mucosal drug delivery. From a physiological standpoint, the production of pulmonary surfactant is critical for the reduction of surface tension in the lungs and preventing alveoli from collapsing. In terms of mucosal drug delivery, artificial surfactant has been used to prevent ENM agglomeration [38]. ENM agglomeration can have a huge impact on distribution and the drug delivery efficacy and therefore needs to be assessed when developing ENM for novel delivery methods. Furthermore, research with silver nanowires showed that Type II epithelial cells maybe more susceptible to ENM exposure as indicated by an increase in IL-8 production and ROS generation [39]. This research also showed that artificial surfactant was able to protect Type I epithelial cells from the toxic effects of silver nanowire exposure [39]. This research highlights the potential application of artificial surfactant for optimal mucosal/pulmonary drug delivery. Additionally, surfactant may alter epithelial cell toxicity of a given ENM, which also needs to be further investigated when developing novel ENMs for mucosal drug delivery.

## 3.2 Common Mucosal Immune Cells

Regardless of mucosal location, once ENMs penetrate the epithelial cell layer, they may interact with numerous lymphoid cells. To date, there is little research on mucosal drug delivery using ENMs, and their potential toxicity. Therefore, the immune cell effects discussed in this chapter will be based primarily on in vitro ENM studies.

#### 3.2.1 Macrophages

Macrophages are phagocytic cells that have multiple functions depending on activation status and location. These cells are responsible for the clearance of cell debris during wound healing and the removal of bacteria from the gut and the lung [40]. In relation to ENM exposure, macrophages have a critical role in the removal of particles from tissue (i.e. lungs, gut, and skin). The function and activation of this key immune cell is vital as ENMs are developed for mucosal drug delivery and therefore this section will focus primarily on macrophages ability to augment immune responses due to ENM exposure. The majority of research with ENMs and macrophages has focused on pulmonary exposures. This focus is largely due to the occupational inhalation exposure risk associated with the ENM manufacturing; however, similar responses are likely as ENM are also developed for pulmonary mucosal drug delivery.

Macrophages can be activated by multiple mechanisms including pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), ROS, and alarmins. These factors employ a variety of surface receptors (i.e. complement receptors, scavenger receptors, and Toll-like receptors) leading to the rapid production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (i.e. IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF $\alpha$ ), ROS, and inflammasome activation [1, 41]. In response to pathogens, macrophages can detect antigens based on PRRs and pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) [1]. The detection of PRRs and PAMPs lead to phagocytosis by the macrophage. This activation pathway is especially important for ENMs as they could be modified to express specific PRRs, which could allow macrophages to be employed to initiate a specific immune response thus aiding in drug delivery.

ROS have also been shown to play a role in macrophage activation. Although low levels of ROS produced by macrophages are beneficial in combating foreign pathogens; high levels have been associated with toxicity, inflammasome activation, and immune cell death [1]. It has been well documented that exposure to multiple ENMs (i.e. carbon, silica, and metal oxides) leads to increased cellular ROS and macrophage activation [42–45].

In addition to ROS and PRRs, macrophages can also be activated by alarmins and other cytokines. As previously mentioned, alarmins play a key role in the activation of mucosal immune responses. The alarmins, IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-33 been shown to be a key contributors to macrophage activation following pulmonary exposure of silica [46]. Another cytokine that has been linked with macrophage activation is interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ . IFN- $\gamma$  is secreted by T lymphocytes and has been shown to increase following exposure to copper nanoparticles [47]. Taken together it is clear that macrophages can be activated via multiple stimuli in response to ENM. Once activated these phagocytic cells are important mediators in a mucosal immune response. Briefly, upon detection of a xenobiotic material (such as ENMs), it is engulfed and processed by macrophages. This digestion leads to the release of multiple pro-inflammatory cytokines (i.e. IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF $\alpha$ ) and ROS production, which initiate a variety of host immune responses (i.e. macrophage recruitment, leukocyte recruitment and inflammasome activation). Macrophage cytokine release is essential for the recruitment of other immune cells and the propagation of an inflammatory response. Silica nanoparticles and graphene sheets have been shown to increase lipid peroxidation and TNF $\alpha$  secretion, which are considered markers of inflammation and cytotoxicity [42, 48]. Pulmonary exposure to carbon nanotubes has been well studied, particularly in regards to macrophage influences. These studies have shown associations between exposure and increases in cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2) production, IL-6, and IL-1 $\beta$  secretion [33, 34, 43, 44, 49, 50].

Inflammatory mediator production has been associated with the modulation of other immune cells. The induction of COX2 is a hallmark of inflammation and its downstream mediators influence mast cell, endothelial cell, and macrophage function [51]. Furthermore, IL-6, IL-12, and TNF $\alpha$  have been shown to activate T lymphocytes [52]. Additionally, IL-1 $\beta$  secretion and ROS changes influence inflammasome activation. The inflammasome is critical for the processing of mature cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ . Titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>), silica, and silver nanoparticles have all been shown to activate NOD-like receptor 3 inflammasomes and this activation was independent of phagocytosis [33, 34]. Upon formation, the inflammasome cleaves inactive pro-IL-1 $\beta$  through a caspase-1 mechanism to form biologically active IL-1 $\beta$ . Once secreted, IL-1 $\beta$  acts as an alarmin and recruits other inflammatory cells thus prolonging local and systemic inflammation [53].

Finally, it should be noted the macrophages could be deactivated by IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine. IL-10 is produced by CD4+ T lymphocytes and has been shown to inhibit IFN-y production in T lymphocytes and thus prevent macrophage activation [54]. Carbon nanotubes and liposomes have both been shown to cause an increase in IL-10, which indicates they may cause immunosuppression upon exposure [55]. Although some level of immunosuppression may be beneficial for ENM based drug delivery, uncontrolled suppression may result in fibrosis or cancer due the lack of particle clearance and other essential immune mediators (i.e. T and B lymphocytes, phagocyte activity, and mast cells) thus the need for more research of ENM and immune modifications is essential [55].

#### 3.2.2 Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells are phagocytic cells, which are important messengers between the innate and adaptive immune systems. The activation of dendritic cells is currently of great interest for ENM based drug delivery, specifically with cancer and vaccine research [56, 57]. This is due to their ability to present peptides on major histocompatibility complexes (MHC) which theoretically can be exploited to modify T lymphocyte function [1].

These cells are located in the skin and express a variety of PRRs (i.e. TLRs, NOD-like receptors, and C-type lectins), which bind molecular motifs of pathogens, and cellular damage, thus activating phagocytosis [41, 58]. Under normal conditions, antigens bind to these surface receptors; however, research has shown that ENMs may not utilize the previously mentioned specific receptors to promote

phagocytosis. Quantum dots are phagocytized by dendritic cells through a clathrinmediated mechanism and scavenger receptors, which are regulated by F-actin and phospholipase C compared to the normal actin-dependent uptake [59].

Normally, once antigens are engulfed by dendritic cells, unique peptides are presented on MHCs (class I or II), which leads to T lymphocyte activation [60]. In addition to increased MHC expression, activated dendritic cells also undergo morphological changes, increased immune markers, and increased cytokine secretion. Long dendrites develop and cluster of differentiation (CD) 80 and CD86 expression increase upon activation, which all aid in antigen presentation for T lymphocyte recruitment and activation [61]. Typically, T cells mature in lymph nodes but activated dendritic cells are capable of activating naïve T cells due to the secretion of IL-12 and expression of surface CD80/86, which interacts with CD28 on T cells [1]. However, CD80 and CD86, and MHC expression are altered upon treatment with various ENMs (i.e. TiO<sub>2</sub>, silicon dioxide, and zinc oxide) suggesting the ability of ENMs to alter antigen presentation and T cell activation [62–64]. Finally, in addition to T lymphocyte activation, dendritic cells secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines (i.e. IL-12, IL-6, and TNF $\alpha$ ), whose secretion was altered following zinc oxide nanoparticle exposure [1, 62].

Ultimately, ENM based mucosal drug delivery will lead to interactions with dendritic cells but the activation of an immune response will largely depend on the design of ENM itself. Ideally, ENMs could be used to enhance the immune response of dendritic cells. The ENMs are targeted to dendritic cells and have unique peptides attached or encapsulated inside a nanostructure. In theory, once phagocytosis occurs, the antigen of choice will be expressed on MHC, T cell activation and expansion will occur, and the T lymphocytes will attack cells that express the antigen. This response has been shown to be achievable especially with biodegradable and lipid based nanostructures (56; 65). However, other ENMs (particularly elemental based nanoparticles) have not had the same success. Gold nanoparticles labeled with unique antigens were engulfed; however, dendritic cell activation did not occur [66]. Additionally, TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles were unable to activate dendritic cells despite clear nanoparticle uptake by the cells [67]. This lack of activation may be due to engulfment via macropinocytosis versus receptor-driven uptake [67].

Although ENM-based immune modulation through dendritic cells is promising, additional research will be needed to determine if these alterations cause off target effects and the long-term consequences of these immune manipulations.

#### 3.2.3 Mast Cells

Mast cells are present in multiple tissues (i.e. skin, airways, gut mucosa) and contain mediators that are important in angiogenesis, homeostasis, and immunity [68, 69]. Mast cells contain large granules containing inflammatory mediators (i.e. histamine, heparin, cytokines, and proteases), which upon degranulation release these mediators triggering leukocyte recruitment (i.e. eosinophils and neutrophils) and immune responses [1].

Mast cell degranulation is initiated by a variety of surface receptors. Traditionally, mast cell activation occurs through an IgE-mediated pathway. Mature B lymphocytes produce IgE antibodies, which bind to the FceRI receptor on the surface of mast cells. This promotes crosslinking between the receptors and increases intraand extra-cellular calcium flux and degranulation [68]. Exposure to TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles can lead to mast cell activation because TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticle interacts with L-type calcium channels leading to a calcium influx [70]. Furthermore, other research has shown that silver nanoparticles can interact with mast cells leading to degranulation and pro-inflammatory cytokine release [17]. ENM derived mast cell degranulation seems to be IgE independent and likely acting through other receptors than FceR1. For example, silver nanoparticles cause robust mast cell degranulation and may act through a unique receptor or may enter the mast cells and cause degranulation through other signaling mechanisms [71, 72]. Furthermore, research has shown carbon nanotubes activate mast cells by prompting the release of IL-33 from epithelial cells [26, 73]. IL-33 acts on the mast cell ST2 surface receptor and initiates mast cell activation [26, 74].

Once activated, the mediators released from mast cells have multiple downstream effects influencing immune, pulmonary, and vascular function. Pulmonary exposure to cerium dioxide nanoparticles resulted in vascular dysfunction, and increases in IL-6, TGF- $\beta$  and macrophage inflammatory protein-1  $\alpha$  secretion [75]. These inflammatory and vascular changes were not observed in mice that were mast cell deficient thus highlighting the systemic impact of mast cell activation [76]. Histamine is another major mediator released from mast cells and is important for allergic responses. Both TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles and silver nanoparticle exposure resulted in the release of histamine [70, 77]. Histamine release also has systemic effects resulting in bronchoconstriction, vasodilation, and nasal mucus production. Taken together, the influences ENM have on mast cell activation highlight a need to understand not only the downstream effects of mast cells, but also the initial mechanism(s) of activation.

Mast cells are also capable of modulating immune function by influencing dendritic cell, T cell activation, and leukocyte recruitment. Mast cells express TLRs and when stimulated secrete IL-1 and TNF $\alpha$  [68]. These pro-inflammatory cytokines promote the migration and activation of dendritic cells, which promotes T lymphocyte activation [68]. Furthermore, TNF $\alpha$  has been shown to directly activate cytotoxic T cells [68]. Finally, secreted cytokines have a key role in the recruitment of leukocytes (i.e. eosinophils and neutrophils), which contribute to initiating and/or maintain a mucosal immune response [31, 78, 79]. Although, it is not known if ENMs influence cytokine release from mast cells via direct interaction with surface receptors (i.e. ST2 and FccRI), it is reasonable to speculate mast cell function may be modulated this way since ENM interact with dendritic cells, T lymphocytes, and other leukocytes.

Finally, despite multiple studies showing ENMs are capable of triggering mast cell activation, other ENMs have been shown to inhibit degranulation. Fullerenes are able to prevent degranulation by blocking cross-linking to the Fc $\epsilon$ RI, which inhibited intracellular calcium release and ROS production [80]. The ability to

potentially block mast cell activation is important because allergies and anaphylaxis are associated with the activation of mast cells and ENMs could potentially be developed to block mast cell activation, thus providing a treatment for allergies and prevention of anaphylaxis. Overall, as ENM-based mucosal drug delivery is developed, the influences and modulation of mast cells needs to be thoroughly understood due to the ubiquitous role mast cells have on allergic and immune responses, as well as pulmonary and vascular function.

#### 3.2.4 T Lymphocytes

Although there is currently limited research on the influence of ENMs on T lymphocyte maturation and activation, it remains a critical area of research. This is largely due to the idea of using ENMs and the MIS to manipulate T cells and dendritic cells (see **Dendritic Cells**) to target specific cell types for the treatment of diseases like cancer while decreasing off target toxicity [81].

Briefly, T cells originate in the bone marrow, and migrate to the thymus gland to fully mature. Mature and activated T helper ( $T_H$ ) cells express CD4+ and recognize major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II; whereas, mature cytotoxic T cells express CD8+ and recognize MHC class I [1]. Once active, T cells have an important role in adaptive immunity and influence the activity of other immune cells (i.e. mast cells, dendritic cells, and macrophages).

ENMs are capable of influencing T cell proliferation, which is required for proper immune function. TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles have been shown to decrease  $T_H$  and cytotoxic T cell proliferation and was associated with immune inhibition; whereas, carbon nanotubes has the opposite effect [82, 83]. Intravenous exposure to carbon nanotubes resulted in increased T cell proliferation and a potential enhanced immune response [83]. Understanding the influence of ENMs on T cell proliferation is particularly important in regards to asthma. Asthma is associated with T<sub>H</sub>2 inflammation and potentially IL-10 (an anti-inflammatory cytokine) secretion, which results in airway hyper-responsiveness and tissue remodeling to normally inert airborne particles [84]. Historically, pulmonary exposure to ENMs have elicited responses similar to airborne particles of comparable size [85]. Since ENMs can also alter T<sub>H</sub> responses it is reasonable to speculate repeated pulmonary ENM exposure may result in an enhanced asthmatic response via increased airway hyper responsiveness in susceptible populations. Pulmonary exposure to graphene oxide nanoparticles when given in an asthmatic mouse model resulted in enhanced airway remodeling and hyper-responsiveness but simultaneously decreasing T<sub>H</sub>2 immune responses [86]. This apparently divergent response could potentially be due to increases in macrophage specific enzymes known as mammalian chitinases, which have been associated with asthma [86].

Finally, like many immune cells, mature  $T_H$  cells secrete a variety of cytokines (i.e. IL-10, IL-4, IFN- $\gamma$ ) that are important in maintaining an immune response because they help maintain macrophage and dendritic cell activity [61]. Overall, if ENMs are to be developed for mucosal drug delivery further research needs to be

completed to fully understand the influences on T lymphocyte activation and potential role in autoimmune diseases, like asthma.

#### 3.2.5 B Lymphocytes

Similar to T lymphocytes, limited research on the influence of ENM and B lymphocytes has been completed. Briefly, these bone marrow derived cells express unique membrane bound antigen-binding receptors. Normally, these antibodies interact with antigen from various pathogens, which result in the differentiation of memory B cells and effector B cells or plasma cells. Since ENMs are often seen as foreign, it is possible that they could interact with naïve B lymphocytes, which could result in a humoral immune response.

Titanium dioxide nanoparticle exposure resulted in a significant drop in circulating B cells following multiple exposure routes (i.e. intraperitoneal and intragastric), indicating a potential impairment in humoral immune response [82, 87, 88]. Furthermore, exposure to TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles appears to influence B cell activation. B lymphocytes are activated via a thymus-dependent or -independent pathway. For thymus dependent activation, cross-linking between surface IgM needs to occur due to either interaction with an antigen, or CD40 and cytokines from  $T_{H2}$  cells [1]. As previously discussed, ENMs are capable of modulating T lymphocytes responses and intragastrically delivered TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles also decrease serum IgM, which when taken together could indicate that ENMs may delay B lymphocyte development [88]. Thymus independent activation of B lymphocytes requires IgM cross linking in addition to secondary activation signals through TLRs; however, the impact ENMs have on this activation pathway are largely unknown [1]. Although the interactions presented here are not due to mucosal delivery it is reasonable to speculate that mucosal delivery of ENMs could result in B cell activation. This could be due to the activation of other MIS cells (i.e. dendritic cells and T lymphocytes), which could lead to the downstream activation of B cells (Fig. 2) [1, 61, 62, 64, 84].

Upon activation, B cells secrete specific classes of antibodies. IgG is associated with enhanced phagocytosis, whereas IgA is secreted into mucus membranes [1]. Finally, IgE is secreted to combat parasitic infections but is also associated with allergic responses due to its role in the activation of mast cells [1]. Pulmonary exposure to  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles and platinum nanoparticles resulted in increases in serum IgE levels as well as increases in circulating IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10 [89–91]. Taken together these circulating mediators indicate the potential activation of mast cells and the ability to trigger an allergic response (see **Mast Cells**). Furthermore, is should be noted that  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles have different impacts on B cell development which are dependent on exposure route. Therefore, understanding the immune influences of mucosal exposure routes and ENM is critical for proper drug development.

Immunoglobin M is a pentamer antibody and has important roles in B lymphocyte development and mucosal immunity [92]. In regards to immunity, IgM is capable of activating complement and initiating a mucosal immune response [92]. There are limited data referencing changes in IgM upon ENM exposure and the current data have conflicting results. Zinc oxide nanoparticle exposure resulted in decreased IgM concentrations in weaned pigs indicating possible immune suppression. However, copper nanoparticle and multiwall carbon nanotube exposure resulted in increased IgM and an enhanced immune response [93, 94]. Although no mechanism for these immune differences currently exists, it may be due to the different materials used to manufacture the ENMs. Finally, there is evidence that IgM (along with IgA) are major contributors to the development of a protein corona in vivo [95]. The development of a protein corona with IgM could have major impacts on their ability to activate complement as well as activate naïve B lymphocytes. Overall, it is clear that future studies utilizing ENM based mucosal drug delivery need to focus on B cells modulation and antibody secretion both during acute and chronic exposures.

#### 3.2.6 Endothelial Cells

Although not normally considered an immune cell, endothelial cells have a critical role in modulating and regulating inflammatory responses. Therefore, it is essential to understand the influences ENM exposure has on endothelial function. These cells line all the blood vessels in the body and express various integrins and adhesion proteins (i.e. VCAM-1, ICAM-1, E-selectin, and P-selectin) [96]. These proteins are important for the rolling, adhesion, and extravasation of leukocytes once an immune response is triggered. For example, mast cells express  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  integrins that bind to VCAM-1 and initiates movement of CD34+ progenitor cells out of the circulation, which is required for maturation and activation [68]. The extravasation of leukocytes and progenitor cells also alters vascular permeability and permeates the immune responses.

This extravasation of leukocytes is critical for a proper immune response and requires endothelial activation. Carbon and TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticle exposure are associated with increases in ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression as well as increasing circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$  [94, 97, 98]. Taken together, these results indicate ENMs are capable to altering integrin expression on endothelial cells in order to maintain an inflammatory response by promoting movement of leukocytes from the bloodstream into an extracellular compartment. A thorough understanding of ENMs influence on endothelial cell activation is needed because if these responses are blocked, a prolonged immune response may not occur and could therefore increase the efficacy of mucosal drug delivery.

ENMs are also capable of altering vascular function via endothelial dependent mechanisms. Proper vascular function is essential for the exchange of nutrients and prevention of diseases like hypertension and edema.  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles, cerium dioxide nanoparticles, and carbon nanotubes have all been shown to impair vascular reactivity in vivo [99–101]. Following these exposures, arterioles were unable to dilate in response to increasing concentrations of nitric oxide via an endothelial-dependent mechanism [99]. Although the exact mechanism is unknown, this impair-

ment is likely due to changes in COX expression and ROS production [102, 103]. If this dysfunction is unresolved over time the arterioles inability to respond to vasoactive mediators could result in disease progression (i.e. hypertension).

Endothelial cells are also capable of secreting cytokines (i.e. IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\gamma$ ), which affect not only vascular function but also can activate other immune cells, specifically dendritic cells and macrophages. Multiple studies have indicated that ENM exposure can lead to increased pro-inflammatory cytokine expression and endothelial cell dysfunction [97, 104, 105]. Although neither initial activation and/ or downstream recruitment of other immune cells was not assessed, it is reasonable to speculate that this endothelial impairment and cytokine release could alter the function of other immune cells (i.e. macrophages, dendritic cells, and mast cells) (Fig. 2); additional studies are needed to determine the order of cell activation.

Additionally, it should be noted that although these examples have primarily focused on the inflammatory effects of ENM exposure, other studies have found that ENMs can inhibit inflammatory responses. Gold nanoparticles decrease inflammation via inhibiting COX2 expression and TNF $\alpha$  secretion in a rheumatoid arthritis model [106]. Similarly, in a hypertension rat model cerium dioxide nanoparticles were capable of decreasing ROS and improving arteriole function [107]. These examples highlight the concept that ENM may respond differently in a diseased animal model compared to a healthy model and this paradigm is especially important for ENM based drug delivery applications. As ENMs continue to be developed and used for mucosal drug delivery, it is important to remember not only their potential toxic effects on immune cells but also on endothelial cells since they play a key role in regulation of immune responses.

#### 4 Conclusion

In conclusion, it is clear that ENMs can be both beneficial and detrimental to the MIS. In order for mucosal drug delivery to be successful, impacts on immune function need to be recognized. Regardless of potential negative effects, there is evidence that some immune modifications could be beneficial for disease treatment (i.e. inflammatory bowel disease). This division between the positive and negative effects of ENMs needs to be fully understood for mucosal drug delivery to be optimized.

Additionally, investigations of acute and/or chronic immune modifications caused by ENM interactions are needed. Acute activation of the innate immune system would likely have few negative biological drawbacks and allow drug delivery improvement. On the contrary, chronic inflammation could lead to the development of autoimmune disease and organ toxicity, which may negate the purpose of using the ENM for drug delivery. As ENMs are developed for drug delivery the severity of these immune responses needs to be taken into consideration.

Finally, despite potential acute or chronic inflammatory responses to ENM, they may solve many of the barrier challenges that are associated with mucosal drug

delivery. This potential is due to the ability to modify their physicochemical properties. Overall, despite biological and engineering challenges of ENM development, they hold great potential for the advancement of mucosal drug delivery.

## References

- Wang X, Reece SP, Brown JM. Immunotoxicological impact of engineered nanomaterial exposure: mechanisms of immune cell modulation. Toxicol Mech Methods. 2013;23:168–77.
- 2. McGhee JR, Fujihashi K. Inside the mucosal immune system. PLoS Biol. 2012;10:e1001397.
- 3. Albanese A, Tang PS, Chan WC. The effect of nanoparticle size, shape, and surface chemistry on biological systems. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2012;14:1–16.
- 4. Allen TM, Cullis PR. Liposomal drug delivery systems: from concept to clinical applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2013;65:36–48.
- Immordino ML, Dosio F, Cattel L. Stealth liposomes: review of the basic science, rationale, and clinical applications, existing and potential. Int J Nanomedicine. 2006;1:297–315.
- 6. Kim CK, Kim T, Choi IY, Soh M, Kim D, Kim YJ, Jang H, Yang HS, Kim JY, Park HK, Park SP, Park S, Yu T, Yoon BW, Lee SH, Hyeon T. Ceria nanoparticles that can protect against ischemic stroke. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl. 2012;51:11039–43.
- Heckert EG, Karakoti AS, Seal S, Self WT. The role of cerium redox state in the SOD mimetic activity of nanoceria. Biomaterials. 2008;29:2705–9.
- Crich SG, Terreno E, Aime S. Nano-sized and other improved reporters for magnetic resonance imaging of angiogenesis. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2017;119:61–72.
- Kim IY, Joachim E, Choi H, Kim K. Toxicity of silica nanoparticles depends on size, dose, and cell type. Nanomedicine. 2015;11:1407–16.
- Mercer RR, Scabilloni JF, Hubbs AF, Battelli LA, McKinney W, Friend S, Wolfarth MG, Andrew M, Castranova V, Porter DW. Distribution and fibrotic response following inhalation exposure to multi-walled carbon nanotubes. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2013;10:33.
- 11. Bacchetta R, Santo N, Valenti I, Maggioni D, Longhi M, Tremolada P. Comparative toxicity of three differently shaped carbon nanomaterials on Daphnia magna: does a shape effect exist? Nanotoxicology. 2018;12:201–23.
- 12. Hartsock A, Nelson WJ. Adherens and tight junctions: structure, function and connections to the actin cytoskeleton. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2008;1778:660–9.
- Kam KR, Walsh LA, Bock SM, Koval M, Fischer KE, Ross RF, Desai TA. Nanostructuremediated transport of biologics across epithelial tissue: enhancing permeability via nanotopography. Nano Lett. 2013;13:164–71.
- 14. Lee VHL. Mucosal drug delivery. JNCI Monographs. 2001;2001:41-4.
- 15. Li Z, Tan S, Li S, Shen Q, Wang K. Cancer drug delivery in the nano era: an overview and perspectives. (Review) Oncol Rep. 2017;38:611–24.
- Ke PC, Lin S, Parak WJ, Davis TP, Caruso F. A decade of the protein Corona. ACS Nano. 2017;11:11773–6.
- Shannahan JH, Podila R, Aldossari AA, Emerson H, Powell BA, Ke PC, Rao AM, Brown JM. Formation of a protein corona on silver nanoparticles mediates cellular toxicity via scavenger receptors. Toxicol Sci. 2015;143:136–46.
- Du XJ, Wang JL, Iqbal S, Li HJ, Cao ZT, Wang YC, Du JZ, Wang J. The effect of surface charge on oral absorption of polymeric nanoparticles. Biomater Sci. 2018;6:642–50.
- Grafe C, Weidner A, Luhe MV, Bergemann C, Schacher FH, Clement JH, Dutz S. Intentional formation of a protein corona on nanoparticles: serum concentration affects protein corona mass, surface charge, and nanoparticle-cell interaction. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2016;75:196–202.

- Despres HW, Sabra A, Anderson P, Hemraz UD, Boluk Y, Sunasee R, Ckless K. Mechanisms of the immune response cause by cationic and anionic surface functionalized cellulose nanocrystals using cell-based assays. Toxicol In Vitro. 2019;55:124–33.
- Mokhtari B, Pourabdollah K. Applications of nano-baskets in drug development: high solubility and low toxicity. Drug Chem Toxicol. 2013;36:119–32.
- Singh MK, Pooja D, Ravuri HG, Gunukula A, Kulhari H, Sistla R. Fabrication of surfactantstabilized nanosuspension of naringenin to surpass its poor physiochemical properties and low oral bioavailability. Phytomedicine. 2018;40:48–54.
- Liew FY, Girard JP, Turnquist HR. Interleukin-33 in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16:676–89.
- Gougeon ML, Melki MT, Saidi H. HMGB1, an alarmin promoting HIV dissemination and latency in dendritic cells. Cell Death Differ. 2012;19:96–106.
- 25. Miller AM. Role of IL-33 in inflammation and disease. J Inflamm (Lond). 2011;8:22.
- Wang X, Katwa P, Podila R, Chen P, Ke PC, Rao AM, Walters DM, Wingard CJ, Brown JM. Multi-walled carbon nanotube instillation impairs pulmonary function in C57BL/6 mice. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2011;8:24.
- Manke A, Wang L, Rojanasakul Y. Mechanisms of nanoparticle-induced oxidative stress and toxicity. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:942916.
- Song D, Cheng Y, Li X, Wang F, Lu Z, Xiao X, Wang Y. Biogenic Nanoselenium particles effectively attenuate oxidative stress-induced intestinal epithelial barrier injury by activating the Nrf2 antioxidant pathway. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. 2017;9:14724–40.
- Ng CT, Yip GWC, Chen ES, Poh WYR, Bay BH, Yung LYL. Gold nanoparticles induce serum amyloid a 1-toll-like receptor 2 mediated NF-kB signaling in lung cells in vitro. Chem Biol Interact. 2018;289:81–9.
- Birchenough GM, Johansson ME, Gustafsson JK, Bergstrom JH, Hansson GC. New developments in goblet cell mucus secretion and function. Mucosal Immunol. 2015;8:712–9.
- Inoue K, Takano H, Yanagisawa R, Sakurai M, Ichinose T, Sadakane K, Yoshikawa T. Effects of nano particles on antigen-related airway inflammation in mice. Respir Res. 2005;6:106.
- 32. Wang J, Dong R, Zheng S. Roles of the inflammasome in the gutliver axis (review). Mol Med Rep. 2019;19:3–14.
- 33. Yazdi AS, Guarda G, Riteau N, Drexler SK, Tardivel A, Couillin I, Tschopp J. Nanoparticles activate the NLR pyrin domain containing 3 (Nlrp3) inflammasome and cause pulmonary inflammation through release of IL-1alpha and IL-1beta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:19449–54.
- 34. Yang EJ, Kim S, Kim JS, Choi IH. Inflammasome formation and IL-1beta release by human blood monocytes in response to silver nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 2012;33:6858–67.
- Waddell A, Vallance JE, Hummel A, Alenghat T, Rosen MJ. IL-33 induces murine intestinal goblet cell differentiation indirectly via innate lymphoid cell IL-13 secretion. J Immunol. 2019;202:598–607.
- 36. Shi J. Defensins and Paneth cells in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2007;13:1284–92.
- Maynard RL, Donaldson K, Tetley TD. Type 1 pulmonary epithelial cells: a new compartment involved in the slow phase of particle clearance from alveoli. Nanotoxicology. 2013;7:350–1.
- Sager T, Wolfarth M, Keane M, Porter D, Castranova V, Holian A. Effects of nickel-oxide nanoparticle pre-exposure dispersion status on bioactivity in the mouse lung. Nanotoxicology. 2016;10:151–61.
- 39. Sweeney S, Theodorou IG, Zambianchi M, Chen S, Gow A, Schwander S, Zhang JJ, Chung KF, Shaffer MS, Ryan MP, Porter AE, Tetley TD. Silver nanowire interactions with primary human alveolar type-II epithelial cell secretions: contrasting bioreactivity with human alveolar type-I and type-II epithelial cells. Nanoscale. 2015;7:10398–409.
- Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8:958–69.

- Murray PJ, Wynn TA. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:723–37.
- Gazzano E, Ghiazza M, Polimeni M, Bolis V, Fenoglio I, Attanasio A, Mazzucco G, Fubini B, Ghigo D. Physicochemical determinants in the cellular responses to nanostructured amorphous silicas. Toxicol Sci. 2012;128:158–70.
- Schanen BC, Karakoti AS, Seal S, Drake DR III, Warren WL, Self WT. Exposure to titanium dioxide nanomaterials provokes inflammation of an in vitro human immune construct. ACS Nano. 2009;3:2523–32.
- 44. Lee JK, Sayers BC, Chun KS, Lao HC, Shipley-Phillips JK, Bonner JC, Langenbach R. Multi-walled carbon nanotubes induce COX-2 and iNOS expression via MAP kinasedependent and -independent mechanisms in mouse RAW264.7 macrophages. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2012;9:14.
- 45. Tsai CY, Lu SL, Hu CW, Yeh CS, Lee GB, Lei HY. Size-dependent attenuation of TLR9 signaling by gold nanoparticles in macrophages. J Immunol. 2012;188:68–76.
- 46. Rabolli V, Badissi AA, Devosse R, Uwambayinema F, Yakoub Y, Palmai-Pallag M, Lebrun A, De G, V, Couillin I, Ryffel B, Marbaix E, Lison D and Huaux F. The alarmin IL-1alpha is a master cytokine in acute lung inflammation induced by silica micro- and nanoparticles. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2014; 11: 69.
- 47. Tang H, Xu M, Shi F, Ye G, Lv C, Luo J, Zhao L, Li Y. Effects and mechanism of Nanocopper exposure on hepatic cytochrome P450 enzymes in rats. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19
- 48. Li R, Guiney LM, Chang CH, Mansukhani ND, Ji Z, Wang X, Liao YP, Jiang W, Sun B, Hersam MC, Nel AE, Xia T. Surface oxidation of graphene oxide determines membrane damage, lipid peroxidation, and cytotoxicity in macrophages in a pulmonary toxicity model. ACS Nano. 2018;12:1390–402.
- 49. Dutta D, Sundaram SK, Teeguarden JG, Riley BJ, Fifield LS, Jacobs JM, Addleman SR, Kaysen GA, Moudgil BM, Weber TJ. Adsorbed proteins influence the biological activity and molecular targeting of nanomaterials. Toxicol Sci. 2007;100:303–15.
- 50. Murphy FA, Schinwald A, Poland CA, Donaldson K. The mechanism of pleural inflammation by long carbon nanotubes: interaction of long fibres with macrophages stimulates them to amplify pro-inflammatory responses in mesothelial cells. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2012;9:8.
- Ricciotti E, FitzGerald GA. Prostaglandins and inflammation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2011;31:986–1000.
- Al-Banna NA, Cyprian F, Albert MJ. Cytokine responses in campylobacteriosis: linking pathogenesis to immunity. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2018;41:75–87.
- 53. Di Paolo NC, Shayakhmetov DM. Interleukin 1alpha and the inflammatory process. Nat Immunol. 2016;17:906–13.
- Gazzinelli RT, Oswald IP, James SL and Sher A. IL-10 inhibits parasite killing and nitrogen oxide production by IFN-gamma-activated macrophages. J Immunol. 1992; 148: 1792–1796.
- 55. Huaux F. Emerging role of immunosuppression in diseases induced by micro- and Nanoparticles: time to revisit the exclusive inflammatory scenario. Front Immunol. 2018;9(2364)
- 56. Yang W, Zhu G, Wang S, Yu G, Yang Z, Lin L, Zhou Z, Liu Y, Dai Y, Zhang F, Shen Z, Liu Y, He Z, Lau J, Niu G, Kiesewetter DO, Hu S, Chen X. Situ Dendritic Cell Vaccine for Effective Cancer Immunotherapy. ACS Nano. 2019;
- 57. Vang KB, Safina I, Darrigues E, Nedosekin D, Nima ZA, Majeed W, Watanabe F, Kannarpady G, Kore RA, Casciano D, Zharov VP, Griffin RJ, Dings RPM, Biris AS. Modifying dendritic cell activation with Plasmonic Nano vectors. Sci Rep. 2017;7:5513.
- 58. Pearce EJ, Everts B. Dendritic cell metabolism. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15:18-29.
- 59. Zhang LW, Baumer W, Monteiro-Riviere NA. Cellular uptake mechanisms and toxicity of quantum dots in dendritic cells. Nanomedicine (Lond). 2011;6:777–91.
- 60. Wilson NS, Young LJ, Kupresanin F, Naik SH, Vremec D, Heath WR, Akira S, Shortman K, Boyle J, Maraskovsky E, Belz GT, Villadangos JA. Normal proportion and expression of maturation markers in migratory dendritic cells in the absence of germs or toll-like receptor signaling. Immunol Cell Biol. 2008;86:200–5.

- 61. Lutz MB, Schuler G. Immature, semi-mature and fully mature dendritic cells: which signals induce tolerance or immunity? Trends Immunol. 2002;23:445–9.
- 62. Heng BC, Zhao X, Tan EC, Khamis N, Assodani A, Xiong S, Ruedl C, Ng KW, Loo JS. Evaluation of the cytotoxic and inflammatory potential of differentially shaped zinc oxide nanoparticles. Arch Toxicol. 2011;85:1517–28.
- Winter M, Beer HD, Hornung V, Kramer U, Schins RP, Forster I. Activation of the inflammasome by amorphous silica and TiO2 nanoparticles in murine dendritic cells. Nanotoxicology. 2011;5:326–40.
- 64. Orlowski P, Tomaszewska E, Ranoszek-Soliwoda K, Gniadek M, Labedz O, Malewski T, Nowakowska J, Chodaczek G, Celichowski G, Grobelny J, Krzyzowska M. Tannic acidmodified silver and gold nanoparticles as novel stimulators of dendritic cells activation. Front Immunol. 2018;9(1115)
- Su X, Fricke J, Kavanagh DG, Irvine DJ. In vitro and in vivo mRNA delivery using lipidenveloped pH-responsive polymer nanoparticles. Mol Pharm. 2011;8:774–87.
- Villiers C, Freitas H, Couderc R, Villiers MB, Marche P. Analysis of the toxicity of gold nano particles on the immune system: effect on dendritic cell functions. J Nanopart Res. 2010;12:55–60.
- 67. Migdal C, Rahal R, Rubod A, Callejon S, Colomb E, trux-Tallau N, Haftek M, Vincent C, Serres M, Daniele S. Internalisation of hybrid titanium dioxide/Para-amino benzoic acid nanoparticles in human dendritic cells did not induce toxicity and changes in their functions. Toxicol Lett. 2010;199:34–42.
- Krystel-Whittemore M, Dileepan KN, Wood JG. Mast cell: a multi-functional master cell. Front Immunol. 2015;6:620.
- Gilfillan AM, Tkaczyk C. Integrated signalling pathways for mast-cell activation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6:218–30.
- Chen EY, Garnica M, Wang YC, Mintz AJ, Chen CS, Chin WC. A mixture of anatase and rutile TiO(2) nanoparticles induces histamine secretion in mast cells. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2012;9(2):2.
- Aldossari AA, Shannahan JH, Podila R, Brown JM. Influence of physicochemical properties of silver nanoparticles on mast cell activation and degranulation. Toxicol In Vitro. 2015;29:195–203.
- Alsaleh NB, Persaud I, Brown JM. Silver nanoparticle-directed mast cell degranulation is mediated through calcium and PI3K signaling independent of the high affinity IgE receptor. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0167366.
- Shannahan JH, Kodavanti UP, Brown JM. Manufactured and airborne nanoparticle cardiopulmonary interactions: a review of mechanisms and the possible contribution of mast cells. Inhal Toxicol. 2012;24:320–39.
- 74. Katwa P, Wang X, Urankar RN, Podila R, Hilderbrand SC, Fick RB, Rao AM, Ke PC, Wingard CJ, Brown JM. A carbon nanotube toxicity paradigm driven by mast cells and the IL-(3)(3)/ST(2) axis. Small. 2012;8:2904–12.
- Wingard CJ, Walters DM, Cathey BL, Hilderbrand SC, Katwa P, Lin S, Ke PC, Podila R, Rao A, Lust RM, Brown JM. Mast cells contribute to altered vascular reactivity and ischemiareperfusion injury following cerium oxide nanoparticle instillation. Nanotoxicology. 2011;5:531–45.
- Wingard CJ, Walters DM, Cathey BL, Hilderbrand SC, Katwa P, Lin S, Ke PC, Podila R, Rao A, Lust RM, Brown JM. Mast cells contribute to altered vascular reactivity and ischemiareperfusion injury following cerium oxide nanoparticle instillation. Nanotoxicology. 2011;5:531–45.
- 77. Yang W, Lee S, Lee J, Bae Y, Kim D. Silver nanoparticle-induced degranulation observed with quantitative phase microscopy. J Biomed Opt. 2010;15:045005.
- Zarbock A, Ley K. Mechanisms and consequences of neutrophil interaction with the endothelium. Am J Pathol. 2008;172:1–7.

- 79. Brown MA, Hatfield JK. Mast cells are important modifiers of autoimmune disease: with so much evidence, why is there still controversy? Front Immunol. 2012;3(147)
- Norton SK, Dellinger A, Zhou Z, Lenk R, Macfarland D, Vonakis B, Conrad D, Kepley CL. A new class of human mast cell and peripheral blood basophil stabilizers that differentially control allergic mediator release. Clin Transl Sci. 2010;3:158–69.
- Brannon-Peppas L, Blanchette JO. Nanoparticle and targeted systems for cancer therapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2004;56:1649–59.
- Duan Y, Liu J, Ma L, Li N, Liu H, Wang J, Zheng L, Liu C, Wang X, Zhao X, Yan J, Wang S, Wang H, Zhang X, Hong F. Toxicological characteristics of nanoparticulate anatase titanium dioxide in mice. Biomaterials. 2010;31:894–9.
- Wang X, Podila R, Shannahan JH, Rao AM, Brown JM. Intravenously delivered graphene nanosheets and multiwalled carbon nanotubes induce site-specific Th2 inflammatory responses via the IL-33/ST2 axis. Int J Nanomedicine. 2013;8:1733–48.
- 84. Lloyd CM, Hawrylowicz CM. Regulatory T cells in asthma. Immunity. 2009;31:438-49.
- Baron PA, Deye GJ, Chen BT, Schwegler-Berry DE, Shvedova AA, Castranova V. Aerosolization of single-walled carbon nanotubes for an inhalation study. Inhal Toxicol. 2008;20:751–60.
- 86. Shurin MR, Yanamala N, Kisin ER, Tkach AV, Shurin GV, Murray AR, Leonard HD, Reynolds JS, Gutkin DW, Star A, Fadeel B, Savolainen K, Kagan VE, Shvedova AA. Graphene oxide attenuates Th2-type immune responses, but augments airway remodeling and hyperresponsiveness in a murine model of asthma. ACS Nano. 2014;8:5585–99.
- Moon EY, Yi GH, Kang JS, Lim JS, Kim HM, Pyo S. An increase in mouse tumor growth by an in vivo immunomodulating effect of titanium dioxide nanoparticles. J Immunotoxicol. 2011;8:56–67.
- 88. Sang X, Zheng L, Sun Q, Li N, Cui Y, Hu R, Gao G, Cheng Z, Cheng J, Gui S, Liu H, Zhang Z, Hong F. The chronic spleen injury of mice following long-term exposure to titanium dioxide nanoparticles. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2012;100:894–902.
- Park EJ, Yoon J, Choi K, Yi J, Park K. Induction of chronic inflammation in mice treated with titanium dioxide nanoparticles by intratracheal instillation. Toxicology. 2009;260:37–46.
- Park EJ, Cho WS, Jeong J, Yi J, Choi K, Park K. Pro-inflammatory and potential allergic responses resulting from B cell activation in mice treated with multi-walled carbon nanotubes by intratracheal instillation. Toxicology. 2009;259:113–21.
- 91. Park EJ, Kim H, Kim Y, Park K. Intratracheal instillation of platinum nanoparticles may induce inflammatory responses in mice. Arch Pharm Res. 2010;33:727–35.
- Michaelsen TE, Emilsen S, Sandin RH, Granerud BK, Bratlie D, Ihle O, Sandlie I. Human secretory IgM antibodies activate human complement and offer protection at mucosal surface. Scand J Immunol. 2017;85:43–50.
- 93. Ognik K, Sembratowicz I, Cholewinska E, Jankowski J, Kozlowski K, Juskiewicz J, Zdunczyk Z. The effect of administration of copper nanoparticles to chickens in their drinking water on the immune and antioxidant status of the blood. Anim Sci J. 2018;89:579–88.
- 94. Long J, Xiao Y, Liu L, Cao Y. The adverse vascular effects of multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) to human vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) in vitro: role of length of MWCNTs. J Nanobiotechnology. 2017;15:80.
- Sobczynski DJ, Eniola-Adefeso O. IgA and IgM protein primarily drive plasma coronainduced adhesion reduction of PLGA nanoparticles in human blood flow. Bioeng Transl Med. 2017;2:180–90.
- 96. Zhong L, Simard MJ, Huot J. Endothelial microRNAs regulating the NF-kappaB pathway and cell adhesion molecules during inflammation. FASEB J. 2018;32:4070–84.
- Cao Y, Roursgaard M, Danielsen PH, Moller P, Loft S. Carbon black nanoparticles promote endothelial activation and lipid accumulation in macrophages independently of intracellular ROS production. PLoS One. 2014;9:e106711.
- Alinovi R, Goldoni M, Pinelli S, Campanini M, Aliatis I, Bersani D, Lottici PP, Iavicoli S, Petyx M, Mozzoni P, Mutti A. Oxidative and pro-inflammatory effects of cobalt and titanium oxide nanoparticles on aortic and venous endothelial cells. Toxicol In Vitro. 2015;29:426–37.

- LeBlanc AJ, Cumpston JL, Chen BT, Frazer D, Castranova V, Nurkiewicz TR. Nanoparticle inhalation impairs endothelium-dependent vasodilation in subepicardial arterioles. J Toxicol Environ Health A. 2009;72:1576–84.
- 100. Stapleton PA, Minarchick VC, Cumpston AM, McKinney W, Chen BT, Sager TM, Frazer DG, Mercer RR, Scabilloni JF, Andrew M, Castranova V, Nurkiewicz TR. Impairment of coronary arteriolar endothelium-dependent dilation after multi-walled carbon nanotube inhalation: a time-course study. International Journal of Molecular Science. 2012;13:13781–803.
- 101. Minarchick VC, Stapleton PA, Porter DW, Wolfarth MG, Ciftyurek E, Barger M, Sabolsky EM, Nurkiewicz TR. Pulmonary cerium dioxide nanoparticle exposure differentially impairs coronary and mesenteric arteriolar reactivity. Cardiovasc Toxicol. 2013;13:323–37.
- LeBlanc AJ, Moseley AM, Chen BT, Frazer D, Castranova V, Nurkiewicz TR. Nanoparticle inhalation impairs coronary microvascular reactivity via a local reactive oxygen speciesdependent mechanism. Cardiovasc Toxicol. 2010;10:27–36.
- 103. Knuckles TL, Yi J, Frazer DG, Leonard HD, Chen BT, Castranova V, Nurkiewicz TR. Nanoparticle inhalation alters systemic arteriolar vasoreactivity through sympathetic and cyclooxygenase-mediated pathways. Nanotoxicology. 2011;
- Journeay WS, Suri SS, Fenniri H, Singh B. High-aspect ratio nanoparticles in nanotoxicology. Integr Environ Assess Manag. 2008;4:128–9.
- 105. Tamagawa E, Bai N, Morimoto K, Gray C, Mui T, Yatera K, Zhang X, Xing L, Li Y, Laher I, Sin DD, Man SF, van Eeden SF. Particulate matter exposure induces persistent lung inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2008;295:L79–85.
- 106. Khan MA, Khan MJ. Nano-gold displayed anti-inflammatory property via NF-kB pathways by suppressing COX-2 activity. Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology. 2018;46:1149–58.
- 107. Minarchick VC, Stapleton PA, Sabolsky EM, Nurkiewicz TR. Cerium dioxide nanoparticle exposure improves microvascular dysfunction and reduces oxidative stress in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Front Physiol. 2015;6(339)

# **Toxicity of Nanomaterials to the Host and the Environment**



#### **Celine A. Beamer**

**Abstract** Although silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) display excellent antibacterial, antifungal, and antiviral properties; the pervasiveness of AgNPs in occupational, medicinal, consumer, and environmental settings has raised concerns about the potential for adverse health effects and environmental risks. We provide herein an overview of the use of AgNPs, routes of AgNPS exposure, physicochemical properties and mechanisms responsible for toxicity, and strategies to establish the safety of AgNPs. The core of this book chapter is the notion that while AgNPs may be effective agents in exterminating various pathogens, they may also damage healthy cells, animals, humans, and ecosystems. Thus, the manufacture and usage of AgNPs should be closely monitored and regulated.

Keywords Silver nanoparticles  $\cdot$  Properties  $\cdot$  Toxicity  $\cdot$  Dermal exposure  $\cdot$  Oral exposure  $\cdot$  Inhalation exposure

## 1 Introduction

Nanotechnology represents the merging of science, engineering, and technology expertise at the next great industrial revolution: control of matter at the nanoscale level. In recent years, nanoparticles have become widely used in electronics, agriculture, textile production, medicine, and many other industries and sciences. Nanotechnology involves imaging, measuring, modeling, and manipulating substances which have one dimension less than 100 nanometers (nm). At this scale, matter exhibits unique physical, chemical, and biological properties, which differ from the properties of bulk materials and single atoms/molecules. Some are stronger

C. A. Beamer (🖂)

Department of Biomedical and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Center for Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics, The University of Montana, Missoula, MT, USA e-mail: celine.beamer@umontana.edu

<sup>©</sup> American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020

P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics

in Nanoparticles, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_10

or have different magnetic properties compared to other forms or sizes of the same material; whereas others are better at conducting heat or electricity, or become more chemically reactive, reflect light better, or change color as their size or structure is altered. These unique properties enable novel applications, which promise great technological advances in chemistry, biology, physics, materials science, engineering, agriculture, and medicine. Nevertheless, many of the same properties that make nanomaterials (NMs) so promising from a technological standpoint make their interactions with biological systems and the environment difficult to predict, raising concerns for the safety of workers, consumers, and the environment. Depending on their physicochemical characteristics, NMs can enter the human body through blood, inhalation, dermal, and digestion exposures. Consequently, NMs can not only access, but also accumulate in vital organs and damage tissues and cells [1]. Significant gaps in knowledge remain for many factors to fully characterize the risk of NM such as dose-response relationships and differences across species. Moreover, complex and largely unknown properties of NMs together with a lack of toxicological and exposure data are currently among the major barriers for robust risk assessment, which is critical to formulation of rigorous policies around regulation of NMs. Thus, there is a recognized demand for robust assessment of NM toxicity using well-characterized NMs, standard protocols, and relevant route and doses of human exposure from fields of research ranging safety assessment to drug delivery [1, 2]. For the purpose of this chapter, we will study silver NMs as an example; although there may be a few properties that are specific to each NMs, many of the NM toxicity assessment will be similar between different types of NMs.

## 1.1 Silver Nanoparticles (AgNPs)

Among the NMs, silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) are considered one of the most important due to their excellent antibacterial, antifungal, and antiviral properties, relatively low cost of manufacturing, and unique properties and ability to form diverse nanostructures. AgNPs are used across a diverse range of commercial consumer products including food packaging materials, food storage containers, water purificants, odor-resistant socks and underwear, room sprays, laundry detergents, washing machines, lotions and soaps. Additionally, AgNPs are widely used in medical applications including wound dressings, female-hygiene products, surgical instruments, bone cements, and implantable devices [3]. More recently, AgNPs have become attractive materials for application as effective drug delivery vehicles and cancer therapeutic agents [4]. The primary concerns associated with such applications is the risk of accumulation of silver in the body causing heavy metal toxicity, for nanosilver surface oxidation releases Ag<sup>+</sup> ions which are known to be toxic. In fact, the smaller the AgNPs, the higher the surface area to volume ratio, and the more Ag<sup>+</sup> ions are released [5]. The ubiquity of AgNPs will likely result in repeated contact through multiple routes of exposure, which collectively may lead to health complications. As with many NMs, the usage of AgNPs should be closely monitored and regulated. Of particular concern is the potential for unnecessary use of non-selective biocidal AgNPs in consumer products to contribute to the escalating problem of worldwide bacterial resistance.

## 1.2 Toxicity of AgNPs

Nanomaterials may enter the human body through different routes: inhalation (respiratory tract), ingestion (gastrointestinal tract), dermal contact (skin), injection (circulation), etc. as a result of intentional or accidental exposure. Although NMs have been on the market for several years, the full scope of their effects on the human body has not been discovered yet. Numerous in vivo studies have assessed the distribution of various NMs after inhalation, oral, dermal and intravenous delivery and consequently accumulation of NMs in different tissues and organs [6-17]. These studies show that NMs can cross the lung, gut, skin, and blood brain and placental barriers depending on the route of exposure, time, concentration, and characteristics of the NM. Even in cases of low absorption, chronic exposure may result in internal accumulation of the NMs potentially reaching levels that might give rise to adverse health concerns [18]. Many recent studies using animal models indicate that exposure to AgNPs via one of several routes (inhalation, oral, dermal, intravenous, etc.) results in genotoxicity and DNA damage [19-22], inflammatory responses in the liver, lung, and kidney [23-25], and adverse functional effects in the lungs, heart, intestine, and spleen [25-28]. Consistent with its role in detoxification, the liver appears to accumulate a disproportionate amount of AgNPs and may be especially susceptible to nanosilver exposures [29, 30]. While these in vivo studies provide unique information on the distribution of AgNPs in a whole organism, given the great number of and variety in different AgNPs, it is essential that we remain cautious with usage while further studies are conducted to determine their safety.

#### **1.3** Inhalation Exposure

One of the primary target organs of AgNPs exposure is the lung, which is directly exposed after inhalation of airborne nanosilver—especially through consumer products such as disinfectant sprays. Inhaled AgNPs can interact with alveolar macrophages and airway epithelial cells, as well as pulmonary surfactant resulting in the formation of a biomolecular corona containing both proteins and lipids [29, 31]. After uptake of the particles, macrophages gradually move upward by the mucociliary escalator [32], are subsequently swallowed, and may enter the gastrointestinal tract. If not cleared by phagocytosis, AgNPs may also be taken up by the alveolar epithelium and reach the pulmonary interstitium from which they are transported to the local lymph nodes, or reach the blood circulation [33, 34]. Due to their size,

AgNPs distribute throughout the respiratory tract, can reach pulmonary alveoli, and even translocate beyond the respiratory tract to various other organs, including the diaphragm, brain, liver, and kidney [35–37]. The deposition of inhaled AgNPs depends on the morphology of the airways, the respiratory conditions, and the physicochemical properties of the particles. The most important physicochemical properties of inhaled particles that influence deposition are size (agglomerate), size distribution, density, shape, charge, and hygroscopicity [1]. Deposition of NM in the lungs results in an acute granulomatous inflammatory response which can progress to interstitial fibrosis, as well as systemic immune dysfunction. Thus, in addition to its importance as an environmentally-mediated lung disease, NM-induced injury serves as a paradigm for understanding the underlying cellular and molecular mechanisms responsible for pulmonary immune responses.

#### 1.4 Oral Exposure

Given the growing use of NMs in consumer products, including food and packaging, the oral route of exposure has been poorly explored in nanotoxicology. Ingestion of NMs can occur through direct ingestion of food ingredients, additives, and supplements or by mucociliary escalator transport (e.g cough and swallow) [38]. Many factors are involved in controlling the absorption of NMs via the GI tract including size of particles, geometry, surface charge, ligand type, and attachment potential to ligand [39]. Following ingestion, translocation of NMs into and across the gastrointestinal mucosa can occur via four different means: (1) via endocytosis through enterocytes, (2) via the M cell-rich layer of Peyer's patches (small intestinal lymphoid aggregates), (3) via persorption, where particles can translocate through a 'hole' left in the epithelium when enterocytes shed from the villous tip, and (4) via the paracellular route, where NMs pass across tight junctions of the epithelial cell layer [40]. Animal models suggest that NMs can accumulate in the Peyer's patches of the small intestines, and although the absorbance of NMs is low in the healthy individual, damage to the intestinal wall or reduced intestinal barrier function (e.g. Crohn's disease or Ulcerative Colitis) may result in higher levels of NMs uptake. In rodents, AgNPs (5-20 nm) damaged the epithelial cell microvilli and intestinal glands after 21 days of administration at 20 mg/kg [41]. Moreover, oral administration of 30 mg/kg (60 nm AgNPs) for 28 days increased the frequency of goblet cells in the intestine that had released their mucus granules [42]. Lastly, abnormal pigmentation of the ileum was observed following the administration of 125 and 500 mg/kg (56 nm) AgNPs [43]. More recent studies which have begun to explore the potential size-dependent effects of AgNPs on the host microbiome, have provided conflicting data on the impacts of AgNPs on the microbiota [44, 45]. Again, many factors control the absorption of nanoparticles in the GI tract: size of particle, shape, surface charge, ligand, etc. Ingested nanoparticles may be excreted or agglomerated by physico-chemical changes resulting in potential intestinal blockages [46].

## 1.5 Skin Exposure

The exposure of human skin to NMs can occur via intentional and unintentional means. Intentional exposure to NMs could result from applications of cosmetics products such as creams, lotions, and sunscreen containing nanoparticles (e.g. TiO<sub>2</sub> and ZnO). Unintentional exposure of NMs to human skin occurs through directly generated nanoparticles during manufacturing, combustion, and disposal of used nanomaterial-based products. Two primary mechanisms exist for penetration of AgNPs into the skin: intercellular trans-epidermal transport or diffusion through skin pores and hair cavities. Concerns include cytotoxicity of skin, toxicity during accumulation in skin over long periods of time, metabolism with potential of toxicity, and photo-activation of NMs present in the skin. Human skin is an effective barrier toward NMs and most toxic chemicals' although penetration can occur when the protective layer of skin is removed, damaged, or wounded. Similarly, hair follicles and sweat glands increase the barrier susceptible by facilitating the penetration of nanoparticles. Moreover, the use of nanoparticles in treatment of wounds and damaged skin accelerates penetration [47]. The potent antimicrobial properties of AgNPs have made these nanoparticles one of the most frequently utilized NMs in skin care products [48]. Dermal toxicity of AgNPs has been proposed to be mediated by oxidative stress associated with decreased viability, inhibition of mitochondrial activity, and the induction of apoptosis and cell death [49]. A recent study showed hepatotoxicity and nephrotoxicity in mice following dermal absorption of AgNPs (40 nm) in a dose-dependent fashion [50]. Thus, it is essential to determine the amount of AgNPs in dermal tissue of model animals.

#### 2 Factors Influencing the Toxicity of NMs

NMs can be broadly classified based upon their origin (natural vs. engineered NMs) and organized into carbon based, metal/metal oxides, dendrimers, or composites. On their own, NM display a vast array of characteristics in size, shape (tubes, films, rods, etc.), composition, and surface chemistry (metal ions, small molecules, surfactants or polymers), as well as agglomeration and aggregation when suspended in solution. Although it is often tempting to consider NMs as simple molecules, they are in fact complex mixtures. Interactions between NMs and biological molecules, cells, animal, humans, and the environment are incredibly complex. With these differing physicochemical properties, NMs exhibit different biocompatibilities when interacting with different cell types [51, 52]. Upon arrival at the cell surface, multiple processes exist by which NMs may be internalized by the cell (e.g. phagocytosis, endocytosis, direct trans-membrane transport, passive diffusion, etc.) and once inside the cell, many locations to which NMs may be routed [53–56]. Moreover, once NMs come into contact and interact with biological molecules and fluids, these properties may undergo significant surface modifications. After several decades of

research, scientists have only begun to understand how the inherent properties of NM dictate the ultimate impact of NM on human health. However, it has become clear that parameters such as surface area to mass, shape, purity and associated changes in surface parameters such as reactivity, charge and solubility are associated with toxicity [57, 58].

Change in size can greatly affect the physical and chemical properties of NMs, and thus the deposition and fate [59]. Although AgNPs provide many benefits, AgNPs induce size-dependent toxicity in the brain, lung, liver, and kidneys when delivered via systemic, oral, and inhalation exposures [60–64]. As AgNPs become smaller, the surface to volume ratio increases greatly-which makes these NMs more reactive and/or toxic. The increased bio-availability combined with a larger surface area may worsen interaction with cellular organelles, increasing reactive oxygen species production, inflammation and cytotoxicity [65]. Smaller NMs more easily cross cellular barriers by modulating specific uptake and endocytic processes [66]. Indeed small-sized (10–15 nm) AgNPs caused more toxicity by generating 10 times higher amounts of reactive oxygen species than larger sized (30 and 55 nm) AgNPs, independent of surface coating [67, 68]. Similarly, small-sized (1.4 nm) gold (Au)NPs induced 60 to 100 times more cytotoxicity to a variety of cells than large size (15 nm) NPs [69]. General consensus within the field is that smaller sized particles are more susceptible to cellular internalization and show more toxicity than larger ones.

Shape and charge on NMs also contributes to the toxic effects of NMs and can accelerate membrane translocation by up to 60 orders of magnitude [70]. For example, different shaped AgNPs affect human alveolar epithelial cells in different ways: Ag wires induced cytotoxicity and elevated intracellular calcium levels, whereas Ag spheres did not [71]. Furthermore, different functionalities can create different charges over NM surfaces: -COOH functionalized NMs are considered positively charged, whereas -NH2 functionalized NMs are considered negatively charged. The surface properties of NMs (e.g. hydrophobicity and hydrophilicity) affect many of the biological responses to NMs including interactions with plasma proteins, cellular uptake or phagocytosis, immune stimulation, and NM removal. Negatively charged AgNPs appears to be more potent in inducing adverse effects on the macrophages than positively charged AgNPs [72]. Similarly, studies of uncoated and coated AgNPs revealed that toxicity was highly dependent on surface charge [73]. Moreover, NMs adsorb proteins on their surface and form NP-protein coronas. Such adsorptions depend on particle size and interaction between the groups on nanoparticle surface and amine groups of proteins [74] and can alter the toxicity, fate, and stability of AgNPs [75]. Lastly, NMs have the ability to agglomerate in solutions depending on size, shape, concentration, charge, temperature, and type of NMs. Agglomerated NMs behave in a different way than the individual dispersed particles mainly because of changes in surface properties [1, 76, 77]-particularly with regards to cellular uptake and toxicity.

## 2.1 Environmental Impacts of AgNPs

In addition to the increasingly widespread application of AgNPs directly to the human body, the production, transport, erosion, washing or disposal of AgNPcontaining products presents the potential for ecological harm [60]. At present, there are ~500 consumer products that contain AgNPs (e.g. textiles, toiletries, cosmetics, household appliances and some paints) whose production, usage and disposal will lead to environmental exposure and deleterious effects on the organisms that are exposed to these materials [29, 78-80]. Several reports indicate that AgNPs leach into water during laundering and into simulated perspiration fluids [81-83], and can be found at trace levels in aquatic environments [84, 85]. Given elemental silver's high toxicity to aquatic life-which is second only to mercury; there is a high risk associated with AgNPs in the aquatic environment. When released to the environment, AgNPs may undergo various transformations: aggregation, agglomeration, dissolution, and consequent formation of different chemical compounds (e.g. Ag sulfides and chlorides). Of these, Ag sulfide is of particular importance because it is insoluble, making it a stable compound in the environment [86]. Ag sulfides can be found in wastewater treatment plants and sometimes even in fresh water [86]. It is therefore essential to determine whether AgNPs eradicate those bacteria necessary to decompose solid wastes, and to understand the fate of AgNPs in soils and waterways when the sludge from sewage plants is utilized as fertilizer. Studies indicate that AgNPs cause developmental effects in embryonic zebrafish and size and dose dependent hemotoxicity in goldfish including hemolysis, membrane injury, lipid peroxidation, and antioxidant enzyme production [87, 88]. Other studies in fish suggest that AgNPs toxicity results from uptake into key organs and changes in cellular signaling pathways and gene expression [89, 90]. Although information on AgNPs effects in terrestrial organisms is scarce, adverse effects on growth and germination have been reported [91, 92]. In particular, crop quality and yield of wheat, corn, tobacco diminished with increasing exposures to AgNPs [91, 93, 94].

## **3** Strategies to Establish the Safety of NMs

Numerous studies have endeavored to evaluate the health impact of occupational and environmental exposure to select NMs. Unfortunately, toxicological analysis of new molecular entities is not a straightforward process. Because NM are relatively new, there are currently no comprehensive guidelines for assessing NMs toxicity within a given organ or system. Both 'classical' and novel toxicological assessments of NM require stepwise validation, standardization, and demonstration of their physiological relevance. The majority of the standard toxicological methods are applicable to NM; however, as NM represent physically and chemically diverse materials, the classical methods cannot always be applied without modification, and novel approaches are often required to overcome challenges inherent to NM. For example, many NM absorb in the UV-Vis range and may even catalyze enzyme reactions or quench fluorescent dyes commonly used as detection reagents in various end-point or kinetic assays. Industry, academia, and federal agencies are cooperating to identify critical parameters in NM characterization and to establish criteria for NM-specific toxicological assays; however several challenges exist, including the importance of: (1) detection and prevention of potential particle contamination with such things as bacterial endotoxins and/or toxic synthesis byproducts (e.g. heavy metals), (2) understanding how route of administration and biodistribution may result in either desirable and undesirable immunomodulation (e.g. complement activation on i.v. administration is not desirable, whereas on s.c. administration, it is beneficial for vaccinations), and (3) choosing an experimental approach that is free of false-positive or false-negative readouts. Those NM produced in the highest volume include carbon nanotubes, titanium dioxide, zinc oxide, and silver, and thus present the greatest potential for human exposure. However, human health risk is not entirely linked to production volume and probability of exposure, but also to reactivity and potency of impact on organ systems. Thus, NM produced in lower quantities that have potent and selective effects on the immune system (e.g. nickel, gold, and cobalt NM) may exhibit significant immunotoxicity. Consequently, it is necessary to assemble a more comprehensive understanding of the association between diverse NMs and the toxicological profiles.

## 4 Summary/Conclusions and Directions for Future Research

Over the last 30 years, the number of products containing engineered nanomaterials increased across diverse fields mainly due to our growing capacity to synthesize and manipulate such materials. Nanotechnology has generated, and will continue to generate, a wide spectrum of novel NMs that will revolutionize many fields. However, because of their unique and unpredictable physico-chemico-biological nature, it is necessary to adequately address the potential adverse health risks posed by NMs in occupational, medicinal, consumer, and environmental settings and identify those physicochemical properties and corresponding molecular mechanisms that are responsible for toxicity. Although toxicity is a significant concern for NMs exposure, the scientific literature remains quite limited given the plethora of combinations of NMs and potential surface modifications. Moreover, few studies have applied state of the art methodology regarding particle characterization and standardized study design with respect to toxicological testing. This lack of highquality studies and insufficient, comprehensive data hinders risk assessment and grouping of NMs based on their physical, chemical and biological properties. Lastly, a comprehensive assessment of each NM will require considerable technical and financial efforts. Therefore, definitive conclusions on the toxicological risks of groups of NMs cannot be reached at this time.

## References

- Sajid M, Ilyas M, Basheer C, Tariq M, Daud M, Baig N, Shehzad F. Impact of nanoparticles on human and environment: review of toxicity factors, exposures, control strategies, and future prospects. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 2015;22:4122–43.
- Ajdary M, Moosavi MA, Rahmati M, Falahati M, Mahboubi M, Mandegary A, Jangjoo S, Mohammadinejad R, Varma RS. Health concerns of various nanoparticles: a review of their in vitro and in vivo toxicity. Nanomaterials (Basel). 2018;8
- Burdusel AC, Gherasim O, Grumezescu AM, Mogoanta L, Ficai A, Andronescu E. Biomedical applications of silver nanoparticles: an up-to-date overview. Nanomaterials (Basel). 2018;8
- Majdalawieh A, Kanan MC, El-Kadri O, Kanan SM. Recent advances in gold and silver nanoparticles: synthesis and applications. J Nanosci Nanotechnol. 2014;14:4757–80.
- McShan D, Ray PC, Yu H. Molecular toxicity mechanism of nanosilver. J Food Drug Anal. 2014;22:116–27.
- Balasubramanian SK, Jittiwat J, Manikandan J, Ong CN, Yu LE, Ong WY. Biodistribution of gold nanoparticles and gene expression changes in the liver and spleen after intravenous administration in rats. Biomaterials. 2010;31:2034–42.
- Bakand S, Hayes A, Dechsakulthorn F. Nanoparticles: a review of particle toxicology following inhalation exposure. Inhal Toxicol. 2012;24:125–35.
- Baroli B. Skin absorption and potential toxicity of nanoparticulate nanomaterials. J Biomed Nanotechnol. 2010;6:485–96.
- 9. Baroli B. Penetration of nanoparticles and nanomaterials in the skin: fiction or reality? J Pharm Sci. 2010;99:21–50.
- Creutzenberg O, Bellmann B, Korolewitz R, Koch W, Mangelsdorf I, Tillmann T, Schaudien D. Change in agglomeration status and toxicokinetic fate of various nanoparticles in vivo following lung exposure in rats. Inhal Toxicol. 2012;24:821–30.
- De Jong WH, Hagens WI, Krystek P, Burger MC, Sips AJ, Geertsma RE. Particle sizedependent organ distribution of gold nanoparticles after intravenous administration. Biomaterials. 2008;29:1912–9.
- Elder A, Oberdorster G. Translocation and effects of ultrafine particles outside of the lung. Clin Occup Environ Med. 2006;5:785–96.
- Elder A, Gelein R, Silva V, Feikert T, Opanashuk L, Carter J, Potter R, Maynard A, Ito Y, Finkelstein J, Oberdorster G. Translocation of inhaled ultrafine manganese oxide particles to the central nervous system. Environ Health Perspect. 2006;114:1172–8.
- 14. van der Zande M, Vandebriel RJ, Van Doren E, Kramer E, Herrera Rivera Z, Serrano-Rojero CS, Gremmer ER, Mast J, Peters RJ, Hollman PC, Hendriksen PJ, Marvin HJ, Peijnenburg AA, Bouwmeester H. Distribution, elimination, and toxicity of silver nanoparticles and silver ions in rats after 28-day oral exposure. ACS Nano. 2012;6:7427–42.
- 15. Xia T, Kovochich M, Brant J, Hotze M, Sempf J, Oberley T, Sioutas C, Yeh JI, Wiesner MR, Nel AE. Comparison of the abilities of ambient and manufactured nanoparticles to induce cellular toxicity according to an oxidative stress paradigm. Nano Lett. 2006;6:1794–807.
- Khalili Fard J, Jafari S, Eghbal MA. A review of molecular mechanisms involved in toxicity of nanoparticles. Adv Pharm Bull. 2015;5:447–54.
- Gualtierotti R, Guarnaccia L, Beretta M, Navone SE, Campanella R, Riboni L, Rampini P, Marfia G. Modulation of neuroinflammation in the central nervous system: role of chemokines and sphingolipids. Adv Ther. 2017;34:396–420.
- van Kesteren PC, Cubadda F, Bouwmeester H, van Eijkeren JC, Dekkers S, de Jong WH, Oomen AG. Novel insights into the risk assessment of the nanomaterial synthetic amorphous silica, additive E551, in food. Nanotoxicology. 2015;9:442–52.
- Ivask A, Voelcker NH, Seabrook SA, Hor M, Kirby JK, Fenech M, Davis TP, Ke PC. DNA melting and genotoxicity induced by silver nanoparticles and graphene. Chem Res Toxicol. 2015;28:1023–35.

- Li Y, Qin T, Ingle T, Yan J, He W, Yin JJ, Chen T. Differential genotoxicity mechanisms of silver nanoparticles and silver ions. Arch Toxicol. 2017;91:509–19.
- Lebedova J, Hedberg YS, Odnevall Wallinder I, Karlsson HL. Size-dependent genotoxicity of silver, gold and platinum nanoparticles studied using the mini-gel comet assay and micronucleus scoring with flow cytometry. Mutagenesis. 2018;33:77–85.
- 22. Butler KS, Peeler DJ, Casey BJ, Dair BJ, Elespuru RK. Silver nanoparticles: correlating nanoparticle size and cellular uptake with genotoxicity. Mutagenesis. 2015;30:577–91.
- Tiwari DK, Jin T, Behari J. Dose-dependent in-vivo toxicity assessment of silver nanoparticle in Wistar rats. Toxicol Mech Methods. 2011;21:13–24.
- 24. Kim YS, Kim JS, Cho HS, Rha DS, Kim JM, Park JD, Choi BS, Lim R, Chang HK, Chung YH, Kwon IH, Jeong J, Han BS, Yu IJ. Twenty-eight-day oral toxicity, genotoxicity, and gender-related tissue distribution of silver nanoparticles in Sprague-Dawley rats. Inhal Toxicol. 2008;20:575–83.
- 25. Sung JH, Ji JH, Yoon JU, Kim DS, Song MY, Jeong J, Han BS, Han JH, Chung YH, Kim J, Kim TS, Chang HK, Lee EJ, Lee JH, Yu IJ. Lung function changes in Sprague-Dawley rats after prolonged inhalation exposure to silver nanoparticles. Inhal Toxicol. 2008;20:567–74.
- 26. Sung JH, Ji JH, Park JD, Yoon JU, Kim DS, Jeon KS, Song MY, Jeong J, Han BS, Han JH, Chung YH, Chang HK, Lee JH, Cho MH, Kelman BJ, Yu IJ. Subchronic inhalation toxicity of silver nanoparticles. Toxicol Sci. 2009;108:452–61.
- Cha K, Hong HW, Choi YG, Lee MJ, Park JH, Chae HK, Ryu G, Myung H. Comparison of acute responses of mice livers to short-term exposure to nano-sized or micro-sized silver particles. Biotechnol Lett. 2008;30:1893–9.
- Rosas-Hernandez H, Jimenez-Badillo S, Martinez-Cuevas PP, Gracia-Espino E, Terrones H, Terrones M, Hussain SM, Ali SF, Gonzalez C. Effects of 45-nm silver nanoparticles on coronary endothelial cells and isolated rat aortic rings. Toxicol Lett. 2009;191:305–13.
- 29. Rezvani E, Rafferty A, McGuinness C, Kennedy J. Adverse effects of nanosilver on human health and the environment. Acta Biomater. 2019;
- Jia J, Li F, Zhou H, Bai Y, Liu S, Jiang Y, Jiang G, Yan B. Oral exposure to silver nanoparticles or silver ions may aggravate fatty liver disease in overweight mice. Environ Sci Technol. 2017;51:9334–43.
- 31. Hu Q, Bai X, Hu G, Zuo YY. Unveiling the molecular structure of pulmonary surfactant Corona on nanoparticles. ACS Nano. 2017;11:6832–42.
- 32. Geiser M, Kreyling WG. Deposition and biokinetics of inhaled nanoparticles. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2010;7:2.
- Borm PJ, Muller-Schulte D. Nanoparticles in drug delivery and environmental exposure: same size, same risks? Nanomedicine (Lond). 2006;1:235–49.
- 34. Zhang Q, Kusaka Y, Sato K, Nakakuki K, Kohyama N, Donaldson K. Differences in the extent of inflammation caused by intratracheal exposure to three ultrafine metals: role of free radicals. J Toxicol Environ Health A. 1998;53:423–38.
- 35. Borm PJ, Robbins D, Haubold S, Kuhlbusch T, Fissan H, Donaldson K, Schins R, Stone V, Kreyling W, Lademann J, Krutmann J, Warheit D, Oberdorster E. The potential risks of nanomaterials: a review carried out for ECETOC. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2006;3:11.
- Kendall M, Holgate S. Health impact and toxicological effects of nanomaterials in the lung. Respirology. 2012;17:743–58.
- 37. Mercer RR, Scabilloni JF, Hubbs AF, Battelli LA, McKinney W, Friend S, Wolfarth MG, Andrew M, Castranova V, Porter DW. Distribution and fibrotic response following inhalation exposure to multi-walled carbon nanotubes. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2013;10:33.
- Bergin IL, Witzmann FA. Nanoparticle toxicity by the gastrointestinal route: evidence and knowledge gaps. Int J Biomed Nanosci Nanotechnol. 2013;3
- Hillyer JF, Albrecht RM. Gastrointestinal persorption and tissue distribution of differently sized colloidal gold nanoparticles. J Pharm Sci. 2001;90:1927–36.
- Powell JJ, Faria N, Thomas-McKay E, Pele LC. Origin and fate of dietary nanoparticles and microparticles in the gastrointestinal tract. J Autoimmun. 2010;34:J226–33.

- 41. Shahare B, Yashpal M. Toxic effects of repeated oral exposure of silver nanoparticles on small intestine mucosa of mice. Toxicol Mech Methods. 2013;23:161–7.
- 42. Jeong GN, Jo UB, Ryu HY, Kim YS, Song KS, Yu IJ. Histochemical study of intestinal mucins after administration of silver nanoparticles in Sprague-Dawley rats. Arch Toxicol. 2010;84:63–9.
- 43. Kim YS, Song MY, Park JD, Song KS, Ryu HR, Chung YH, Chang HK, Lee JH, Oh KH, Kelman BJ, Hwang IK, Yu IJ. Subchronic oral toxicity of silver nanoparticles. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2010;7:20.
- 44. Frohlich EE, Frohlich E. Cytotoxicity of nanoparticles contained in food on intestinal cells and the gut microbiota. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17:509.
- 45. Li J, Tang M, Xue Y. Review of the effects of silver nanoparticle exposure on gut bacteria. J Appl Toxicol. 2019;39:27–37.
- 46. Wang B, Feng WY, Wang TC, Jia G, Wang M, Shi JW, Zhang F, Zhao YL, Chai ZF. Acute toxicity of nano- and micro-scale zinc powder in healthy adult mice. Toxicol Lett. 2006;161:115–23.
- 47. Teow Y, Asharani PV, Hande MP, Valiyaveettil S. Health impact and safety of engineered nanomaterials. Chem Commun (Camb). 2011;47:7025–38.
- Miethling-Graff R, Rumpker R, Richter M, Verano-Braga T, Kjeldsen F, Brewer J, Hoyland J, Rubahn HG, Erdmann H. Exposure to silver nanoparticles induces size- and dose-dependent oxidative stress and cytotoxicity in human colon carcinoma cells. Toxicol In Vitro. 2014;28:1280–9.
- Foldbjerg R, Olesen P, Hougaard M, Dang DA, Hoffmann HJ, Autrup H. PVP-coated silver nanoparticles and silver ions induce reactive oxygen species, apoptosis and necrosis in THP-1 monocytes. Toxicol Lett. 2009;190:156–62.
- Korani M, Rezayat SM, Arbabi Bidgoli S. Sub-chronic dermal toxicity of silver nanoparticles in Guinea pig: special emphasis to heart, bone and kidney toxicities. Iran J Pharm Res. 2013;12:511–9.
- 51. Rees P, Wills JW, Brown MR, Barnes CM, Summers HD. The origin of heterogeneous nanoparticle uptake by cells. Nat Commun. 2019;10:2341.
- Hillaireau H, Couvreur P. Nanocarriers' entry into the cell: relevance to drug delivery. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2009;66:2873–96.
- Lesniak A, Fenaroli F, Monopoli MP, Aberg C, Dawson KA, Salvati A. Effects of the presence or absence of a protein corona on silica nanoparticle uptake and impact on cells. ACS Nano. 2012;6:5845–57.
- 54. Chithrani BD, Ghazani AA, Chan WC. Determining the size and shape dependence of gold nanoparticle uptake into mammalian cells. Nano Lett. 2006;6:662–8.
- Jiang W, Kim BY, Rutka JT, Chan WC. Nanoparticle-mediated cellular response is sizedependent. Nat Nanotechnol. 2008;3:145–50.
- Rejman J, Oberle V, Zuhorn IS, Hoekstra D. Size-dependent internalization of particles via the pathways of clathrin- and caveolae-mediated endocytosis. Biochem J. 2004;377:159–69.
- 57. Nel A, Xia T, Madler L, Li N. Toxic potential of materials at the nanolevel. Science. 2006;311:622-7.
- Albanese A, Tang PS, Chan WC. The effect of nanoparticle size, shape, and surface chemistry on biological systems. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2012;14:1–16.
- 59. Schmid O, Stoeger T. Surface area is the biologically most effective dose metric for acute nanoparticle toxicity in the lung. J Aerosol Sci. 2016;99:133–43.
- Yu SJ, Yin YG, Liu JF. Silver nanoparticles in the environment. Environ Sci Process Impacts. 2013;15:78–92.
- 61. Vazquez-Munoz R, Borrego B, Juarez-Moreno K, Garcia-Garcia M, Mota Morales JD, Bogdanchikova N, Huerta-Saquero A. Toxicity of silver nanoparticles in biological systems: does the complexity of biological systems matter? Toxicol Lett. 2017;276:11–20.
- Cho YM, Mizuta Y, Akagi JI, Toyoda T, Sone M, Ogawa K. Size-dependent acute toxicity of silver nanoparticles in mice. J Toxicol Pathol. 2018;31:73–80.

- Marin S, Vlasceanu GM, Tiplea RE, Bucur IR, Lemnaru M, Marin MM, Grumezescu AM. Applications and toxicity of silver nanoparticles: a recent review. Curr Top Med Chem. 2015;15:1596–604.
- 64. Lankveld DP, Oomen AG, Krystek P, Neigh A, Troost-de Jong A, Noorlander CW, Van Eijkeren JC, Geertsma RE, De Jong WH. The kinetics of the tissue distribution of silver nanoparticles of different sizes. Biomaterials. 2010;31:8350–61.
- 65. Park MV, Neigh AM, Vermeulen JP, de la Fonteyne LJ, Verharen HW, Briede JJ, van Loveren H, de Jong WH. The effect of particle size on the cytotoxicity, inflammation, developmental toxicity and genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 2011;32:9810–7.
- 66. Thorley AJ, Tetley TD. New perspectives in nanomedicine. Pharmacol Ther. 2013;140:176-85.
- 67. Carlson C, Hussain SM, Schrand AM, K. Braydich-Stolle L, Hess KL, Jones RL, Schlager JJ. Unique cellular interaction of silver nanoparticles: size-dependent generation of reactive oxygen species. J Phys Chem B. 2008;112:13608–19.
- 68. Gliga AR, Skoglund S, Wallinder IO, Fadeel B, Karlsson HL. Size-dependent cytotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in human lung cells: the role of cellular uptake, agglomeration and Ag release. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2014;11:11.
- 69. Pan Y, Neuss S, Leifert A, Fischler M, Wen F, Simon U, Schmid G, Brandau W, Jahnen-Dechent W. Size-dependent cytotoxicity of gold nanoparticles. Small. 2007;3:1941–9.
- Nangia S, Sureshkumar R. Effects of nanoparticle charge and shape anisotropy on translocation through cell membranes. Langmuir. 2012;28:17666–71.
- Stoehr LC, Gonzalez E, Stampfl A, Casals E, Duschl A, Puntes V, Oostingh GJ. Shape matters: effects of silver nanospheres and wires on human alveolar epithelial cells. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2011;8:36.
- 72. Makama S, Kloet SK, Piella J, van den Berg H, de Ruijter NCA, Puntes VF, Rietjens I, van den Brink NW. Effects of systematic variation in size and surface coating of silver nanoparticles on their in vitro toxicity to macrophage RAW 264.7 cells. Toxicol Sci. 2018;162:79–88.
- 73. El Badawy AM, Silva RG, Morris B, Scheckel KG, Suidan MT, Tolaymat TM. Surface charge-dependent toxicity of silver nanoparticles. Environ Sci Technol. 2011;45:283–7.
- 74. Saptarshi SR, Duschl A, Lopata AL. Interaction of nanoparticles with proteins: relation to bio-reactivity of the nanoparticle. J Nanobiotechnology. 2013;11:26.
- Sharma VK, Siskova KM, Zboril R, Gardea-Torresdey JL. Organic-coated silver nanoparticles in biological and environmental conditions: fate, stability and toxicity. Adv Colloid Interf Sci. 2014;204:15–34.
- 76. Skebo JE, Grabinski CM, Schrand AM, Schlager JJ, Hussain SM. Assessment of metal nanoparticle agglomeration, uptake, and interaction using high-illuminating system. Int J Toxicol. 2007;26:135–41.
- 77. Herzog E, Byrne HJ, Davoren M, Casey A, Duschl A, Oostingh GJ. Dispersion medium modulates oxidative stress response of human lung epithelial cells upon exposure to carbon nanomaterial samples. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2009;236:276–81.
- Navarro E, Baun A, Behra R, Hartmann NB, Filser J, Miao AJ, Quigg A, Santschi PH, Sigg L. Environmental behavior and ecotoxicity of engineered nanoparticles to algae, plants, and fungi. Ecotoxicology. 2008;17:372–86.
- Stevenson LM, Dickson H, Klanjscek T, Keller AA, McCauley E, Nisbet RM. Environmental feedbacks and engineered nanoparticles: mitigation of silver nanoparticle toxicity to Chlamydomonas reinhardtii by algal-produced organic compounds. PLoS One. 2013;8:e74456.
- McGillicuddy E, Murray I, Kavanagh S, Morrison L, Fogarty A, Cormican M, Dockery P, Prendergast M, Rowan N, Morris D. Silver nanoparticles in the environment: sources, detection and ecotoxicology. Sci Total Environ. 2017;575:231–46.
- Geranio L, Heuberger M, Nowack B. The behavior of silver nanotextiles during washing. Environ Sci Technol. 2009;43:8113–8.
- 82. Kulthong K, Srisung S, Boonpavanitchakul K, Kangwansupamonkon W, Maniratanachote R. Determination of silver nanoparticle release from antibacterial fabrics into artificial sweat. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2010;7:8.

- Lorenz C, Windler L, von Goetz N, Lehmann RP, Schuppler M, Hungerbuhler K, Heuberger M, Nowack B. Characterization of silver release from commercially available functional (nano)textiles. Chemosphere. 2012;89:817–24.
- 84. Farkas J, Peter H, Christian P, Gallego Urrea JA, Hassellov M, Tuoriniemi J, Gustafsson S, Olsson E, Hylland K, Thomas KV. Characterization of the effluent from a nanosilver producing washing machine. Environ Int. 2011;37:1057–62.
- Li L, Hartmann G, Doblinger M, Schuster M. Quantification of nanoscale silver particles removal and release from municipal wastewater treatment plants in Germany. Environ Sci Technol. 2013;47:7317–23.
- Li L, Xu Z, Wimmer A, Tian Q, Wang X. New insights into the stability of silver Sulfide nanoparticles in surface water: dissolution through hypochlorite oxidation. Environ Sci Technol. 2017;51:7920–7.
- Chen LQ, Fang L, Ling J, Ding CZ, Kang B, Huang CZ. Nanotoxicity of silver nanoparticles to red blood cells: size dependent adsorption, uptake, and hemolytic activity. Chem Res Toxicol. 2015;28:501–9.
- 88. Gao J, Sepulveda MS, Klinkhamer C, Wei A, Gao Y, Mahapatra CT. Nanosilver-coated socks and their toxicity to zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryos. Chemosphere. 2015;119:948–52.
- Orbea A, Gonzalez-Soto N, Lacave JM, Barrio I, Cajaraville MP. Developmental and reproductive toxicity of PVP/PEI-coated silver nanoparticles to zebrafish. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 2017;199:59–68.
- 90. Krishnaraj C, Harper SL, Yun SI. In vivo toxicological assessment of biologically synthesized silver nanoparticles in adult Zebrafish (Danio rerio). J Hazard Mater. 2016;301:480–91.
- Stampoulis D, Sinha SK, White JC. Assay-dependent phytotoxicity of nanoparticles to plants. Environ Sci Technol. 2009;43:9473–9.
- 92. Yan A, Chen Z. Impacts of silver nanoparticles on plants: a focus on the Phytotoxicity and underlying mechanism. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20
- 93. Yang J, Jiang F, Ma C, Rui Y, Rui M, Adeel M, Cao W, Xing B. Alteration of crop yield and quality of wheat upon exposure to silver nanoparticles in a life cycle study. J Agric Food Chem. 2018;66:2589–97.
- 94. Cvjetko P, Zovko M, Stefanic PP, Biba R, Tkalec M, Domijan AM, Vrcek IV, Letofsky-Papst I, Sikic S, Balen B. Phytotoxic effects of silver nanoparticles in tobacco plants. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 2018;25:5590–602.

## Pharmacokinetic Modelling to Study the Biodistribution of Nanoparticles



Rajith K. R. Rajoli

Abstract Pharmacokinetics is a key component of pharmacology and is an essential aspect during drug discovery and development phases that evaluates the safety and efficacy profiles. Mathematical models mainly physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) models have been increasingly used that can help in drug screening and identification; dose optimisation prior to preclinical and clinical trials using in vitro data, thus saving time and resources. PBPK models describe the pharmacokinetic processes – absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination (ADME) using various mathematical correlations including in vitro - in vivo extrapolations in humans. Nanoparticles are been increasingly used for drug delivery due to their advantages over conventional formulations such as enhanced absorption, longer half-life, good safety and efficacy, targeted delivery etc. However, studies using nanoparticles in humans can be associated with various obstacles including ethical and logistical, hindering the drug development process. PBPK models overcome the earlier mentioned problems and can evaluate various biological and molecular processes that define drug pharmacokinetics using in vitro data. This chapter summarises the approach of PBPK models, its challenges and possibilities to assess the key ADME mechanisms involved during various mucosal routes of administration using several allometric, anthropometric and rate equations to inform drug pharmacokinetics in humans.

**Keywords** PBPK · Pharmacokinetics · Mucosal · Compartmental model · ADME · Nanoparticles

R. K. R. Rajoli (🖂)

Department of Molecular and Clinical Pharmacology, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, UK e-mail: rkrajoli@liverpool.ac.uk

<sup>©</sup> American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020

P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), *Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles*, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2\_11

## 1 Introduction

Drug pharmacokinetics is an important aspect to assess the safety and efficacy of therapeutics. Pharmacokinetics is the study of drug disposition from the time of administration to its elimination in the body which is regulated by four key processes namely absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination (ADME) [1]. Pharmacokinetic processes are identified with the help of biomarkers - substances used in the reliable measurement of any activity or a process [2]. Occasionally drug quantification at the site of action may not be practically feasible, in which case plasma concentrations can act as a biomarker to identify exposure-response relationships [3]. For most of the drugs to have a therapeutic effect, the drug concentration at the target site should be over the minimum effective concentration (MEC), however high concentrations can lead to drug accumulation and tissue toxicity (Fig. 1). Also, suboptimal adherence to the dosing regimen can lead to the drug concentration falling below the MEC level and this provides an opportunity for the pathogenic organism (virus, bacteria etc.) to develop resistance against existing therapy. Therefore, it is essential to administer optimal dosages such that the drug pharmacokinetics stay in the therapeutic range for the necessary dosing interval.

## 1.1 Modelling Approaches

Drug development of new chemical entities (NCEs) in humans often consumes lot of resources beginning with target identification, high-throughput screening, selection of lead candidates, preclinical experiments leading to high costs (average – USD 802 million) and long time periods (8–12 years) for the product to reach the market. Also, the average success rate of a drug in any therapeutic area reaching the market is abysmal, approximately 11% [4]. Therefore, pharmaceutical companies



Fig. 1 A representative illustration of a once daily administered oral formulation. The blue curve represents the drug plasma concentration over time

look for an alternative solution that could accelerate this fundamental process of drug development. Pharmacokinetic computational modelling is a solution to this problem, an emerging area valuable to the field of drug discovery, drug development and the clinical study design.

Computational models can virtually identify the ADME characteristics of any given compound/formulation with physiochemical or drug-specific properties and formulation characteristics. Physicochemical and drug specific parameters can predict drug pharmacokinetic pattern, even among compounds with similar structures, pharmacokinetics can vary widely depending on a number of physiological interactions. For example, tenofovir alafenamide (TAF) and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) are two prodrugs with the same parent molecule, tenofovir (TFV). However, the intracellular concentrations of TFV-diphosphate obtained with a 300 mg once daily (OD) TDF is comparable to an 8 mg OD TAF [5].

Models are broadly divided into two types: top-down approach and bottom-up approach, based on the nature of input data used in the models. Top-down approach involves the estimation of ADME parameters such as absorption rate, apparent volume of distribution, rate of elimination etc. based on the available pharmacokinetic data from clinical studies in human volunteers e.g. population pharmacokinetic modelling, whereas, bottom-up approach identifies drug pharmacokinetics based on the characteristics of an individual and *in vitro* data e.g. pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modelling [6]. Other types of modelling also exist such as the quantitative structure activity relationship (QSAR) and quantitative structure property relationship (QSPR) models. These models inform ADME characteristics using various molecular descriptors. However, these types of models require extensive training and test data sets from similar chemical library, and they lack mechanistic description of physiological processes. Physiologically-based models that require minimal drug specific and *in vitro* data can be used to describe both ADME characteristics and also mechanistic description of the physiological processes [7].

## 2 PBPK Modelling

Physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modelling is the integration of various mechanistic processes, using mathematical descriptions, in a virtual individual to simulate drug pharmacokinetics. The concept of PBPK was first introduced in the year 1920 by Teorell et al. [8], however it was not renowned back then due to the practical complexity of solving numerous mathematical equations, until the breakthrough of computers in early 1970s [9]. The use of PBPK models have been exponentially increasing and their importance was acknowledged by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (U.S. FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) with their recent issue of guidelines for documentation of PBPK models in regulatory reports [10, 11]. Currently, regulatory approvals include a modelling component in NCE applications [12, 13]. Several PBPK software are already present in the market that are broadly divided into two different categories 1) commercial software such as Simcyp, PK-Sim, GastroPlus etc. where the service is based on subscription at a nominal fee and 2) open software like Matlab, Berkeley Madonna etc. where the user is flexible to design their own PBPK models [14].

PBPK modelling is a bottom-up approach where various anthropometric, allometric and *in vitro* data are used to predict pharmacokinetics in humans. Models that define the whole anatomy and physiology to evaluate drug pharmacokinetics are termed as 'whole-body' PBPK models. The characteristics of an individual such as age, weight, height and body mass index (BMI) are defined initially. Using various anthropometric measurements, i.e. the earlier defined characteristics are used to describe individual organ and tissue weights such as liver, lungs, adipose, muscle etc., and blood and lymph flow rates connecting these tissues and organs [15, 16].



**Fig. 2** Diagrammatic representation of a physiologically based pharmacokinetic model. Each box represents a tissue or an organ, the arrow mark represents the direction of drug disposition defined using first-order rate equations
The organs and tissues are represented as compartments in PBPK models, connected by first-order rate equations that describe drug disposition kinetics (Fig. 2).

PBPK models generally use *in vitro* – *in vivo* correlations to extrapolate data obtained from *in vitro* experiments such as Caco-2 permeability for computation of absorption rate, intrinsic clearance from baculosomes etc. to evaluate ADME parameters used in the computation of drug pharmacokinetics. Various disposition kinetics, *in vitro* – *in vivo* extrapolations (IVIVEs), partition coefficients used in the computation of PBPK model parameters are described in the following sections with a special focus on nanoparticles:

## 2.1 Absorption

Drugs can be administered through various routes including – mucosal routes such as oral, nasal, rectal, vaginal and topical; and parenteral routes e.g. intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous. Drugs not administered intravenously (i.e. straight into the blood stream) undergo absorption process through a passive or an active pathway. During these pathways, a fraction of the drug is unabsorbed due to numerous factors including drug solubility, dissolution rate, pH, permeability, physiological characteristics of the surrounding environment (e.g. oral, nasal, buccal etc.), food (low or high fat meal), route of administration, etc. [17, 18]. Further, in the case of nanoparticles, hydrophilic or lipophilic excipients/polymers entrapping drug molecules, size and surface charge of the nanoparticle, nanoparticle degradation, modified drug release etc. can affect drug absorption.

## 2.1.1 Oral Model

The small intestine is the primary site of absorption for orally administered drugs. Various mechanistic modelling approaches have been discussed in the literature for oral absorption that attempt to capture the absorption kinetics similar to a human gastrointestinal tract. Few of the compartmental models include, compartmental absorption and transit (CAT) model, advanced compartmental absorption and transit (ACAT) model, grass model, gastrointestinal transit absorption (GITA) model and advanced dissolution, absorption and metabolism (ADAM) model [19]. Each of these models have their limitations, for example, grass and ADAM models do not consider drug or nanoparticle degradation and active transport or first-pass metabolism; CAT model does not consider first-pass metabolism. The optimal models that considers most of the physiological processes are the GITA and ACAT model. The commonly used ACAT model captures detailed drug absorption from the small intestine by dividing it into seven compartments represented by the different parts of the small intestine i.e. the duodenum, jejunum and the ileum (as shown in Fig. 3). For an orally administered drug, beginning from the stomach, the drug traverses through the different sections of the small intestine depending on the residence



Fig. 3 Schematic of the advanced compartmental absorption and transit (ACAT) model

times in each section. The residence time largely varies in the absence or presence of food. Lateral drug disposition through the small intestine is described using first-order mass action kinetic equations (shown in eqs. 1-3) [20].

$$\frac{dM_s}{dt} = -K_s M_s \tag{1}$$

$$\frac{dM_n}{dt} = K_t M_{n-1} - K_t M_n \tag{2}$$

$$\frac{dM_c}{dt} = K_t M_n \tag{3}$$

Where  $M_s$  is the amount of drug present in the stomach at a given time t,  $M_n$  is the amount of drug in the *n*th compartment,  $K_s$  and  $K_t$  are the rate constants for stomach and small intestine transit. The rate constants are the inverse of the mean residence time in each section of the small intestine.

According to the U.S. FDA, drugs have been classified based on biopharmaceutical classification system (BCS) into four different combinations of high/low permeability/solubility [21]. ACAT model captures the drug release rate from the formulation and drug dissolution rate, which can be identified using *in vitro* experiments. Drug release rate from the formulation can be identified using dialysis experiments in rapid equilibrium dialysis systems [22]. Soluble and insoluble drug is in equilibrium, depending on the amount of water present in each compartment of the small intestine. It should be noted that drug dissolution from the formulation in the stomach and the small intestine can lead to variable drug absorption. This is described using additional compartments denoted for dissolution and precipitation as shown in Fig. 3. The rate of drug dissolution depends on a few factors as described in eq. 4 [23].

$$K_{(n)d} = \frac{3\gamma \left(C_s - C_{(n)L}\right)}{\rho r T}$$
(4)

where  $K_{(n)d}$  is the dissolution rate constant for the nth compartment,  $\gamma$  is the molecular diffusion coefficient, Cs is the drug solubility in water,  $C_{(n)L}$  is the lumen concentration for the nth compartment,  $\rho$  is the density, r is the effective radius of the molecule, T is the thickness of the diffusion layer.

The intestinal wall acts as a barrier to absorption of unwanted substances or pathogens from the gut and selectively absorbs essential nutrients. Passive diffusion of small and lipophilic molecules crossing the intestinal epithelial cells through lipid bilayers is evident; however, nanoparticle absorption is complicated. Mucus is the first layer encountered on all the epithelial surfaces not covered by the skin and heavily glycosylated mucins can block the absorption of certain nanoparticles [24]. Transport across intestinal epithelial cells depends on factors that include cell surface binding, endocytosis and exocytosis with M-cells receiving particular attention with their ability to allow nanoparticles through transcytosis [25].

Various methods have been defined to obtain an IVIVE to identify the effective permeability across the intestinal barrier [26]. Molecular descriptors such as polar surface area (PSA), molecular weight, number of hydrogen bond donors (HBD), octanol-to-water ratio ( $P_{o:w}$ ) have been identified to describe permeability across the apical to basolateral membrane [21]. Winiwarter et al. have described an equation to identify the effective permeability ( $P_{eff}$ ) using PSA and HBD values of 22 compounds and is represented in eq. 5 [27]. Other methods include the computation of  $P_{eff}$  from *in vitro* apparent permeability studies using Caco-2 ( $P_{app}$ ) and MDCK cell monolayers, given in eq. 6 [28] and 7 [26].

$$\log P_{eff} = -2.546 - 0.011 \times PSA - 0.278 \times HBD$$
(5)

$$\log P_{eff} = 0.6836 \times \log P_{app} - 0.5579 \tag{6}$$

$$P_{app} = 0.746 \times P_{app,MDCK} \tag{7}$$

The rate of absorption from the small intestine ( $K_a$ ) is directly proportional to the  $P_{eff}$  and inversely proportional to the radius of the small intestine ( $r_{si}$ ), given as:

$$K_a = \frac{2 \times P_{eff}}{R} \tag{8}$$

The ACAT model has been further extended to include sublingual delivery to describe drug absorption from the oral cavity as shown in Fig. 4, named as the oral cavity compartmental absorption and transit (OCCAT) model [29]. Similar mass-transfer first-order kinetic equations described earlier in eqs. 1–3 can describe the drug disposition from one compartment to the other.



Fig. 4 Oral cavity compartmental absorption and transit model

## 2.1.2 Respiratory Model

Respiratory delivery is an attractive route of administration due to its ease of access to the systemic circulation and the large surface area available in the lungs for drug absorption. Physiological representation of drug transport through the respiratory system is complicated due to various complexities associated with the flow dynamics in lungs. Again, mucus plays a key role to trap any aerosolised particles. Nanoparticle size is the major determinant that dictates the fraction of delivered dose to the alveolar region [30]. Jaworski et al. has described the transport of air and particles through the respiratory tract using a ventilation-perfusion gradient that accounts for factors such as inhalation volume, fraction reaching the alveoli, permeation through alveolar-capillary membrane, cardiac output etc. to capture the kinetics in detail [31]. A detailed permeation map for an inhaled drug reaching the systemic circulation is represented in Fig. 5. The drug transport through these various layers can be a passive or an active process and is expressed as a mass transfer first-order equation simplified as follows [32]:

$$\frac{dM_{i}}{dt} = A_{i-1}J_{i-1} - A_{i}J_{i}$$
<sup>(9)</sup>

where M is the amount of drug present in the current layer i, A is the surface area of the layer exposed to the drug, J is the flux (rate of drug transfer per unit area) from the upper to the lower layers. The above equation can be further modified to include efflux ratio from one layer to the other, thickness of the layer and drug affinity to each layer, based on the availability of the *in vitro* data and the desired accuracy in detail.



Fig. 5 Schematic representation of the physiological description of drug absorption from the lung tissue

## 2.1.3 Ocular Model

Ocular drug delivery is one of the most challenging routes of delivery due to the presence of unique barriers and a low surface area. Representation of drug administration through the ocular route necessitates the understanding of complex physiological processes that are encountered during drug distribution in the eye. A detailed ocular compartmental absorption and transit (OCAT) model was developed to inform the drug pharmacokinetics of fluorometholone in albino rabbits (Fig. 6) [33]. Various compartments were used to denote the cornea, aqueous and vitreous humor, conjunctiva, sclera, iris-ciliary body and distribution through the nasolacrimal route. The OCAT model can assess the drug concentrations in each layer and inform the disposition kinetics for local or systemic delivery. Since eye is a sensitive organ, *in vitro* data used in the model should be thoroughly evaluated to obtain relatively good predictions.



Fig. 6 Ocular compartmental absorption and transit model. Blue lines represent permeability through different compartments, red and orange lines represent the flow of intraocular fluid

#### 2.1.4 Vaginal and Rectal Models

Vaginal and rectal drug delivery are relatively infrequent routes of administration, however they can be useful if the individual cannot be administered using alternative routes especially in paediatrics or geriatrics. Rectal models are still yet to be investigated, however, a vaginal PBPK model has been developed to identify dapivirine ring concentrations, which is used in prevention strategies for protection against HIV [34]. The model consists of compartments defining the drug permeation across the vaginal luminal fluid, vaginal epithelium, stroma tissue and stroma blood to the systemic circulation (Fig. 7). Apparent permeability and *in vitro* studies using Franz cell model were used to identify the effective permeability rates across different barriers to evaluate drug concentrations for local and systemic delivery.

# 2.2 Distribution

Drug absorbed through the various mucosal routes reaches the blood *i.e.* the circulatory system which plays a key role in drug transportation across the human body. Drug distribution describes the amount of drug disseminated to each organ or tissue.



This data is important to measure drug safety and toxicity and identify cases of drug accumulation in a particular organ or tissue. The composition of a tissue or organ varies from blood components depending on water content, amount of neutral lipids and phospholipids due to which drug partition and distribution differs across tissues. The tissue-to-plasma ratio of adipose and non-adipose tissues are given as follows [35]:

$$P_{t:p\,adipose} = \frac{\left[D_{vo:w} \times \left(V_{nlt} + 0.3 \times V_{pht}\right) + 1 \times \left(V_{wt} + 0.7 \times V_{pht}\right)\right]}{\left[D_{vo:w} \times \left(V_{nlp} + 0.3 \times V_{php}\right) + 1 \times \left(V_{wp} + 0.7 \times V_{php}\right)\right]} \times fu_{pht}$$

$$\left[P_{o:w} \times \left(V_{nlt} + 0.3 \times V_{pht}\right) + 1 \times \left(V_{wt} + 0.7 \times V_{pht}\right)\right] \qquad (10)$$

$$P_{t:p \ nonadipose} = \frac{\left[P_{o:w} \times (V_{nlt} + 0.3 \times V_{pht}) + 1 \times (V_{wt} + 0.7 \times V_{pht})\right]}{\left[P_{o:w} \times (V_{nlp} + 0.3 \times V_{php}) + 1 \times (V_{wp} + 0.7 \times V_{php})\right]} \times \frac{Ju_{p}}{fu_{t}}$$
(11)

where  $D_{vo:w}$  is the olive oil: buffer partition coefficient of non-ionised or ionised drug at pH 7.4, V is the volume fraction of neutral lipids (nl), phospholipids (ph) and water (w) in tissue (t) and plasma (p), *fu* is the unbound fraction,  $P_{o:w}$  is the n-octanol: buffer partition coefficient.

Nanoformulation distribution can vary based on the characteristics of the nanoparticle, the route of administration and the characteristics of the individual (weight, height, BMI *etc.*). Distribution can be affected by various physiological processes such as enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect, target-mediated disposition, lymphatic transport, affinity towards a specific cell/tissue type, *etc.* EPR effect, commonly observed in solid tumours or inflamed tissues can lead to tissue accumulation of nanoparticles depending on their size, blood-flow rate to the

tissue, tumour vasculature and intratumoral pressure [36]. Distribution can also be affected by the interaction of nanoparticles to various biomolecules and proteins with the formation of a protein corona [37]. Nanoparticle characteristics such as size, shape, surface area and charge can influence the formation of the protein corona. Specific proteins such as opsonins adsorbed by the nanoparticles inform their presence and assist their uptake by phagocytic cells. Opsonisation and protein corona formation can majorly influence the biodistribution of nanoparticles. Macrophages during opsonisation process can remove the targeting moieties thereby reducing the specificity of the nanoparticles [38]. For example, a solid drug nanoparticle designed by McDonald et al. enhances drug absorption, however this phenomenon does not affect distribution and clearance patterns as it only increases the amount of drug permeating the intestinal wall [39]. Drug distribution comparison studies of an antineoplastic drug, mitoxantrone as a free drug and drug encapsulated in liposomes and nanoparticles showed higher concentrations in liver and spleen for liposomes and in tumour, heart and spleen for nanoparticles compared to the free drug [40]. Since liposomes are high in lipids, they are more attracted to the fat tissue present in the liver, and nanoparticles due to their smaller size compared to liposomes are distributed more in the tumour due to EPR effect.

Distribution kinetic model for small molecules can be blood-flow limited or diffusion-limited. Blood-flow limited models as the name suggests limits the distribution of drug depending on the blood-flow rate. In a blood-flow limited model, the drug is assumed to have instant and uniform distribution once it reaches the tissue. In the case of diffusion-limited model, the rate limiting step is the diffusion component that controls drug perfusion across the different tissue layers and takes longer to reach equilibrium across the tissue [41].

In a blood-flow limited model, drug distribution depends on the rate of blood flow to the particular organ, drug protein binding fraction, blood-to-plasma ratio, octanol-to-water ratio (log P), pH, water and lipid content in the individual [35]. Drug escaping the first pass metabolism, through the pulmonary system, reaches the arteries. The drug concentration in lungs, arteries and veins is described as follows [42]:

$$\frac{dC_{lu}}{dt} = \frac{Q_{lu}}{V_{lu}} \left( C_{ve} - \frac{C_{lu} \times R}{fu_p \times P_{t:plu}} \right)$$
(12)

$$\frac{dC_{ar}}{dt} = \frac{1}{V_{ar}} \left[ Q_{lu} \left( \frac{C_{lu} \times R}{fu_p \times P_{t:plu}} - C_{ar} \right) \right]$$
(13)

$$\frac{dC_{ve}}{dt} = \frac{1}{V_{ve}} \left[ \sum \frac{Q_t \times C_t \times R}{fu_p \times P_{t:pt}} - Q_{lu} \times C_{ve} \right]$$
(14)

where C is the drug concentration in the non-eliminating organ or tissue (ne), arteries (ar) at time t, Q is the blood-flow rate to that organ, V is the volume of the organ, R is the blood-to-plasma ratio

Drug distribution from the arteries to non-eliminating organs or tissues is described in eq. (15) whereas from kidneys (ki) and liver (li) are described in eq. (16) and (17) respectively [42].

$$\frac{dC_{ne}}{dt} = \frac{Q_{ne}}{V_{ne}} \left( C_{ar} - \frac{C_{ne} \times R}{fu_p \times P_{t:pne}} \right)$$
(15)

$$\frac{dC_{ki}}{dt} = \frac{Q_{ki}}{V_{ki}} \left( C_{ar} - \frac{C_{ki} \times R}{fu_p \times P_{t:pki}} \right) - \frac{C_{ki} \times K_e}{P_{t:pki}}$$
(16)

$$\frac{dC_{li}}{dt} = \frac{1}{V_{li}} \left( Q_{ha} \times C_{ar} + \sum \frac{Q_i \times C_i \times R}{fu_p \times P_{t:pi}} - \frac{Q_{li} \times C_{li} \times R}{fu_p \times P_{t:pli}} - C_{li} \times CL_h \right)$$
(17)

where  $K_e$  is the renal elimination rate constant, ha is the hepatic artery, *i* refers to the gut, pancreas, spleen and stomach,  $CL_h$  is the hepatic clearance, *ar* stands for the arterial compartment, Q is the blood-flow rate to the tissue/organ, V is the volume of the tissue,  $P_{tp}$  is the tissue to plasma ratio.

In a tissue-limited model, the flow kinetics across a tissue are divided into two compartments that define the vascular and extravascular spaces [43] given by:

$$\frac{dC_i}{dt} = \frac{Q_i}{V_i} \times \left(C_{ar} - \frac{C_i}{P_{r:pi}}\right) - \frac{PS}{V_i} \times \left(C_i - \frac{C_j}{P_{r:pi}}\right)$$
(18)

$$\frac{dC_j}{dt} = \frac{PS}{V_j} \times \left(C_i - \frac{C_j}{P_{t:pi}}\right)$$
(19)

where  $C_i$  is the concentration, PS is the permeability-surface area product, *i* is the drug in the vascular compartment, *j* is the drug in the extravascular compartment.

Blood-flow limited model can be used for small molecules or nanoformulations where passive diffusion plays a major role whereas tissue-limited model can be used for large molecules or target-mediated nanoparticles where permeation can be restricted by specific factors such as size, shape or charge.

# 2.3 Metabolism and Elimination

Drug intrinsic clearance can be obtained from *in vitro* experiments in baculosomes or human liver microsomes. This is scaled up using the total abundance level of the specific isoform, amount of protein per gram of liver (MPPGL), and the liver weight (LW) [44] as:

$$TCL_{int} = \sum \frac{V_{max,i}}{K_{m,i} \times fu_{mic,i}} \times ISEF_i \times Abundance_i \times MPPGL \times LW$$
(20)

where  $\text{TCL}_{\text{int}}$  is the combined intrinsic clearance from all the isoforms involved in the metabolism of the drug,  $V_{\text{max}}$  is the maximal rate of metabolism,  $K_{\text{m}}$  is the Michaelis-Menten constant,  $fu_{\text{mic}}$  is the fraction unbound drug in microsomal incubations, ISEF is the scaling factor to compensate the difference between recombinant and hepatic systems, *i* is the isoform involved in drug metabolism (CYP or UGT or any other isoform).

The hepatic clearance ( $CL_h$ ) using the *in vivo* intrinsic clearance,  $TCL_{int}$  is expressed as [45]:

$$CL_{h} = \frac{Q_{h} \times fu_{p} \times TCL_{int}}{Q_{h} + fu_{p} \times TCL_{int}}$$
(21)

where Q<sub>h</sub> is the blood flow rate through the hepatic vein

Renal elimination of drugs or nanoformulations through the process of glomerular filtration in the kidneys is given [42] as:

Renal clearance = 
$$\frac{C_{ki} \times K_e}{P_{t:pki}}$$
 (22)

Clearance of the free drug follows the traditional pathway; however, metabolism of nanoparticles can vary based on the physicochemical properties. Biodegradable nanoparticles can be metabolised by chemical degradation, enzymatic metabolism or renal and biliary elimination [46, 47]. However, non-biodegradable particles can take longer time periods before elimination. Clearance can also vary based on *in vivo* pH conditions, aerobic/ anaerobic processes, tissue specific enzyme activity. *In vitro* experiments can be used to investigate the relevant processes underpinning nanoparticle metabolism [36].

Nanoparticle size and charge can affect the clearance, with particle size less than 8 nm or < 5 KDa for polymeric nanoparticles rapidly cleared by the kidneys through glomerular filtration and negatively charged particles are not cleared through the negatively charged glomerular capillary membrane due to the repulsive force between the particles and filter [38]. Some nanoparticles can be solely drug carriers, where drug is entrapped in the nanoparticle and released over time with zero- or first-order kinetics. This prolongs the drug half-life with lower free drug concentrations in the blood plasma, in which case, the model should include the release rate of the drug from the nanoparticle and their clearance component simultaneously to simulate the combined effect of these processes. Pharmacokinetic comparison between six unformulated drugs (9-nitrocamptothecin, camptothecin, clozapine, and cyclosporine, epirubicin and vinpocetine,) and drugs encapsulated in nanoparticles significantly reduced the apparent drug clearance and enhanced the drug con-

centrations in studies conducted in rats and dogs [48]. Therefore, appropriate *in vitro* experiments should be performed to investigate the underlying clearance pathway of nanoformulations.

# 2.4 Bioavailability

Drugs metabolised by CYP3A are also cleared at the intestinal metabolic site and the fraction available after the intestinal metabolism  $(F_g)$  is given as:

$$F_g = \frac{Q_{gut}}{Q_{gut} + fu_{gut} \times CL_{int,g}}$$
(23)

$$CL_{int,g} = CL_{int} \times CYPabundance$$
 (24)

 $Q_{gut}$  is the blood flow rate through the gut,  $fu_{gut}$  is the fraction unbound in the gut,  $CL_{int,g}$  is the total intrinsic clearance of CYP3A in the liver.

Fraction of drug escaping the first-pass metabolism (F<sub>h</sub>) is given as:

$$F_h = 1 - \frac{CL_h}{Q_h} \tag{25}$$

Absolute bioavailability (F) is the multiple of dose fraction absorbed from the intestine ( $F_a$ ), fraction of absorbed dose escaping the intestinal metabolism ( $F_g$ ) and the fraction of dose escaping first-pass metabolism through the liver ( $F_h$ ) [49].

$$F = F_{a} \times F_{g} \times F_{h} = \frac{AUC_{roa} / Dose_{roa}}{AUC_{iv} / Dose_{iv}}$$
(26)

AUC is the area under the plasma concentration – time curve and dose is the amount administered, roa is any route of administration, iv is the intravenous administration.

Bioavailability of nanoparticles also depend on the values of  $F_a$ ,  $F_g$  and  $F_h$ , which are further dependent on other parameters, as described in the equations above.

# 2.5 Model Qualification

Mathematical representation of physiological processes is one of the ways to identify trends across different compounds, populations and species, and this helps in building extrapolations that can be used for predictions of NCEs or novel formulations. The IVIVE equations should ensure that the extrapolated data predicted in humans is comparable to the *in vivo* data with a good correlation coefficient ( $R^2 > 0.8$ ). This ensures that the input data in the model is of high quality and reliable for good prediction accuracy. Since various IVIVE equations are used in the PBPK model simultaneously, the reliability of the model decreases as the  $R^2$  value of IVIVE equations deviates from one [50]. Therefore, the simulated data obtained from the models are generally compared against observed data to check its reliability and this process is termed as 'qualification'.

Since modelling and simulation is a relatively recent approach to investigate drug disposition, in 2016, EMA has provided a few guidelines for model qualification [10]. However, there is still a dilemma in the way models are gualified. A summary of various PBPK models assessed in a study shows the broad acceptance criteria used for qualification varying from <30% to <two-fold from the mean observed pharmacokinetic data such as the AUC, maximum concentration and trough concentration [14]. This wide range in the acceptance criteria can question the integrity of the PBPK model and the reliability of the predictions especially at higher-fold difference from the observed values. Qualification of nanoparticles, although not standardised by either EMA or FDA, could presume to follow the same PBPK guidelines that exist for small molecules. However, for the gualification of PBPK models involving nanoparticles, further complexity is encountered that would require additional in vitro and in vivo data. Adequate data such as the description of the behaviour of nanoparticles in various organs and tissues, cellular penetration if any, drug release kinetics from the nanoparticles in different environments (various cell types, biological fluids), etc. would be necessary for model qualification and the lack of animal and human data can further complicate the model qualification. In order to avoid the problem with the requirement of extensive data for a detailed model, a minimal PBPK model with a few essential compartments that sufficiently addresses the problem at hand could be used instead [36].

Currently, there are numerous ways to obtain a certain parameter value from *in vitro* data and since these experiments are not standardised for PBPK models, high variability is observed across literature for the same set of parameters. As the modelling component in drug development is on the rise, it is essential to have appropriate regulations in place for reliable qualification such that there are standards in place that ensure confidence in the models. *In vitro* assessment of nanoparticles should follow the same and standardise *in vitro* methods that provide consistent outputs in order to minimise the variability thereby improving the quality of the input data for the PBPK models to generate superior predictions [51].

# 2.6 PBPK Modelling of Nanoparticles

PBPK modelling of nanoparticles follow the same principles as previously described that inform the ADME processes. However, a replica of the compartments as described in the sections above should be introduced to the various absorption and distribution models to include the description of drug release from the nanoparticle

in one set of compartments and the other for the dissolved drug that describe its transition through the different mucosal layers [52]. Only a handful of examples can be found in the literature that incorporate a PBPK model to describe absorption through the mucosal routes since additional *in vitro* data is required to compute parameters such as the rate of drug disposition from the different compartments during absorption, dissolution rate of the nanoparticle in various tissues and at different pH, tissue to plasma partition ratios, unbound fraction, accumulation etc. would be necessary to describe nanoparticle disposition.

A PBPK model describing administration of silver nanoparticles through dermal, inhalation and oral route in rats and humans was published where the PBPK models were divided into a replica of two compartment models – one, to describe the ionic silver and the other for nanoparticulate silver, where the nanoparticulate silver slowly dissolves to the ionic form over time. Several assumptions were made in the study and the model was minimised (due to the unavailability of physiochemical properties of silver nanoparticles essential for modelling) however, using the observed data and curve fitting, these parameters were estimated. The disposition of ionic silver was successfully predicted with varying sizes of silver nanoparticles [53]. Another study by the same group similar to the previous study describes the disposition of titanium dioxide nanoparticles in humans with a physiological description of its oral absorption and the nanoparticle uptake by the mononuclear phagocyte system for phagocytosis at various particle sizes using a PBPK model [54]. Kumar and Singh have developed sustained release silk fibroin-casein nanoparticles loaded with carvedilol and the pharmacokinetics were assessed in rats through the oral route using Gastroplus<sup>TM</sup> which showed an improved pharmacokinetic profile with an increase in C<sub>max</sub> and bioavailability by 2.04-fold and 6.87-fold respectively in rats showing its superior absorption profile for potential use in humans [55]. A two-compartment (plasma and peripheral) absorption model was described by Jung et al. where drug release rate of nanocarriers from different *in vitro* dissolution experiments were used to predict the output from PBPK model, which was then compared against in vivo pharmacokinetic data [56]. This study informs the necessity of standardising in vitro experiments to obtain reliable input data for PBPK models, highlighting the importance of the quality of the in vitro data.

# 3 PBPK and Nanotechnology Possibilities and Challenges

Application of PBPK modelling can be broadly classified based on factors such as drug-drug interactions, genetics, population, target tissue penetration and type of formulation. Drug-drug interaction studies can be complicated in patients with coinfections and PBPK modelling can be useful to understand the pharmacokinetic behaviour of multiple scenarios that are difficult to evaluate clinically [57]. Genetics is another factor that can change the pharmacokinetic behaviour of drugs. Individuals with polymorphisms in N-acetyltransferase 2 (NAT2) enzyme have either rapid or slow clearance rate of isoniazid, an anti-tuberculosis agent [58]. Paediatric population need a fraction of the adult dose and these dose optimisation studies can be computed based on the individual or target population. Drug penetration in tissues depend on the physicochemical properties, drug specific *in vitro* data, formulation characteristics etc. and variation in any of these parameters can alter drug pharmacokinetics which can be captured using PBPK models [57].

Reformulation strategies with nanoparticles often have a positive effect on drug pharmacokinetics. Problems associated with conventional formulations such as insufficient absorption or targeted diffusion in tissues can be addressed using nanoformulations, however, efficacy and toxicity can also have a negative effect on nanoformulations: high affinity or accumulation towards a specific cell type could lead to potential tissue-specific toxicity. The ADME mechanistic processes have to be thoroughly investigated to understand the interaction of nanoparticles with the human body, thus ensuring safe and optimal delivery of nanoformulations. Several nanoparticle characteristics can vary the absorption and distribution patterns depending on the composition of the nanoformulation [59]. Nanoformulations clearly have alternative ADME mechanisms compared to conventional formulations. Every nanoparticle is unique in its own way and their behaviour is unpredictable in the physiological environment which complicates the administration in humans due to their questionable safety and efficacy. It is quite essential to evaluate the safety and efficacy in vitro, identify potential ADME pathways prior to their modelling. PBPK modelling can be a useful tool to predict the ADME characteristics of nanoformulations in vivo through various administration routes. EMA and U.S. FDA have acknowledged the use of PBPK modelling in NCE applications which represents a positive step to modelling and simulation approaches supplementing drug development process [10, 11]

Since PBPK models are bottom-up approaches, the quality of the predicted output typically relies on the quality of the in vitro input data. Most of the IVIVEs derived in the literature have used a low number (<50) of compounds [26, 28, 35] and this questions the accuracy in the extrapolations for new compounds or compounds that are not similar to the test dataset. Use of several IVIVEs having low reliability on the extrapolated values can reduce the quality of the predicted outcomes. Nanoparticles add an additional layer of complexity to this fundamental problem since their behaviour can be unpredictable in biological matrices especially in vivo where there is simultaneous interaction with multiple proteins, tissue-specificity, EPR effect, macrophage uptake, degradation etc. Since no two nanoparticles are the same, deriving an IVIVE across various nanoformulations synthesized using diverse polymers can be complicated. Also repeated dosing of nanoformulations can raise concerns over the behaviour of nanoparticles that alter their ADME behaviour and this may not be captured using PBPK models [36]. Extensive *in vitro* tests that can understand the correlation between the utilization of different materials would be necessary to address the concerns of PBPK modelling of nanoparticles.

# 4 Conclusion

Pharmacokinetic modelling is an emerging application in the drug development process and is still in its initial phase for pharmacokinetic assessment of nanoparticles. Unlike conventional formulations, nanoparticle behaviour can change *in vivo*, therefore extensive *in vitro* studies have to be performed to understand the nanoparticle physical modifications and ADME behavioural changes prior to their implementation in PBPK models. PBPK model qualification primarily depends on the quality of the input data which underlines the importance of reliable IVIVEs. The use of PBPK modelling has been exponentially increasing, and with it the amount of *in vitro* data generated. This data from IVIVEs combined with the understanding of nanoparticle ADME processes can improve confidence in model predictions thus saving time and resources during drug development.

# References

- 1. Ratain MJ, P.W.J., Principles of pharmacokinetics, in Holland-Frei cancer medicine, P.R. Kufe DW, Weichselbaum RR, et al., Editor. 2003, Hamilton (ON): BC Decker.
- 2. Strimbu K, Tavel JA. What are biomarkers? Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2010;5(6):463-6.
- 3. Rizk M, et al. Importance of drug pharmacokinetics at the site of action. Clin Transl Sci. 2017;10(3):133–42.
- 4. Tamimi NAM, Ellis P. Drug development: from concept to marketing! Nephron Clin Pract. 2009;113(3):c125–31.
- Ruane PJ, et al. Antiviral activity, safety, and pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics of Tenofovir Alafenamide as 10-day monotherapy in HIV-1-positive adults. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;63(4):449–55.
- Tsamandouras N, Rostami-Hodjegan A, Aarons L. Combining the 'bottom up' and 'top down' approaches in pharmacokinetic modelling: fitting PBPK models to observed clinical data. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2015;79(1):48–55.
- Peters SA. Variability, uncertainty, and sensitivity analysis. In: Physiologically-based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling and simulations: Wiley; 2012. p. 161–81.
- Teorell, T., Kinetics of distribution of substances administered to the body I the extravascular modes of administration. Archives Internationales De Pharmacodynamie Et De Therapie. 1937;57: p. 205–225.
- 9. Rowland M, Peck C, Tucker G. Physiologically-based pharmacokinetics in drug development and regulatory science. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. 2011;51(1):45–73.
- 10. European Medicines Agency Guideline on the qualification and reporting of physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modelling and SIMULATION 2016., http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Scientific\_guideline/2016/07/WC500211315.pdf.
- United States Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for Industry: physiologically Based PharmacokineticAnalyses—Format and Content. 2016 last update [citedAccess 2016.; Available from: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/ Guidances/UCM531207.pdf.
- Wagner C, et al. Application of physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling to support dose selection: report of an FDA public workshop on PBPK. CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol. 2015;4(4):226–30.

- 13. Dolgin E. Long-acting HIV drugs advanced to overcome adherence challenge. Nat Med. 2014;20:323–4.
- 14. Sager JE, et al. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling and simulation approaches: a systematic review of published models, applications, and model verification. Drug Metab Dispos. 2015;43(11):1823–37.
- 15. Bosgra S, et al. An improved model to predict physiologically based model parameters and their inter-individual variability from anthropometry. Crit Rev Toxicol. 2012;42(9):751–67.
- Salamat, M., et al., Anthropometric predictive equations for estimating body composition. Adv Biomed Res.2015;4(1): p. 34–34.
- Alexis F, et al. Factors affecting the clearance and biodistribution of polymeric nanoparticles. Mol Pharm. 2008;5(4):505–15.
- Chillistone S, Hardman JG. Factors affecting drug absorption and distribution. Anaesth Intensive Care Med. 2017;18(7):335–9.
- Huang W, Lee SL, Yu LX. Mechanistic approaches to predicting Oral drug absorption. AAPS J. 2009;11(2):217–24.
- Yu LX, Amidon GL. A compartmental absorption and transit model for estimating oral drug absorption. Int J Pharm. 1999;186(2):119–25.
- Bergström CAS, et al. Absorption classification of oral drugs based on molecular surface properties. J Med Chem. 2003;46(4):558–70.
- 22. Bakshi RP, et al. Long-acting injectable atovaquone nanomedicines for malaria prophylaxis. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):315.
- 23. Agoram B, Woltosz WS, Bolger MB. Predicting the impact of physiological and biochemical processes on oral drug bioavailability. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2001;50:S41–67.
- 24. Ensign LM, et al. *Mucus Penetrating Nanoparticles: Biophysical Tool and Method of Drug and Gene Delivery*. Adv Mater (Deerfield Beach, Fla). 2012;24(28):3887–94.
- 25. Lundquist P, Artursson P. Oral absorption of peptides and nanoparticles across the human intestine: opportunities, limitations and studies in human tissues. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2016;106:256–76.
- 26. Gertz M, et al. Prediction of human intestinal first-pass metabolism of 25 CYP3A substrates from in vitro clearance and permeability data. Drug Metab Dispos. 2010;38(7):1147–58.
- 27. Winiwarter S, et al. Correlation of human Jejunal permeability (in vivo) of drugs with experimentally and theoretically derived parameters. A multivariate data analysis approach. J Med Chem. 1998;41(25):4939–49.
- 28. Sun D, et al. Comparison of human duodenum and Caco-2 gene expression profiles for 12,000 gene sequences tags and correlation with permeability of 26 drugs. Pharm Res. 2002;19(10):1400–16.
- 29. Xia B, et al. Development of a novel oral cavity compartmental absorption and transit model for sublingual administration: illustration with zolpidem. AAPS J. 2015;17(3):631–42.
- Löndahl J, et al. Measurement techniques for respiratory tract deposition of airborne nanoparticles: a critical review. J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv. 2014;27(4):229–54.
- Jaworski J, Redlarski G. A compartment model of alveolar–capillary oxygen diffusion with ventilation–perfusion gradient and dynamics of air transport through the respiratory tract. Comput Biol Med. 2014;51:159–70.
- 32. Yu J. A subcellular compartmental modeling approach to pulmonary drug development. In: Medicinal Chemistry: The University of Michigan; 2011.
- Bolger, M.B., et al. Fluorometholone Ocular Suspension PBPK simulations using the OCAT<sup>™</sup> model in GastroPlus<sup>™</sup>. In GTCBio Ocular Disease Conference. 2012. San Francisco, CA.
- Kay K, et al. Physiologically-based pharmacokinetic model of vaginally administered dapivirine ring and film formulations. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2018;84(9):1950–69.
- Poulin P, Theil FP. Prediction of pharmacokinetics prior to in vivo studies. 1. Mechanismbased prediction of volume of distribution. J Pharm Sci. 2002;91(1):129–56.
- Li M, et al. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling of pharmaceutical nanoparticles. AAPS J. 2017;19(1):26–42.

- Vilanova O, et al. Understanding the kinetics of protein–nanoparticle corona formation. ACS Nano. 2016;10(12):10842–50.
- 38. Almeida JPM, et al. In vivo biodistribution of nanoparticles. Nanomedicine. 2011;6(5):815-35.
- McDonald TO, et al. Antiretroviral solid drug nanoparticles with enhanced oral bioavailability: production, characterization, and in vitro-in vivo correlation. Adv Healthc Mater. 2014;3(3):400–11.
- 40. Reszka R, et al. Body distribution of free, liposomal and nanoparticle-associated mitoxantrone in B16-melanoma-bearing mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1997;280(1):232–7.
- 41. Evans MV, et al. A physiologically based pharmacokinetic model for intravenous and ingested Dimethylarsinic acid in mice. Toxicol Sci. 2008;104(2):250–60.
- 42. Peters S. Evaluation of a generic physiologically based pharmacokinetic model for Lineshape analysis. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2008;47(4):261–75.
- 43. Thompson MD, Beard DA. Development of appropriate equations for physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of permeability-limited and flow-limited transport. J Pharmacokinet Pharmacodyn. 2011;38(4):405–21.
- Rekić D, et al. In silico prediction of efavirenz and rifampicin drug–drug interaction considering weight and CYP2B6 phenotype. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;71(4):536–43.
- 45. Riley RJ, McGinnity DF, Austin RP. A unified model for predicting human hepatic, metabolic clearance from in vitro intrinsic clearance data in hepatocytes and microsomes. Drug Metab Dispos. 2005;33(9):1304–11.
- 46. Yildirimer L, et al. Toxicology and clinical potential of nanoparticles. Nano Today. 2011;6(6):585-607.
- Ravindran S, et al. Pharmacokinetics, metabolism, distribution and permeability of nanomedicine. Curr Drug Metab. 2018;19(4):327–34.
- Kadam RS, Bourne DWA, Kompella UB. Nano-advantage in enhanced drug delivery with biodegradable nanoparticles: contribution of reduced clearance. Drug Metab Dispos. 2012;40(7):1380–8.
- 49. Miyake M, et al. Evaluation of intestinal metabolism and absorption using the ussing chamber system equipped with intestinal tissue from rats and dogs. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2018;122:49–53.
- 50. Shebley M, et al. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic model qualification and reporting procedures for regulatory submissions: a consortium perspective. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2018;104(1):88–110.
- 51. Li M, et al. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling of pharmaceutical nanoparticles. AAPS J. 2017;19(1):26–42.
- 52. Yuan D, et al. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of nanoparticles. J Pharm Sci. 2019;108(1):58–72.
- Bachler G, von Goetz N, Hungerbuhler K. A physiologically based pharmacokinetic model for ionic silver and silver nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine. 2013;8:3365–82.
- Bachler G, von Goetz N, Hungerbuhler K. Using physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling for dietary risk assessment of titanium dioxide (TiO2) nanoparticles. Nanotoxicology. 2015;9(3):373–80.
- 55. Kumar S, Singh SK. In silico-in vitro-in vivo studies of experimentally designed carvedilol loaded silk fibroin-casein nanoparticles using physiological based pharmacokinetic model. Int J Biol Macromol. 2017;96:403–20.
- 56. Jung F, et al. A comparison of two biorelevant in vitro drug release methods for nanotherapeutics based on advanced physiologically-based pharmacokinetic modelling. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2018;127:462–70.
- 57. Moss DM, et al. Applications of physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling for the optimization of anti-infective therapies. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2015;11(8):1203–17.
- 58. Kiser JJ, et al. Isoniazid pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and dosing in south African infants. Ther Drug Monit. 2012;34(4):446–51.
- Moss DM, Siccardi M. Optimizing nanomedicine pharmacokinetics using physiologically based pharmacokinetics modelling. Br J Pharmacol. 2014;171(17):3963–79.

# Index

#### A

Absorption mucosal routes, 251 ocular model, 255 oral model, 251-254 respiratory model, 254 vaginal and rectal model, 256 Absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination (ADME), 248 mechanistic processes, 264 molecular descriptors, 249 nanoformulations, 264 parameters, 249 Absorption enhancers, 112, 113 Acute/chronic inflammatory responses, 225 Adjuvants, 157, 160, 171 Advanced compartmental absorption and transit (ACAT) model, 251 Advanced dissolution, absorption and metabolism (ADAM) model, 251 Aerosol albuterol sulphate, 136 delivery of vaccines, 128 generator technologies, 135 lung targeted nanomedicines, 135 nanomedicine formulation, 135, 136 patient type, 136 sialic acid influenza receptors, 128 SPIONs, 128 Agglomeration, 53 Alarmins, 214, 218 Alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency (AATD), 126 Antigen-presenting cells (APCs), 178 antigen presentation, 169 DCs. 168

innate and adaptive immune response, 157 M cells, 164 particularization, 160 size of particle, 158 Asymmetric flow field-flow fractionation (AF-FFF), 53 Atomic force microscopy (AFM), 40–42

#### B

Bacillus anthracis protective antigen (BAPA), 182 Bioavailability, 261 Biological defense system, 188 Biopharmaceutical classification system (BCS), 252 Blood-flow limited model, 258, 259 B lymphocytes, 223, 224 Bovine serum albumin (BSA), 180 Brunauer, Emmett and Teller (BET) analysis, 44, 45 Buccal absorption, 110-113 Buccal drug administration, 108 Buccal drug delivery absorption enhancers, 112, 113 anionic nanoparticles, 113 buccal films, 116 cationic nanoparticles, 113 chitosan, 111 drug absorption, 113 IDD, 118 mucoadhesives, 114-116 nanocarriers, 111 nanoparticle development, 112 polymeric systems, 111

© American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists 2020 P. Muttil, N. K. Kunda (eds.), *Mucosal Delivery of Drugs and Biologics in Nanoparticles*, AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series 41, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35910-2 Buccal drug delivery (*cont.*) rabbit buccal mucosa *ex vivo* model, 116 secondary vehicle, 116 silymarin, 112
Buccal epithelium anatomy and physiology, 109–111 buccal route, 108 drug administration, 108 keratinized layer, 110 NPs, as drug delivery systems, 111–113
Buccal immunization, 169, 171

## С

Calreticulin (CRT), 189 Carbon nano-cubes, 210 Carbopol, 117 Cerium dioxide nanoparticles, 209 Cetirizine dihydrochloride (CedH), 188 Characterization, NPs methods (see Methods of characterization) multi-functionality, 28 parameters, 29 composition and purity, 34 drug release, 35 PSD, 30, 31 shape, 32 stability, 34, 35 surface area, 31 surface properties, 33, 34 zeta potential, 32, 33 physicochemical, 29 regulatory guidelines, 54 size and surface morphology, 35 surface properties, 28 techniques, 29 Chemokines, 178 Chemotherapy drugs, 211 Chitosan, 111, 112, 114-117, 119 Cholesteryl pullulan (CHP) nanogels, 197 Chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD), 126, 127, 137, 143 Compartmental absorption and transit (CAT) model, 251 Compartmental models, 251 Concentration, polymer, 89 Conventional approach factors affecting mucoadhesion, 88-89 mucoadhesion. 85 mucoadhesive interactions, 88 multiple engineering approaches, 91 non-specific interactions, mucoadhesive particles with mucus, 89

specific interactions, mucoadhesive particles, 90 ulcerogenic characteristics, 90 Conventional drug delivery systems, 162, 163 Conventional particles (CPs), 84, 85 Conventional therapy, 159 Covalent cross-linking, 6 Cryogenic transmission electron microscopy (cryo-TEM), 53 Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2), 219 Cytokines, 178

#### D

Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), 178, 189 Defensins, 216 Dendrimers approaches, 7 description, 6 disadvantages, 7 domains, 6 generation, 6 polymers, 7 size and shape, 6 structure, 7 Dendritic cells (DCs), 179, 219, 220 antigens, 157 APCs, 168 β-catenin expression, 168 CD103+ DCs, 158 cellular uptake, 157 DC-SIGN, 158 immune cells, 157 Langerhans cells, 169 and macrophages, 158 pathogen recognition receptors, 157 rigidity of particle, 159 rod-shaped particles, 159 size of particle, 158 spherical particles, 158 Dialysis, 5 Diffusion-limited model, 258 Dimyristoyl phosphatidylglycerol (DMPG), 197 Dioleoyltrimethylammonium propane (DOTAP), 17 Dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine (DPPC), 197 Doxorubicin (DOX), 190 Drug delivery cationic liposomes, 9 curcumin, 5

DOX. 8. 15 ENMs (see Engineered nanomaterials (ENMs)) inorganic nanoparticle, 17 lipids, 209 liposomes, 10 magnetic resonance imaging, 209 nanomaterials, 4 novel systems, 4 **PNPs**. 16 SLNs, 15 Drug-polymer interaction DSC, 48, 49 FTIR, 50, 51 TGA, 49 UV-Vis. 51, 52 Drug release, 35 Dry powder inhaler (DPI), 126, 135 Dukoral<sup>™</sup> oral vaccine, 165 Dynamic light scattering (DLS) advantage, 37 description, 36 nanoparticles aggregation, 53 nanoparticles and mucin, 37 particle size determination, 36 Stokes-Einstein equation, 36

## E

Ebola virus disease (EVD), 191, 196, 197 Encapsulated microcapsules, 162 Endothelial cells, 224, 225 Engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) biomedical applications, 208 cellular barriers, 208 drug delivery (see Drug delivery) **MIS. 208** mucosal immunity (see Mucosal immunity modulation) physicochemical properties, 208 size and shape, 210, 211 solubility, 212, 213 surface charge, 212 surface functionalization, 211.212 xenobiotics, 208 Enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect, 257 "Environmental SEM" (ESEM), 39 Epithelial cells, 214, 215 Ergosome, 179 European Medicines Agency (EMA), 249 Ex vivo permeation, 116

## F

First-order mass action kinetic equations, 252 Flexibility, 88 Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP), 97, 100 Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), 50, 51 Franz cell model, 256 Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA), 180

## G

Gastrointestinal transit absorption (GITA) model, 251 Gemcitabine (GEM), 190 Glycoproteins, 212 Goblet cells, 215, 216 Gold nanoparticles (Au-NPs) application, 18 with cetuximab, 18 description, 18 Dox@PVP-AuNPs, 18 methods for synthesis, 19 proinflammatory cytokines, 18 radioisotope (Au198), 18 shapes, 18 synthesis, 18 Grass model, 251 Gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), 167

# H

Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg), 185 Hepatotoxicity, 237 Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV), 76 High mobility post-apoptotic box 1 (HMGB-1), 189 Homogenous particles, 162 Human papillomavirus (HPV), 192 Hydration, 89 Hypotonic aqueous formulations, 95

# I

ICD-induced anti-cancer immune responses, 198 Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF), 127 Immune cells, 157 Immune system, gut, 168 Immunogenic cell death (ICD) adjuvant formulations, 193 ATP, 189 cancer, 197, 198 Immunogenic cell death (ICD) (cont.) chemotherapeutic drugs, 189 cytotoxic responses, 189 DOX. 190 dving cancer cells, 189 EBOV. 196, 197 influenza viral infections, 193, 196 OXA, 190 PAX, 191 photothermal and photodynamic immunotherapy, 191 RSV 192 tumor microenvironment, 191 Immunoglobin M (IgM), 223 Incomplete Freund's adjuvant (IFA), 182 Inflammasomes, 215 Influenza viral infections, 191, 193, 196 Inhalation aerosol generator technologies, 135 cell culture models, 137-138 computational modelling, 144 DPI, 126, 135 inhaled NPs biodistribution, 141-144 in vitro toxicity and immunogenicity, 138-140 in vivo toxicity and immunogenicity, 141 in vivo testing, 141 nanotechnology delivery systems, 130 nanotechnology, industrial and regulatory aspects, 144-145 respiratory delivery, 133 SLNs. 129 Injections, 108, 116 Inorganic nanoparticles Ag-NPs, 19-20 applications, 4 Au-NPs, 18-19 drug delivery systems, 17 molecular imaging techniques, 17 Integrated MSNs (IMSNs), 190 IntelliDrug Device (IDD), 117 Interferon gamma (IFN-γ), 181 Interleukin-2 (IL-2), 181 Intestinal Peyer's patches (PPs), 166 Intranasal (IN) delivery, 67 In vitro - in vivo extrapolations (IVIVEs), 251 Iron oxide nanoparticles, 209

#### L

Lectins, 33 Leukocytes, 224 Lipids, 10, 11 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), 178 Liposomes, 197, 209, 211, 213, 258 bulk methods, 10 classification. 8 clinical uses and advantage, 10 description. 8 functionality, 8 in vitro testing, 9 methods for preparation, 10 molecular dynamic simulation, 9 nanoliposomal formulations, 11-12 PEGylation, 9 self-assembly, 9 surface modified liposomes, 9 types and modifications, 10 unilamellar vesicles, 8 Low molecular weight chitosan (LMWC), 16

#### M

Macrophages, 216, 218, 219, 258 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and II, 179 Manufacturing methods, 108 Mass spectrometry (MS), 45, 46 Mast cells, 220-222 Metallic nanoparticles, 19 Methods of characterization BET, surface area and porosity, 44, 45 chemical composition and crystal structure MS, 45, 46 SAXS, 47-49 XRD. 46-48 drug-polymer interaction DSC, 49 FTIR, 50, 51 TGA, 49 UV-Vis, 51, 52 particle size and morphology AFM, 40-42 DLS, 36, 37 SEM, 37-39 TEM, 39-41 zeta potential, surface charge analysis, 43 Micelles, 4 Microparticles, 161 drug delivery systems, 163 encapsulated microcapsules, 162 homogenous particles, 162 use, 160 vaccine, 158, 166 Minimum effective concentration (MEC), 248 Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), 215

#### Index

Mononuclear phagocyte system, 263 Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL), 178 Mouth, 108 Mucoadhesion, 85-90, 113-116 Mucoadhesive interactions, 88 Mucoadhesive polymers, 114 Mucoadhesive principle, 113 Mucolytic agents, 94 Mucolytic enzyme decorated carrier systems (MECS), 87, 95, 96 Mucosal, 16 Mucosal associate lymphoid tissues (MALT), 161.167-169 Mucosal barrier cells generalized epithelial cells, 214, 215 goblet cells, 215, 216 Paneth cells, 216 type 1 alveolar epithelial cells, 217 type II alveolar epithelial cells, 217 Mucosal delivery, NPs conventional strategies (see Conventional approach) mucus modifying agents, 93, 94 nanoparticle characterization, 28 (see also Characterization, NPs) research strategies, penetration measurements (see Mucus penetration) strategies, 86-87 surface modifications approaches, 91 hydrophilic/hydrophobic properties, 91 increased mucus hydration, 95 limitations, 92–93 mucolytics, 94 NAC and recombinant human DNase, 94 PEG-modified NPs, 91, 92 pluronic F-127, 92 surface properties, 91 translocation permeability, 31 Mucosal immune cells B lymphocytes, 223, 224 dendritic cells, 219, 220 endothelial cells, 224, 225 macrophages, 218, 219 mast cells, 220-222 T lymphocytes, 222, 223 Mucosal immune system (MIS), 166-169, 208 Mucosal immunity, 166-169, 171 Mucosal immunity modulation barrier cells (see Mucosal barrier cells) immune cells (see Mucosal immune cells) inflammatory response, 213 innate and adaptive immune responses, 213 Mucosal sites, NP delivery advantages and disadvantages GI tract, 72-75 localized delivery, 71 lung, 68-70 nasal, 67 NP delivery, 77 ocular, 63, 65-67 oral cavity, 71, 72 oral delivery, 70 vaginal route, 75-76 immune response, 78 justification, 62 mucosal delivery, 62 physiology, 63-65 Mucosal system, 167 Mucus, 31, 33, 253, 254 Mucus modulating agents, 93, 94 Mucus penetrating particles (MPPs), 84-85, 91, 92, 95 Mucus penetration animal models, 99 in-situ models, 99 in-vivo models, 99, 100 isolated perfused intestinal model, 99 cell models Caco-2/HT29-MTX co-culture cell model. 98 Caco-2/HT29-MTX/Raji B triple culture model, 98 co-cultured models, 98 HT29-MTX cell model, 98 diffusion experiments, 96-98 Multiple particle tracking (MPT), 97 Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb), 128

## N

N-acetylcysteine (NAC), 94 N-acetvltransferase 2 (NAT2), 263 Nanocarriers, 32, 33, 108, 111, 112, 116, 119 NanoFlu<sup>™</sup>, 193 Nanoformulation distribution, 257 Nanoformulations, 264 Nano immunotherapy, 185, 187 Nanomaterials (NMs), 4 deposition, 236 dose-response relationships, 234 gastrointestinal mucosa, 236 immunotoxicity, 240 intentional exposure, 237 internal accumulation, 235 occupational and environmental exposure, 239

Nanomaterials (NMs) (cont.) properties, 234 toxicity, 237, 238, 240 toxicological assays, 240 unintentional exposure, 237 Nanomedicine definition, 4 NPs (see Nanoparticles (NPs)) for respiratory disease aerosol generator technologies, 135 aerosol vaccination, 128-129 age and gender, 127 anti-metastatic therapeutics, 127 compatible aerosol generator, 136 double-stranded DNA oligos and miRNA mimics, 127 inhaled therapies, 126 IPF. 127 pharmaceutical formulation, 136 TB, 128 therapeutic cargo, 127 therapeutic modalities, 126 Nanoparticles (NPs) behavior, 29 buccal delivery (see Buccal drug delivery) categories, 4 description, 4 FDA approval, 4, 5 formulations, 63 mucoadhesive properties, 66 oral cavity, 71 oral route, 71 physicochemical properties, 29 pulmonary administration, 70 respiratory delivery (see Respiratory drug delivery) Nanoparticle safety, 118-119 Nanoparticle vaccines antigens, 180 anti-HBsAg production, 185 biological barriers mucosal delivery, 188 nasal delivery, 187, 188 oral delivery, 188 clinical trials, 191-198 DC internalization, 185 DCs, 184 DC targeting, 183 electron microscopy, 185 goals, 180 ICD (see Immunogenic cell death (ICD)) IFN- $\gamma$  induction, 184 immunogenic behavior, 180 immunogenicity, 184

immunotherapy, 185 large nanoparticles, 180, 181 nano immunotherapy, 185, 187 physicochemical characteristics, 180 small nanoparticles and shape, 182 T-cell responses, 184 Nanoparticulate delivery systems, 84 Nanosuspensions, 213 Nanotechnology, 4, 20, 111, 178, 233 Nanovaccine, 128 Nasal-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT), 68 Nasopharynx-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT), 167 Natural polymers, 16, 159 Nephrotoxicity, 237 New chemical entities (NCEs), 248 NOD-like receptor proteins (NLRP), 215 NOD-like receptors (NLRs), 178 Non-keratinized epithelium, 109, 111 Non-specific interactions, 88, 89 Novavax, 192, 193 Novel drug delivery systems, 4

## 0

Ocular compartmental absorption and transit (OCAT) model, 255-257 Ocular model, 255 Opsonisation, 258 Oral administration, 165, 166 Oral cavity compartmental absorption and transit (OCCAT) model, 253 Oral dissolving film (ODF), 169, 170 Orally inhaled products (OIPs), 145 Oral model, 251-254 Oral mucosa, 109, 111, 112 Oral mucosal drug delivery, 87 Organic nanoparticles dendrimers, 6-8 liposomes, 8-10 PNPs (see Polymeric nanoparticles (PNPs)) polymeric micelles, 4-6 SLNs (see Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs)) Oxaliplatin (OXA), 190 Oxytocin, 164

# P

Paclitaxel (PAX), 191 Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), 190 Paneth cells, 216 Particle morphology analysis AFM, 40–42 DLS, 36, 37

SEM. 37-39 size and surface, 35 TEM, 39, 40 Particle size distribution (PSD), 30-31 Particulate vaccines advantages, 160-161 biodegradable polymers, 159 conventional therapy, 159 drug delivery systems, 161, 162 natural polymers, 159 size, 158 vs. traditional delivery systems, 160 Passive targeting, 163 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 218 Pathogen-related receptors (PRRs), 178 Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), 216, 218 Pharmaceutical stability, 34, 35 Pharmacokinetics biomarkers, 248 bottom-up approach, 249 computational modelling, 249 drug development, 249 drug disposition, 248 **MEC. 248** oral formulation, 248 PBPK (see Physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modelling) physiological interactions, 249 top-down approach, 249 Phosphatidylethanolamine polyethylene glycol (PE-PEG), 15 Phospholipids, 8 Photon correlation spectroscopy (PCS), 29 Physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modelling absorption (see Absorption) anthropometric measurements, 250 bioavailability, 261 bottom-up approach, 250 categories, 249 concept, 249 distribution, 256–259 drug development process, 265 drug disposition kinetics, 250, 251 metabolism and elimination, 259-261 nanoparticles, 262, 263 nanotechnology, 263, 264 qualification, 261, 262 Pluronic F-127, 92, 97 Pluronics, 92 Polar surface area (PSA), 253 Polyamidoamine (PAMAM), 8 Poly-β-cyclodextrin (pβCD) nanoparticles, 128 Poly (ethylene glycol) (PEG), 164 Poly(glycerol adipate-co-omegapentadecalactone) (PGA-co-PDL), 187-188 Polylactic acid (PLA), 184 Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), 129, 132, 139, 143, 180 Polymeric MECS, 96 Polymeric micelles advantages, 5 carrier systems, 8 CMC<sub>,6</sub> covalent cross-linking, 6 curcumin, 5 description, 4 drug delivery, 4 methods for preparation, 6 micellar preparation, 5 PEG. 5 physical and biological properties, 4-5 Polymeric nano-formulations, 28 Polymeric nanoparticles (PNPs) advantages, 15 in cancer therapy, 163 component for formulation, 16 description, 15 intended use, 15 miRNA, use, 17 nanocapsules, 15 nanospheres, 15 oral anticancer drug delivery, 163 PGA-co-PDL, 17 properties, 15 rotary evaporation, 16 tobramycin alginate/chitosan NPs, 16 tobramycin encapsulated PLGA NPs, 16 types, 16 vaccine drug delivery, 16 Polyox Water Soluble Resins (WSR), 88.90 Polypropylene sulfide (PPS), 183 Polystyrene (PS), 182 Popliteal lymph node (PLN), 183 Prophylactic vaccines, 165 Protein corona formation, 258

## Q

Quantitative structure activity relationship (QSAR), 249 Quantitative structure property relationship (QSPR), 249 Quantum dots, 220

#### R

Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 212, 218 Respiratory drug delivery advantages, 129 challenges, 129 liposomes and lipid based formulations, 129-130 materials/carriers, 129 nanotechnology delivery systems, 130 PLGA, 129 polymeric NPs characterization, 133-135 chitosan, 131 dendrimers, 131 in vitroandin vivoinvestigations, 131 targeting, 131, 132, 134-135 Respiratory model, 254 Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), 187, 191.192 Reticuloendothelial system (RES), 9 Retinoic acid, 168

## S

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM), 37-39 Secondary vehicle, 115-117, 120 Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS), 95, 96 Shelf-life, nano-medicine, 54 Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) as antibacterial and anticancer agents, 19 applications, 19 Curcuma longa, 19 description, 19 environmental impacts, 239, 240 factors, 19 inhalation exposure, 235, 236 medical applications, 234 methods for synthesis, 19 NMs (see Nanomaterials (NMs)) oral exposure, 236 physical and chemical methods, 19 SCID mouse model, 19 skin exposure, 237 toxicity, 235 Small angle X-ray scattering (SAXS), 47-49 Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs), 129, 130.133 advantages, 13 coated SLNs, 15 CTS, 15 description, 10 diameter, 10

disadvantages, 13 human malignancies, 15 loading patterns, 13 PE-PEG coated, 15 preparation techniques, 13, 14 shell, 13 Specific-interactions, 88 Spray dry, 170 Stability, drug NPs agglomeration, 53 nanoformulation, 52 sedimentation/creaming, 53 shelf life, 54 Stimuli-responsive cross-linked micelles (SCMs), 6 Stokes-Einstein equation, 36 Super paramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs), 128 Surface charge, 28, 29, 33, 34, 36 Surface modification, 84, 86, 92–93 Surface of nanocarrier, 33 Synthetic polymers, 16

#### Т

Targeting moieties, 28 Tecemotide<sup>™</sup>, 197 Tenofovir (TFV), 249 Tenofovir alafenamide (TAF), 249 Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF), 249 Tetanus toxoid (TT), 184 Therapeutics antibiotics, 126 inhaled nanomedicines, 126 inhaled nanoparticles, 141 intranasal (IN) delivery, 67 lung cancer and anti-metastatic, 127 mTOR inhibitors, 127 PLL, 131 polymeric nanoparticles, 131 SLNs. 129 TB, 133 Thermal techniques, 48 Thermo-gravimetric analysis (TGA), 49 Thiolated polymers, 90 Tissue-limited model, 259 T lymphocyte activation, 220 T lymphocytes, 222, 223 Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2), 215 Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR-4), 189 Toll-like receptors (TLRs), 178, 216 Toxicity, 118, 119 Transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β), 189 Index

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM), 39–41 Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α), 181 Tumor targeted drug delivery, 162 Type 1 alveolar epithelial cells, 217 Type II alveolar epithelial cells, 217

U

Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy (UV-Vis), 51, 52

#### V

Vaccination, 128
biological adjuvants, 178
cell-mediated and humoral immunity, 178
endogenous and exogenous proteins, 179
formulations, 178
MPL, 178
nanoparticle (*see* Nanoparticle vaccines)
post-exposure prophylaxis, 178
saponin, 178
VLPs, 178

Vaccine nanosystems, 198 Vaccines development, 156 oral route, 165, 166 role, medicine, 156 subunit, 157 therapeutic, 165 Vaccines prophylactic, 165 Virus-like particles (VLPs), 161, 171

## W

World Health Organization (WHO), 197

#### Х

X-ray diffraction (XRD), 46–48 X-rays, 38

#### Z

Zeta potential, 32, 33, 43